# **Protein evaluation in fish:**

African catfish as a case study



Folasade Esther Elesho

#### Propositions

- 1. The methionine requirement for African catfish is unaffected by feeding frequency. (this thesis)
- Low-quality ingredients have a large variability in digestibility between individual amino acids. (this thesis)
- 3. The trend among authors to cite less from old publications impedes revolutionary scientific innovations.
- 4. Cellular meat makes animal nutritionists redundant.
- 5. Even if COVID-19 would be a visible alien invader, the world *still* would not fight united.
- 6. The ability to cook underrates the role women play in food security.

Propositions belonging to the thesis, entitled

Protein evaluation in fish: African catfish as a case study

Folasade Esther Elesho Wageningen, 1 April 2022

## **Protein evaluation in fish:**

African catfish as a case study

**Folasade Esther Elesho** 

#### **Thesis Committee**

#### Promotors

Dr Johan W. Schrama Associate professor, Aquaculture and Fisheries Group Wageningen University & Research

Prof. Dr Johan A. J. Verreth Emeritus Professor, Aquaculture and Fisheries Wageningen University & Research

#### Other members

Prof. Dr W.J.J. Gerrits, Wageningen University & Research

Prof. Dr B.D. Glencross, Technical Director IFFO, London, United Kingdom

Prof. Dr G.P.J. Janssens, Ghent University, Belgium

Prof. Dr M.J. Barbosa, Wageningen University & Research

This research was conducted under the auspices of the graduate school Wageningen Institute of Animal Sciences (WIAS).

### **Protein evaluation in fish:**

African catfish as a case study

**Folasade Esther Elesho** 

Thesis

submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of doctor at Wageningen University by the authority of the Rector Magnificus, Prof. Dr A.P.J. Mol, in the presence of the Thesis Committee appointed by the Academic Board to be defended in public on Friday 1 April 2022 at 4 p.m. in the Aula.

#### Folasade Esther Elesho

Protein evaluation in fish: African catfish as a case study 164 pages.

PhD thesis, Wageningen University, Wageningen, The Netherlands (2022), with references, with summary in English.

ISBN: https://doi.org/10.18174/563739 DOI: 978-94-6447-105-2

### To my parents,

Elder J.T Oyawale & Deaconess C.W. Oyawale

....Without whom none of my success would be possible.

#### Contents

General Introduction	9
Effect of feeding level on the digestibility of alternative protein-rich ingredients for African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )	19
Quantifying methionine requirements of African Catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )	47
Fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources affect the kinetics of nutrient digestion in the gastrointestinal tract of African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )	73
Effect of feeding frequency on nutrient digestibility and methionine utilization in juvenile African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> ) fed diets with two levels of crystalline methionine.	91
General Discussion	107
References	127
Summary	145
Acknowledgements	151
About the author	157
List of scientific publications	159
WIAS Training and Supervision Plan (TSP)	161
	General Introduction  Effect of feeding level on the digestibility of alternative protein-rich ingredients for African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )  Quantifying methionine requirements of African Catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )  Fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources affect the kinetics of nutrient digestion in the gastrointestinal tract of African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )  Effect of feeding frequency on nutrient digestibility and methionine utilization in juvenile African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> ) fed diets with two levels of crystalline methionine.  General Discussion  References Summary Acknowledgements About the author List of scientific publications WIAS Training and Supervision Plan (TSP)



## **CHAPTER 1**

**General Introduction** 

10 | Chapter 1

#### 1.1 Overview of aquaculture and aquafeed production

The rising global population coupled with a demand for cheap protein, has elevated aquaculture into the fastest growing food producing sector in the world, with an estimated annual growth rate of 4.5%, between 2011 and 2018 (FAO, 2020). More importantly, it supplies over half of the world's seafood, albeit at a high dependency on aquafeed. Therefore, the production of aquafeed must support the industrial expansion of aquaculture. On its part, aquafeed must be nutritionally balanced, as this depends on several sources of protein and energy ingredients (Hardy, 2010; Navlor et al., 2009). In fact, fishmeal (FM) is often used as a protein source in aquafeeds, due to the strong connection between the amino acid (AA) requirements of fish and their whole-body AA profile (Mambrini-Doudet and Kaushik, 1993). In this respect, a large percentage of FM produced is being used for aquafeed formulation (Figure 1.1) (Navlor et al., 2009). However, the rising demand for FM and consequently the depletion of wildlife resources has motivated researchers worldwide in a search for new alternative least-cost feedstuffs, that are both sustainable and can provide similar nutrients obtainable from FM for optimal fish growth and performance (Eyo, 2003). In light of this, plausible alternative ingredients are animal by-products and plant proteins (Che et al., 2017; Dam et al., 2019; Kitagima and Fracalossi, 2011; Lee et al., 2020; Solomon et al., 2017; Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019; Tran-Ngoc et al., 2019). Therefore, information on the nutrient profile and digestibility of these ingredients is essential to allow precise feed formulation. Such information is available for some species, but still lacking for new and emerging species.



Figure 1.1 Percentage of fishmeal usage in feed production for aquaculture and other animals between 2002 and 2010. (Adapted from Miles and Chapman (2006))

Depending on the region, cultured species vary among continents and as aquaculture continues to expand, new species are being introduced for culture. As a result, it is crucial to understand their husbandry and nutritional requirements. In Europe, Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*), rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) are the most popular cultured species with relatively large information in literature about their nutritional needs. In Africa, aquaculture is dominated by freshwater indigenous species like African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) and tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) (Adeleke et al., 2020). The African catfish ranks among the most important cultured fish after tilapia. Reportedly, Nigeria being the world's leading producer of African catfish in the sub-Saharan Africa region has a production output of 233,605 tonnes/year (Figure 1.2) (Dauda et al., 2018). This species is widely cultured in Africa due to its fast growth, resistance to diseases, wide geographical distribution and adaptation (Fagbenro et al., 1999). Considerably, its distribution is expanding as it has been introduced and cultured in other parts of the world, spanning

through South Europe, Asia, and South America (FAO, 2017). The euryphagic nature of the African catfish (Bruton, 1979) enables it to utilize different ingredients efficiently (Fagbenro et al., 1999; Wilson and Moreau, 1996). Although, the trend in aquaculture development shows a substantial growth, also in Africa, it seems difficult to attain its full potential, due to some challenges plaguing its developmental rythym. Among these problems are the unavailability of quality feeds and the limited information on the apparent digestibility of common ingredients, and if available, they are not easily accessible by local famers due to high costs (Moehl and Machena, 2000). Therefore, research efforts are now being directed into the development of nutrients—balanced diets for intensive fish culture. As such, the local industry would benefit from local ingredients if proper nutritional information is provided.



Figure 1.2 Quantity of aquaculture production in Nigeria in 2013. (Adapted from Adeleke et al. (2020))

#### 1.2 Optimum diet formulation

Historically, the key components of ingredient evaluation encompass several steps, which include ingredient characterization, digestibility, palatability, nutrient utilization and functionality (Glencross et al., 2007). Primarily, the characterization of dietary ingredients provides information on their nutrients make-up which is needed for the feed formulation, while the palatability reveals the attractiveness and ingestion of a diet. As such, the formulation of an optimal diet requires information basically on the ingredient's characteristics and then, the nutrient requirements of the fish. In fish nutrition, feed ingredients are traditionally characterized by their nutrient profile (e.g., crude protein, crude fat, carbohydrate e.t.c.), with average values used in feed evaluation tables. (e.g., NRC (2011)). These analyzed values of a specific batch of feedstuffs, are used for diet formulation in such a way that dietary nutrient supply will match the daily nutrient requirements. The requirement for major essential macronutrients has been extensively studied in commonly cultured fish species (NRC, 2011), but less studied in African catfish. Protein appears to be the most important nutrient in fish diets due to the need for (muscle) growth. Therefore, the focus of this thesis is primarily on protein and amino acid requirements.

#### **1.3 Digestibility of feed ingredients**

Essentially, the assessment of the digestibility potential of ingredients in fish should succeed ingredients characterisation (Fornshell et al., 2016; Glencross et al., 2007). Evaluating the digestibility of feedstuff is crucial as it will expose nutrient bioavailability and thus the feasibility for their inclusion in fish diets (Fontes et al., 2019). In addition, the identification of the nutritional value through digestibility studies will reveal the efficiency and utilization capacity of these feedstuffs by animals

(Adévèmi et al., 2020). In fish, this is commonly determined by quantifying the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) (Ribeiro et al., 2012: Solomon et al., 2017). Details on different methodologies used in digestibility studies have been extensively reported in literature. Ingredient digestibility values can be obtained with an assumption that, under normal conditions the digestibility of nutrients from different ingredients within a diet are additive. The digestibility of nutrients varies among different ingredients as well as between fish species (Davies et al., 2009). Therefore, it is important to characterise common and emerging ingredients regarding their digestibility for every fish species under culture. As aforementioned, a wider range of alternative ingredients have now been incorporated into aguafeed production. For instance, the use of insect and single cell protein (e.g., veast, algae) as potential novel ingredients have gained more attention in recent years (Al-Hafedh and Alam, 2013; Gasco et al., 2014; Manoppo and Kolopita, 2016; Ovie and Eze, 2014; Piccolo et al., 2014; Pongpet et al., 2016; Sogbesan and Ugwumba, 2008; Solomon et al., 2017). However, variations in nutrient digestibility from these feedstuffs have been discovered in studies, owing primarily to differences in fish digestive physiology (Yuan et al., 2010b). Only few studies are available on the nutrient digestibility in African catfish. Therefore, the digestibility of alternative ingredients for African catfish feed needs to be investigated.

Studies exploring the digestibility in aquatic animals have reportedly affirmed that ADC can be affected by biological, nutritional, and environmental factors, such as water salinity, temperature, age, fish size, feeding time and feeding level (Halver and Hardy, 2002). Several studies have evaluated the impact of these factors in certain species. For instance, the impact of fish size and temperature on nutrient digestibility in rainbow trout was examined by (Windell et al., 1978), followed by the effect of salinity and nutritional status on growth of Sparus sarba by Woo and Kelly (1995), and much later, the impact of water salinity on nutrient digestibility in Atlantic salmon by Krogdahl et al. (2005). However, the effect of feeding level on nutrient digestibility is scarcely studied. Only a few studies have addressed the potential impact of increasing feeding level on the ADC in fish species. Haidar et al. (2016) and Yuan et al. (2010a) investigated the impact of feeding level on nutrient digestibility in Nile tilapia and Myxocyprinus asiaticus, respectively. Results from both studies showed a negative correlation between feeding level and ADC digestibility. Similarly, dry matter and crude protein ADC decreased with increasing feeding level in African catfish (Henken et al., 1985). However, Cho and Kaushik (1990) reported that the ADC of nutrients were neither affected by feeding level nor feeding rate. Apart from Henken et al. (1985) who determined the effect of feeding level on nutrient ADC in African catfish, no study so far has been carried out on the interaction between feeding level and AA ADC in African catfish. In the study by Haidar et al. (2016), the impact of feeding level was more pronounced for the NSP-rich diet compared to the non-NSP diet. This suggests that the effect of feeding level may be dependent on the quality of the diet and also on the ingredient composition.

Furthermore, since it has been established in other farm animals that the rate of transport of food in the digestive tract contributes to the time of release of nutrients to the body (Van den Borne, 2006), the currently accepted methods for measuring nutrient digestibility in fish do not consider the role of gastrointestinal tract in the digestion process. As such, faecal digestibility value is assumed to only account for the total amount of dietary nutrients that was apparently digested and absorbed along the GIT (Chen, 2017). In pigs and poultry, proteins are evaluated based on digestible AA, which is mostly detected in the ileal digestibility of the diets ingested. No appreciable absorption of amino acids from the large intestine of these animals seem to occur and the disappearance of AA in the hindgut is often associated to ammonia released from amino acid catabolism by microbial deaminases (Hendriks et al.,

2012). Therefore, protein evaluation in fish should expand beyond nutrient digestibility studies in faeces and incorporate the role of GIT during the process of digestion - an aspect that has received little or no attention in fish nutrition.

#### 1.4 Determination of protein quality

The biological value of protein has been deemed substantially determined by the composition of AA that are digested and absorbed (Ruchimat et al., 1997). In other words, protein quality can be described as the ability of dietary protein to meet the body's metabolic needs for AA and nitrogen (Boye et al., 2012). In this respect, data on AA patterns in different ingredients and also the AA digestibility can be used for more precise feed formulation (Gomes et al., 1995a). Amino acids profile of commonly used ingredients in fish feeds are well documented but for many fish species, information on the ADC of AA in these ingredients is often still lacking. This is the case for African catfish, in which feeds are formulated based on protein requirement rather than amino acid requirement. In present days, the use of dietary protein requirement as a yardstick for feed formulation is losing significance, probably due to the increase of a wider variety of feed ingredients in the diets, each of which has a different AA composition. This can in turn cause a large variability in AA content of the diet as opposed to the actual requirements of the fish species. Next to AA content, good feed formulation requires information on ADC of AA for the important ingredients.

#### 1.5 Protein requirement of fish

Basically, protein nutritional requirement signifies the lowest level of dietary protein intake neccesary to balance nitrogen losses from the body, in relation to maintenance and to support maximal protein gain (Boye et al., 2012). Data on dietary protein requirements are readily available for a wide range of species. In general, studies show that the dietary protein requirements range between 24 and 70% of the diet. However, this is dependent on a number of factors such as species, developmental stage, trophic level and size (Teles et al., 2020). Typically, herbivorous and omnivorous fish require less dietary protein in their feed than carnivorous fish, while smaller fish require more protein than larger fish, because protein requirements decrease as fish grow larger (Craigh and Helfrich, 2002). Furthermore, fish require a higher protein content in their diet, almost 2 to 4 times higher than terrestrial farm animals. This apparent difference in dietary protein requirements between fish and farm animals is due to fish's low energy requirements for maintenance (Cho, 1985). However, fish like other animals, do not have a true protein requirement, but requires a balanced supply of essential amino acid (EAA) and non-essential amino acid (NEAA) via their diet. Amino acids are derived from the breakdown of protein, which are then absorbed in the intestine. New proteins are then built from these absorbed amino acids, according to the needs of cells. As a matter of fact, about ten EAA (arginine, histidine, isoleucine, leucine, lysine, methionine, phenylalanine, threonine, tryptophan and valine) must be present in compound diets, as fish lack the metabolic mechanism needed to form the chemical structures of the carbon chain skeletons of these amino acids (Somsueb, 2017; Wagenmakers, 1998). A deficiency in one or two of these EAA can lead to reduced growth or even weight loss in fish due to the suboptimal utilization of the AA for protein synthesis (Wagenmakers, 1998). The unused AA are usually catabolized and lost for protein synthesis. During AA catabolism, ammonia is produced by the process of deamination, which is expelled from the body through the gills and urine (brachial and urinary losses; BUN). Nitrogen (N) is one of the most important nutrients responsible for water eutrophication, thus, excess of protein will negatively impact the environment.

From an ecological perspective, it is therefore important that dietary protein meet but do not exceed the requirements of the animals. This is especially true in fish, which have difficulty in controlling the amino acid catabolism and, as a result, N losses are significant even when dietary protein levels are low (Cowey, 1994; Kaushik and Seiliez, 2010). As such, knowledge of AA requirements is crucial for precise feed formulation.

AA requirements of fish are often expressed on dietary or crude protein basis with the assumption that all AAs react the same way, i.e., digestibility do not differ among AAs in protein. Although, the benefits of using 'digestible amino acid system' as mode of expression of AA requirement, are well known in e.g., pig and poultry's diet formulation (Lemme et al., 2004). However, the 'total amino acid system' is still widely used in fish nutrition. Besides, assessing the protein quality on digestible AA basis has been suggested in literature, especially with the array of cheaper but low-quality alternative ingredients in circulation. For example, the use of digestible AA data for FM will be negligible because its amino acid content is highly digestible compared to low-quality ingredients. Therefore, diets based on digestible AA will enable the use of alternative ingredients with low digestibility (Lemme et al., 2004). As research continues to evolve and different diets are being fed in various requirement studies, expressing requirement estimates on a digestible basis will reduce variability and ensure accurate comparison of values among species (NRC, 2011). This will also aid precise feed formulation, thereby minimizing economic losses and reducing the environmental footprint of aquaculture production.

#### **1.6 Protein utilization efficiency**

An essential approach during evaluation of dietary protein quality, should involve an assessment of the impact of those protein sources on utilization (Young and Pellett, 1989). However, the utilization of protein and other dietary nutrients (e.g., sugars, vitamins, and minerals) are never shown in feed analysis tables (Lall, 1991). It should be pointed out that utilization efficiency of AA can be affected by many factors; antinutritional factors (ANFs), digestive enzymes inhibitors, presence of dietary mycotoxins, naturally bounded resistant proteins, nutrients asynchrony and indigestible compounds formed during feed processing (e.g., maillard reaction) (Lall, 1991; Van den Borne et al., 2006). This implies that despite supplying a balanced AA profile, which meets the daily requirement of fish, the release of nutrient and absorption might be affected by these intrinsic factors.

Various factors have been reported to affect the protein utilization efficiency. The major one is the AA composition (profile) of the diets. For instance, plant proteins (mostly legumes) and some other animal by-products (e.g., feather meal) that are increasingly used as substitute for fishmeal, are deficient in some EAA needed for growth and development e.g., lysine and methionine (Ovie and Eze, 2010). In this case, crystalline AA are usually supplemented to the diet in order to overcome this deficiency problem. However, AA supplied in purified form are less utilized as compared to AA in intact protein (i.e., protein-bound AA). Basically, the absorbed free AA are quickly catabolised and lost rather than used for protein synthesis. The result is the asynchronous supply of nutrients and mismatch between the release and absorption of free AA and protein-bound AA, supplied within a day (figure 1.3a). Possibly, this effect may be more pronounced when factors like feeding management are not adequate (Van den Borne et al., 2006), which implies that nutrient synchronization/AA utilization can also be affected by feeding practices, such as feeding frequency. Feeding at low frequency may negate the optimum utilization of amino acids in a diet that contains combination of crystalline amino acids and purified ingredients. Asynchronous availability of crystalline AA and protein-bound AA will therefore occur as a consequence of feeding less than required. One way to improve the utilization of free AA is

feeding multiple times in a day (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007), as this will complement the AA profile of intact protein present by providing more chances for timely absorption of free AA supplemented (figure 1.3b). The positive effect of multiple feeding was demonstrated in the study carried out by Zarate et al. (1999), on channel catfish fed diets containing free and protein-bound lysine twice and five times in a day, a better utilization of free lysine was achieved at increased frequency. Furthermore, Yamada et al. (1981) observed similar result in carp fed free AA from 3 to 18 times daily as growth increased in proportion to high frequency.



Figure 1.3 A) Post-prandial asynchronous availability of free amino acids (AA) and protein-bound AA due to low feeding frequency B) Overlapping in AA availability for protein synthesis due to multiple feeding time. (Adapted from (van den Borne, et al, 2006).

Another factor that can induce nutrient asynchrony is the difference between the digestion kinetics of dietary protein and non-protein energy sources (NPE). This usually happens when, for instance, a quickly digestible protein (e.g., hydrolysed protein), is supplied against slow digestible NPE sources (e.g., fat). Then, this can initiate a gap in-between the availability of protein and energy at the moment of protein synthesis (figure 1.4), and thus leading to a less efficient protein/AA use. Afterall, optimal protein synthesis is highly dependent on energy availability. Therefore, part of the available AA will be catabolised and used as energy. In monogastric animals, it has been reported that the physical state of the dietary proteins and carbohydrates can influence the digestion and passage rate of the nutrients before they are absorbed (Englyst and Englyst, 2005; Minekus, 1998; Weurding, 2002). This is evident in the study carried out by van den Borne et al. (2007) on synchronization between protein and carbohydrate availability in pre-ruminant calves. In fish, it is not clear if the characteristics of specific ingredients can impact the post-absorptive availability of AA. Moreover, there is relatively little information about the aspect of nutrient asynchrony.



**Figure 1.4** Post-prandial asynchronous availability of protein and energy constituents such as starch and AA (Adapted from Van den Borne (2006)).

#### 1.7 Thesis aim and outline

The aim of this thesis was to assess factors that determine the quality of dietary protein in fish feeds in order to improve protein evaluation of fish feeds/ingredients. African catfish was used as a case study. According to NRC (2011), protein quality for most fish species is currently defined by; 1) the digestibility of crude protein and 2) the amino acid (AA) profile of the crude protein. **Chapter 2** of this thesis addressed the question whether the digestibility of AAs is equal among different AAs, as well as to the overall crude protein. Furthermore, this chapter investigated whether feeding level affects AA besides that of nutrient digestibility in fish. AA requirements are usually expressed per kg of feed or per kg of crude protein. However, it was shown in Chapter 2 that the ADC of individual AA can differ between ingredients and among other AAs constituents of protein. In **Chapter 3** the AA requirements of methionine was estimated, for the first time, on digestible methionine per digestible crude protein. Furthermore, the impact of the mathematical model on requirement estimates was studied.

The final part of the thesis (Chapter 4 and 5) investigated the factors that could hamper optimal protein digestion and utilization in fish. It was hypothesized that the timing of digestion and absorption of different amino acids can affect the utilization efficiency of total protein in fish. Therefore, the question whether asynchrony in nutrients digestion occur in fish was studied. Firstly, in Chapter 4, we investigated whether the kinetics of protein digestion can be altered by dietary composition. This was assessed by comparing two diets that differed in the type of fishmeal (FM): FM versus hydrolysed FM, and non-protein energy: starch versus fat. The question whether the hydrolysis of the protein source (FM) altered the faecal ADC, as well as the kinetics of digestion within the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) was studied. The observed differences in the kinetics of nutrient digestion in chapter 5 indicated that there may be asynchronous availability of nutrient during absorption. Therefore, Chapter 5 studied if the utilization of crystalline AA is lowered due to asynchrony between different forms of AA in fish diets. Here, the impact of feeding frequency on protein utilization efficiency was assessed in two diets having different inclusion levels of crystalline methionine. The goal was to investigate if nutrient synchronization can be challenged with feeding frequency to improve AA utilization. Thus, we hypothesized that increasing feeding frequency will aid the utilization of CAA supplementation in diets deficient in AA, thereby leading to an increased protein deposition in fish

In **Chapter 6**, the main findings obtainable from different studies incorporated into this thesis were discussed. Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of AAs are costly to estimate, therefore, the prediction of AA digestibility from the ADC of crude protein or the sum of total AA (SAA) might be an alternative option. Based on the observed variability in the individual AA digestibility compared to the crude protein ADC in chapter 2, a meta-analysis was performed in Chapter 6 to further check the relationship between the ADCs of AAs and the SAA in protein. It was hypothesized that the SAA can be used as predictor for individual AA ADC. The chapter ends with summary of the main conclusions theorized vis-a-vis the process of how protein quality can be better evaluated in fish.



## **CHAPTER 2**

Effect of feeding level on the digestibility of alternative protein-rich ingredients for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*)

This chapter has been published as:

Elesho, F.E, Kröckel, S., Sutter, D.A.H., Nuraini, R., Chen, I.J., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Effect of feeding level on the digestibility of alternative protein-rich ingredients for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture, 737108.

#### Abstract

Apparent digestibility coefficients (ADC) of nutrients and individual amino acids (AA) for 13 feed ingredients as affected by feeding level were determined for African catfish, a species of economic importance in Africa. Results from two trials are reported. In each trial, ADC were determined using a reference diet and test diets with vttrium oxide as indicator. Juvenile African catfish (averaging 53.9 g. trial 1: 40.4 g, trial 2) were stocked in tanks connected to a common recirculation aquaculture system. Ingredients tested included hydrolysed feather meal (HFM), fishmeal (FM), insect meal (IM), soybean meal (SBM), sunflower meal (SFM), poultry meal (PM), corn dried distillers grains with solubles (CDDGS), faba beans (FB), lupine meal (LM), pea protein (PP), guar meal (GM), canola meal (CM) and yeast meal (YM). The effect of feeding level on ADC was determined by feeding fish restrictively (80% satiation) for 4 weeks and subsequently to apparent satiation for 3 weeks. Inclusion of yeast meal at 30% resulted in low palatability. ADC of nutrients were significantly affected by feeding level (except for fat and carbohydrate), but the effect was ingredient-dependent. African catfish was able to digest protein very effectively in almost all tested ingredients with ADC values ranging from 85.6 to 105.1% across feeding periods. Several ingredients tested, including animal protein ingredients and YM had similar high ADC for dry matter as FM. However, the ADC of AA differ among ingredients, indicating a need for digestible amino acid profile data. Methionine (Met) was the first limiting essential amino acid in HFM, FB, and LM with values ranging from 5-6 g/kg, expressed as digestible Met (dMet) per unit of digestible protein (DP), compared to FM (27 g dMet/kg DP). IM had comparable and sometimes higher overall digestible essential AA values compared to FM, except for methionine and lysine. For oilseeds and legumes, SBM tended to be the best quality AA source, as it had the highest digestible essential amino acid profile. These data provide information concerning nutrient and digestible AA values, which will allow a more efficient use of alternative ingredients in African catfish diets. Formulating diets based on the digestible AA in ingredients will aid precise feed formulation, thereby minimising economic losses and reducing the environmental footprint of aquaculture production.

#### 2.1 Introduction

Due to the scarcity of fishmeal together with the increased production of aqua-feeds, numerous studies have been conducted on alternative ingredients in fish diets over the past decades. The vast majority of these studies have established the authenticity of fishmeal as the most suitable protein source for fish, due to its balanced amino acid (AA) profile, high digestibility and palatability (Che et al., 2017; Dam et al., 2019; Hardy, 2010). However, the global demand for fishmeal in aquaculture production has put a strain on the economic and environmental sustainability of this sector. Potential overfishing of marine fish species used for feed production conflicts with the demand for sustainable aquaculture and therefore it drives the reduction of fishmeal usage (Couto et al., 2016; FAO, 2018; Naylor et al., 2009). For these reasons, there has been a growing need for more insight into the potential of alternative protein sources in aquafeed to enable the increasing demand for aquafeeds (Kaushik et al., 2004; Taufek et al., 2016b).

Several alternative novel ingredients (animal and plant origin) of nutritional and economic benefits are now being investigated for the total or partial replacement of fishmeal in fish diet (Basto et al., 2020; Che et al., 2017; Davies and Ezenwa, 2010; dos Santos Cardoso et al., 2020; Fagbenro, 1998; Glencross, 2020; Goda et al., 2007; Lee et al., 2020; Nazzaro et al., 2021; Toko et al., 2008; Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2008). In spite of these promising alternatives, it is quite difficult to get an ingredient with a complete AA profile that is not limiting in at least one essential AA (EAA) (Gomes et al., 1995b). Moreover, plant proteins contain anti-nutritional factors (NRC, 2011), which can reduce the availability of AA (Cai and Burtle, 1996; Ghosh et al., 2019). Therefore, to achieve an optimum diet that contains all EAAs, mixtures of plant and animal protein ingredients are used in formulating aquafeeds (Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019). Investigating the digestibility values of these ingredients is an essential step in formulating balanced practical diets (Glencross, 2020; Gomes et al., 1995a).

In terms of feed formulation, the quality of feed ingredient depends on their digestible amino acid profile, protein and energy (Fagbenro, 1996; Fagbenro, 1998; Glencross, 2020; Henken et al., 1985; Ovie and Eze, 2014). Since the larger part of feed formulation is based on the protein content, reliable data on the digestible AA content of these different ingredients for each species is considered a necessary prerequisite (Basto et al., 2020; Gomes et al., 1995a; Wolfe et al., 2016). Data on AA digestibility of feed ingredients for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) are relatively limited, compared to other cultured fish species, like rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) and Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) (NRC, 2011). Currently in Africa, the culture of African catfish is growing steadily due to the increasing local demand and high market price value. Moreover, the species voracious eating behaviour, fast growth rate, and ability to survive in adverse environmental conditions (Fagbenro et al., 1999), makes it relatively easy to be farmed in the natural inland freshwater areas. Evaluating the nutritional values of novel and array of ingredients for this species will play an important role in establishing how efficient African catfish is able to accept, digest and utilize the feedstuffs used (Allan et al., 2000; Udo and Umoren, 2011). Such information will be useful to simulate the ideal AA profile in the diets of African catfish and the production of least-cost feed, one of the problems to be resolved in its development.

There is considerable controversy regarding the effect of feeding level on the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients in fish. Only a few studies have addressed the potential impact of increasing feeding level on the ADC in fish species. These include, Nile tilapia, rainbow trout and African catfish, with most results being negatively correlated to ADC (Haidar et al., 2016; Henken et al., 1985;

Staessen et al., 2020a). However, Cho and Kaushik (1990) came to a different conclusion in their study that ADC of nutrients were not affected by feeding level or feeding rate. Apart from Henken et al. (1985) who determined the effect of feeding level on nutrient ADC in African catfish, no study so far has been carried out to have a better understanding of the relationship between feeding level and AA ADC in African catfish. Therefore, the present study was undertaken (1) to obtain values for nutrients and AA digestibility of selected ingredients of plant and animal origin, (2) to evaluate the effect of feeding level on ADC of ingredients, and (3) to provide data on digestible AA of ingredients that will allow a greater accuracy in feed formulation for African catfish.

#### 2.2 Materials and methods

This experiment was approved by the Animal Welfare Body of Wageningen University, The Netherlands. All procedures applied to the animals were in line with the Dutch legislation (Act on Animal Experiments) and were classified as not being an animal experiment according to Dutch legislation. The experiment was carried out at the Aquaculture Research Facility of Wageningen University (The Netherlands). Because of a limited number of aquaria equipped with settling units for faeces collection, the experiment was conducted in two trials: six test ingredients were tested in the first trial while seven ingredients were investigated in the second trial. Both trials were identical regarding the experimental set-up, housing and sampling procedure, only the initial weight was different and consequently also the stocking density.

#### 2.2.1 Diet preparation

The ingredient composition of the test diets, the analysed nutrient composition of the ingredients and experimental diets are summarized in Table 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 respectively. A reference diet (control) was formulated by combining information on the recommended amino acid requirements of Nile tilapia, common carp (Cyprinus carpio) and channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus) (NRC, 2011), since information on amino acid requirement of African catfish is relatively scarce. Test ingredients were sourced from a wide range of protein rich ingredients of both animal and plant protein origin; hydrolysed feather meal (HFM), LT70 fishmeal (FM), insect meal (IM) from black soldier fly larvae (Hermetia illucens), soybean meal (SBM), sunflower meal (SFM), poultry meal (PM), corn dried distillers grain with solubles (CDDGS), faba beans (FB), lupine meal (LM), pea protein (PP), guar meal (GM), canola meal (CM) and single cell protein from brewer's yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) (yeast meal, YM). The test diets are composed of 70% control diet with 30% test ingredient, except for HFM and GM, which were included at 15% in the mixture to prevent any negative effect that high inclusion levels may pose on digestibility. Yttrium oxide was added as inert marker for the determination of ADC. The diets were extruded floating pellets with sizes ranging from 3 to 3.5 mm, produced by Skretting ARC Norway using a twin-screw extruder (Wenger, Sabetha, KS, U.S.A). Diets were stored at 4 °C throughout the duration of the experiment.

#### 2.2.2 Fish and housing conditions

Juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) of mixed sex were obtained from a commercial brood stock farm (Fleuren & Nooijen BV, Nederweert, The Netherlands) 2 weeks prior to the start of the experiment and were reared at the Wageningen University experimental facilities (Carus Aquatic Research Facility, Wageningen, The Netherlands). For the first trial, 630 fish with an average weight of 53.9 g were randomly allocated among 21 experimental tanks (30 fish per tank). For the second trial, 840 fish weighing on average 40.4 g were randomly assigned among 24 experimental tanks (35 fish per

tank). Each tank was equipped with air stones and swirl separators (AquaOptima AS, column height 44 cm: diameter 24.5 cm) for the collection of faeces and spilled pellets. The tanks were connected to a common recirculating water system equipped with a sump, a drum filter (Hydrotech 500<sup>®</sup>, Hydrotech Engineering, Italy) and a trickling filter for maintaining water quality parameters within a set range. The total water volume of the RAS system was 5  $m^3$  and water loss due to evaporation was continuously compensated by the addition of well water. Water guality parameters were monitored regularly and set at optimal levels for African catfish. Temperature, conductivity and pH were measured using digital probes (temperature: Testo 110, Testo B.V., Almere, The Netherlands; conductivity: WTW LF318 and pH: WTW pH340. WTW Wissenschaftlich-Technische Werkstätten GmbH, Weilheim, Germany). Merck tests (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) were used for measuring ammonium (Aquamerck 1.11118.0001), nitrite (Aquamerck 1.0825.0001) and nitrate (Mercoquant 1.10020). Measured water quality parameters during trial 1 were as follows (mean  $\pm$  SD): water temperature 27.3  $\pm$  0.98 °C; pH. 7.3  $\pm$  0.38; ammonium, 0.32  $\pm$  0.24 mg/L; nitrite, 0.25  $\pm$  0.14 mg/L; nitrate,  $430 \pm 66$  mg/L and conductivity,  $3802 \pm 378 \ \mu$ S; and for trial 2 (mean  $\pm$  SD): water temperature 27.9 ± 0.31 °C; pH, 7.4 ± 0.44; ammonium, 0.78 ± 0.59 mg/L; nitrite, 0.32 ± 0.34 mg/L; nitrate, 250 ± 0.0 mg/L and conductivity, 3257 ± 743 µS. Photoperiod was kept at 12 h light: 12 h dark.

Table 2.1 Ingredient compos	sition of reference diel
Ingredient (%)	Reference diet
Wheat	20.5
Maize	19.9
Wheat gluten	12.0
Fishmeal	12.0
Soy protein concentrate	12.0
Pea protein	12.0
Soya oil	3.00
Fish oil	3.00
DL-Methionine	0.80
L-Lysine	0.80
Monocalciumphosphate	3.00
Yttrium premix	0.15
Vitamin & mineral premix	0.44
Calcium carbonate	0.36

#### Table 2.1 Ingredient composition of reference diet

#### 2.2.3 Experimental procedures and sampling

At the start of each trail, total biomass and number of fish per tank were recorded. The diets within the two trials were studied with 3 replicates per treatment over a period of 4 weeks of restricted feeding followed by 3 weeks of satiation feeding. During the last 2 weeks of the restricted as well as the satiation feeding period, faeces were collected. During the 49-day experimental period, fish were fed twice daily (in the mornings and afternoons). For the restricted feeding period, the aim was to provide an equal amount of feed across diets. Therefore, the feeding level was fixed at 17.6 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d (about 80% of satiation) based on the mean weight of fish at the start of the restricted feeding period

						Tes	t ingred	ients					
Nutrient (g/kg DM)	Ϋ́	Σ	ΡM	ΗFM	SBM	РР	8	R	δ	S	SFM	CDDGS	٨Y
Dry Matter	918	949	950	959	875	895	874	910	917	914	913	876	935
Ash	170	92	125	18	72	60	37	39	54	99	77	55	86
Crude protein	751	613	691	913	553	564	325	413	601	371	453	320	450
Fat	97	131	138	77	27	41	22	74	93	94	34	156	23
Starch	12	24	7	10	18	69	361	22	∞	13	23	10	80
NSP <sup>2</sup>	-304	140	39	$-18^{4}$	330	267	255	452	245	456	413	338	361
Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup>	$-18^{4}$	164	46	-84	348	336	615	474	253	469	436	348	441
Energy (kJ/g DM)	21.1	23.2	23.0	24.8	27.2	20.5	18.9	20.6	21.9	21.4	19.8	23.5	19.2
Phosphorus	24.7	8.5	18.9	2.4	7.0	9.4	4.7	7.2	7.9	10.8	13.6	9.9	10.7
Calcium	36.8	25.5	25.0	3.6	3.5	1.7	0.8	1.6	2.1	8.0	5.2	0.4	4.3
Magnesium	2.7	3.4	1.5	0.4	3.5	2.6	0.8	2.3	4.1	5.1	6.3	4.2	1.8
Essential AA (g/kg DM)													
Arginine	42.6	31.9	46.2	60.8	40.9	42.9	25.5	42.2	82.1	21.5	34.3	13.4	20.6
Histidine	14.8	18.1	15.9	5.9	14.3	12.9	7.3	10.9	16.5	10.0	11.1	8.7	9.5
Isoleucine	28.1	27.5	25.7	42.6	24.4	20.7	10.8	15.2	17.7	14.1	17.7	11.0	17.1
Leucine	50.6	45.1	49.8	73.3	42.8	36.2	19.9	26.1	33.0	25.5	28.9	35.5	27.1
Lysine	55.9	41.2	40.5	16.3	33.6	36.7	16.9	18.4	25.0	20.2	19.1	9.2	25.7
Methionine	20.0	13.3	13.1	4.5	7.2	4.6	1.9	2.4	6.3	7.1	9.8	6.0	6.2
Phenylalanine	29.2	27.0	29.2	43.1	30.3	22.9	11.2	15.0	24.4	14.8	20.3	14.6	18.1
Threonine	28.5	25.3	27.7	41.1	20.3	18.5	9.2	13.5	17.0	16.4	15.9	12.0	18.3
Valine	31.1	37.5	32.4	60.8	24.5	21.7	11.5	14.6	19.9	17.8	19.9	14.7	20.4
Non-essential AA (g/kg DM)													
Alanine	44.9	39.1	46.7	42.7	23.7	21.8	11.1	13.4	21.4	16.3	19.6	23.5	25.4
Aspartic acid	69.2	66.0	58.2	61.6	68.2	56.7	29.9	38.7	60.5	27.6	42.7	21.5	38.5
Glutamic acid	100	63.5	91.1	96.9	106	78.6	45.8	80.4	125	61.2	85.2	56.6	69.4
Cysteine	6.7	4.9	7.4	29.7	7.2	6.3	3.0	4.4	7.7	8.7	6.5	5.4	5.5
Glycine	46.6	32.5	64.3	68.8	22.8	20.7	11.1	16.3	29.2	18.5	24.0	13.2	18.6
Proline	28.1	35.6	45.0	100	27.6	22.1	11.9	15.8	20.4	23.4	19.4	27.1	28.0
Serine	29.1	25.8	29.5	104	27.6	24.8	13.1	18.4	27.4	16.0	18.8	15.4	21.3
Tyrosine	14.9	39.7	19.3	19.1	16.2	14.5	7.9	12.4	18.5	10.1	9.9	11.0	11.2
SAA (g/kg DM)	640	574	642	871	537	462	248	358	552	329	403	299	381
<sup>1</sup> AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amir	no acid; D	M, dry I	natter; F	±Μ, LT70	fish me	al; IM, ir	isect me	al from	black so	ldier fly	larvae (ł	Hermetia	
illucens); PM, poultry meal; HFM,	hydrolyse	ed feath	er meal;	SBM, so	ybean m	ieal; PP,	pea pro	tein; FB,	faba be	ans; LM	, lupine	meal; GM,	guar
meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunf	lower me	al; CDD	GS, corn	dried di	stillers g	rains wit	h solubl	es; YM,	yeast m	eal (Saci	charomy	ces cerevis	iae).
<sup>2</sup> NSP, non-starch polysaccharides	were calo	ulated a	as total c	arbohyd	rates – s	starch.							

Table 2.2 Analyzed nutrient and amino acids composition of test ingredients $^{1}$ 

 $^{3}$ Total carbohydrate was calculated as dry matter – crude protein – crude fat – ash content.

"the negative values for NSP and carbohydrates is most likely due to an overestimation of the calculation of crude protein as 6.25 times the measured N content. For FM and HFM, the Jones factor is lower than 6.25

The calculated daily feed ration per tank was set based on an expected growth using a FCR of 1 for all diets. Daily feed portions were divided into two equal parts and hand-fed twice a day at 9:00 and 15:30 h. During the first three days, the feeding level was gradually increased from 20% to 100% of the calculated ration to allow habituation to the diets. During the satiation period, fish were hand-fed twice daily at 9:00 and 15:30 h until voluntary feed ingestion stopped, with a maximum of 1 h per feeding. Mortality was checked twice a day, 30 minutes prior to feeding and dead fish were removed immediately. In case of mortality during the restricted feeding period, daily feeding rations were adjusted to the number of fish in the respective tank. Before feeding, a set of bottles was connected to the swirl separators in order to collect spilled pellets. Spilled and uneaten pellets were counted or weighed per tank 15 min after feeding was finished.

Faeces were collected overnight (17.00 h – 7.30 h) during the last two weeks of the restricted and satiation period, using detachable collection bottles (250 mL) connected to the settling tanks. The faecal collection bottles were submerged in ice-filled styrofoam boxes to reduce microbial degradation. Faeces were pooled per tank and stored at -20 °C for further analysis. At both end of the restricted and satiation period, fish were starved for 24 h and batch weighed per tank for final weight.

#### 2.2.4 Analytical methods

The faecal samples were freeze-dried (Scanvac FD8 Coolsafe Advanced, LaboGene A/S, Denmark). then manually pulverized through a 1 mm screen sieve. Feed pellets and ingredients were grinded by a grinding machine (Retsch ZM 200). Proximate composition of ingredients, feed, and faeces were assessed (in triplicate) according to ISO-standard analysis for determination of dry matter (ISO 6496, 1983), crude ash (ISO 5984, 1978), crude protein (ISO 5983, 1979); (crude protein = Kjeldahl- N × 6.25), crude fat (ISO 6492, 1999) and starch (ISO 6493: 2000). Energy content was measured bomb calorimetric by direct combustion (IKA® werke, C7000; IKA analysentechnik, Weitershem, Germany). Yttrium, phosphorus, calcium and magnesium in feed and faeces were determined from the ash by using inducted coupled plasma mass spectrometry according to the standard NEN 15510 (ICP-MS, 2007). Amino acids (excluding tryptophan) were analysed by Skretting ARC, Norway, using an automatic amino acid analyzer (Biochrom 30+, Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK) and the methods described in the COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 152/2009 (Council, 2009). Diet, ingredient and faecal starch contents (incl. sugars) were determined via an enzymatic digestion as described by Goelema et al. (1998), excluding the ethanol washing step and was analysed by Nutricontrol (Veghel, The Netherlands). By excluding the ethanol step, sugars with less than 10 glucose units are included in the starch fraction and thereby gave a better calculation of the non-starch polysaccharide (NSP) content.

#### 2.2.5 Calculation

Daily weight gain (g/d) was calculated as the differences between the average initial (W<sub>i</sub>) and final (W<sub>f</sub>) body weight of fish divided by the duration of the experiment (t). Feed conversion ratio (FCR; g/g) on dry matter (DM) basis was calculated as (feed intake × dry matter content of the feed)/(final weight of fish – initial weight of fish). Feed intake (FI; % BW/d) was calculated as FI/t/Wg × 100%, where FI is feed intake (g), t is the number of days, and Wg is the geometric mean BW (g) of each feeding period, respectively. The Wg was calculated as e ((In W<sub>t</sub>+In W<sub>0</sub>)/2), where W<sub>0</sub> and W<sub>t</sub> are the initial and final BW (g) for each feeding period, respectively. Specific growth rate (SGR; %/d)

-
diets
of test
composition (
acids (
amino
and
nutrient
alysed
2.3 Ar
Table

	CON 1         FM         IM         HI           Inclusion level (%) $30$ $30$ $1$ Test ingredient         100         70 $70$ $8$ Nutrient (g/kg DM)         889 $897$ $907$ $8$ Dry Matter         75 $100$ 78 $6$ Crude protein         75 $100$ 78 $6$ Ash         75 $100$ 78 $6$ $2$ Crude protein $112$ $112$ $116$ $2$ $2$ Starch $275$ $202$ $204$ $2$ $3$	FM 58M 15 20 35 70 38 886 33 72 33 72 33 72 47 212 47 212 35 162 35 162 35 162 162 162 162 117 113 102 117 2.4	YM 30 70 77 426 89 89 89 89 234 171 171 171 20.5	<b>SFM</b> 30 70 899 74	CON 2	<b>PM</b> 30	<b>dd</b> R	<b>8</b>	Σ	N S	S	CDDGS
Test ingredient (k) Test ingredient (k) Test ingredient (k) Reference (k) National	Inclusion level (%)          30         30         1           Test ingredient          30         30         1           Reference diet         100         70         70         8           Nurrient (g/kg DM)         889         897         907         8           Crude protein         75         100         78         6           Crude protein         419         514         482         4           Start         275         202         204         2           Start         1112         1112         114         8           Start         275         205         214         8           NSp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         8           NSp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         8           Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 394         271         324         32           Phosphous         14.3         17.2         21.8         21           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginine         2.3         2.3         2.2         2.4         1           Routione         2.0         2.3 <th><ol> <li>15 30</li> <li>55 70</li> <li>53 70</li> <li>53 72</li> <li>54 72</li> <li>51 22</li> <li>54 381</li> <li>11.7</li> <li>2.4</li> </ol></th> <th>30 70 888 89 89 89 89 171 171 20.5</th> <th>30 70 899 74</th> <th>  6</th> <th>30</th> <th>30</th> <th>Ę</th> <th></th> <th>:</th> <th></th> <th></th>	<ol> <li>15 30</li> <li>55 70</li> <li>53 70</li> <li>53 72</li> <li>54 72</li> <li>51 22</li> <li>54 381</li> <li>11.7</li> <li>2.4</li> </ol>	30 70 888 89 89 89 89 171 171 20.5	30 70 899 74	6	30	30	Ę		:		
Test ingredient	Test ingredient        30       30       1         Reference diet       100       70       70       8         Dry Matter $S/kg$ DM)       889       897       907       8         Dry Matter $75$ 100       78       6         Ash       75       100       78       6         Crude protein       112       112       115       116       2         Fat       112       112       113       67       114       8         Starch       113       67       114       8       8       8       7       432       44         Fat       112       112       115       116       2       2       2       2       2       2       3	L5 30 38 61 98 886 98 886 98 461 98 461 96 87 162 162 162 162 11.7 212 11.7	30 70 77 426 89 89 234 171 171 20.5	30 70 899 74		30	30	0		;		
Reference diet         100         70	Reference diet         100         70         70         8           Nurtient (g/kg DM)         Nurtient (g/kg DM)         889         897         907         8           Ash         75         100         75         907         8           Crude protein         75         100         78         6           Fat         75         100         78         6           Fat         112         115         116         5           Sorth         2155         202         214         28           Nsp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         2           Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 334         271         324         3           Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 334         271         324         3           Phosphous         13.5         19.9         16.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1         1           Essential AA (g/kg DM)         2.35         2.2         2.4         1         1         17.2         1.4         2           Magnesium         2.0         2.3         17.3         2.4         1         1         2         2.4 </td <td>35         70           98         886           93         886           93         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         87           98         87           98         87           98         87           102         112           113         10.2           11.3         10.2           11.3         10.2</td> <td>70 888 87 77 426 89 89 234 171 171 20.5</td> <td>70 899 74</td> <td>100</td> <td>70</td> <td></td> <td>ΩS</td> <td>30</td> <td>15</td> <td>30</td> <td>30</td>	35         70           98         886           93         886           93         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         886           98         87           98         87           98         87           98         87           102         112           113         10.2           11.3         10.2           11.3         10.2	70 888 87 77 426 89 89 234 171 171 20.5	70 899 74	100	70		ΩS	30	15	30	30
Nutrient (g/kg DM)         Sea	Nutrient (g/kg DM)         839         997         907         83           Dry Matter         75         100         78         87	98 886 53 72 98 461 98 861 47 212 85 162 147 212 1.2 11.7 1.3 10.2 1.3 10.2 1.3 10.2 1.3 20.9	888 77 426 89 89 234 171 171 20.5	899 74	TUU	2	70	70	70	85	70	70
Ah         Time         Bit         Bit <td>Dry Matter         889         897         907         88           Ash         75         100         78         6           Crude protein         419         514         482         45           Fat         112         115         116         9           Starch         275         202         204         2           Nsp<sup>2</sup>         113         67         114         8           Nsp<sup>2</sup>         394         271         324         3           Total carbohydrate<sup>3</sup>         394         271         324         3           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1         12           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         14         12         12         12         12         14         12         1</td> <td>98 886 53 72 98 461 96 87 87 212 35 162 331 1.2 2.0 1.3 1.3 1.1 1.3 1.0 2.4 2.4 2.0 1.7 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.0 2.4 2.7 2.4 2.7 2.4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 5 2.4 5 2.2 4 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 5 5 5</td> <td>888 77 426 89 89 234 171 408 20.5</td> <td>899 74</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Dry Matter         889         897         907         88           Ash         75         100         78         6           Crude protein         419         514         482         45           Fat         112         115         116         9           Starch         275         202         204         2           Nsp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         8           Nsp <sup>2</sup> 394         271         324         3           Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 394         271         324         3           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1         12           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         14         12         12         12         12         14         12         1	98 886 53 72 98 461 96 87 87 212 35 162 331 1.2 2.0 1.3 1.3 1.1 1.3 1.0 2.4 2.4 2.0 1.7 2.4 2.4 2.4 2.0 2.4 2.7 2.4 2.7 2.4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 4 2.2 5 2.4 5 2.2 4 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 2.2 5 5 5 5	888 77 426 89 89 234 171 408 20.5	899 74								
Ash         To         74         76         76         76         66         71         72         83         71         73         7	Ash         75         100         78         6           Crude protein         419         514         482         48           Fat         112         112         115         116         29           Start         275         205         214         482         48           Start         275         205         214         482         48           NSp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         8         214         12         114         8           NSp <sup>2</sup> 113         67         114         8         217         324         3         3         3         21.2         21.4         23         3	<ul> <li>53 72</li> <li>98 461</li> <li>96 87</li> <li>87 212</li> <li>85 162</li> <li>331</li> <li>142 331</li> <li>42 331</li> <li>11.7</li> <li>1.9 11.7</li> <li>1.13 10.2</li> <li>1.13 10.2</li> </ul>	77 426 89 234 171 408 20.5	74	893	896	899	889	893	897	006	892
Cudue protein         419         514         426         423         431         410         426         431         411         111         113         123         131	Crude protein         419         514         482	98 461 96 87 35 162 35 162 447 212 42 381 1.8 20.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 1.3 10.2 1.3	426 89 234 171 408 20.5		76	84	69	65	64	71	72	68
Fat         112         113         115         116         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         115         125         200         102         115         245         215         201 <td>Fat         112         115         116         9           Starch         <math>275</math> <math>202</math> <math>204</math> <math>23</math>           NSP<sup>2</sup>         113         <math>67</math>         114         <math>8</math>           NSP<sup>2</sup>         113         <math>67</math>         114         <math>8</math>           NSP<sup>2</sup>         394         <math>271</math> <math>324</math> <math>3</math>           Phosphorus         113.5         <math>12.7</math> <math>21.8</math> <math>271</math> <math>324</math> <math>3</math>           Phosphorus         13.5         <math>19.9</math> <math>16.7</math> <math>11</math> <math>113.5</math> <math>19.9</math> <math>16.7</math> <math>11</math>           Magnesium         <math>2.0</math> <math>2.2</math> <math>2.4</math> <math>1</math> <math>1</math></td> <td>96 87 47 212 35 162 35 162 42 381 1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 1.3 10.2 1.3</td> <td>89 234 171 408 20.5</td> <td>423</td> <td>411</td> <td>490</td> <td>454</td> <td>372</td> <td>412</td> <td>434</td> <td>401</td> <td>385</td>	Fat         112         115         116         9           Starch $275$ $202$ $204$ $23$ NSP <sup>2</sup> 113 $67$ 114 $8$ NSP <sup>2</sup> 113 $67$ 114 $8$ NSP <sup>2</sup> 394 $271$ $324$ $3$ Phosphorus         113.5 $12.7$ $21.8$ $271$ $324$ $3$ Phosphorus         13.5 $19.9$ $16.7$ $11$ $113.5$ $19.9$ $16.7$ $11$ Magnesium $2.0$ $2.2$ $2.4$ $1$	96 87 47 212 35 162 35 162 42 381 1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 1.3 10.2 1.3	89 234 171 408 20.5	423	411	490	454	372	412	434	401	385
Starth         275         202         204         247         212         234         205         205         207         215         215         215         215         215         215         215         213<	Starch     275     202     204     2       NSp <sup>2</sup> 113     67     114     8       NSp <sup>2</sup> 113     67     114     8       Fordslacmbhydrate <sup>3</sup> 394     271     324     3       Fordslacmbhydrate <sup>3</sup> 394     271     314     3       Phosphorus     14.3     17.2     12.7     11       Phosphorus     13.5     19.9     16.7     11       Magnesium     2.0     2.2     2.4     1       Magnesium     2.0     2.3     2.4     1       Arginie     2.0     2.2     2.4     1       Arginie     2.0     2.2     2.4     1       Argeinie     9.8     12.3     12.7     2       Isoleucine     9.8     12.3     37.1     37.2     37.2	47 212 35 162 42 381 1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 1.3 20.4	234 171 408 20.5	88	113	119	92	06	102	109	111	128
NGP <sup>4</sup> 113         57         114         85         162         171         197         118         105         170         164         205         214         215         213 <td>NSp<sup>2</sup> 113 67 114 8 Total carbohydrate<sup>3</sup> 394 271 324 3 Energy (J/g DM) 21.3 21.2 118 21 Phosphorus 14.3 17.2 21.8 21 Calcium 13.5 19.9 16.7 11 Calcium 2.0 2.2 2.4 1 <b>Essential AA (g/kg DM)</b> 23.5 29.7 274 25 Histoline 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 30.2 37.1 35.5 31 Leucine 30.2 31.2 31.8 11.0 10</td> <td><ul> <li>35 162</li> <li>42 381</li> <li>42 381</li> <li>1.8 20.9</li> <li>1.9 11.7</li> <li>1.3 10.2</li> <li>1.3 10.2</li> <li>1.7 2.4</li> </ul></td> <td>171 408 20.5</td> <td>209</td> <td>282</td> <td>202</td> <td>215</td> <td>310</td> <td>216</td> <td>245</td> <td>215</td> <td>217</td>	NSp <sup>2</sup> 113 67 114 8 Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 394 271 324 3 Energy (J/g DM) 21.3 21.2 118 21 Phosphorus 14.3 17.2 21.8 21 Calcium 13.5 19.9 16.7 11 Calcium 2.0 2.2 2.4 1 <b>Essential AA (g/kg DM)</b> 23.5 29.7 274 25 Histoline 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 30.2 37.1 35.5 31 Leucine 30.2 31.2 31.8 11.0 10	<ul> <li>35 162</li> <li>42 381</li> <li>42 381</li> <li>1.8 20.9</li> <li>1.9 11.7</li> <li>1.3 10.2</li> <li>1.3 10.2</li> <li>1.7 2.4</li> </ul>	171 408 20.5	209	282	202	215	310	216	245	215	217
	Total carbohydrate <sup>3</sup> 394     271     324     3       Energy (k/g DM)     21.3     21.2     21.8     21       Phosphorus     14.3     17.2     12.7     11       Phosphorus     13.5     19.9     16.7     1       Calcium     13.5     19.9     16.7     1       Magnesium     2.0     2.2     2.4     1       Essential AA (g/kg DM)     23.5     29.7     27.4     2       Arginine     9.8     12.3     12.7     9       Isoleucine     9.8     12.3     12.7     9       Isoleucine     16.4     20.6     20.4     2       Leucine     37.1     37.1     37.3     37.4	42 381 1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 7 2.4	408 20.5	197	118	105	170	164	205	141	201	203
Energy ( $k/g$ DM)         2.13         2.12         2.18         2.09         2.05         2.07         2.10         2.11         2.12         2.13         3.13         2.13         3.13         2.13         3.14         3.11         3.14         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11         3.11 <td>Energy (k/g DM)         21.3         21.2         21.8         21           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11.3           Phosphorus         13.5         19.9         16.7         1.7           Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         1.7           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Essential AM (g/kg DM)         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         3.0         37.1         35.2         37.4         2</td> <td>1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 7 2.4</td> <td>20.5</td> <td>414</td> <td>400</td> <td>306</td> <td>385</td> <td>474</td> <td>421</td> <td>386</td> <td>416</td> <td>419</td>	Energy (k/g DM)         21.3         21.2         21.8         21           Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11.3           Phosphorus         13.5         19.9         16.7         1.7           Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         1.7           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Essential AM (g/kg DM)         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         3.0         37.1         35.2         37.4         2	1.8 20.9 1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 7 2.4	20.5	414	400	306	385	474	421	386	416	419
Phosphorus         143         172         127         119         117         132         143         157         134         157         134         157         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         135         137         135         137         135         137         135         137         135         137         135         137         135         137         135         130         235         330         325         320         302         302         325         301         302         325         301         301         302         302         302         302         302         301 <th< td=""><td>Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginite         2.0         2.5         2.4         1           Arginite         2.5         2.5         2.4         2           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.3         12.3         37.1         35.2         37.1</td><td>1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 7 2.4</td><td></td><td>20.7</td><td>21.0</td><td>21.5</td><td>21.0</td><td>20.7</td><td>21.0</td><td>21.2</td><td>21.3</td><td>21.7</td></th<>	Phosphorus         14.3         17.2         12.7         11           Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginite         2.0         2.5         2.4         1           Arginite         2.5         2.5         2.4         2           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         9.3         12.3         37.1         35.2         37.1	1.9 11.7 1.3 10.2 7 2.4		20.7	21.0	21.5	21.0	20.7	21.0	21.2	21.3	21.7
Calcium         135         139         167         113         102         107         109         137         164         103         102         100         120         117         98           Magnesium         20         22         24         17         24         20         33         23         23         25         30         28         33         23         23         25         30         28         23         25         20         23         25         30         28         23         26         23         26         24         7         44         10         10         11         24         20         25         20         23         28         23         26         24         20         24         10         10         11         14         16         10         10         11         12         14         12         14         12         14         12         14         12         12         12         14         12         12         14         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12         12 <t< td=""><td>Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Essential AA (g/kg DM)         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginine         9.8         12.3         29.7         27.4         25           Hitcline         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         16         204         27           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         10.4         27.7         9           Isoleucine         30.2         37.1         35.2         37.1         37.2         37         16.7         37</td><td>1.3 10.2 7 2.4</td><td>13.2</td><td>14.2</td><td>14.8</td><td>15.7</td><td>13.4</td><td>12.5</td><td>12.5</td><td>13.7</td><td>13.9</td><td>13.3</td></t<>	Calcium         13.5         19.9         16.7         11           Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Essential AA (g/kg DM)         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arginine         9.8         12.3         29.7         27.4         25           Hitcline         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         16         204         27           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9         10.4         27.7         9           Isoleucine         30.2         37.1         35.2         37.1         37.2         37         16.7         37	1.3 10.2 7 2.4	13.2	14.2	14.8	15.7	13.4	12.5	12.5	13.7	13.9	13.3
Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1.7         2.4         2.0         3.3         2.3         2.0         2.5         3.0         2.3         3.0         2.8           Essential Ax (g/ g DM)         2.5         2.97         2.17         9.1         1.1.2         9.9         10.1         9.4         10.6         0.16         9.1         <	Magnesium         2.0         2.2         2.4         1           Arsential AA (g/kg DM)         2.5         2.9.7         2.4         2           Arginine         2.5         2.9.7         2.4         2           Histdine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         30.2         37.1         35.2         31.         12.7	.7 2.4	10.7	10.9	13.7	16.4	10.3	10.2	10.0	12.0	11.7	9.8
<b>Essential AA (g/kg DM)</b> A (g/kg DM)           Ariginine $33$ $29.7$ $27.7$ $9.1$ $9.1$ $9.7$ <t< td=""><td>Essential AA (g/kg DM)         23.5         29.7         27.4         25           Arginine         23.5         29.7         27.4         25           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         30.2         37.1         35.2         31.8         12.4</td><td></td><td>2.0</td><td>3.3</td><td>2.3</td><td>2.0</td><td>2.5</td><td>2.0</td><td>2.3</td><td>2.5</td><td>3.0</td><td>2.8</td></t<>	Essential AA (g/kg DM)         23.5         29.7         27.4         25           Arginine         23.5         29.7         27.4         25           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Leucine         30.2         37.1         35.2         31.8         12.4		2.0	3.3	2.3	2.0	2.5	2.0	2.3	2.5	3.0	2.8
Arginine         23.5         29.7         77.4         29.5         28.6         23.0         26.9         10.6         10.6         9.1         9.7         9.9         9.3         23.1         9.3         23.2         23.5         23.1         8.7         13.1         9.1         9.7         9.9         9.3         8.0         13.1         9.7         9.9         9.3         8.0         13.1         9.7         9.9         9.3         8.0         13.1         13.7         13.1         9.7         9.9         9.3         8.0         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.2         13.3         13.0         13.7         13.4	Arginine         23.5         29.7         27.4         25           Histidine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         9.8         12.3         12.7         9           Isoleucine         16.4         20.6         20.4         2:           Leucine         37.1         35.2         37.1         35.2         37.1											
Histidine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9.1 11.2 9.9 10.1 9.4 10.6 10.6 9.1 9.7 9.9 9.3 82 televicine 16.4 20.6 20.4 21.0 19.2 16.9 15.3 17.7 17.4 14.9 15.3 15.4 15.0 14.0 15.4 15.0 14.0 15.4 15.0 14.0 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 15.1 17.2 12.4 12.2 11.4 13.4 12.3 17.7 12.4 14.9 15.5 14.6 13.6 12.9 12.3 13.3 15.0 13.8 12.0 11.7 11.4 13.4 12.1 17.2 17.4 14.9 15.5 14.6 13.6 12.9 12.3 13.3 15.0 13.8 12.0 11.7 19.0 17.7 17.1 17.2 17.4 14.9 15.7 11.7 20.4 22.6 21.5 19.1 19.1 18.0 205 20.8 17.8 17.7 19.0 17.7 17.2 17.2 16.1 11.7 12.4 24.8 21.1 20.4 22.6 21.5 19.1 19.1 18.0 205 20.8 17.8 17.7 19.0 17.7 17.2 14.1 13.4 12.4 12.1 17.2 17.2 15.1 17.7 22.4 24.8 23.5 31.1 22.4 25.5 15.4 17.8 27.0 205 20.8 17.8 17.7 19.0 17.7 12.1 12.1 12.1 17.1 21.4 13.4 12.4 12.1 17.1 21.4 13.4 12.4 12.1 17.1 22.4 24.8 23.8 23.3 44.6 43.2 37.9 3.8 35.7 15.9 15.7 19.2 16.7 17.2 16.1 17.1 22.4 13.8 25.1 29.4 29.5 75.9 16.7 17.2 16.1 17.1 22.4 14.6 13.8 20.1 18.2 21.1 20.4 25.5 15.4 17.8 17.0 18.1 17.4 11.4 11.4 11.4 12.4 12.4 12.4 12.1 12.4 12.4	Histidine 9.8 12.3 12.7 9 Isoleucine 16.4 20.6 20.4 2: Leucine 30.2 37.1 35.2 3: Iveno 27.6 36.3 18 9.1	9.5 28.6	23.0	26.9	22.8	28.9	29.6	25.3	29.1	30.2	22.5	21.0
Isoleucine         164         20.6         20.4         21.0         19.2         16.9         16.8         15.3         17.7         17.4         14.9         15.3         15.4         15.0         14.0           telencine         30.2         30.1         33.2         33.1         33.2         33.7         31.9         27.8         33.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.8         23.1         13.7         13.4         13.4         12.4         13.7         13.4         12.4         13.7         13.4         12.7         13.8         23.1         13.7         13.6         14.1         12.1           Theonine         13.9         14.6         13.5         15.4         14.6         13.5         16.7         20.7         13.7         13.7         13.7         13.7         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.1         13.7         13.6         14.1         13.7         13.6         14.1         13.7         13.6	Isoleucine 16.4 20.5 20.4 21 Leucine 30.2 37.1 35.2 31 Loucine 77.6 36.3 21.8 21	11.2	9.9	10.1	9.4	10.6	10.6	9.1	9.7	9.9	9.3	8.9
Leucine30.237.135.237.134.229.429.528.933.731.927.828.827.829.3Uptione1211.613.613.612.912.313.313.512.011.211.413.412.412.1Phenyalanine18.821.120.42.5623.515.115.115.113.713.713.713.412.412.1Prenyalanine18.821.120.42.5621.515.116.710.113.7 </td <td>Leucine 30.2 37.1 35.2 37 Incine 27.6 36.3 21.8 21</td> <td>1.0 19.2</td> <td>16.9</td> <td>16.8</td> <td>15.3</td> <td>17.7</td> <td>17.4</td> <td>14.9</td> <td>15.3</td> <td>15.4</td> <td>15.0</td> <td>14.0</td>	Leucine 30.2 37.1 35.2 37 Incine 27.6 36.3 21.8 21	1.0 19.2	16.9	16.8	15.3	17.7	17.4	14.9	15.3	15.4	15.0	14.0
Uysine $27.6$ $36.3$ $31.8$ $25.6$ $29.3$ $25.7$ $24.7$ $27.2$ $30.0$ $30.6$ $25.6$ $24.9$ $26.4$ $24.8$ $21.7$ Methonine $14.9$ $16.5$ $14.6$ $13.6$ $12.9$ $12.3$ $13.7$ $19.0$ $17.7$ $17.7$ $12.9$ Methonine $13.9$ $19.0$ $18.0$ $18.2$ $12.5$ $12.1$ $19.1$ $18.0$ $20.5$ $20.8$ $17.7$ $19.0$ $17.7$ $16.7$ $17.7$ $17.7$ $16.7$ $18.7$ $17.7$ $16.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ $18.7$ $19.7$ <td>1 vicinia 71 6 36 3 31 8 71</td> <td>7.1 34.2</td> <td>29.4</td> <td>29.5</td> <td>28.9</td> <td>33.7</td> <td>31.9</td> <td>27.8</td> <td>28.2</td> <td>28.8</td> <td>27.8</td> <td>29.8</td>	1 vicinia 71 6 36 3 31 8 71	7.1 34.2	29.4	29.5	28.9	33.7	31.9	27.8	28.2	28.8	27.8	29.8
Methionine         14.9         16.5         14.6         13.6         12.3         13.5         13.8         12.0         11.2         11.4         13.4         12.4         12.1           Thenylalanine         13.9         19.0         18.0         12.4         13.5         14.1         13.4         12.4         13.5         14.1         12.4         13.4         12.4         13.5         14.1         12.8         17.7         12.4         13.5         14.1         12.5         16.7         12.5         16.1         12.5         16.5         15.1         12.5         15.5         15.5 <td></td> <td>5.6 29.3</td> <td>26.7</td> <td>24.7</td> <td>27.2</td> <td>30.0</td> <td>30.6</td> <td>25.6</td> <td>24.9</td> <td>26.4</td> <td>24.8</td> <td>22.0</td>		5.6 29.3	26.7	24.7	27.2	30.0	30.6	25.6	24.9	26.4	24.8	22.0
Phenylalanine         188         21.1         20.4         22.6         21.5         19.1         18.0         20.5         20.8         17.8         17.7         19.0         17.7         19.1         11.2           Threonine         13.9         13.0         18.3         16.7         20.7         19.2         16.7         19.1         16.7         17.1         12.4         17.1         12.4         12.4         17.4         14.6         13.5         16.7         19.2         16.7         16.7         16.7         16.7         16.7         16.7         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.1         12.5         16.1         16.7         17.4         18.7         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         17.2         16.7         12.3         13.3         13.4         13.7         18.8         17.6         18.7         17.9         18.8         17.5         18.8         17.6         17.7         17.9         16.7         17.8         18.8	Methionine 14.9 16.5 14.6 15	3.6 12.9	12.3	13.3	15.0	13.8	12.0	11.2	11.4	13.4	12.4	12.1
Threonine         133         19.0         18.0         18.3         16.2         15.5         16.9         15.3         13.0         13.7         13.6         14.1         12.8           Valine         17.7         22.4         24.8         25.4         20.0         18.9         18.5         16.7         20.7         19.2         16.4         17.8         17.2         12.8           Anonesential AA (g/kg DM)         17.8         26.0         24.4         21.7         19.8         20.1         18.2         17.4         24.6         19.1         16.5         16.4         17.8         17.0         18.3           Aspartic acid         33.3         44.6         43.2         37.9         93.3         33.5         34.9         35.5         31.1         29.4           Cysteline         5.9         6.4         6.1         9.7         6.3         5.8         6.2         24.4         27.7         56.7         77.9           Cysteline         33.3         44.6         43.2         35.3         83.2         83.7         90.5         93.3         53.4         57.7         63.7         59.7         57.7         50.7         57.7         50.7         57.7         <	Phenylalanine 18.8 21.1 20.4 27	2.6 21.5	19.1	19.1	18.0	20.5	20.8	17.8	17.7	19.0	17.7	17.8
Valine         177         22.4         24.8         25.4         20.0         189         18.7         20.7         19.2         16.5         16.1         17.2         16.7         17.3         18.3         17.3         18.3         17.4         12.9         12.9         12.9         12.7         12.7         12.7         13.2         13.2         13.2         13.2         13.3         5.4         23.7         5.4         23.7         5.4         23.7         5.4         23.7         5.7         6.3         13.6         13.2         13.2<	Threonine 13.9 19.0 18.0 18	8.3 16.2	15.4	14.6	13.5	16.9	15.3	13.0	13.7	13.6	14.1	12.8
Non-essential AA (g/kg DM)         Non-essential AA (g/kg DM)           Alaime         17.4         24.6         19.1         16.5         16.4         17.8         17.0         18.1           Alaime         33.3         44.6         43.2         37.9         43.0         35.5         31.1         29.6         17.8         17.0         18.1         17.4         24.6         19.1         16.5         16.4         17.8         17.0         18.1           Alaime         33.3         44.6         43.2         37.9         43.0         35.5         32.0         40.9         33.9         34.9         55.3         17.1         29.7         97.1         97	Valine 17.7 22.4 24.8 25	5.4 20.0	18.9	18.5	16.7	20.7	19.2	16.5	16.1	16.7	17.2	16.1
Alanie         17.8         26.0         24.4         21.7         19.8         20.1         18.2         17.4         24.6         19.1         16.5         16.4         17.8         17.0         18.1           Gutamic acid         33.3         44.6         43.2         37.0         93.3         33.5         31.1         29.7         77.1         29.7         77.1         29.7         77.1         29.7         77.1         29.7         77.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5         76.5	Non-essential AA (g/kg DM)											
Aspartic acid         33.3         44.6         43.2         37.9         43.0         34.9         35.5         31.1         29.4           dutamic acid         88.4         93.3         83.7         95.9         6.4         6.1         9.3         83.7         9.5         31.1         29.4           dycine         5.9         6.4         6.1         9.3         83.8         86.1         9.4         9.5.1         5.7         6.3         5.4         5.1         5.7         6.3         5.8         6.2         5.6         5.9         4.9         5.1         5.7         6.3         5.8         5.6         5.9         4.9         5.1         5.7         6.3         5.8         6.2         5.6         5.9         4.9         5.1         17.1         8.17         19.0         16.7         13.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1         17.1	Alanine 17.8 26.0 24.4 2:	1.7 19.8	20.1	18.2	17.4	24.6	19.1	16.5	16.4	17.8	17.0	18.7
Glutamic acid 88.4 93.3 83.7 90.5 93.3 83.2 87.0 86.1 84.1 86.3 77.6 84.5 89.2 77.9 77.6 Gysteine 5.9 6.4 6.1 9.7 6.3 5.8 6.2 5.6 5.6 5.6 5.9 4.9 5.1 5.7 6.3 5.4 6.4 6.1 9.7 6.2 5.8 6.2 5.6 5.8 6.2 5.6 5.9 4.9 5.1 5.7 6.3 5.4 6.4 6.1 7.2 6.0 12.4 13.1 8.8 17.5 16.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 16.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.5 15.1 7.0 16.6 17.3 18.8 17.1 1.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 7.0 15.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 7.0 15.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 7.0 15.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 1	Aspartic acid 33.3 44.6 43.2 3;	7.9 43.0	34.9	35.7	32.5	39.0	40.9	33.9	34.9	35.5	31.1	29.4
Cysteine         5.9         6.4         6.1         9.7         6.3         5.8         6.2         5.6         5.9         4.9         5.1         5.7         6.3         5.4           Glycine         17.8         5.6         2.7         5.0         19.4         18.1         19.6         17.5         2.8         15.5         16.5         17.3         18.8         17.5         16.5           Glycine         28.0         29.4         32.0         32.6         28.7         32.0         19.4         18.7         19.2         17.8         17.1           Serine         28.0         29.4         32.0         32.4         15.0         19.1         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           Tyrosine         35         4.8         16.0         6.0         6.1         7.2         6.2         13.3         11.1         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           Tyrosine         35         4.9         16.0         6.0         6.1         7.2         6.2         13.3         33.3         34.6         35.7         35.7         35.4         36.9         35.7         35.4         36.7         35.7         35.4         36.7	Glutamic acid 88.4 93.3 83.7 90	0.5 93.3	83.2	87.0	86.1	84.1	86.3	77.6	84.5	89.2	77.9	77.0
Glycine         17.8         26.4         22.7         26.0         19.4         18.1         19.6         17.5         28.7         19.0         16.6         17.3         18.8         17.5         16.1           Proline         28.0         29.4         32.0         39.6         28.5         28.7         29.0         16.6         17.3         18.8         17.5         16.1         72.0         24.4         26.5         26.4         26.1         72.6         26.4         26.1         72.6         26.1         72.6         26.1         26.1         72.0         18.5         21.1         20.9         18.1         11.4         11.9         10.2         11.1         11.4         11.9         10.1         11.4         11.9         10.1         11.3         10.0         11.1         10.4         11.9         10.9         11.1         10.4         11.9         10.9         11.1         10.4         10.0         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1         10.4         10.1         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1         10.4         10.0         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1         10.4         10.0         11.1         10.4         10.0	Cysteine 5.9 6.4 6.1 9	.7 6.3	5.8	6.2	5.6	5.6	5.9	4.9	5.1	5.7	6.3	5.4
Proline         28.0         29.4         32.0         39.6         28.7         25.8         28.1         31.3         27.0         24.4         24.5         26.9         26.4         36.1           Tyrosine         13.8         13.1         12.7         32.1         22.1         19.9         19.1         18.5         21.1         10.9         18.4         24.5         26.9         26.4         26.3         17.8         17.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           Tyrosine         3.5         4.8         16.0         6.0         6.1         7.2         6.2         10.7         11.2         13.0         11.1         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           Tyrosine         3.5         4.8         16.0         6.0         6.1         7.2         6.2         13.0         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid; DM, dry matery, CON, control; FM, LT70 fish mea! IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae ( <i>He Ucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SM, solybean meal; VM, control; FM, LT70 fish mea! IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae ( <i>He Ucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SM, solybean meal; VM, canola meal (50.5 corn dried distillers grains with solubles.           P, pea protein; FH, hydrolysed reat	Glycine 17.8 26.4 22.7 2t	6.0 19.4	18.1	19.6	17.5	28.7	19.0	16.6	17.3	18.8	17.5	16.2
Serie 18.5 21.1 20.9 18.0 18.7 19.2 17.8 17.1 22.7 32.1 22.1 19.9 19.1 18.5 21.1 20.9 18.0 18.7 19.2 17.8 17.1 Tyrosine 3.5 4.8 16.0 6.0 6.1 7.2 6.2 10.7 12.9 13.0 11.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 <b>SA al</b> ( <b>y</b> ( <b>x</b> ) 38.4 4.9 4.9 4.9 36.4 37 39.8 39.1 38.3 4.1 4.1 9 10.9 11.1 4.1 11.9 10.9 11.1 <b>I</b> ( <b>x</b> ) 4.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 <b>SA al</b> ( <b>y</b> ( <b>x</b> ) 38.4 4.1 11.4 11.9 10.9 11.1 11.4 11.1 11.4 11.1 11.4 11.1 11.	Proline 28.0 29.4 32.0 35	9.6 28.5	28.7	25.8	28.1	31.3	27.0	24.4	24.5	26.9	26.4	26.2
Tyrosine         3.5         4.8         16.0         6.0         6.1         7.2         6.2         10.7         12.9         13.0         11.1         11.4         11.9         10.9         11.1           SAM (g/kg DM)         386         469         456         466         432         389         391         383         40         41.9         364         379         395         365         355           AA (g/kg DM)         386         466         432         389         391         183         366         355           AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid; DM, dry matter; CON, control; FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from for solid FN larvae (He lucens); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SM, soybean meal; YM, yeast meal ( <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> ); SFM, sufflower meal; PM, poultry           Locens); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles.         PM, poultry           P, ponertarch notwascharides were calculated as total carbohvdraftas - starch.         CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles.	Serine 18.8 23.1 22.7 32	2.1 22.1	19.9	19.1	18.5	21.1	20.9	18.0	18.7	19.2	17.8	17.6
SAA (g/kg DM)386459456432389391383440419364379398366356AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid; DM, dry matter; CON, control; FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae ( <i>He</i> <i>lucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; YM, yeast meal ( <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> ); SFM, sunflower meal; PM, poultry P, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles.NSP. non-starch polvsaccharides were calculated as total carbohydrates – starch.	Tyrosine 3.5 4.8 16.0 6	6.1 6.1	7.2	6.2	10.7	12.9	13.0	11.1	11.4	11.9	10.9	11.1
AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid; DM, dry matter; CON, control; FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae ( <i>He</i> <i>lucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; YM, yeast meal ( <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> ); SFM, sunflower meal; PM, poultry P, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles. NSP. non-starch polvsaccharides were calculated as total carbohydrates – starch.	SAA (g/kg DM) 386 469 456 41	66 432	389	391	383	440	419	364	379	398	366	356
<i>lucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; YM, yeast meal ( <i>Saccharomyces cerevisiae</i> ); SFM, sunflower meal; PM, poultry P, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles. NSP. non-tarch polysaccharides were calculated as total carbohydrates – starch.	AA, amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid; DM, dry mat	ter; CON, o	control; F	-M, LT70	fish meal; I	M, inse	ct mea	I from	black s	oldier f	ly larva	e (Hermet
P, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles. NSP. non-starch polysaccharides were calculated as total carbohydrates – starch.	(lucens); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean	meal; YM	yeast m	ieal (Sacc	haromyces	cerevis	iae); Sl	FM, sur	Interver	meal;	PM, pc	ultry meal
ys. non-starch polysaccharides were calculated as total carbohydrates – starch.	P. pea protein: FB. faba beans: LM. lupine meal: GM. s	zuar meal:	CM. can	ola meal:	CDDGS. co	nn drie	d distill	lers gra	ins wit	h solub	les.	
NDP. FIOIT-SLAFCTI DOIVSACCTIATIQES WERE CAICUTATED AS LOLAT CAPDONYQTALES — SLAFCTI.	NICD was desired as being as the set of the			40-040				5				
	NSP, non-starcri polysacchariges were calculated as to	tal car puri	/drates -	- Starch.								

was calculated as  $(LnW_f - LnW_i \times 100)/t$ , where t is the duration of the experiment in days (d). Fish survival (%) was calculated as number of fish at the beginning of the experiment divided by the number fish at the end of the experiment x 100.

The ADC of AA and macronutrients of diets were calculated according to the following formula described by Cheng and Hardy (2002) using yttrium oxide as inert marker, ADC (%) =  $100 \times [1 - (Yttrium concentration in the feed \times concentration nutrient in faeces)/(Yttrium concentration in the faeces \times concentration nutrient in feed)]. The dry matter ADC of the diets was calculated as, ADC (%) = <math>100 \times [1 - (Yttrium concentration in the feed / Yttrium concentration in the faeces)]. The ADC of dietary component in the test ingredient were calculated using the following equation as described by Teuling et al. (2017); ADC<sub>test ingredient</sub> = ADC<sub>test diet</sub> + (ADC<sub>test diet</sub> - ADC<sub>reference diet</sub>) <math>\times (0.7 \times Nutrient_{reference diet}/0.3 \times Nutrient_{test ingredient}) \times 100\%$ , where ADC<sub>test diet</sub> and ADC<sub>reference diet</sub> are the apparent digestibility coefficient (%) of the dietary component in the test ingredient are the nutrient contents (g/kg DM) or the gross energy (kJ/g) in the reference diet and test ingredient, respectively. The concentrations of yttrium and nutrients were expressed on DM basis. Total carbohydrate was calculated as dry matter minus crude protein minus crude fat minus ash content. The NSP fraction was calculated as dry

#### 2.2.6 Statistical analysis

Tanks (trial 1 n = 21; trial 2 n = 24) were considered as experimental units. Due to differences in the start weight, performance data were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) within trials. Furthermore, performance data were separately analysed per feeding period because the variance differed between the feeding periods (e.g., feeding level). Combined data regarding digestibility during restricted and satiation feeding were analysed using GLM procedure of repeated measurement to test the effect of feeding period (restricted vs. satiation feeding), ingredient and their interaction. The effect of ingredient was tested against the between tank variation. The level of significance adopted was 5%. Tukey's multiple range test was performed when finding significant interactions between factors. All data analysis were carried out using statistical analysis systems (SAS Institute) statistical software package version 9.1.

#### 2.3 Results

The same reference diet was used in trial 1 and 2, however, the trails were conducted at different times using different batches of African catfish of the same origin. Differences between the respective ADC of the reference diets were examined using a one-way ANOVA to check if there was a trail effect. Result showed no significant difference in nutrients and AA ADC (P>0.05) of the reference diets between trials.

Performance parameters are presented in Supplementary Table 2.1. Fish were fed the same ration during the restricted period, therefore, feed intake did not differ (*P*>0.05; Table 2.4). In both trials at the start of the restricted feeding period, fish promptly accepted all the experimental diets with the exception of YM. YM feeds were rejected in the first two days, after which fish slowly adapted to this diet. This was reflected by an increase in feed intake over time. During satiation feeding, feed intake in trail 1 and 2 was respectively, 2.89 and 3.66% BW/d averaged over all diets. Within trial 1, satiation feed intake differed among diets (*P*<0.01; Table 2.4). In this trial, the lowest satiation feed intake (2.63% BW/d) was observed in fish fed the YM diet, whereas, SBM diet had

the highest intake of 3.11% BW/d, while all other test diets (FM, IM, HFM and SFM) had similar satiation feed intakes as the control diet. The ranking in feed intake expressed in g/d was slightly different. Feed intake expressed in g/d was highest for FM and IM and lowest for YM (Table 2.4). The ingredients tested in trial 2 (PM, PP, FB, LM, GM, CM and CDDGS) did not induce difference in satiation feed intake, both on g/d as well as % BW/d basis (*P*>0.05; Table 2.4).

The ADC of macro-nutrients, energy and minerals of experimental diets are presented in Supplementary table 2.1, because this study mainly focused on the ADC of ingredients. Ingredient ADC values of nutrients, which are placed in between brackets in Table 2.5 and 2.6, were excluded from the statistical analysis. This is because of the low contribution of these ingredients to the experimental diets (less than 8% of the total nutrient content in the test diet originating from the test ingredient), which amplifies the measurements errors in the calculated ingredient ADC values. This implication can lead to estimated ingredient ADC values < 0% and also > 100%, which occurred for some nutrients ADC of ingredients (Table 2.5). Except for fat and carbohydrate, feeding level had a significant effect on all macronutrients digestibilities. Feeding level influenced nutrients digestibility at a different degree, with the most significant response found in NSP digestibility (P<0.001), followed by DM, ash and starch (P<0.01). The least impact was observed in protein and energy (P<0.05) digestibility. Furthermore, an interaction effect was found between feeding level and dietary treatments on fat, NSP and starch digestibility. Feeding levels showed a contrasting trend on nutrient ADC among ingredients. For some ingredients (e.g., FM, IM and LM), protein digestibility increased with increased feeding level while others (e.g., PM and PP) decreased with feeding level.

Generally, ADC values for nutrients in ingredients tested were high, especially for ingredients of animal origin. DM digestibility of all ingredients differed significantly (*P*<0.01). For ingredients of animal origin, DM digestibility values exceeding 74% were recorded for FM, PM, IM, and HFM while values for legumes and oilseeds were above 60.4%. Fat in animal ingredients (95.1%) was better digested than that of vegetable ingredients (88.4%). In the same way, energy ADC was averagely 91.3% for animal protein ingredients and 81.7% for plant protein ingredients. The highest crude protein digestibility (105.1%) was recorded in GM, followed by SBM (96.5%) while the lowest values were found in IM and CDDGS (85.6% and 86.5%, respectively). FM displayed moderate value for crude protein ADC (averaged over both periods, 94.2%). Overall, ADC values for GM were exceptionally high (beyond 100%) for most of the nutrients analysed.

Apparent AA digestibility coefficients of the test ingredients are presented in Table 2.6. No significant differences in ADC for AA were observed between both feeding periods except for methionine and glutamic acid. The digestible essential AA content of each ingredient expressed per unit of digestible protein (dAA/DP) are visualized in figure 2.1-2.3 and digestible non-essential AA content in Supplementary figure 2.1-2.3. Overall, the ordering of ingredients from highest to lowest dAA/DP content varied strongly between the different amino acids. The dAA/DP content of Met in test ingredients of animal origin was highest for FM (27 g dMet/kg DP) and lowest for HFM (5 g dMet/kg DP). Also, all tested legumes had a low digestible Met content, which ranged from 5 to 14 g dMet/kg DP. IM and PM had a similar dAA/DP content of Met (20 and 19 g dMet/kg DP, respectively) though lower than FM (Figure 2.1). Except for HFM, the dAA/DP content of histidine in all ingredients was larger than that of FM (20 g dHis/kg DP). HFM had a histidine content of only 6 g dHis/DP (Figure 2.1). All legumes had a lower dAA/DP content of threonine compared to FM.

IM, HFM and CM had a higher dAA/DP content of threonine compared to FM. All other ingredients had a comparable digestible threonine content as FM (Figure 2.1). All ingredients had a lower dAA/CP content of lysine than that of FM (76 g dLys/kg DP), though the digestible lysine content of IM was only slightly lower. HFM had the lowest digestible lysine content (17 g dLys/kg DP) (Figure 2.2). Regarding the digestible arginine content, only CDDGS and YM had a value lower than FM. All other ingredients had an equal or higher dAA/DP content of arginine compared to FM (59 g dArg/kg DP). GM had a very high digestible arginine content, being 131 g Arg/kg DP (Figure 2.2). Regarding the digestible phenylalanine and isoleucine content, only some ingredients were below the content in FM (Figure 2.3). Excluding SBM, the tested legumes had a lower digestible valine content compared to FM (Figure 2.3). Considering all essential AA of tested ingredients, IM was the closest to FM regarding its dAA/DP profile.



**Figure 2.1** Digestible methionine, histidine and threonine expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. Ing, ingredients; FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).



**Figure 2.2** Digestible lysine, leucine and arginine expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).



Figure 2.3 Digestible phenylalanine, valine, isoleucine expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).

an catfish during restricted feeding and satiation feeding <sup>1</sup>	Trial 2	SBM YM SFM SEM P-value <sup>2</sup> CON2 PM PP FB LM GM CM CDDGS SEM P-value <sup>2</sup>	2.10 2.09 2.08 1.74 1.74 1.74 1.74 1.74 1.64 1.74 1.74	5.45 <sup>bc</sup> 4.19 <sup>a</sup> 4.57 <sup>ab</sup> 0.21 *** 5.50 5.42 5.50 5.87 5.50 5.01 5.28 5.10 0.21 NS	2.75 2.78 2.76 3.00 2.89 3.00 2.97 3.02 2.84 3.03 3.17	$3.11^{b}$ $2.63^{a}$ $2.76^{ab}$ $0.08$ ** $3.65$ $3.41$ $3.61$ $3.91$ $3.74$ $3.46$ $3.66$ $3.81$ $0.11$ #	T70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae ( <i>Hermetia illucens</i> ); HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; YM, FPM, poultry meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains (R or S); R, restricted feeding; S, satiation feeding; eed intake was not analysed during restricted period because feeding level was fixed. rscripts are statistically different (P<0.05) according to Tukeys' multiple comparison test
		-	74 1.	50	2 2	51 3.	<i>ns</i> ); HF guar m l was fi mparis
		A N	4 1.7	(2 5.1	.6 3.(	:1 3.6	<i>ia illuce</i> al; GM, ing leve tiple co
		PP	1.7	5.4	2.8	3.4	<i>Hermet</i> ine mea se feedi ys' mul
ding <sup>1</sup>		CON2	1.74	5.50	3.00	3.65	.M, lupi M, lupi becaus to Tuke
nd satiation fee		P-value <sup>2</sup>	1	* * *	ł	* *	ack soldier fly   B, faba beans; l tion feeding; stricted period .05) according
eding ar		SEM	1	0.21	I	0.08	from bl otein; Fl s, satia: Luring re ent ( <i>P</i> <0
tricted fe		SFM	2.08	4.57 <sup>ab</sup>	2.76	2.76 <sup>ab</sup>	ect meal P, pea pr Ifeeding nalysed c Ily differ
luring res		ΜY	2.09	4.19 <sup>a</sup>	2.78	2.63 <sup>a</sup>	al; IM, ins Y meal; F restrictec vas not a statistica
n catfish o		SBM	2.10	5.45 <sup>bc</sup>	2.75	3.11 <sup>b</sup>	0 fish me M, poulti R or S); R, ed intake v cripts are
e of Africa	Trial 1	HFM	2.10	4.76 <sup>ab</sup>	2.72	2.79 <sup>ab</sup>	al; FM, LT <sup>7</sup> ver meal; F ing level (f 0.001. Fee ion supers
eed intak		Σ	2.10	$5.81^{\circ}$	2.60	2.95 <sup>ab</sup>	N, contr. A, sunflow ; FL: feed 01; ***P< ing com r
dient on f		F	2.10	6.04 <sup>c</sup>	2.60	3.03 <sup>ab</sup>	intake; C( <i>isiae</i> ); SFA ir of mear 0; ** <i>P</i> <0. 3 trail lack
ary ingre		CON1	2.10	5.23 <sup>bc</sup>	2.74	2.99 <sup>ab</sup>	tive feed ces cerev dard errc 1; # P<0.1 w within ;
of diet		님	ĸ	S	Я	S	FI, rela haromy M, stan M, stan nt P>0 ame ro
Table 2.4 Effect		Parameters		H (g/a)	RFI (%/BW/d)		Fl, feed intake; R /east meal ( <i>Sacch</i> with solubles; SEN NS, not significar <sup>be</sup> Values in the se

	0					0	5			O.								
							Ť	est Ingred	ients							ď	-value <sup>2</sup>	
ADC (%)	Ц	FM	۲	PM	HFM	SBM	РР	FB	LM	ВM	CM	SFM	CDDGS	۲M	Pooled SEM	-	Ч	FL*I
Dry matter	s s	83.7 95.3	76.5 89.3	87.2 89.9	74.0 93.4	73.3 77.3	80.0 80.8	82.1 80.3	77.5 74.6	106.2 111.1	73.3 75.8	66.9 60.4	64.8 72.2	78.3 87.2	3.69	* * *	* *	#
Ash	S S	44.7 63.0	50.3 71.7	69.4 56.6	(-182.0) <sup>4</sup> (-55.2)	11.7 54.3	63.3 59.7	65.3 75.8	47.2 83.4	169.5 166.1	46.8 72.0	26.3 44.4	91.7 124.3	71.0 83.5	10.9	* * *	* *	NS
Crude protein	S S	93.1 95.4	85.6 90.1	90.4 89.2	87.1 91.5	92.2 96.5	93.8 92.7	87.6 87.3	93.9 94.8	105.1 103.1	89.8 89.9	92.4 92.5	86.9 86.5	87.2 87.8	1.16	* * *	*	#
Fat	S S	98.6 103.1	95.0 100.5	99.1 98.7	69.2 96.9	77.1 89.7	91.0 88.6	85.5 84.2	95.9 95.2	93.0 91.1	95.2 97.0	86.1 67.6	9.09 90.6	(84.1) (99.2)	2.97	* * *	#	* * *
Starch	S S	۲ <sup>۲</sup>	S S	5 S	ግ ግ	(101.6) (111.0)	103.5 112.8	98.4 95.4	(105.3) (118.4)	(112.7) (403.5)	(113.4) (191.7)	(98.2) (120.8)	(83.4) (114.2)	99.5 103.9	1.04	* * *	* *	* *
NSP	S S	۱ ، د د	28.4 71.0	5 S	ግግ	39.7 36.1	41.0 57.3	29.8 55.1	50.6 42.6	119.7 123.3	49.2 47.1	37.2 21.0	31.8 46.8	51.9 72.9	8.61	* * *	* * *	* * *
Total Carbohydrate	r s	1 I 2 2	51.5 89.1	5 S	ካ ካ	52.4 49.4	58.5 64.2	77.9 77.9	60.7 52.6	111.4 131.6	56.4 59.6	44.7 30.2	36.2 46.0	69.1 86.9	7.23	* * *	#	NS
Energy	R S	93.4 101.1	81.5 91.6	91.3 93.4	83.8 94.7	82.0 82.7	83.8 84.6	84.2 82.5	81.4 79.0	104.3 108.0	78.0 79.9	71.7 63.2	68.2 73.6	78.4 87.6	2.93	* * *	*	NS
Calcium <sup>3</sup>	r s	- 36.9	- 67.7	- 62.1	- (49.3)	- -16.8	- (71.0)	- (263.5)	- (186.8)	- (751.8)	- 70.9	- 29.2	- (2296.0)	- 124.5	- 26.2	I #	1 1	1 1
Phosphorous <sup>3</sup>	r s	- 59.6	- 58.7	- 65.2	- (37.0)	- 34.4	- 60.1	- 59.2	- 61.1	- 89.4	- 59.6	- 49.9	- 116.0	- 120.7	- 5.05	*   * *	1 1	ы
Magnesium <sup>3</sup>	ЯS	- 89.7	- 85.1	- 79.5	- (71.0)	- 58.3	- 65.2	- 34.4	- 64.8	- 94.9	- 67.7	- 51.4	- 98.9	- 105.3	- 4.71	۱ * *		
<sup>1</sup> Presented values are me meal; SBM, soybean mea (Saccharomyces cerevisio polysaccharide. <sup>2</sup> NS, not significant <i>P</i> >0.1	ans (n l; PP, ϝ ·e); SE. : # P<0	=3) per di bea proteii M, standa .10; * <i>P</i> <0.	et/ingred n; FB, fab rd error o .05; ** <i>P</i> <(	lient withi a beans; l of mean; l 0.01; ***	n each exper .M, lupine m , ingredients; ><0.001.	iment. FM, eal; GM, gu : FL, feeding	LT70 fish i ar meal; C g level; IxFl	meal; IM, in M, canola n L, interactio	isect meal f neal; SFM, s in between	rom black s sunflower π ingredients	oldier fly lau heal; CDDGS and feedin	rvae ( <i>Herm</i> o 5, corn driec g level; R, ri	<i>etia illucens);</i> I distillers gra estricted feeo	PM, poult ains with s ding; S, sat	ry meal; HFM, I olubles; YM, ye. iation feeding;	ıydrolyse ast meal NSP, non	d feath -starch	٦.

<sup>3</sup>Chemical analysis was not performed for calcium, phosphorus and magnesium during for restricted period due to insufficient faecal materials.

<sup>5</sup> ADC values were not calculated for FM, IM, PM and HFM because these ingredients do not contain these nutrients.

Table 2.5 Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients in ingredients fed to African catfish during the experimental period<sup>1</sup>

**32 |** Chapter 2

-
σ
.0
<u> </u>
e e
0
-
μ
<b>_</b>
e
2
÷
5
×
¥
a
-
۳.
÷
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
÷=
5
Ę.
0
<u>.s</u>
5
a
ũ
_
E
3
÷.=
4
◄
Ó
Ĕ
-
3
Ψ
ŝ
÷
5
<u>.</u>
σ
e
5
<u></u>
~
.=
S
ъ
ā
0
ž
. <b>⊨</b>
2
<u>۳</u>
5
<u> </u>
Ω
ž
¥
5
Ę
ā
·
<u>ب</u>
Ŧ
Ū.
0
0
>
÷
q
÷
ŝ
Ψ
<u>.</u>
ъ
-
<b>_</b>
e
1
č
×
Æ
9
Ň
<u> </u>
q
a,
-

							Tes	t Ingred	lients							Ч.	value <sup>2</sup>	
ADC (%)	료	F	Σ	Μd	HFM	SBM	ЬР	B	R	ΜĐ	G	SFM	CDDGS	٨	Pooled SEM	-	Ц	FL*I
Essential AA	6	06 A	о 5 0	0 C D	03 1	07 F	97 1	7 70	98 F	100.6	05 7	0 7 Q	03 F	5 00				
Arginine	r v	98.0	97.9	93.8	95.1	9.66	95.7	94.2	98.3	100.9	95.1	98.6	92.6	8.06	0.69	* * *	NS	NS
	ъ	94.8	91.9	88.8	77.4	96.5	95.5	89.7	95.2	101.8	93.0	97.0	88.2	85.2	0	*	3	3 3
Histidine	S	97.3	91.7	89.4	89.3	98.1	93.4	89.7	94.2	102.5	92.6	95.1	89.0	86.3	1.29	*	#	*
	ĸ	94.1	93.2	87.9	91.8	95.5	94.0	89.4	95.7	104.5	0.06	95.8	86.7	85.5		• •	u A	u A
Isoleucine	S	95.3	95.4	87.6	92.0	99.3	90.2	90.1	93.4	105.4	89.9	96.0	85.5	85.6	D2.1		ŝ	ŝ
	2	95.4	93.1	89.3	91.0	94.8	95.0	91.5	96.2	102.1	91.3	94.3	90.6	87.9	7	• •	u A	u A
Leucine	S	96.5	96.1	89.1	92.5	98.6	91.5	91.3	94.3	104.4	91.4	94.5	89.6	87.8	11.1	÷ ÷	ŝ	SN
-	ъ	96.2	95.9	91.2	78.1	96.4	97.3	91.4	96.3	104.4	93.0	96.2	84.7	87.7	, ,	*		×
rysine	S	97.5	96.7	91.8	91.0	98.3	95.7	92.2	94.4	102.1	91.4	95.5	83.9	89.2	07'1		ŝ	
	2	95.1	96.0	92.7	(7.67)	98.0	95.1	(80.0)	(90.6)	(104.6)	95.9	97.7	94.5	84.5		*****	*	* *
Methionine	S	95.7	96.7	92.0	(88.8)	100.4	86.3	(79.0)	(89.8)	(104.9)	95.0	98.0	90.8	85.4	0.88	-	•	-
	8	93.4	95.6	90.4	91.9	95.4	95.6	91.7	96.1	102.5	93.4	95.0	92.0	89.3		) ) )		
Pnenylalanine	S	94.5	97.7	89.7	93.4	98.3	91.8	89.4	93.3	104.0	91.0	94.9	89.3	89.7	1.18	F F F	ŝ	S
Thronton	ж	95.0	93.3	88.5	87.6	93.3	93.9	89.0	95.0	104.8	89.3	94.5	85.6	79.8	cc f	* * *	NC	NC
	S	96.1	95.2	88.7	89.5	98.1	0.06	88.9	93.4	104.3	88.9	93.8	85.2	81.0	C7:T		ŝ	ŝ
	2	94.1	93.8	87.9	91.4	93.4	93.1	90.3	94.0	103.0	90.6	94.1	87.3	85.4				
Valine	s	95.7	95.1	88.0	91.7	98.3	88.9	89.3	91.2	105.3	90.1	94.8	85.3	86.0	1.40	* * *	NS	NS

Feeding level and amino acid digestibility in African catfish | 33

2

							Test	Ingredi	ients						I	P-V	alue <sup>2</sup>	
ADC (%)	교	Ā	₹	M	HFM	SBM	đ	æ	R	Mg	ß	SFM	CDDGS	¥	Pooled SEM	_	-	ž
Non-essential AA																		
Alanine	ĸ	95.5	93.5	91.8	88.6	92.7	93.7	87.8	94.4	104.5	93.2	94.2	91.3	87.0	1.32	* *	25	57
	S	96.2	95.2	91.7	6.06	98.4	89.0	88.9	93.0	105.0	92.3	95.4	90.5	87.2	1	-	2	2
Aspartic acid	æ	92.1	93.8	85.0	87.5	97.9	96.5	92.3	96.4	103.5	94.4	98.1	88.2	82.9	1.06	***	NS I	SN
	S	94.7	95.5	88.9	91.0	99.2	94.4	92.9	95.0	102.9	94.4	96.6	87.9	83.3				
	α.	95 Q	8 20	91.3	5 Up	98 1	976	93.1	98.1	101 F	96.4	98.4	03 F	90 1				
Glutamic acid	ŝ	97.8	96.3	92.6	94.8	99.3	96.3	93.2	97.7	101.5	96.3	97.6	93.4	90.7	0.71	* *	*	*
Cvsteine	ĸ	86.1	82.0	73.4	88.0	96.4	81.1	74.4	91.7	104.0	89.6	96.2	83.6	70.0	2.41	* *	+	ŝ
	S	92.2	86.8	76.6	88.6	0.66	76.0	77.6	90.1	109.6	92.1	92.8	86.5	72.7	1		:	2
Glvcine	۳	94.5	89.0	91.9	91.8	91.4	92.6	86.2	94.9	102.9	91.7	93.6	86.9	83.4	1.41	* *	- SV	S
	S	96.1	91.2	93.4	92.6	96.6	88.8	87.4	93.5	103.4	91.7	93.9	87.4	84.3	1		!	!
Proline	۲	95.0	93.7	92.3	92.9	95.2	92.6	86.2	96.3	104.7	90.4	95.0	91.9	88.7	1.20	***	NS I	٨S
	S	97.2	95.3	92.3	94.2	98.1	89.4	87.1	94.6	106.4	90.8	94.3	92.0	88.9				
Serine	8	94.3	92.9	88.2	93.4	95.7	94.2	92.2	95.7	102.7	90.7	96.2	89.9	79.0	1.00	* *	NS I	SV
	S	90.96	94.9	89.5	93.6	98.6	91.2	91.3	94.6	103.5	91.2	95.0	89.6	81.4				
	-	L 10	100		6 00	6 00	9 00	1 20	0 20	C 20	7	c 00	1 00	00				
Tyrosine	2	7. <del>1</del> 0	C.66	0.06	1.05	1.05	0.06	T-06	0.16	7.16	1.06	7.66	1.26	1.00	1.41	***	١S	*
	S	85.2	100.5	92.7	89.9	98.1	96.4	94.0	94.9	102.0	93.0	99.2	91.9	91.4				
200	æ	94.6	94.0	90.0	6.06	96.1	95.5	91.1	96.5	102.3	93.1	96.4	90.4	86.2	1 07	* *	-	Š
	s	96.3	95.8	90.9	93.0	98.7	92.8	91.1	95.3	102.9	92.7	96.0	89.8	87.0			2	2
<sup>1</sup> FM, LT70 fish me	al; IM,	insect m	eal from	h black s	soldier f	ly larva	e (Herm	etia illu	icens); F	M, poul	try mea	I; HFM,	hydrolyse	ed feath	er meal; SBM,	soybea	ר meal	
PP, pea protein; FI	B, faba	beans; l	-M, lupir	ie meal	; GM, gu	uar mea	il; CM, c	anola n	neal; SF	M, sunfl	ower m	eal; CDD	JGS, corn	dried d	istillers grains	with sol	ubles;	
YM, yeast meal (S	acchar	omyces (	cerevisia	e); SEM	l, standa	ard erro	r of me.	an; l, in,	gredien	ts; FL, fe	eding le	evel; IxFI	, interact	tion bet	ween ingredie	its and	feedin	50

Table 2.6 (Contd.) Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of amino acids in ingredients fed to African catfish during the experimental period<sup>1</sup>

level; R, restricted feeding; S, satiation feeding. <sup>2</sup>NS, not significant P>0.1; # P<0.10; \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001.
## 2.4 Discussion

Digestibility and palatability are fundamental measurements used in evaluating the nutrient availability and quality of feed ingredients for specific species and thus for formulating balanced diets. This research assessed the digestibility and satiation feed intake of 13 ingredients in African catfish, in which the protein contents were sourced from animal, plant, or single-cell protein origin.

Palatability is an important factor which determines the value and quality of an ingredient (Glencross, 2020). In trial 1, YM showed to have a lower palatability for African catfish compared to other ingredients based on the measured satiation feed intake (Table 2.4). Similarly, Solomon et al. (2017) observed reduced feed intakes in African catfish fed a yeast containing diet. The lower palatability of the YM diet was also observed during the first week of restricted feeding period, which was intended as an adaptation period to the experimental diets. During this adaptation period, all diets were well accepted by the fish, except for YM diet, which resulted in a longer feeding time for this diet. Fish fed the YM diet swallowed the pellets but often expelled them back into the water afterwards. A similar behaviour was observed in sunshine bass (Morone chrysops × M. saxatilis) fed yeast containing diets (Gause and Trushenski, 2011). The lower palatability of YM may be related to a bitter taste which can be present in fermented yeast products (In et al., 2005; Shotipruk et al., 2005). In trail 1, FM and IM resulted in the highest feed intake (in g/d) in African catfish. This is well in line with literature that FM (NRC, 2011) and insect meals (Makkar et al., 2014; Ng et al., 2001) are highly palatable for fish. Fish fed HFM and SFM diets had a lower satiation feed intake (in g/d) than FM and IM diets, but no expulsion after ingestion as seen with YM occurred during the adaptation period. Plant ingredients contains anti-nutritional substances that may affect palatability and reduce feed intake (Gatlin et al., 2007: Nazzaro et al., 2021: Teles et al., 2020). However, in the current study, diets were extruded and consequently heat liable anti-nutritional factors would have most likely be neutralized. This may explain the absence of difference in satiation feed intake between ingredients in trial 2. The impact of extrusion might also be involved in the observed high satiation feed intake at the SBM diet.

In the current study, the effect of feeding level on nutrient ADC was quite variable among feed ingredients (Table 2.5). A significant interaction effect between the ADC of ingredients and feeding level was observed for the digestibility of fat, NSP and starch. The differences in ADC between restricted and satiation feeding could be due to variability in the satiation feed intake between the test diets (i.e., ingredients). However, the change in ADC between both periods was not correlated with the realized satiation feeding level (data not shown). At satiation feeding level, the DM digestibility decreased for SFM, FB and LP but for all other ingredients, digestibility increased with increased feeding level. This is in contrast to what has been reported previously, as ADC appeared to decrease at high feeding level (Haidar et al., 2016; Henken et al., 1985). The higher transit of dietary material through the gastrointestinal tract with a high feeding level (satiation) was suggested as an explanation, as it may reduce the ability of the fish to digest/absorb the diet (Henken et al., 1985). The negative effect of increased feeding level on the ADC of most legumes and oilseeds may be due to the high fibre content in these ingredients (Table 2.2) (Haidar et al., 2016; Staessen et al., 2020a). This may also explain the interaction between feeding level and the ADC of NSP and starch in this study. Haidar et al. (2016) observed that diets with high amounts of NSP tend to be less well digested, especially at high feeding level. The explanation would be that NSP can hold high amounts of water and form gum-like masses in the intestine of fish, which may increase viscosity and reduce digestive enzyme activity (Francis et al., 2001). The differences between ingredients regarding the influence of feeding level

(restricted vs. satiation) on ADC in the current study might be also due to differences between the ingredients in water absorption capacity and viscosity. This may lead to altered gastric transit time, thereby affecting the effectiveness of enzymes. In contrast, Storebakken and Austreng (1987) found no significant difference in digestibility when feeding level was increased in rainbow trout. In another study, Cho and Kaushik (1990) demonstrated that neither feeding frequency nor feeding level affected the ADC of dry matter, crude protein, lipid and gross energy in rainbow trout. Differences in outcome is an indication that the effect of feeding level on nutrient ADC could be dependent on species, methodologies applied and ingredients used in diet formulation (Imtiaz, 2018). Findings from the present study suggest that the effect of feeding level on crude protein digestibility is dependent on the ingredient.

As expected, our results showed a consistent trend for a higher DM and CP digestibility among ingredients of animal origin and a lower DM and CP digestibility for several plant ingredients in African catfish. This result is in line with the observation reported for rainbow trout and yellowtails (both Seriola lalandi and Seriola dumerili) fed various feed ingredients (Dam et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020; Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019). Generally, a low DM digestibility indicates the presence of a high quantity of indigestible substances or anti-nutritional factors in the feedstuffs (Dam et al., 2019; Lee et al., 2020; Li et al., 2013). Compared to animal protein ingredients, a lower ADC for plant protein ingredients has been reported in literature. This has generally been attributed to the negative effect of a high fibre content (Che et al., 2017; Lee et al., 2020; Luo et al., 2008; Zhou and Yue, 2012). On the other hand, Allan et al. (2000) reported a 99% nitrogen digestibility for wheat (which contains 15% protein, 80% carbohydrate) in the diet of silver perch (Bidyanus bidyanus). This is probably due to the omnivorous nature of this species (similar to African catfish). In evolution, both species may have developed mechanisms to digest and metabolize plant materials. These same mechanisms may explain why African catfish recorded high NSP digestibility in this study. Furthermore, for some ingredients (Table 2.5), ADC values are close to, or even above 100%, similar to what has been found in literature (Allan et al., 2000; Basto et al., 2020; Mo et al., 2019). In the current study, faeces egested into water was collected by settling units. The ADC > 100% might be an indication for the occurrence of leaching. Determination of ADC by faeces collection from water can lead to an overestimation compared to stripping of faeces (e.g., Storebakken et al. (1998)). Furthermore, the ADC > 100% for some ingredients, might be explained by the low nutrient contribution (less than 8%) from these ingredients to the experimental diet, thereby leading to higher uptake of this nutrient from the reference diet constituents to meet the species requirement (Basto et al., 2020). Another alternative explanation might be the presence of enzymes in some ingredients and/or other factors that improve the ADC of the basal part in the test diets.

In the current study, differences in AA digestibility values confirm the notion that the protein quality varies widely among the different ingredients. Among the animal protein ingredients used in this study, HFM had the lowest AA digestibility, whereas IM had a digestibility similar to FM. The high overall AA ADC values recorded for fish fed IM makes it a potential substitute for FM. However, fish fed IM recorded the lowest protein ADC during the restricted feeding period. This low protein digestibility due to the presence of chitin in the insect exoskeleton. Decreased nutrient digestibility due to the presence of chitin in insect meal has been reported in Nile tilapia, turbot (*Psetta maxima*) and Atlantic salmon (Fontes et al., 2019; Karlsen et al., 2017; Kroeckel et al., 2012). It is interesting to note that even though IM showed a lower protein digestibility, it resulted in a similar growth performance as FM. In contrast, YM (considered to be a promising novel ingredient) resulted in the lowest AA

digestibility and growth. Similar observations were reported in several studies especially when using a high inclusion level of YM (Al-Hafedh and Alam, 2013; Manoppo and Kolopita, 2016; Ovie and Eze, 2014; Pongpet et al., 2016). In light of the consistently low feed intake, low digestibility and poor growth of fish fed YM in this and previous studies, it would appear prudent to limit the amount of YM in the diets of African catfish until better understanding of the reasons for the low digestibility are elucidated. However, the inclusion of yeast in feeds for other species was found to potentially improve the feed efficiency and enhance the immune responses (Eryalçin et al., 2017; Ortuño et al., 2002; Siwicki et al., 1994; Torrecillas et al., 2014). Regarding oilseeds and legumes, SBM had relatively high protein and AA digestibility in African catfish and may be a useful alternative to FM in aquafeeds. Protein ADC of soybean meal varies between species and falls within the range of 76-98% (Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019). The present study confirms that the ADC for SBM in African catfish falls towards the higher end of this range (94.4%).

The protein quality of an ingredient is mainly determined by its AA profile and their digestibility. Therefore, AA digestibility data for common feedstuffs is of paramount importance (Anderson et al., 1992; Glencross, 2020). In the current study, we calculated the digestible AA (expressed per unit of digestible protein [DP]) (Figure 2.1-2.3), in order to ascertain the potential values of various ingredients. Values for all ingredients were compared with the values obtained for digestible AA in FM. This is because FM has always been the preferred choice for protein source in aguafeeds due to its high nutrient and AA content (Hardy, 2010). Similar to most other studies (Che et al., 2017; Dam et al., 2019; Tomas-Vidal et al., 2019), a high digestible AA profile was recorded for FM in this study. However, FM was slightly lower in cysteine, serine and tyrosine compared to the other studied ingredients. Among the ingredients of animal origin, IM had comparable digestible AA values as FM indicating its potential for partial replacement of FM in an African catfish diet. A similar high amount in digestible EAA was reported for juvenile European sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) when fed insect larva (Basto et al., 2020). Similar to the result of Taufek et al. (2016a) for African catfish fed cricket meal, leucine was the most abundant EAA in IM used in the current study. Except for methionine, histidine, and lysine, HFM had higher digestible essential AA content compared to FM. Regarding the studied plant ingredients, SBM showed a high potential for FM replacement as it recorded a comparable essential amino acid profile. This has also been reported for other fish species, such as pacu (Piaractus mesopotamicus) (Abimorad et al., 2008), channel catfish (Lim et al., 1998) and Nile tilapia (Furuya et al., 2001b). With the exception of arginine, phenylalanine and histidine, the digestible EAA profile of other legumes was inferior to that of FM. This is consistent with the study on Atlantic salmon, where plant protein sources showed a lower lysine, methionine, threonine, and tryptophan content than fishmeal (Anderson et al., 1992). This implies that, for optimal utilization of these ingredients in diets, supplementation of crystalline amino acids is required to compensate for the amino acids' deficiencies. Methionine from yeast was the first limiting amino acid for pacu (Abimorad et al., 2008). In the current study, digestible methionine was moderately high in the yeast meal. This is in line with the findings of (Gaylord et al., 2004) on hybrid striped bass in which high availability values for methionine in brewer's yeast was recorded. Basto et al. (2020) suggested that the calculated sum of individual AA (SAA) should be regarded as the protein content of an ingredient (true protein). This is because analysed protein contains some other nitrogenous compounds that may contribute to the overall nitrogen estimate. In the current study, IM and SBM displayed the highest values for digestible SAA while PP, FB and YM had the lowest values. Conversely, European sea bass had higher sum of EAA for FM compared to other ingredients tested (Basto et al., 2020). This variation may be due to the fact that different species have

different capacity to digest and utilise nutrients in raw materials, due to differences in their natural trophic feeding habits (i.e., herbivore, omnivore or carnivore) (Dam et al., 2019).

The digestible methionine requirement of African catfish was determined as 18.7 g dMet/kg DP (Elesho et al., 2021). In this study, the digestible methionine values for FM, IM, PM, CM, SFM, and CDDGS met and surpassed the digestible methionine requirement for African catfish with values ranging from 19-27 g dMet/kg DP. Combination of two or more of these ingredients may be sufficient for balanced feed formulation for African catfish. However, due to the lack of reliable data of other AA requirement for this species, we could not further compare the digestible values of other AA with their requirements. More in general, the high amount of digestible EAA in IM makes this ingredient particularly valuable for African catfish since besides its high AA profile, it also improved the growth of African catfish. However, the negative effect of the chitin content on protein digestibility must be carefully evaluated.

In conclusion, the macro-nutrient digestibility in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) is affected by feeding level, but this effect of feeding level is dependent on the type of ingredient. A decline in digestibility with feeding level is present for ingredients with high carbohydrate content. Results indicated that the amino acids digestibility of various ingredients tested in African catfish varies considerably. Therefore, the study provides data of more precise information concerning nutrient and amino acid digestibility in this species. This will allow fish meal substitutions in practical feed based on digestible amino acids in alternative ingredients.

## Acknowledgment

The authors wish to acknowledge the technical assistance rendered by Menno ter Veld, Wian Nusselder and the staff of the aquaculture research facilities of Wageningen University in running the experiment. We would like to thank Ronald Booms and Tino Leffering for their support during the lab analysis, also thanks to the technical staff of Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre laboratory for amino acid analysis.

# Supplemental tables

Supplemental table 2.1 Effect of diets on growth performance of African catfish during restricted feeding and satiation feeding.

					Trial 1										I,	al 2				
Parameters	Ę	CON1	F	Σ	HFM	SBM	٨	SFM	SEM	<i>P</i> -value	CON2	PM	đ	B	R	βM	CM	CDDGS	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
	~	53.9	54.1	53.8	54.1	54.0	54.0	53.1	0.8	NS	40.3	40.5	39.9	41.1	40.6	40.3	40.2	40.0	0.52	NS
Initial BW (g)	S	$139^{ab}$	150 <sup>c</sup>	146 <sup>bc</sup>	137 <sup>a</sup>	$138^{a}$	133 <sup>a</sup>	$133^{a}$	1.6	* * *	105 <sup>b</sup>	$111^{c}$	$104^{b}$	106 <sup>b</sup>	102 <sup>b</sup>	102 <sup>b</sup>	101 <sup>b</sup>	95 <sup>a</sup>	1.1	* * *
	٩	1 2 Oab	1500	1 16 <sup>bc</sup>	1 2 7 a b	1 2 Q ab	1228	1228	9 1	* * *	1.05 <sup>b</sup>	1110	dVOL	106 <sup>b</sup>	400F	400t	4101	OCa	- -	* *
Final BW (g)	ŝ	278 <sup>ab</sup>	329 <sup>d</sup>	322 <sup>cd</sup>	263 <sup>ab</sup>	285 <sup>bc</sup>	241 <sup>a</sup>	254 <sup>ab</sup>	8.0	* * *	272 <sup>bc</sup>	283 <sup>c</sup>	275 <sup>bc</sup>	270 <sup>bc</sup>	264 <sup>abc</sup>	252 <sup>ab</sup>	254 <sup>ab</sup>	236 <sup>a</sup>	5.8	* * *
(10) Lettern 2	Ж	96.7	97.8	95.6	98.9	94.4	95.6	91.1	2.1	NS	0.66	98.1	97.1	98.1	100	98.1	96.2	100	1.2	NS
Survival (%)	s	98.9	98.9	98.8	98.9	98.9	98.8	97.7	1.2	NS	0.66	0.66	0.66	0.66	0.66	100	0.66	100	0.8	NS
	Я	2.97 <sup>a</sup>	3.42 <sup>b</sup>	3.2 <sup>8b</sup>	2.97 <sup>a</sup>	3.00 <sup>a</sup>	2.82 <sup>a</sup>	2.85 <sup>a</sup>	0.05	* * *	2.30 <sup>b</sup>	2.52 <sup>c</sup>	2.29 <sup>b</sup>	$2.31^{\mathrm{b}}$	2.19 <sup>b</sup>	2.21 <sup>b</sup>	2.18 <sup>b</sup>	$1.96^{a}$	0.04	* * *
GLOWIN (B/a)	s	6.66 <sup>ab</sup>	8.53 <sup>c</sup>	8.38 <sup>c</sup>	6.01 <sup>ab</sup>	6.99 <sup>bc</sup>	$5.16^{a}$	5.77 <sup>ab</sup>	0.34	* *	7.59 <sup>ab</sup>	7.81 <sup>b</sup>	7.78 <sup>b</sup>	7.47 <sup>ab</sup>	7.39 <sup>ab</sup>	6.82 <sup>ab</sup>	6.93 <sup>ab</sup>	6.43 <sup>a</sup>	0.25	*
	Ж	3.33 <sup>a</sup>	3.64 <sup>b</sup>	3.56 <sup>b</sup>	3.32 <sup>a</sup>	3.35 <sup>a</sup>	3.22 <sup>a</sup>	3.28 <sup>a</sup>	0.04	* *	3.41 <sup>bc</sup>	$3.61^{\circ}$	3.42 <sup>bc</sup>	3.37 <sup>bc</sup>	3.29 <sup>ab</sup>	3.32 <sup>ab</sup>	3.30 <sup>ab</sup>	3.09 <sup>a</sup>	0.06	* * *
	S	3.32 <sup>abc</sup>	3.74 <sup>c</sup>	3.77 <sup>c</sup>	3.10 <sup>ab</sup>	3.45 <sup>bc</sup>	2.84 <sup>a</sup>	3.07 <sup>ab</sup>	0.12	* *	4.33	4.25	4.43	4.26	4.34	4.11	4.18	4.14	0.0	NS
	Ж	0.71 <sup>b</sup>	0.61 <sup>a</sup>	0.64 <sup>a</sup>	0.71 <sup>b</sup>	0.70 <sup>b</sup>	0.74 <sup>b</sup>	0.73 <sup>b</sup>	0.012	* *	0.76 <sup>ab</sup>	0.69 <sup>a</sup>	0.76 <sup>ab</sup>	0.75 <sup>ab</sup>	0.79 <sup>b</sup>	0.74 <sup>ab</sup>	0.80 <sup>b</sup>	0.89 <sup>c</sup>	0.02	* * *
run (8/8)	S	0.79 <sup>c</sup>	$0.71^{ab}$	0.70 <sup>a</sup>	0.80 <sup>c</sup>	0.78 <sup>bc</sup>	$0.81^{\circ}$	0.80 <sup>c</sup>	0.016	* * *	0.72 <sup>abc</sup>	0.69 <sup>a</sup>	0.71 <sup>ab</sup>	0.79 <sup>de</sup>	0.74 <sup>bcd</sup>	0.73 <sup>abc</sup>	0.76 <sup>cde</sup>	0.79 <sup>e</sup>	0.01	* * *
Fl, feed intake; RF	l, relat	ive feed i	ntake; CO	N, contri	ol; FM, L	T70 fish r	neal; IM	, insect m	neal from	black soldie	er fly larvae	(Hermet	ia illucens	s); HFM, ŀ	hdrolysed	feather n	neal; SBM	, soybean	meal; YN	Л,
yeast meal (Sacci	narom,	yces cerev	<i>visiae</i> ); SF	M, sunfle	ower me	al; PM, pi	oultry m	ieal; PP, f	ea protei	in; FB, faba atiation foo	beans; LM,	lupine n + cianifi	ieal; GM,	guar mea	l; CM, car	iola meal;	CDDGS, co	orn dried (	distillers	grains
a trail lacking con		sunerscrit	ur ur iriea ats are sta	tistically	cuirig iev . differen	5 IO VI 12	), n, rest	ing to Ti	s (c (gilling) kevs' miil	tinle compa	rison test F	Teed ints	uke was ni	L, # L'SULL of analysi	o, rvo.u ad during	o, rou. restricted	.uut. valu nerind he	callse fee	ding leve	within the second
fixed.	0			6 management				0				5			0				0	

2

fish
n cat
icar
o Afi
ed to
ets f
l die
enta
rim
adxa
ine
ents
nutri
of r
DC)
ıt (∕
ficie
coeff
ity c
tibil
liges
ent c
pare
A P
e 2.2
table
Ital 1
men
ple
Sup

								est Ingr	redients								4	-value	
ADC (%)	н	NO	Ā	≧	Mq	HFM	SBM	đ	8	R	MQ	S	SFM	CDDGS	۸	Pooled SEM	٥	교	FL*D
Dry matter	~	79.3	80.1	9.77	82.1	77.9	77.0	80.0	80.7	79.3	84.0	78.0	75.0	75.6	78.5	1.03	* *	su	*
	s.	0.77	82.8	81.1	80.9	79.8	77.2	78.0	77.8	76.1	82.0	76.4	72.1	75.4	80.3				
Ach	В.	37.0	37.7	37.8	53.8	21.9	25.5	48.1	47.0	43.9	57.2	44.1	29.5	54.5	44.4	4 13	**	* *	УU
	S	11.4	49.7	49.0	50.6	32.7	41.6	49.5	51.2	52.9	59.6	53.3	39.0	64.2	52.3	i i			2
Crude protein	Я	90.1	91.1	88.0	90.4	88.9	90.5	91.7	89.8	91.5	93.5	90.3	90.5	89.6	88.8	95 U	* *	*	**
	s	90.3	92.6	90.3	89.7	90.8	92.6	91.1	89.4	91.5	92.8	90.1	91.1	89.2	89.6	00.0			
	2	33.4	94.1	93.4	95.8	90.1	91.2	93.5	93.3	94.4	93.8	94.3	91.9	92.8	91.9				:
Fat	. s	7.7	95.5	95.4	94.8	93.2	92.4	92.2	92.1	93.2	92.5	93.8	89.8	91.9	93.2	0.34	* * *	su	* * *
Starch	Я	98.7	98.8	98.9	99.2	98.8	98.7	99.3	98.7	99.1	98.9	99.2	98.6	98.7	98.7	0.33	* **	* *	* * *
	s	96.7	98.5	98.7	97.9	98.7	97.9	97.5	95.7	9.96	97.4	97.7	98.3	96.1	98.2				
-	8	71.7	68.8	68.7	70.4	68.2	66.7	67.7	74.3	67.9	74.9	66.8	63.1	61.0	71.0	Î	*	**	4
Carbohydrate	s	55.3	70.8	69.9	69.6	68.8	61.9	64.3	69.6	60.4	71.1	62.7	54.7	59.4	73.1	1.72	<del>.</del>	*	÷
Fnerøv	R	34.9	87.6	84.0	86.6	84.9	84.1	84.6	84.5	83.9	87.7	82.6	81.4	79.9	83.3	0.81	* *	* *	*
19 202	s	32.3	88.4	85.8	85.5	85.1	82.9	82.5	81.8	80.9	85.7	81.1	77.4	79.1	84.3	1			
NSP	æ	9.5	-22.1	14.6	17.8	-20.6	24.8	26.9	21.4	35.2	35.2	33.6	25.4	22.9	33.2	4.47	* * *	*	*
	s	8.3	-10.5	20.8	15.3	-9.2	16.6	22.3	20.0	22.3	25.1	25.2	10.3	20.2	39.3				
Phosphorous	ш			ı	ı	ī	ı	·	·	ı	ŀ	ī	ŀ	ı	ŀ	I	ī	ī	ı
	S	50.8	58.0	57.2	64.9	56.2	53.0	63.7	64.1	64.1	66.8	63.5	54.8	75.8	72.7	1.46	* * *	ī	ı
Magnesium	ш	ī	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ī	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ı
þ	S 4	t7.4	54.0	55.4	65.6	34.6	43.8	62.6	57.9	62.4	69.5	64.5	43.7	7.77	53.6	3.92	* * *	ī	ī
	,																		
Calcium	¥	ī	ı	I	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	I	I	ı	ı
	S	28.1	33.5	46.9	42.6	30.4	25.0	28.9	32.0	34.4	45.7	35.6	29.4	51.6	41.2	5.05	*	,	,
CON, control; FN meal: PP, pea pro	1, LT70 stein: F	fish mé B, faba	eal; IM, beans:	insect - LM, lui	meal fro pine me	om blaci sal; GM,	k soldie. guar m	r fly larv eal; CM	/ae ( <i>He</i> . 1. canola	r <i>metia i</i> a meal:	llucens) SFM, su	; PM, p inflowe	oultry n er meal:	neal; HFN CDDGS, (	1, hydro corn drie	lysed feather r ed distillers gra	neal; Sf ains wit	3M, so) h solub	/bean les: YM,
yeast meal (Sacci	harom	ices cei	evisiae	); SEM,	standa	rd error	of mea	n; D, di	et; FL, f	eeding	level; D:	kFL, int	eractior	betweer	ר diet ar	od feeding leve	el; R, res	tricted	feeding;
S, satiation feedi	ng; DM	l, dry m	atter; C	Carb, ca	rbohyd	rate; NS	P, non-	starch p	olysaco	charide	level; N	S, not s	significa	nt P>0.1;	* P<0.0	5; ** <i>P</i> <0.01; * <sup>,</sup>	** <i>P</i> <0.0	01; # <i>P</i>	<0.10.
Values in the san	ne row	lacking	comm	on supt	erscript	s are sta	tisticall	y differ	ent (P<	0.05) ac	cording	to Tuk	eys' mu	Itiple con	nparisor	n test. Chemica	al analys	sis was	not
performed for ca	lcium,	phosph	iorus ar	id mag	nesium	for rest	ricted p	eriod d	ue to in	sufficie	nt faeca	al mate	rials.		-		•		

auppieriteritar	ane	ddy c.2	מובוורח	Result	וווא רחב					רוום בא									
								Test Ing	gredient	ts								<sup>2</sup> -value	
ADC (%)	ᆋ	CON	Ē	Σ	M	HFM	SBM	đ	8	Σ	δ	S	SFM	CDDGS	Ϋ́	Pooled SEM	٥	щ	FL*D
Essential																			
Arginine	Ж	95.2	95.7	95.5	94.2	94.5	96.1	96.1	95.0	96.7	97.3	95.3	96.2	94.9	93.8	0.27	* * *	* *	ns
0	s	93.8	95.5	95.2	94.1	94.4	96.0	95.0	94.3	96.1	96.9	94.5	95.5	94.0	92.8				2
	0	c c0	0 00	r co	10	5 F C	107		r co		05.0	C 60	10	0.00					
Histidine	2	0.06	C.CC	1.76	C.16	).TC	0 <del>1</del> .0	74.2	72.4	04.U	C.CC	7.06	04.0	0.26	5.06	0.37	* * *	* * *	ns
	S	92.1	93.9	91.7	91.1	91.2	94.1	92.7	91.6	92.9	94.7	92.4	92.8	91.4	90.1				
	ъ	91.5	92.6	92.2	89.9	91.6	93.0	92.3	90.8	92.6	93.5	6.06	92.8	90.3	89.6	ç	****	*****	1
Isoleucine	S	89.6	91.9	91.9	89.2	90.8	93.1	90.2	90.2	91.2	92.8	90.2	91.4	89.2	88.1	0.43			SU
	6	5	5	5	5	5	1	r 0	5		L C	1			5				
Leucine	צ	93.I	94.I	73.I	C.1V	92.4	¥3.7	73.7	97.0	<u>7</u> 3.7	74.U	C.26	43.4	7776	9.1V	0.38	* *	***	ns
	S	90.9	93.1	92.8	90.7	91.6	93.5	91.7	91.7	92.5	93.9	91.7	91.7	91.1	80.8				
Lvsine	Я	94.6	95.3	95.1	93.4	93.0	95.2	95.7	94.0	95.1	96.1	94.3	95.0	93.5	92.6	0.28	* * *	ns	ns
	S	94.3	95.6	95.1	93.7	93.4	95.4	95.2	94.3	94.8	95.9	94.0	94.4	93.6	92.6				
Methionine	Я	90.6	96.1	96.4	95.9	95.7	96.8	96.8	96.0	96.6	97.5	96.8	96.9	96.7	94.7	0.22	* * *	**	su
	S	95.9	95.7	95.9	95.2	95.3	96.4	95.1	95.3	95.9	96.9	96.1	96.2	95.6	94.1				
Phenylalanine	Ж	93.4	93.4	94.2	91.5	92.9	94.2	93.5	92.1	93.3	94.2	92.6	93.9	92.2	92.2	0.35	* * *	**	ns
	S	91.7	92.6	93.9	90.7	92.4	94.1	91.5	91.0	91.9	93.8	91.3	92.5	6.06	90.9				
Threonine	Ж	89.6	92.1	91.3	89.3	88.9	91.0	91.4	89.7	91.4	92.6	89.7	91.2	88.8	86.0	0.48	* * *	* *	ns
	S	88.0	91.5	90.9	89.1	88.6	91.5	89.6	89.3	90.6	92.1	89.2	89.6	88.3	85.1				
Valine	Ж	90.4	92.0	92.1	89.5	90.8	91.5	91.6	90.6	91.6	92.8	90.7	91.6	89.8	88.7	0.47	* * *	***	su
	S	88.4	91.3	91.4	88.7	90.2	91.7	89.1	89.3	89.8	92.0	89.5	90.2	88.3	87.3				

concrimental diets fed to African catfish Sumlemental table 2 2 Annarent directibility coefficient (ADC) of amino acids in the ex 2

ish	
catf	
ican	
) Afr	
ed to	
ets fe	
I die	
enta	
erim	
expe	
the	
ls in	
acic	
nino	
of an	
í)	
E (A	
cient	
effi	
ty cc	
tibili	
gest	
nt d	
pare	
. Ap	
td.)	
(cor	
2.3	
able	
talt	
men	
Ð	
a	

	4 2 2 2 2	2	C		1000			Test In	gredien	nts								P-value	
ADC (%)	F	CON	FM	₹	PM	HFM	SBM	Р	B	R	В	S	SFM	CDDGS	٨M	Pooled SEM	٥	F	FL*D
Non-essential																			
Alanine	Ж	90.1	92.9	91.8	91.0	89.7	91.0	91.5	89.6	91.2	92.7	91.0	91.4	90.6	88.9	0.48	* * *	* * *	ns
	S	88.3	92.0	91.3	90.6	89.3	91.4	89.2	89.2	90.2	92.1	90.2	90.1	89.7	87.4				
Accordio acid	ĸ	91.2	91.6	92.4	88.8	90.2	94.2	93.7	91.8	93.2	94.5	92.3	93.6	90.8	88.4		* * *	\$	2
אסאמו וור מרוח	S	90.5	92.3	92.7	90.5	90.5	94.3	92.9	92.0	92.8	94.4	92.4	92.4	90.9	87.9	71.0		ŧ	2
Ū	ĸ	96.7	96.4	96.0	95.2	95.6	97.1	97.0	96.1	97.2	7.7	96.7	97.2	96.1	95.0	07.0	***	*	
GIULARITIC ACIO	S	96.2	90.6	96.0	95.4	95.6	97.1	96.5	95.9	96.9	97.6	96.5	96.4	95.9	94.6	AT-0			£
Cuttaino	ъ	88.2	87.5	86.5	83.6	88.1	91.0	86.3	86.1	89.7	91.9	89.2	90.8	87.5	82.9	0 64	* * *	*	ç
Cystellie	S	86.0	88.0	86.1	83.8	87.8	90.3	83.7	85.6	88.3	91.9	89.4	88.1	87.3	82.1	t 0.0			<u>e</u>
Glycino	ъ	90.2	92.5	89.7	91.2	90.9	90.6	91.1	89.4	91.6	93.2	90.7	91.4	89.5	88.1	27.0	* * *	*	ŭ
	s	88.7	92.4	89.5	92.0	91.0	91.0	89.5	89.3	9.06	92.9	90.5	90.2	89.3	86.9				2
	ĸ	95.3	95.2	94.7	94.3	94.4	95.3	94.8	94.0	95.7	96.6	94.2	95.3	94.5	93.3	06.0	* * *	* *	ç
	s	94.3	95.1	94.6	94.0	94.2	95.3	93.6	93.8	95.0	96.4	94.0	94.2	94.3	92.6	06.0			£
Corino	Ж	92.6	93.3	92.7	91.0	93.0	93.8	93.4	92.7	93.7	94.9	92.3	93.7	92.1	88.1	0.37	* * *	* *	ç
	s	91.0	93.0	92.2	91.1	92.8	93.7	91.8	91.9	92.8	94.4	91.9	92.0	91.5	87.6				£
Turneine	ĸ	84.6	84.7	97.1	92.3	91.4	93.4	95.7	94.5	95.0	94.7	94.5	92.6	93.4	86.6	1 06	* * *	*	+
	S	80.4	83.6	97.2	92.3	87.2	92.0	93.7	92.5	93.0	94.3	92.3	90.8	92.0	86.9	0			ŧ
SAA	Ж	93.5	94.0	93.7	92.2	92.8	94.5	94.4	93.1	94.5	95.5	93.6	94.4	92.9	91.3	7E U	* * *	* * *	ч
	s	92.4	93.8	93.5	92.2	92.5	94.5	93.0	92.7	93.8	95.1	93.0	93.3	92.4	90.5				2
CON, control; FN	1, LT70 aha hi	fish m	W lunir	, insect	I- GM p	rom bla	ck soldie	er fly lar canola r	vae (He neal· SF	Emetia	illucens	s); PM, F meal <sup>.</sup> CI	oultry r	neal; HFM	l, hydrol	ysed feather m grains with sc	neal; SB	M, soy VM w	oean mea
(Saccharomyces	cerevis	siae); S	EM, sta	ndard	error o	f mean;	D, diet;	FL, feeu	ding lev	el; DxFL	., intera	iction be	stween	diet and fe	seding le	vel; R, restrict	ed feed	ding; S,	satiation
feeding; DM, dry	matte	er; Carb	, carbo	hydrat	e; NSP,	non-sta	rch poly	'sacchar	ide leve	el; NS, n	not signi	ificant P	>0.1; */	P<0.05; **	P<0.01;	*** <i>P</i> <0.001; #	P<0.10	. Value	s in the s
row lacking com	non sı	rperscr	ipts are	statist	ically di	ifferent	(P<0.05	) accorc	ling to 1	<b>Fukeys</b> '	multipl	le comp.	arison te	est.					



Supplemental figure 2.1 Digestible glycine, proline and serine expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).



Supplemental figure 2.2 Digestible aspartic acid and glutamic acid expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).



Supplemental figure 2.3 Digestible cysteine, tyrosine and alanine expressed per digestible protein (dAA/DP) of various ingredients fed to African catfish. Red line showing fish meal dAA/DP compared to other ingredients. FM, LT70 fish meal; IM, insect meal from black soldier fly larvae (*Hermetia illucens*); PM, poultry meal; HFM, hydrolysed feather meal; SBM, soybean meal; PP, pea protein; FB, faba beans; LM, lupine meal; GM, guar meal; CM, canola meal; SFM, sunflower meal; CDDGS, corn dried distillers grains with solubles; YM, yeast meal (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*).

2



# **CHAPTER 3**

Quantifying methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*)

This chapter has been published as:

Elesho, F.E., Sutter, D.A.H., Swinkels, M.A.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Kröckel, S., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Quantifying methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture. 532, 736020.

# Abstract

This study was conducted to estimate the methionine (Met) requirement of African Catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). A basal diet was formulated to contain 32% crude protein, 12% lipids, and 0.44% cysteine using only protein from legume ingredients as intact protein. This diet was supplemented with graded levels of crystalline DL- methionine (0, 0.12, 0.24, 0.36, 0.48, 0.60, and 0.84%), which resulted in seven dietary methionine levels ranging from 12.2 to 36.0 g/kg crude protein. Triplicate groups of 40 fish (78 g) were restrictively fed one of the seven diets for six weeks. Dietary methionine level significantly affected growth rate, feed conversion ratio, retained nitrogen, methionine efficiency and body composition. All parameters were fitted to dietary digestible methionine content expressed per unit of digestible protein (dMetDP) to estimate the Met requirement using; the linear plateau model (LP), broken line model (BL), or quadratic regression model (QR). LP and BL recorded similar values for requirement estimates while QR evidently recorded a 57% higher requirement estimates across different parameters. The digestible methionine requirement of African catfish for growth (using LP) ranges between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg per unit of digestible protein. This equates to a minimum dietary methionine level of 6.3 g/kg diet (19.2 g/kg Crude protein), which is lower than was has been previously reported for this species.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) is considered an excellent aquaculture species predominantly cultivated in Africa and some other countries in the world. African catfish is interesting for aquaculture due to its fast growth, resistance to diseases and wide geographical distribution (Fagbenro et al., 1999). The euryphagic nature of the species (Bruton, 1979) enables it to utilize different ingredients efficiently (Fagbenro, 1998). However, the dearth of nutritional knowledge specific to this species is one of the major problems mitigating against its successful culture. The economic viability of its culture is dependent on achieving the development of least-cost feeds, particularly using sustainable ingredients such as plant proteins.

Recent studies have pointed out that fish have no definite requirement for protein but rather a specific requirement for essential amino acids (EAA) (Miles and Chapman, 2007). This implies that, it is the essential amino acids in dietary protein that is most important for fish growth and development. However, the protein requirements (40-42%) of different life stages of African catfish has been previously reported (Uvs. 1989), but the requirements for majority of the EAA are still unknown. Methionine is usually the first limiting amino acid in non-cereal plant products (Mai et al., 2006). Methionine is an indispensable sulphur amino acid that plays an essential functional role in initializing protein synthesis (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2006: Martinez et al., 2017: Wang et al., 2016). In addition, it participates in several metabolic processes including a precursor for S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) production, which serves as a principal methyl donor for ranges of molecules such as nucleic acids, choline, creatine and amines in vertebrates (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2006; Mato et al., 2002). Other methionine derivatives include cysteine, glutathione, taurine, sulphate, and some phospholipids (NRC, 2011). Methionine deprivation has been shown to cause growth reduction, decreased feed efficiency, reduced enzyme activities, intestinal development impairment, antioxidant degeneration and cataracts formation in various fish species (Espe et al., 2008; Harding et al., 1977; Jiang et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2016; Poppi et al., 2017). To overcome this deficiency problem, crystalline methionine is usually supplemented in fish feed, based on the requirement of the species under culture.

The methionine requirements of commonly cultured fish species range from 13.0 to 45.3 g/kg crude protein (NRC, 2011; Zhou et al., 2011). For African catfish, Ovie and Eze (2010) and Fagbenro et al. (1999) reported a close range of dietary methionine requirement of 29.7 and 32.0 g/kg crude protein respectively. In these studies, highly digestible (e.g., fishmeal) and purified ingredients (e.g., casein and gelatine) supplemented with a large portion of synthetic (free) essential and non-essential amino acids were used for diet formulation, which may influence requirement outcome (Gorissen et al., 2016). There is debate about the validity of estimating amino acid requirement using purified ingredients with a large amount of synthetic amino acids to create the contrast in the amino acid being studied. For practical reasons, the reliance on these expensive ingredients as protein sources in aquafeeds are being reduced and replaced with plant proteins. Therefore, it is imperative to investigate the effects of crystalline methionine inclusion to practical diets that are mostly deficient in methionine (Salze et al., 2017). In this study, we fed African catfish a plant-based diet using only protein from legume ingredients, in which methionine is the first limiting amino acid. Crystalline methionine was supplemented to the diet in order to fill this knowledge gap on methionine requirements.

Generally, nutrient requirements are estimated using a dose-response approach, whereby mathematical models are fitted to a response variable (e.g., weight gain, nutrient deposition), against graded dietary levels of the nutrient (dose) under study (Salze et al., 2017). However, the selected

mathematical model and the mode of expression can largely influence the final requirement estimate (NRC, 2011; Zhou et al., 2011). Different authors have employed a wide range of models in requirement studies, but the unavailability of a concerted model has left a doubt in the outcome of various studies. As a result, it is easy to associate differences in values among the same species to the method of analysis (Baker, 1986; Salze et al., 2017; Shearer, 2000). In spite of the widespread use of different analytical models, the present work compared three models commonly used in fish nutrition: the linear plateau model (LP), the broken-line model (BL), and the quadratic regression model (QR). LP presumes that the response parameter (e.g., growth) increased linearly below the requirement and is constant above the requirement. However, for some nutrients, the response above the requirement might alter and still be dose dependent [i.e., when becoming toxic at high doses (Shearer, 2000)]. Beyond breakpoint, the response can either increase or decrease, which can be clearly shown by the BL model. The QR is also used in fish requirement studies, which take into account the curvilinear decrease in performance caused by the imbalance effects of toxicity of the studied nutrient after the requirement is attained. Here we present the estimated methionine (in the presence of cysteine) requirement of African catfish and explained the impact of using different analytical models on requirement estimates.

## 3.2 Materials and methods

#### 3.2.1 Ethics statement and research facility

The study (project number 2018.W.0014.001) was carried out in accordance with the Dutch law on the use of animals (Act on Animal Experiments) for scientific purposes and was approved by the Central Animal Experiments Committee (CCD) of The Netherlands. This experiment was conducted in the research facility of CARUS-ARF at Wageningen University, The Netherlands. Fish were kept and handled in agreement with EU-legislation.

#### 3.2.2 Fish and housing conditions

Mixed sex of juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fingerlings were obtained from a commercial brood stock farm (Fleuren & Nooijen BV, Nederweert, The Netherlands). Upon arrival, fish were fed a commercial diet and adapted over 2 weeks to the experimental conditions. At the start of the experiment, 840 fish weighing on average 78 g were randomly assigned (40 fish per tank) into 21 experimental tanks. All tanks were connected to a common recirculation aquaculture system (RAS system). A trickling filter, sump and drum filter (Hydrotech 500<sup>®</sup>, Hydrotech Engineering, Italy) were connected to the RAS to help maintain the same water quality for all tanks. The water volume of the RAS system was 5 m<sup>3</sup> and water loss due to evaporation was continuously compensated with the addition of well water. Water refreshment was based on NO<sub>3</sub> removal from the system to keep NO<sub>3</sub> levels within limits (< 500 mg/L). Each tank was equipped with air stones and swirl separators (AquaOptima AS, column height 44 cm; diameter 24.5 cm) for the collection of faeces and spilled pellet. Water quality parameters were monitored regularly and set at optimal levels for African catfish. Average (SD) measured values over the experimental period were as follows: water temperature 27.6 ± 0.11 °C; pH, 7.2 ± 0.26; ammonium, 0.27 ± 0.14 mg/L; nitrite, 0.21 ± 0.13 mg/L; nitrate, 494 ± 16.2 mg/L; conductivity, 3109  $\pm$  415  $\mu$ S; and dissolved oxygen concentration, 6.90  $\pm$  0.409 mg/L. Photoperiod was kept at 12 h light: 12 h dark.

#### 3.2.3 Diet preparation

The ingredient composition and proximate analysis of the seven experimental diets are given in Table 3.1 & 3.2. These experimental diets were formulated to be identical regarding ingredient composition and thus macro-nutrient content except for the amount of crystalline DL-methionine supplementation and cellulose. The basal diet (Diet A), without methionine supplementation was formulated to have as low as possible methionine content using commonly used plant protein ingredients. Protein originated solely from soy protein concentrate and faba beans and resulted in a methionine content of 12.2 g/kg crude protein (CP). Between the experimental diets, cellulose was exchanged by crystalline DLmethionine in a dose-response manner: 0, 0.12, 0.24, 0.36, 0.48, 0.60, and 0.84%, respectively. This resulted in an analyzed methionine content ranging between 12.2 and 36.0 g/kg CP. This range was chosen based on the expected methionine requirement being around 25 g/kg CP, of other species summarized by NRC (2011). The diets were formulated to meet the nutrient requirements of African catfish (NRC, 2011), except for dietary methionine. As cysteine synthesis is dependent on the level of methionine in the diet and interferes with the methionine requirement, the cysteine levels were kept constant in all the seven diets. The analyzed dietary cysteine content was 0.44% (4.4 g/kg; Table 3.2). Yttrium oxide was added as a marker for the determination of apparent nutrient digestibility (ADC). The extruded floating pellets with sizes ranging from 3 to 3.5 mm, were produced by Skretting ARC Norway using a twin-screw extruder (Wenger, Sabetha, KS, U.S.A). Diets were sealed and stored at 4°C throughout the experimental period.

Table 3.1 Ingredient composition of the basal diet (Diet A)
without methionine supplementation.

Basal Ingredients	%
Faba beans	15.00
Soy protein concentrate	35.76
Wheat	20.00
Wheat starch	15.00
Cellulose <sup>1</sup>	0.84
Fish oil	2.00
Rapeseed oil	8.00
Moisture loss <sup>2</sup>	0.50
Calcium carbonate	0.50
Monocalcium phosphate	2.50
Mineral premix	0.10
Vitamin premix	0.10
Yttrium oxide	0.10
DL-Methionine supplementation <sup>1</sup>	0.00
L-Lysine	0.40
L-Threonine	0.20

<sup>1</sup>The ingredient composition of the other 6 experimental diets (Diet B to G) was identical to the basal diet except for the content of cellulose and DL-methionine. In Diet B, C, D, E, F and G, respectively, 0.12, 0.24, 0.36, 0.48, 0.60, and 0.84% cellulose was replaced by crystalline DL-methionine.

<sup>2</sup>The pellet production was targeted at a dry matter content of 93%, which resulted in an expected water loss during extrusion of 0.5%.

#### 3.2.4 Feeding and Sampling

At the start of the experiment, 20 fish were selected at random and euthanized by an overdose of phenoxy-ethanol (1.0 mL/L) for initial body composition analysis. During stocking of the tanks, total biomass and number of fish per tank were recorded while being sedated (0.25 mL/L phenoxy-ethanol). Each diet was randomly assigned to the experimental tanks in triplicate. During the 42-day experimental period, fish were fed restrictively in order to provide the same amount of CP to all fish across all diets. This is to minimize the variation in response parameters due to variability in feed intake. Feeding level was fixed at 19.8 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d (about 90% of satiation) based on the mean initial weight over all diets. Daily feed ration per tank was increased based on an expected growth using a FCR of 1 for all diets, again to ensure that the feeding levels per fish were equal at all diets. In the case of mortality, the daily feeding rations was adjusted for the number of fish in the tank. Daily feed portions were hand-fed twice a day at 8:00 h and 16:00 h. During the first three days, feeding level was gradually increased from 20% to 100% of the intended ration. After each meal, the uneaten feed was weighted and the spilled pellets counted per tank, which were collected by the swirl separators 15min after feeding was finished. For proximate analysis of the feed, a representative sample from each diet was taken and stored at 4 °C weekly.

Faeces were collected overnight (17.00h – 7.30h) for digestibility studies from week 2 onwards (Monday - Friday), using detachable collection bottles (250 mL) connected to settling tanks. The faecal collection bottles were submerged in ice-filled styrofoam box, to reduce microbial degradation. Faeces were pooled every week and per tank using aluminum trays, then stored at -20 °C for further analysis. Faeces from weeks 2, 4 and 6 were pooled per tank for analysis. Throughout the experiment, fish behavior was monitored, and fish were visually inspected for discernible signs of cataract and deformity that may arise from methionine deficiency. Mortality was checked twice a day, 30 minutes prior to feeding. At the end of the experiment, fish were batch weighed per tank for final weight under mild sedation and 10 fish per tank were randomly selected and killed by an overdose of phenoxy-ethanol (1.0 mL/L) for final body composition analysis.

#### 3.2.5 Chemical analyses on feed, faeces and fish body composition

Analyses were performed on the diets, whole fish samples, and faeces samples. Before chemical analysis, frozen fish samples were sawed into small pieces, and homogenized by mincing twice through a 4.5 mm-screen grinder (Gastromaschinen, GmbH model TW-R 70; Feuma). A portion of the minced fish were freshly sampled for CP analysis. Minced fish samples for AA, crude fat and energy determination were freeze-dried before further analysis. Faecal samples were freeze-dried, then manually pulverized through a 1 mm screen sieve. Feed pellets were grinded by a grinding machine. Fish, faeces, and feed samples were analyzed in triplicate, using the same analytical method. DM content was determined by drying the samples to constant weight at 103 °C for at least 4 h (ISO 6496, 1983). Ash content by incineration in a muffle furnace at 550 °C overnight (ISO 5984, 1978). The Kjeldahl method was used for CP analysis (ISO 5983, 1979). Crude fat analysis was determined using the Soxhlet method (ISO 6492, 1999). Energy was measured using adiabatic bomb-calorimeter (C7000 IKA®, IKA analysentechnik, Weitershem, Germany; ISO 9831, 1998). Yttrium, phosphorus, calcium and magnesium in feed and faeces were determined from the ash by using inducted coupled plasma mass spectrometry according to the standard NEN 15510 (ICP-MS, 2007). Amino acids (excluding tryptophan) were analyzed by Skretting ARC, Norway, using an automatic amino acid analyzer

(Biochrom 30+, Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK) and the methods described in the COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 152/2009 (Council, 2009).

#### 3.2.6 Calculation

Daily weight gain (g/d) was calculated as the differences between average initial (W<sub>i</sub>) and final (W<sub>f</sub>) body weight of fish divided by the duration of the experiment (t). Feed conversion ratio (FCR; g/g) on dry matter (DM) basis was calculated as (feed intake × dry matter content of the feed)/(final weight of fish – initial weight of fish). Feed intake (FI; % BW/d) was calculated as feed intake divided by mean body weight x (100%). Specific growth rate (SGR; % BW/day) was calculated as (LnWf – LnWi × 100)/t, where t is the duration of the experiment in days (d). Fish survival (%) was calculated as number of fish at the beginning of the experiment divided by the number fish at the end of the experiment x 100.

				Diet code			
	Diet A	Diet B	Diet C	Diet D	Diet E	Diet F	Diet G
Methionine level (g/kg)	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0
EAA (g/kg)							
Arginine	23.2	23.2	23.7	23.2	23.1	23.3	22.9
Histidine	8.8	8.6	8.8	8.6	8.7	8.6	8.5
Isoleucine	14.2	14.2	14.4	14.5	14.3	14.5	14.1
Leucine	24.2	24.3	24.3	24.3	24.2	24.4	23.9
Lysine	22.0	22.0	21.9	21.9	21.5	22.1	21.8
Methionine	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0
Phenylalanine	16.3	16.1	16.2	16.3	15.6	15.8	15.1
Threonine	13.9	13.9	14.0	13.8	13.7	13.8	13.5
Valine	14.4	14.4	14.5	14.7	14.3	14.5	14.3
NEAA (g/kg)							
Alanine	13.7	13.7	13.8	13.8	13.6	13.6	13.5
Aspartic acid	35.6	35.7	35.5	35.2	35.2	35.3	34.8
Glutamic acid	60.1	59.9	60.6	59.3	59.9	60.9	59.1
Cysteine	4.4	4.4	4.4	4.4	4.4	4.5	4.3
Glycine	13.4	13.5	13.5	13.4	13.3	13.5	13.2
Proline	16.6	16.5	16.4	16.8	16.7	17.2	16.3
Serine	15.8	16.0	16.1	16.1	15.8	16.1	15.6
Tyrosine	9.7	9.9	9.8	9.7	9.9	10.1	9.4
Sum of AA	310	312	314	314	313	319	312
Nutrients							
Dry matter (g/kg)	932	930	933	929	932	929	932
Crude protein (g/kg)	326	333	331	332	335	337	332
Crude fat (g/kg)	129	128	131	131	132	129	132
Ash (g/kg)	61.1	61.5	60.0	61.5	60.3	60.1	60.7
Energy (kJ/g)	21.1	21.2	21.2	21.2	21.1	21.3	21.1

Table 3.2 Analysed proximate composition of experimental diets (on dry matter basis)

EAA: Essential amino acid

NEAA: Non-essential amino acid

SAA is without tryptophan since tryptophan was not analyzed, Amino acid composition was determined by the Skretting (ARC) laboratory Norway.

The apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of AA and macronutrients were calculated according to the following formula described by Cheng and Hardy (2002) using Yttrium oxide as inert marker; ADC (%) =  $100 \times [1 - (Yttrium concentration in the feed \times concentration nutrient in faeces)/(Yttrium concentration in the faeces \times concentration nutrient in feed)]. The concentrations of Yttrium and nutrients were expressed on DM basis.$ 

Methionine (Met), nitrogen (N) and energy balance parameters were calculated per treatment and expressed as; mg/kg/d, mg/kg/d and kJ/kg/d, respectively (summarized in supplementary Table 3.1). Detailed description of calculation of balance parameters have been previously described by Saravanan et al. (2012). Met and protein efficiency ratio was calculated as the amount of nutrients retained as percentage of the digestible nutrient intake.

## 3.2.7 Statistical analysis

All measured parameters were tested for the effect of diet using one-way ANOVA. If significant (p < 0.05), means were compared by Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD, using IBM SPSS Statistics, version 23.0 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Thereafter, all parameters were subjected to regression analysis, to test for the linear and quadratic effect of dietary level of digestible methionine content expressed per unit of digestible protein ( $dMet_{DP}$ ; X-variable). Estimation of methionine requirements was done by three different regression models: Linear plateau (LP), broken-line regression (BL) and quadratic regression (QR). These regression analyses were done for different response parameters (weight gain, retained nitrogen, etc.) against  $dMet_{DP}$  (X-variable). Estimation of methionine requirements by LP and BL models were done by the procedure NLIN of SAS. All statistical analysis were performed using the Statistical Analysis System (SAS) statistical software package version 9.2 (SAS institute, Cary, NC, USA).

## 3.3 Results

The mean values of each experimental diet and the one-way ANOVA analysis of all parameters are presented in Tables 3.3-3.6. In supplementary tables 3.2 and 3.3, the regression analysis of all parameters in relation to the dietary digestible methionine (Met) content expressed per unit of digestible protein ( $dMet_{DP}$ ) are presented. When being significant, the linear or quadratic relationship is given. At visual inspection, no cataracts or any other pathological sign were observed in fish fed Met-deficient diet in this study. Met supplementation did not affect the survival of African catfish, as survival rate averaged at 96% over treatments (Table 3.3; *P*>0.05).

Fish were fed restrictively, the same ration, which resulted in minimal differences in feed intake among diets. Despite the equal feed intake, final body weight (BW) and growth increased with increasing Met supplementation, and were curvilinearly related to  $dMet_{DP}$  (Figure 3.11; *P*<0.01). Consequently, FCR reduced with  $dMet_{DP}$  (Table 3.3 and Figure 3.1C).

In this study, the impact of  $dMet_{DP}$  on efficiency parameters were quantified. Growth and efficiency data paralleled each other. Feed conversion ratio (FCR), Met efficiency and protein efficiency ratio (PER) were all quadratically related to  $dMet_{DP}$  (*P*<0.001). Fish fed the diet without DL- Met supplementation had the highest FCR (0.99), which differ significantly from all other treatments (Table 3.3). Relatable effect of low dietary Met was seen in the PER values as fish fed the Met-deficient diet recorded the lowest PER. In contrast, Met efficiency was reduced with increasing dMet<sub>DP</sub>.

				Diet code				_	
	Diet A	Diet B	Diet C	Diet D	Diet E	Diet F	Diet G		
Methionine level (g/kg)	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0	SEM	P-value
Experimental period (d)	42	42	42	42	42	42	42		
Tanks (n)	3	3	3	3	3	3	3		
Fish per tank (n)	40	40	40	40	40	40	40		
Survival (%)	95.8	98.3	95.8	97.5	97.5	94.2	94.2	2.02	ns
Initial BW (g)	78.8	78.4	78.2	77.9	77.6	77.2	77.4	0.52	ns
Final BW (g)	196ª	207 <sup>ab</sup>	211 <sup>b</sup>	211 <sup>b</sup>	210 <sup>b</sup>	210 <sup>b</sup>	208 <sup>b</sup>	2.45	**
Feed Intake (g/d)	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	2.77	-	ns
Growth (g/d)	2.80 <sup>a</sup>	3.06 <sup>ab</sup>	3.15 <sup>b</sup>	3.17 <sup>b</sup>	3.16 <sup>b</sup>	3.16 <sup>b</sup>	3.12 <sup>b</sup>	0.06	**
SGR (%/d)	2.18 <sup>a</sup>	2.31 <sup>ab</sup>	2.36 <sup>b</sup>	2.37 <sup>b</sup>	2.37 <sup>b</sup>	2.38 <sup>b</sup>	2.36 <sup>b</sup>	0.03	**
FCR (g/g)	0.99 <sup>b</sup>	0.91ª	0.88ª	0.87ª	0.88ª	0.88ª	0.89ª	0.02	**

 Table 3.3 Growth performance and feed utilization of African catfish fed the experimental diets

SGR, specific growth rate; FCR, feed conversion ratio; BW, body weight; SEM, standard error of means; ns, not significant P<0.1; \* P<0.05; \*\* P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001; values in the row with different superscripts are significantly different (P<0.05) according to Tukeys' multiple comparison test.

Digestibility of macro nutrients was not influenced by the dietary treatments (One-way ANOVA; P>0.10, table 3.4). However, almost all AA ADC were affected by dMet<sub>DP</sub>. This was seen in the result of Met ADC, which increased with increasing Met supplementation (Figure 3.2). Except for Met ADC, no consistent pattern (dose-response) was present for AA ADC values between diets (Table 3.4 and Supplementary figure 3.1).

Regarding body composition, both protein and fat content were linearly affected by  $dMet_{DP}$  (*P*<0.001; Table 3.5 and Supplementary table 3.2). Protein content in African catfish was low at low  $dMet_{DP}$  and high at high  $dMet_{DP}$ . Body Met content paralleled the pattern of body protein content and increased linearly with increasing  $dMet_{DP}$  (*P*<0.001). In contrast, body fat content declined with increasing  $dMet_{DP}$ , which resulted to leaner African catfish at high  $dMet_{DP}$ .

Energy retention (ER), nitrogen retention and Met retention were measured as alternative growth indices (Table 3.6). The nitrogen retention showed a similar response as growth. It increased with  $dMet_{DP}$  at low levels and the increase in response levelled off at higher levels of  $dMet_{DP}$  (Figure 3.1F; quadratically *P*<0.001). In contrast, ER and Met retention were unaffected by  $dMet_{DP}$  (*P*>0.1; Table 3.6).

Table 3.7 highlights the digestible Met requirements of African catfish, which was estimated by fitting three different analytical models to the dose-response relationship: linear plateau (LP), broken line (BL) and quadratic regression (QR). Dietary digestible Met content expressed per unit of digestible protein (dMet<sub>DP</sub>) was used as independent variable, while different outcome parameters as shown in table 3.7 were applied as dependent variables. Figure 3.1 shows the relationship between dMet<sub>DP</sub> and FCR (panel A, B and C), retained nitrogen (panel D, E and F) and growth (panel G, H and I) respectively, and the respective estimated methionine requirements.

In Table 3.7, the estimated methionine requirement of African catfish based on selected parameters using different analytical models (linear plateau, LP; Broken line, BL; Quadratic regression QR) is given. Irrespective of the dependent variables, the LP and BL models resulted in similar values obtained for

				Diet code	2			_	
	Diet A	Diet B	Diet C	Diet D	Diet E	Diet F	Diet G		
Methionine level (g/kg)	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0	SEM	P-value
EAA (%)									
Arginine	95.0 <sup>ab</sup>	95.0 <sup>ab</sup>	95.5 <sup>b</sup>	94.9 <sup>ab</sup>	95.2 <sup>ab</sup>	95.7 <sup>b</sup>	94.2ª	0.37	*
Histidine	92.1 <sup>ab</sup>	92.4 <sup>ab</sup>	92.9 <sup>b</sup>	92.0 <sup>ab</sup>	92.3 <sup>ab</sup>	93.2 <sup>b</sup>	90.9ª	0.56	*
Isoleucine	90.5 <sup>ab</sup>	90.6 <sup>ab</sup>	91.4 <sup>ab</sup>	90.5 <sup>ab</sup>	90.2 <sup>ab</sup>	91.8 <sup>b</sup>	89.4ª	0.60	*
Leucine	90.8 <sup>ab</sup>	91.2 <sup>ab</sup>	91.8 <sup>ab</sup>	90.8 <sup>ab</sup>	90.9 <sup>ab</sup>	92.2 <sup>b</sup>	90.0 <sup>a</sup>	0.54	*
Lysine	93.9 <sup>ab</sup>	94.0 <sup>ab</sup>	94.4 <sup>ab</sup>	93.6 <sup>ab</sup>	93.7 <sup>ab</sup>	94.6 <sup>b</sup>	92.9ª	0.49	#
Methionine	89.9ª	92.6 <sup>b</sup>	94.0 <sup>bc</sup>	94.7 <sup>cd</sup>	95.3 <sup>cde</sup>	96.4 <sup>e</sup>	96.1 <sup>de</sup>	0.50	***
Phenylalanine	91.1 <sup>ab</sup>	91.6 <sup>b</sup>	92.2 <sup>b</sup>	91.3 <sup>ab</sup>	91.0 <sup>ab</sup>	92.2 <sup>b</sup>	89.7ª	0.55	**
Threonine	90.1 <sup>ab</sup>	90.3 <sup>ab</sup>	90.9 <sup>b</sup>	89.8 <sup>ab</sup>	89.7 <sup>ab</sup>	91.4 <sup>b</sup>	88.6ª	0.61	*
Valine	88.6 <sup>ab</sup>	89.0 <sup>ab</sup>	89.7 <sup>ab</sup>	88.7 <sup>ab</sup>	88.4 <sup>ab</sup>	90.1 <sup>b</sup>	87.4ª	0.69	*
NEAA (%)									
Alanine	87.6 <sup>ab</sup>	87.7 <sup>ab</sup>	88.4 <sup>ab</sup>	87.4 <sup>ab</sup>	87.1 <sup>ab</sup>	88.9 <sup>b</sup>	85.8ª	0.87	#
Aspartic acid	93.2 <sup>ab</sup>	93.3 <sup>ab</sup>	93.8 <sup>b</sup>	92.9 <sup>ab</sup>	93.0 <sup>ab</sup>	94.0 <sup>b</sup>	92.0ª	0.49	*
Glutamic acid	95.6 <sup>ab</sup>	95.8 <sup>ab</sup>	96.1 <sup>b</sup>	95.5 <sup>ab</sup>	95.7 <sup>ab</sup>	96.2 <sup>b</sup>	94.9ª	0.31	*
Cysteine	86.9 <sup>ab</sup>	87.5 <sup>ab</sup>	88.3 <sup>b</sup>	87.0 <sup>ab</sup>	87.0 <sup>ab</sup>	89.0 <sup>b</sup>	85.6ª	0.76	*
Glycine	87.4 <sup>ab</sup>	87.6 <sup>ab</sup>	88.5 <sup>b</sup>	87.2 <sup>ab</sup>	87.3 <sup>ab</sup>	89.0 <sup>b</sup>	85.5ª	0.88	*
Proline	92.1 <sup>ab</sup>	92.3 <sup>ab</sup>	92.8 <sup>b</sup>	92.3 <sup>ab</sup>	92.2 <sup>ab</sup>	93.5 <sup>b</sup>	90.9ª	0.46	**
Serine	91.4 <sup>ab</sup>	91.7 <sup>ab</sup>	92.3 <sup>b</sup>	91.5 <sup>ab</sup>	91.4 <sup>ab</sup>	92.7 <sup>b</sup>	90.3ª	0.53	**
Tyrosine	92.9 <sup>ab</sup>	93.2 <sup>ab</sup>	93.6 <sup>ab</sup>	92.5 <sup>ab</sup>	93.2 <sup>ab</sup>	93.8 <sup>b</sup>	91.5ª	0.66	#
Sum of AA	92.3 <sup>ab</sup>	92.5 <sup>ab</sup>	93.0 <sup>ab</sup>	92.2 <sup>ab</sup>	92.3 <sup>ab</sup>	93.4 <sup>b</sup>	91.4ª	0.50	*
Nutrients (%)									
Dry matter	74.1	73.45	75.71	73.54	76.35	74.11	72.33	1.14	ns
Protein	87.69	88.04	88.37	88.04	89.11	87.98	87.42	0.53	ns
Fat	93.93	94.19	94.77	94.39	95.13	94.08	94.01	0.29	ns
Ash	39.53	39.10	41.56	37.69	38.71	37.82	31.72	4.93	ns
Phosphorus	60.40	59.87	60.96	59.68	61.26	60.15	56.94	2.03	ns
Energy kJ/g	79.68	79.40	80.89	79.63	82.15	80.20	78.48	0.84	ns

Table 3.4 Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of AA and nutrients in African catfish fed the experimental diets

AA, amino acid; DM, dry matter; SGR, specific growth rate; FCR, feed conversion ratio; BW, body weight; SEM, standard error of means; NS, not significant *P*<0.1; \* *P*<0.05; \*\* *P*<0.01; \*\*\*, *P*<0.001; values in the row with different superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05) according to Tukeys' multiple comparison test.

the Met requirement for African catfish. On the other hand, QR model estimated consistently higher values for all parameters. Only parameters such as Met ADC and Met efficiency showed disparity in their outcome, with high values recorded when all three models were applied. Growth parameters displayed similar values for optimal Met requirement, averaging at a dMet<sub>DP</sub> content of 19.7 g/kg, when LP model was applied. Quadratic regression analysis indicated a dMet<sub>DP</sub> requirement of 30.8 g/kg for SGR, 29.2 g/kg for daily growth, and 31.3 g/kg for retained nitrogen. As for the efficiency indices, Met efficiency depicted larger variation compared to other parameters. Similarly, ADC Met projected high values for dMet<sub>DP</sub> breakpoints: LP, 31.0 g/kg; BL, 31.9 g/kg; and QR, 39.0 g/kg. In contrast, protein efficiency followed a similar pattern as growth, which plateaued at a dMet<sub>DP</sub> value of 19.4 g/kg, for Met requirement. Based on the R<sup>2</sup> values of the three models and the model, which depicted the least

SSE, the BL model was shown to estimate the dose-response relationship more accurately, but the difference in R<sup>2</sup> was marginal compared to the LP model. In contrast to the LP model, the outcomes of the NLIN procedure of SAS were not fully stable for the BL model. Small differences in the starting values of the NLIN procedure affected the estimated breakpoint by BL for growth and retained nitrogen. Therefore, LP seemed to be the most appropriate model due to its stability. Using this LP model, the estimated digestible methionine requirement for optimal growth in African catfish is a dMet<sub>DP</sub> value ranging between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg.

					Diet code					
		Diet A	Diet B	Diet C	Diet D	Diet E	Diet F	Diet G		
Methionine level (g/kg)	Initial	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0	SEM	P-value
EAA (g/kg dry matter)										
Arginine	37.8	30.5ª	33.2 <sup>b</sup>	34.2 <sup>b</sup>	32.8 <sup>b</sup>	33.6 <sup>b</sup>	33.8 <sup>b</sup>	33.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.40	***
Histidine	16.0	11.9ª	13.6 <sup>b</sup>	14.2 <sup>bc</sup>	14.1 <sup>bc</sup>	14.3 <sup>bc</sup>	14.4 <sup>c</sup>	14.4 <sup>c</sup>	0.16	***
Isoleucine	24.8	19.3ª	21.2 <sup>b</sup>	22.0 <sup>b</sup>	21.4 <sup>b</sup>	21.8 <sup>b</sup>	22.0 <sup>b</sup>	22.0 <sup>b</sup>	0.25	***
Leucine	43.4	33.6ª	37.0 <sup>b</sup>	38.4 <sup>b</sup>	37.3 <sup>b</sup>	38.0 <sup>b</sup>	38.5 <sup>b</sup>	38.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.44	***
Lysine	47.6	37.9ª	41.8 <sup>b</sup>	44.0 <sup>b</sup>	42.6 <sup>b</sup>	43.3 <sup>b</sup>	44.1 <sup>b</sup>	44.1 <sup>b</sup>	0.53	***
Methionine	15.2	11.8ª	13.2 <sup>b</sup>	13.6 <sup>b</sup>	13.4 <sup>b</sup>	13.7 <sup>b</sup>	13.7 <sup>b</sup>	13.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.15	***
Phenylalanine	24.9	20.2ª	22.0 <sup>ab</sup>	22.7 <sup>b</sup>	21.8 <sup>ab</sup>	22.5 <sup>b</sup>	22.6 <sup>b</sup>	22.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.39	**
Threonine	25.8	20.2ª	22.1 <sup>b</sup>	22.7 <sup>b</sup>	22.2 <sup>b</sup>	22.5 <sup>b</sup>	22.7 <sup>b</sup>	22.6 <sup>b</sup>	0.26	***
Valine	27.0	21.5ª	23.5 <sup>b</sup>	24.5 <sup>b</sup>	23.7 <sup>b</sup>	24.2 <sup>b</sup>	24.3 <sup>b</sup>	24.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.31	***
NEAA (g/kg dry matter)										
Alanine	38.8	31.9ª	34.7 <sup>b</sup>	35.5 <sup>b</sup>	33.8 <sup>ab</sup>	34.7 <sup>b</sup>	34.7 <sup>b</sup>	34.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.44	**
Aspartic acid	57.8	45.4ª	50.0 <sup>b</sup>	52.2 <sup>b</sup>	50.4 <sup>b</sup>	51.4 <sup>b</sup>	52.0 <sup>b</sup>	51.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.71	***
Glutamic acid	84.1	66.2ª	73.1 <sup>b</sup>	76.3 <sup>b</sup>	73.4 <sup>b</sup>	75.0 <sup>b</sup>	75.6 <sup>b</sup>	74.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.92	***
Cysteine	5.39	4.25 <sup>a</sup>	4.60 <sup>ab</sup>	4.69 <sup>b</sup>	4.53 <sup>ab</sup>	4.68 <sup>b</sup>	4.74 <sup>b</sup>	4.75 <sup>b</sup>	0.08	**
Glycine	49.1	43.5	46.5	46.5	43.4	44.7	44.3	44.0	0.93	ns
Proline	30.6	26.0	27.8	28.0	26.6	27.2	26.9	26.9	0.56	ns
Serine	24.8	19.7ª	21.4 <sup>b</sup>	21.8 <sup>b</sup>	21.1 <sup>b</sup>	21.5 <sup>b</sup>	21.7 <sup>b</sup>	21.7 <sup>b</sup>	0.26	***
Tyrosine	15.1	11.8ª	12.8 <sup>ab</sup>	13.6 <sup>b</sup>	12.6 <sup>ab</sup>	13.1 <sup>ab</sup>	13.2 <sup>ab</sup>	13.4 <sup>b</sup>	0.30	**
Sum of AA	568	456ª	499 <sup>b</sup>	515 <sup>b</sup>	495 <sup>b</sup>	506 <sup>b</sup>	509 <sup>b</sup>	507 <sup>b</sup>	5.2	***
Proximate composition (g	/kg dry m	atter)								
Dry matter	243	293	282	285	287	290	287	287	3.0	ns
Crude protein	645	501ª	547 <sup>b</sup>	546 <sup>b</sup>	553 <sup>b</sup>	557 <sup>b</sup>	551 <sup>b</sup>	560 <sup>b</sup>	5.9	***
Crude fat	236	387 <sup>b</sup>	353ª	351ª	350 <sup>a</sup>	345 <sup>a</sup>	353ª	347ª	6.7	***
Ash	121	105	99.0	99.1	100	102	100	105	3.1	ns
Phosphorus	17.0	18.6	15.7	15.8	17.7	17.3	17.2	18.2	1.0	ns
Energy (kJ/kg DM)	24.9	28.1 <sup>b</sup>	27.1 <sup>ab</sup>	27.0 <sup>ab</sup>	26.9 <sup>ab</sup>	26.8ª	27.0 <sup>ab</sup>	26.9 <sup>ab</sup>	0.3	*

Table 3.5 Whole body composition (g/kg) of African catfish fed with the experiemntal diets

Amino acid composition was determined by the Skretting (ARC) laboratory Norway. EAA, essential amino acid; NEAA, nonessential amino acid; SAA, sum of amino acid (SAA is without tryptophan, no tryptophan was detected after acid hydrolysis); DM, dry matter; SEM, standard error of means; NS, not significant *P*<0.1; \* *P*<0.05; \*\* *P*<0.01; \*\*\*, *P*<0.001; values in the row with different superscripts are significantly different (*P*<0.05) according to Tukeys' multiple comparison test.

lances of African catfish	
d energy ba	
ı nitrogen anı	
inclusion on	
f methionine	
e 3.6 Effect o	
Tabl	

				Diet code	SS				
	Diet A	Diet B	Diet C	Diet D	Diet E	Diet F	Diet G		
Methionine level (g/kg)	4.0	5.4	6.3	8.0	9.2	10.3	12.0	SEM	P-value
Methionine balance (mg/d)									
Gross methionine intake	$11.06^{3}$	14.96 <sup>b</sup>	17.60 <sup>c</sup>	22.28 <sup>d</sup>	25.68 <sup>e</sup>	$28.51^{f}$	33.25 <sup>g</sup>	0.01	* * *
Digestible methionine intake	9.95 <sup>a</sup>	$13.86^{\mathrm{b}}$	16.54°	21.10 <sup>d</sup>	24.48 <sup>e</sup>	27.49 <sup>f</sup>	$31.95^{g}$	0.07	* * *
Retained methionine	10.79	12.02	12.60	11.64	13.08	11.77	12.37	0.61	su
Methionine efficiency	108.47 <sup>d</sup>	86.73 <sup>c</sup>	76.19 <sup>bc</sup>	55.19 <sup>ab</sup>	53.44 <sup>a</sup>	42.81 <sup>a</sup>	38.71 <sup>a</sup>	4.43	* * *
Nitrogen balance (mg/d)									
Gross nitrogen intake	$144.7^{a}$	147.9 <sup>c</sup>	146.8 <sup>b</sup>	148.3 <sup>d</sup>	$148.8^{e}$	149.5 <sup>f</sup>	147.8 <sup>c</sup>	0.05	* * *
Digestible nitrogen intake	126.9 <sup>a</sup>	130.2 <sup>ab</sup>	129.7 <sup>ab</sup>	130.5 <sup>ab</sup>	132.6 <sup>b</sup>	$131.5^{b}$	129.2 <sup>ab</sup>	0.80	* *
Branchial urinary losses	63.9 <sup>b</sup>	55.2 <sup>ab</sup>	$51.4^{a}$	49.3 <sup>a</sup>	49.6 <sup>a</sup>	50.9 <sup>a</sup>	47.9 <sup>a</sup>	1.62	* * *
Retained nitrogen	63.0 <sup>a</sup>	75.0 <sup>b</sup>	78.4 <sup>bc</sup>	81.3 <sup>bc</sup>	83.0 <sup>c</sup>	80.7 <sup>bc</sup>	81.3 <sup>bc</sup>	1.86	* * *
Protein efficiency	49.6 <sup>a</sup>	57.6 <sup>b</sup>	60.4 <sup>b</sup>	62.3 <sup>b</sup>	62.6 <sup>b</sup>	61.3 <sup>b</sup>	63.0 <sup>b</sup>	1.33	* * *
Energy balance (KJ/d)									
Energy intake	58.60 <sup>a</sup>	58.80 <sup>b</sup>	58.80 <sup>b</sup>	58.96 <sup>c</sup>	58.57 <sup>a</sup>	$59.10^{d}$	58.67 <sup>a</sup>	0.02	* * *
Digestible energy intake	46.69	46.69	47.57	46.95	48.12	47.40	46.05	0.50	ns
Branchial urinary losses	1.59 <sup>b</sup>	$1.37^{ab}$	1.28 <sup>b</sup>	1.23 <sup>b</sup>	1.24 <sup>b</sup>	1.27 <sup>b</sup>	1.19 <sup>b</sup>	0.05	* * *
Metabolizable energy intake	45.10	45.32	46.29	45.72	46.88	46.13	44.85	0.48	#
Heat production	17.85	18.97	18.89	18.10	19.24	18.53	17.67	1.04	ns
Retained energy	27.25	26.34	27.40	27.63	27.65	27.60	27.19	0.72	su
Retained energy as protein	9.33 <sup>a</sup>	$11.11^{b}$	$11.61^{\rm bc}$	12.03 <sup>bc</sup>	12.29 <sup>c</sup>	11.95 <sup>bc</sup>	12.05 <sup>bc</sup>	0.24	* *
Retained energy as fat	17.92	15.23	15.79	15.59	15.36	15.65	15.14	0.66	su
Maintenance energy requirement (kJ/kg <sup>-0.8</sup> /day)	41.94	40.67	37.56	31.75	36.66	34.42	29.83	6.23	ns
SEM, standard error of means; NS, not significant <i>P</i> significant <i>P</i> significantly different (P<0.05) according to Tukeys'	<0.1; * <i>P</i> <0 multiple co	05; ** <i>P</i> <0	.01; ***, <i>P</i> . test.	<0.001; valu	es in the row	/ with differe	nt superscript	s are	

Traits		Breakpoint LP (SE)	Breakpoint BL (SE)	Maximum QR	
SGR (%/	(k	19.1 (1.46)	19.0 (1.66)	30.8	
Growth	g/d)	18.7 (1.35)	19.0 (1.57)	29.2	
Retained	l nitrogen (mg/d)	21.4 (0.91)	18.7 (1.06)	31.3	
FCR (g/g	)	18.5 (1.16)	18.8 (1.35)	29.7	
Methion	ine efficiency (mg/d)	31.7 (1.55)	24.6 (2.57)	40.9	
Protein e	efficiency (%)	19.4 (1.19)	18.8 (1.26)	32.0	
ADC met	hionine (%)	31.0 (1.7)	31. 9 (2.03)	39.0	
Branchia	l urinary losses (mg/d)	19.8 (1.59)	19.0 (1.66)	33.3	

 Table 3.7 Estimated methionine requirement of African catfish on selected parameters using different

 analytical models (linear plateau, LP; Broken line, BL; Quadratic regression QR).

SGR, specific growth rate; FCR, feed conversion ratio; ADC, apparent digestibility coefficient; SE, standard error of the estimated breakpoint is given between brackets. The full relationships for the models; LP and BL are given in Supplementary table 3.5 and for the QR model in Supplementary table 3.2 and 3.3.



**Figure 3.1** The relationship between dietary digestible methionine content (expressed in g/kg digestible protein [DP]) and FCR (panel a, b and c); retained nitrogen (d, e and f); growth (g, h and l), in African catfish. Three models for estimating the optimal dietary digestible methionine content were compared: linear plateau model (panel a, d and g); broken line model (panel b, e and h); and quadratic regression (panel c, f and i). The estimated equations and R<sup>2</sup> for the linear plateau and broken line model are provided in supplementary table 3.5 and for quadratic regression in Table 3.3 and 3.4.



**Figure 3.2** The relationship between dietary digestible methionine content (expressed in g/kg digestible protein [DP]) and methionine (Met) efficiency (panel a. b and c) and methionine (Met) digestibility (d, e and f), in African catfish. Three models for estimating the optimal dietary digestible methionine content were compared: linear plateau model (panel a and d); broken line model (panel b and e); and quadratic regression (panel c and f). The estimated equations and R<sup>2</sup> for the linear plateau and broken line model are provided in supplementary table 3.5 and for quadratic regression in supplementary table 3.2 and 3.3.

## 3.4 Discussion

In this study, methionine (Met) supplementation resulted in improved growth and better feed utilization of juvenile African catfish. The results suggest that Met was the first limiting amino acid in the basal diet used in the current study (a leguminous plant-based diet). This reflected in the poor feed efficiency, and reduced growth reported for fish fed the low-Met diet. However, African catfish were able to utilize crystalline Met, as supplementation improved growth performance. The general observation that low dietary Met level can limit growth performance has been demonstrated in various studies (Fagbenro et al., 1999; Liang et al., 2016; Yan et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2011). Reduced growth in fish fed Met-deficient diets may be attributed to: reduced feed intake; reduced protein deposition (i.e., N-retention); and increased fat deposition (i.e., enhanced deamination of non- Met AA). All these factors contribute to an altered FCR, PER and protein utilization efficiency.

In the current study, the decline in performance was not related to feed intake (FI) because fish were fed restrictively. In literature, the majority of requirement studies often apply satiation feeding strategy. This may lead to variation in nutrient intake, as loss of appetite has been reported in species fed Met-deficient diets under satiation feeding (Alam et al., 2000; Elmada et al., 2016; Wu et al., 2017). Methionine is known to play a crucial role in the modification of the gene and endocrine pathways responsible for appetite regulation (Fontagné-Dicharry et al., 2017; Sourabié et al., 2018). Restricted feeding prevents differences in FI between treatments, therefore, variations in growth rate will only result from differences in metabolic efficiency (Cowey, 1994). Moreover, the total consumption of feed

supplied will improve the use of available nutrients, thereby increase feed efficiency (Coloso et al., 1999). Our results suggest that the major reason for the hampered performance in the low-Met group was the reduction in N retention (protein deposition) coinciding with a reduced protein efficiency. However, methionine efficiency was higher in fish fed the Met-deficient diets. This high efficiency (slightly higher but not different from 100%) is an indication that Met was the first limiting AA. Consequently, the available Met was completely utilized. This is because the first limiting AA in a diet often has the highest marginal efficiency leading to the complete utilization of available AA rather than being catabolised (Gerrits et al., 1998).

As expected, body protein contents (on DM basis) increased with increasing Met level and lowest values were recorded for fish fed the Met-deficient diet (Table 3.5). High body protein contents in the Met-balance and Met-excess group is an indication of increased nitrogen retention due to the supply of diets with balanced AA. Nwanna (2016) and Ovie and Eze (2010) reported that DL-methionine inclusion in the diet resulted in a significant increase of African catfish carcass protein, which improved carcass guality. The body fat content showed an opposite trend to the body protein content as it decreased with increasing Met supplementation. This inverse response of body protein and fat to Met deficiency have been reported in some studies (Powell et al., 2017). Since protein synthesis and accretion depend on a balanced AA supply (De la Higuera et al., 1998), a deficiency in one essential amino acid (EAA) will disrupt this process. As a result, shortage of Met (e.g., in Met-deficient diet) at the synthesis sites will cause the remaining AA to be catabolized and or used as energy source for fat synthesis. This explains the higher fat content of fish fed the Met-deficient diet. Our results show a positive contribution of Met inclusion on overall protein efficiency (PER). Improved PER in response to Met supplementation has been observed in other fish species (Alam et al., 2000; Luo et al., 2005; Ruchimat et al., 1997; Wu et al., 2017; Yan et al., 2007). The retained nitrogen supports the growth trend reported in this study, suggesting increased protein synthesis due to Met inclusion (Elmada et al., 2016).

In the current study, the dietary digestible Met requirement expressed per digestible protein ( $dMet_{DP}$ ) for the growth of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) was 18.7 g/kg (based on the linear plateau model). This is equivalent to a dietary Met content of 6.3 g/kg diet and 19.2 g/kg crude protein (CP) (Supplementary table 3.4). These estimates fall in the range of dietary Met values (4.9 - 7.1 g/kg diet)reported for different fish in literature, with no clear pattern across species (Espe et al., 2008; Furuya et al., 2001a; Harding et al., 1977; Ren et al., 2017). Only few studies reported slightly lower dietary Met values ranging between 4.9 and 5.3 g/kg diet (Jackson and Capper, 1982; Kim et al., 1992; Nguyen and Davis, 2009). Quite a number of identified factors such as experimental design, method of analysis and the choice of statistical models, may largely influence the requirement estimate (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2015; Shearer, 2000). Furthermore, cysteine and methionine make up the total sulphur amino acid (TSAA) of fish (Ahmed et al., 2003; Wilson, 1986; Zhou et al., 2011). Cysteine inclusion in the diet has been shown to spare up to 40-60% Met in meeting the requirements for TSAA (NRC, 2011). This will replace Met in the synthesis of cysteine and its derivatives (Brosnan and Brosnan, 2006; Fagbenro et al., 1999). High requirement for Met reported for some species could be attributed to low inclusion level of cysteine in the diet. In the current study, cysteine was supplied at a constant level (4.3 - 4.5)g/kg diet) in the diet.

The reported Met requirement value in the current study, though slightly lower, has a clear consistent pattern with the whole-body Met composition (24.4 g/kg CP) of African catfish (Table 3.5). In general,

most essential AA have an estimated requirement by dose-response study that is lower than the body composition of the respective AA (NRC, 2011). Previously, amino acid requirements estimates were based on the amino acid profiles of the fish and whole-body protein (NRC, 2011; Wilson, 1986). This is still used when limited information is available for a new species.

In this study, 3 models; guadratic regression (QR), linear plateau (LP) and broken-line (BL), were applied to estimate the Met requirement of African catfish. Estimated requirements for dMet<sub>DP</sub> were similar for the LP and BL models whereas estimates for the QR, averaged over all parameters were 57% higher (Table 3.7). There is an ongoing debate in the field of fish nutrition as to which model is most appropriate for nutrient requirements estimation. Some authors argued that fish response to nutrient dosage is curvilinear (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2015), whereby they often opt for quadratic regression (QR) model as method of analysis (Elmada et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2006) (Supplementary table 3.4). I.e., they believe that animals gradually (smoothly) transition from one state (deficiency) to another (balanced diet). On the contrary, others favour a sharp transition and therefore apply models with a distinct/sharp inflection point by using e.g., BL or LP analysis (Chi et al., 2020; Harding et al., 1977; Nguyen and Davis, 2009). A major downside of QR for estimating requirement is the fact that the estimated value is dependent upon the width of the dosing (x-variable) applied in the study. When we applied a stepwise reduction in the range (width) of Met doses in our study by excluding first diet G (with the highest dose), then diet F and G and finally E, F and G, this strongly reduced the estimated dMet<sub>DP</sub> requirement from 29.2 to 23.6 g/kg DP (see Figure 3.3). The estimated requirement for growth by BL analysis altered the estimation only from 19 to 18.4 g/kg DP (data not shown), whereas LP remained nearly unchanged. This implies that using values below or above required nutrient needed for maximum response would have greater impact on predictions near maximal responses when QR is used (Pesti et al., 2009). Given this arbitrary sensitivity for the width of the applied dosing, favours us to choose LP or BL for Met requirement estimation.



**Figure 3.3.** Methionine requirement of African catfish in response to varying nutrient dose range, using quadratic regression A) All diets ( $y = -0.0012x^2 + 0.07x + 2.1578 R^2 = 0.6161$ ), B) all diets excluding diet G, ( $y = -0.0018x^2 + 0.0968x + 1.894 R^2 = 0.6641$ ) C) all diets excluding diet F and G, ( $y = -0.0025x^2 + 0.1248x + 1.6383 R^2 = 0.6875$ ) D) all diets excluding diets E, F and G ( $y = -0.003x^2 + 0.1416x + 1.4942 R^2 = 0.6813$ ).

As previously mentioned, LP and BP gave almost identical estimates in the current study. Regarding most criteria used, the slope of the regression above the breakpoint in BL analysis was never significantly different from zero (data not shown). This suggests that under the current experimental condition, the Met level (I.e., highest level; Diet G) did not affect the performance parameters. In literature, methionine has been reported to be toxic in excessive dosage (Choo et al., 1991; Murthy and Varghese, 1998). This toxicity is induced by the over accumulation of S-Adenosylmethionine SAM in the liver, a product formed in the Met metabolism pathway (Ahmed, 2014). In addition, excessive

methionine intake has been reported to negatively affect FI in some fish species (NRC, 2011). At this toxic level, protein deposition is reduced and a fall in growth slope is often observed. Using LP model in such case will only display the linear component of the dose-response variables until a plateau is reached (Hermesch et al., 1998). However, it does not enable the means to deviate after the inflection point, which is generally not the case. Hypothetically, departure from linearity may occur, whereby the slope descends at higher dose concentration above the requirement. BL allows an ascending or descending slope and show the clear fall in response to toxicity that may arise from excess nutrient dosage (Gonçalves et al., 2016; Shearer, 2000). This model depicts clearly the theoretical ideas of the pattern of nutritional responses exhibited by animals compared to LP (Pesti et al., 2009). However, for BL, instability of the estimated breakpoint was observed when the input values for growth and retained nitrogen of the NLIN procedure was alternated in this current study, whereas LP remained stable.

Comparing the X variables used differs among studies. In most studies (Supplementary table 3.4), Met requirement are often expressed as g/kg diet or g/kg CP. AA requirements expressed as g/kg diet have the disadvantage that these requirements change if the applied dietary CP content alters. As an example, tilapia diets for pond culture where the natural food web contributes to the fish diet, have a lower optimal dietary protein content than tilapia diets for cage culture without a food web (Kabir et al., 2019). Applying the Met requirement of 19.2 g/kg CP found in the current study would imply an optimal dietary Met content of 5.8 and 7.7 g/kg feed for a diet having respectively a CP content of 300 and 400 g/kg feed. In the current study, we expressed Met requirement as dietary digestible methionine content in g/kg digestible protein (dMet g/kg DP) in order to make the estimated requirement independent upon differences in protein and AA digestibility. Although, AA are formed from protein hydrolysis, individual AA digestibility can differ from the overall protein digestibility (unpublished data). Since different diets are fed in different requirement studies, expressing estimates on digestible basis will reduce variability and ensure precise comparison of values among species (NRC, 2011). Moreover, estimating methionine requirement based on digestible methionine has been previously suggested (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2015; NRC, 2011; Ren et al., 2017). Furthermore, evidences suggest that protein deposition may be a more robust and rational criterion for response (y)variables, compared to weight gain, FCR and SGR that are commonly used (NRC, 2011). Different parameters (Table 3.7) tested in this study, gave dMet estimates that fall within the same range (18.7 - 21.4 g/kg DP). This response is in line with literature as e.g., Zhou et al. (2011) observed only slight differences in the Met requirement for both SGR and protein productive value (PPV) in black sea bream (Sparus macrocephalus). Similar observations were made in blunt snout bream (Megalobrama amblycephala) (Liang et al., 2016) and Indian major carp (Cirrhinus mrigala) (Ahmed et al., 2003).

It is worthy to note that the existing Met requirement estimates; 32.0 g/kg CP (Fagbenro et al., 1999) and 29.7 g/kg CP (Ovie and Eze, 2010), for African catfish in literature are higher than what we found in the current study (19.2 g/kg CP). This may be due to a number of factors; firstly, both studies did not take the cysteine level into account. Secondly, variability in analytical models applied, e.g., Ovie and Eze (2010) employed QR for data analysis (Supplementary table 3.4). Thirdly, choice of ingredients used in diet formulation. For example, Fagbenro et al. (1999), used casein and gelatine as intact protein, which are considered as highly digestible ingredients. Using such purified products in requirement studies may influence requirement values compared to when practical diets are used (Nguyen and Davis, 2009). For practical reasons, faba beans and soy protein concentrate were solely used as intact protein in our study. Lastly, the initial body weights of fish used in these studies greatly differ. it has been reported that the intestinal transporters capacity and whole-body activity of

enzymes for AA catabolism vary with developmental stage (Segner and Verreth, 1995). Although, Fagbenro et al. (1999) used broken-line as the method of analysis, the differences in estimates may also arise from differing experimental duration, and genetic variation in African catfish used (Figueiredo-Silva et al., 2015; Shearer, 1995; 2000).

In conclusion, the low-methionine plant-based diet (not supplemented with crystalline methionine) used in the present study resulted in methionine deficiency, indicated by poor feed efficiency and reduced growth of fish. However, crystalline methionine supplementation (0.12% to 0.84%) alleviated this deficiency problem. Based on linear plateau model, the digestible methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish (80-210 g) for growth ranges between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg expressed per unit of digestible protein (dMet<sub>DP</sub>), depending on the response criteria. This equates to a minimum dietary methionine level of 6.3 g/kg diet (19.2 g/kg crude protein) in the presence of 4.4 g/kg cysteine. Furthermore, the current study demonstrated that quadratic regression can lead to an overestimation of nutrient requirements.

# Acknowledgment

The authors wish to acknowledge the technical assistance rendered by Menno ter Veld and the staff of the aquaculture research facilities of Wageningen University in running the experiment. We would like to thank Ronald Booms, Tino Leffering and Michel van Spankeren for their support during the lab analysis, also thanks to the technical staff of Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre laboratory for amino acid analysis.

## **Supplemental tables**

#### Supplemental table 3.1 Nutrient balances calculations

Parameters	Formula
Methionine (Met) balance (mg/d)	
Gross Met intake (GMI)	GMI = Feed intake x Met content of feed
Digestible Met intake (DMI)	$DMI = (GMI \ x \ ADCmet)/100$
Retained Met (RM)	RM = Wf x Mf - Wi x Mi
Met efficiency (%)	Met efficiency (%) = $RM/DMI \ge 100$
Nitrogen balance (mg/d)	
Gross nitrogen intake (GNI)	GNI = Feed Intake x Nitrogen content of feed
Digestible nitrogen intake (DNI)	$DNI = (GNI \ x \ ADCcp)/100$
Branchial and urinary loses (BUN)	BUN = DNI - RN
Retained nitrogen (RN)	$RN = ((Wf \ x \ CPf) / 6.25) - ((Wi \ x \ CPi) / 6.25)$
Protein efficiency (PER; %)	PER = RN/DNI x 100
Energy balance (KJ/d)	
Gross energy intake (GEI)	$GEI = FI \ x \ EF$
Digestible energy intake (DEI)	$DEI = (GE \ x \ ADCe)/100$
Metabolizable energy intake (MEI)	MEI = DE - BUE
Branchial and urinary energy losses (BUE)	$BUE = (BUN \times 24.9) / 1000$
Retained energy (RE)	$RE = Wf \times Ef - Wi \times Ei$
Heat production (HP)	HP = RE - ME
Retained energy as protein (REpro)	$REpro = (RN \ x \ 6.25) \ x \ 23.7$
Retained energy as fat (REfat)	REfat = RE - REpro.

ADCmet (%), apparent digestibility coefficient of methionine in the feed; Wi, initial weight in gram per fish; Wf, final weight in gram per fish; Mi, initial methionine content of the fish; Mf, final methionine content of the fish; ADCcp (%), apparent digestibility coefficient of crude protein; CPf and CPi, respectively final and initial crude protein content of the fish (g/kg); DMfeed, dry matter content of feed (g/g); Nfeed, nitrogen content of feed (mg/g); Ef, energy content of feed; ADCe (%), apparent digestibility coefficient of the energy; Ef, energy content of the fish at the end of the experiment; Ei, energy content of the fish at the beginning of the experiment; 23.7 kj/g, energy content of protein; 24.9 kj N g<sup>-1</sup>, energy concentration of NH<sub>3</sub>-N as calculated by Bureau et al. (2003), assuming all N was excreted as NH<sub>3</sub>-N.

Variables	z	Mean	Range	S	Equation (X = dMet <sub>DP</sub> )	R²	Effect
Initial BW (g)	21	78	77-80	0.92			
Final BW (g)	21	208	193-220	6.1	Y = 171 (8.1) + 2.8 (0.67) X - 0.048 (0.013) X2	57.1	*ď
Survival (%)	21	96	90-100	3.3			su
Feed Intake (g/d)	21	2.8	2.8-2.8	0.00			ns
FCR (g/g)	21	06.0	0.82-1.02	0.046	$Y = 1.19 (0.057) - 0.022 (0.0047) X + 0.00037 (0.00009) X^2$	64.3	** **
Growth (g/d)	21	3.1	2.7-3.4	0.15	$\gamma = 2.2 (0.19) + 0.07 (0.016) X - 0.0012 (0.0003) X^2$	61.6	*ď
SGR (%/d)	21	2.33	2.12-2.48	0.082	Y = 1.83 (0.099) + 0.037 (0.0082) X – 0.0006 (0.0002) X <sup>2</sup>	65.4	ď*
Analyzed body composition							
Dry matter (g/kg DM)	21	288	277-295	5.4			su
Methionine (g/kg DM)	21	13.3	12.0-14.3	0.68	Y = 11.9 (0.32) + 0.055 (0.012) X	52.9	***J
Crude protein (g/kg DM)	21	545	498-578	20.9	Y = 505 (10.5) + 1.6 (0.39) X	46.2	***
Fat (g/kg DM)	21	355	328-400	16.8	Y = 381 (9.6) – 1.0 (0.36) X	30.2	**
Ash (g/kg DM)	21	101	93-112	5.0			ns
Phosphorus (g/kg DM)	21	17.2	12.0-19.4	1.8			su
Energy (kJ/g)	21	27.1	26.4-29.8	0.58	$Y = 30.1 (0.88) - 0.22 (0.073) X + 0.0037 (0.0014) X^2$	46.5	*ơ

Supplementary table 3.2 Relationship between dietary digestible methionine content (X-variable, expressed in g/kg digestible protein, dMet<sub>op</sub>) with different

/ariables	z	Mean	Range	SD	Equation (X = dMet <sub>DP</sub> )	R²	Effect
/lethionine balance (mg/d)							
			11.0-				
sross methionine intake	21	21.9	33.3	7.5	Y = 0.87 (0.19) + 0.83 (0.0069) X	6.96	*
			-9. 8.				
Jigestible methionine intake	21	20.7	32.1	7.4	Y = -0.15 (0.23) + 0.82 (0.0083) X	99.8	_
and the second	ć			, ,			5
	17	0.21	L4.0	T - T		•	SI
Aethionine efficiency	21	99	37-124	25.0	Y = 183 (13.6) – 7.03 (1.13) X + 0.086 (0.021) X <sup>2</sup>	93.0	ø
litrogen balance (mg/d)							
			145-		Y = 138 (1.33) + 0.70 (0.11) X – 0.011 (0.0021)		
iross nitrogen intake	21	148	150	1.5	X <sup>2</sup>	80.5	ď
			127-		Y = 117 (2.75) + 1.05 (0.23) X – 0.018 (0.0044)		
igestible nitrogen intake	21	130	134	2.07	X <sup>2</sup>	57.8	ď
ranchial and urinary nitrogen			45.0-				
SSES	21	52.5	66.8	5.9	Y = 64.7 (2.76) – 0.47 (0.10) X	53.0	***
			60.0-		Y = 32.4 (5.91) + 3.25 (0.49) X – 0.052 (0.009)		
etained nitrogen	21	77.5	84.5	7.0	X <sup>2</sup>	82.9	ď
			47.3-		Y = 30.5 (4.85) + 2.05 (0.4) X – 0.032 (0.0077)		
rotein efficiency (%)	21	59.5	65.2	4.9	X <sup>2</sup>	76.6	* a
nergy balance (kJ/d)							
			58.5-		Y = 58.0 (0.33) + 0.062 (0.0028) X – 0.0011		
ross energy intake	21	58.8	59.1	0.18	(0.00053) X <sup>2</sup>	23.2	ťơ
			45.3-		Y = 43.0 (1.69) + 0.36 (0.14) X – 0.007 (0.0027)		
igestible energy intake	21	47.1	48.8	0.97	Χ <sup>2</sup>	27.9	*ơ
			44.2-		Y = 40.9 (1.61) + 0.41 (0.13) X – 0.0078		
1etabolizable energy intake	21	45.8	47.6	0.97	(0.0026) X <sup>2</sup>	34.7	*ď
leat production	21	18.5	20.7	1.6			ns
			25.3-				
etained energy	21	27.3	29.9	1.1		,	ns
			8.9-		Y = 4.8 (0.87) + 0.48 (0.073) X – 0.0077		
etained energy as protein	21	11.5	12.5	1.03	(0.0014) X <sup>2</sup>	82.9	ď
			13.3-				
etained energy as fat	21	15.8	18.4	1.3	Y = 17 (0.8) – 0.06 (0.03) X	18.8	*

3

		Estimated	d methionine	requirement		
Species	Cysteine level (g/kg)	g/kg diet	g/kg CP	dMet g/kg DP	Analytical model	Reference
African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )	4.4	6.3	19.2	18.7	Linear plateau	This study
	4.4	6.3	19.2	19.0	Broken-line regression	
	4.4	9.2	27.6	29.2	Quadratic regression	
Channel catfish ( <i>lctalurus punctatus</i> )	4	9.4	34.1		Broken-line regression	(Cai and Burtle, 1996)
	ND	6.0	23.0		Linear regression	(Harding et al., 1977)
African catfish ( <i>Clarias gariepinus</i> )	ND	12.6	32.0		Break point analysis	(Fagbenro et al., 1999)
	ND	12.1	29.7		Second-order polynomial regression	(Ovie and Eze, 2010)
Nile Tilapia ( <i>Oreochromis niloticus</i> )	TSSA	11.0	21.0		polynomial regression	(Furuya et al., 2001a)
	4.5	4.9	17.5		Broken-line regression	(Nguyen and Davis, 2009)
Indian major carp ( <i>Labeo rohita (Hamilton)</i> )	1.4	11.5	28.8		Break-point regression	(Murthy and Varghese, 1998
Indian major carp ( <i>Cirrhinus mrigala (Hamilton)</i> )	10.0	12.0	30.0		Second-degree polynomial regression	(Ahmed et al., 2003)
Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)	5.0	5.2	15.0		Broken line regression	(Kim et al., 1992)
Yellow catfish ( <i>Pelteobagrus fulvid</i> raco)	4.0	11.5	23.5		Quadratic regression	(Elmada et al., 2016)
Cobia ( <i>Rachycentron canadum</i> )	6.7	11.9	26.4		Quadratic regression	(Zhou et al., 2006)
Silver catfish (Rhamdia quelen)	0.7	12.5	34.42		polynomial regression	(Rotili et al., 2018)
DP, digestible protein; dMet, dietary digestible methic	onine; TSSA, total sulphur	amino acid; NI	D, not determ	ined.		

Supplementary table 3.4 Comparison of different analytical models used in estimating methionine requirements for growth of some selected commonly cultured species.

Traits         Linear plateau equation $\mathbb{R}^2$ Broken lin           SGR (%/d) $\times < 19.1$ $\vee = 2.40$ (0.012) + 0.030 <sup>5</sup> (0.0086) * (19.1 - X) $0.7012$ $\times < 19.0$ $\vee = 2.37$ (0.024) + $2.37$ (0.024) + $2.37$ (0.024)           Growth (g/d) <sup>#</sup> $\times > 18.7$ $\vee = 3.15$ (0.023) + 0.035 <sup>5</sup> (0.016) * (18.7 - X) $0.58$ $\times < 19.0$ $\vee = 2.37$ (0.045)           For the number of number	supplementary table 3.3 Estimate parameters in African catfish. The	ed relationship	ווס ספנאפפה מופנמרץ מוצפגוטופ ווופנוווטווווופ טטונפוון s were estimated by different analytical models (li	t (A-Variau) inear plate	e, expresse au, LP and	a in g/kg agestiole protein, uivietop) with uniterer Broken line, BL) using the NLIN procedure in SAS.	II measurer
SGR (%/d)       X < 19.1       Y = 2.40 (0.012) + 0.030 <sup>5</sup> (0.0086) * (19.1 - X)       0.7012       X < 19.0       Y = 2.37 (0.024) + 2.37 (0.024)         Growth (g/d) <sup>#</sup> X > 19.1       Y = 3.15 (0.023) + 0.057 <sup>5</sup> (0.016) * (18.7 - X)       0.68       X < 19.0       Y = 3.17 (0.045)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 11.4       Y = 3.15 (0.023) + 0.057 <sup>5</sup> (0.016) * (18.7 - X)       0.68       X < 19.0       Y = 3.17 (0.045)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.33) * (31.7 - X)       0.858       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.32 (0.013) + 0.30 (0.013) + 0.30 (0.013) + 0.30 (0.013) + 0.30 (0.013) + 0.30 (0.	Traits		Linear plateau equation	R <sup>2</sup>		Broken line equation	R <sup>2</sup>
X> 19.1       Y = 2.40       X> 19.0       Y = 2.37 (0.024) +         Growth (g/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 18.7       Y = 3.15 (0.023) + 0.057 <sup>5</sup> (0.016) * (18.7 - X)       0.68       X < 19.0       Y = 3.17 (0.045) +         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X > 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.30) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)       0.68       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         FCR (g/g)       X > 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         FCR (g/g)       X < 21.4       Y = 0.88 (0.0067) - 0.019 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         Methionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 31.7       Y = 40.76 (3.1) * (18.5 - X)       0.712       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) + Y = 2.4 (6.1) + Y = 2.4 (7.4 (6.1) + Y = 2.4 (7.4 (6.1) + Y = 2.4 (7.4 (7.4) + Y = 2.4 (7.4 (7.4) + Y = 2.4 (	SGR (%/d)	X < 19.1	Y = 2.40 (0.012) + 0.030 <sup>5</sup> (0.0086) * (19.1 - X)	0.7012	X < 19.0	$Y = 2.37 (0.024) + 0.030^{\circ} (0.0089) * (19.0 - X)$	0.701
Growth (g/d)* $X < 13.7$ $Y = 3.15$ $0.057^5 (0.016) * (18.7 - X)$ $0.68$ $X < 19.0$ $Y = 3.17$ $(0.045)$ Retained nitrogen (mg/d)* $X < 21.4$ $Y = 81.55$ $0.800 + 2.0^5 (0.29) * (2.14 - X)$ $0.68$ $X < 18.7$ $Y = 79.6 (1.49)$ Retained nitrogen (mg/d)* $X < 21.4$ $Y = 81.55$ $0.800 + 2.0^5 (0.29) * (2.14 - X)$ $0.858$ $X < 18.7$ $Y = 79.6 (1.49)$ FCR (g/g) $X > 11.4$ $Y = 81.55$ $0.800 + 2.0^5 (0.29) * (2.14 - X)$ $0.858$ $X < 18.7$ $Y = 79.6 (1.49)$ FCR (g/g) $X < 18.5$ $Y = 0.88 (0.0057) - 0.019^5 (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 2.0^5 (0.13) + 2.0^5 (0.037) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.037) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.031) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.031) * (13.7 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.031) + 2.0^5 (0.031) * (13.7 - X)$ $0.724.6$ $Y = 57.4 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.1) + 2.74 (6.$		X > 19.1	Y = 2.40		X > 19.0	Y = 2.37 (0.024) + 0.00011 (0.0019) * (X - 19.0)	
X> 18.7       Y = 3.15       X> 19.0       Y = 3.17 (0.045)         Retained nitrogen (mg/d) <sup>#</sup> X < 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (2.14 - X)       X> 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         FCR (g/g)       X > 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.20) * (1.24 - X)       0.858       X < 18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         FCR (g/g)       X > 21.4       Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.20) * (1.25 - X)       0.722       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) +         FCR (g/g)       X < 18.5       Y = 0.88 (0.0067) - 0.019 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.722       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) +         FCR (g/g)       X < 31.7       Y = 0.88 (0.0067) - 0.019 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.722       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) +         Methionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 31.7       Y = 40.76 (3.18) -3.32 <sup>5</sup> (0.33) * (31.7 - X)       0.913       X < 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1) -         Notein efficiency (mg/d)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.9 (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818       X < 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1) -         Protein efficiency (mg/d)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.9 (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) +         Protein efficiency (%)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.9 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.32) + (31.0 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) +	Growth (g/d)#	X < 18.7	Y = 3.15 (0.023) + 0.057 <sup>\$</sup> (0.016) * (18.7 - X)	0.68	X < 19.0	$Y = 3.17 (0.045) + 0.057^{5} (0.017) * (19.0 - X)$	0.684
Retained nitrogen (mg/d)* $\times < 21.4$ $\gamma = 81.55 (0.30) + 2.0^5 (0.29) * (21.4 - X)$ $0.858$ $\times < 18.7$ $\gamma = 79.6 (1.49)$ $X > 21.4$ $X > 21.4$ $Y = 81.55$ $X > 18.7$ $Y = 79.6 (1.49)$ FCR (g/g) $X < 18.5$ $Y = 0.38 (0.0067) - 0.019^5 (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + (1.49)$ FCR (g/g) $X > 18.5$ $Y = 0.38 (0.0067) - 0.019^5 (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + (1.49)$ Methionine efficiency (mg/d) $X < 31.7$ $Y = 0.38 (0.007) + 0.019^5 (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.913$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + (0.013) + (0.013) + (0.013) + (0.013) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.010) + (0.00) + (0.00) + (0.00) + (0.00) + (0.00) + (0.00) + (0.00)$		X > 18.7	Υ = 3.15		X > 19.0	Y = 3.17 (0.045) - 0.0017 (0.0037) * (X -19.0)	
X>21.4       Y = 81.55       X>18.7       Y = 79.6 (1.49)         FCR (g/g)       X < 18.5       Y = 0.88 (0.0057) - 0.019 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.722       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) +         X>18.5       Y = 0.88 (0.0057) - 0.019 <sup>5</sup> (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)       0.722       X < 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) +         Methionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 31.7       Y = 40.76 (3.18) - 3.32 <sup>5</sup> (0.33) * (31.7 - X)       0.913       X < 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1) -         Nethionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.913       X < 24.6       Y = 60.80 (1.17) +         Protein efficiency (%)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) +         ADC methionine (%)       X < 31.0       Y = 96.26 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.818       X = 90.80 (1.17) +         ADC methionine (%)       X < 31.0       Y = 96.26 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.885       X < 32.0       Y = 97.92 (0.78)         Bornochiol uniononine (%)       X > 31.0       Y = 96.26 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.63) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.53) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.52) + 0.50 <sup>5</sup> (0.53) + 0.50 <sup>5</sup> (0.50 <sup>2</sup> + 0.50 <sup>2</sup>	Retained nitrogen (mg/d)#	X < 21.4	Y = 81.55 (0.80) + 2.0 <sup>5</sup> (0.29) * (21.4 - X)	0.858	X < 18.7	$Y = 79.6 (1.49) + 2.68^{\circ} (0.51) * (21.6 - X)$	0.862
FCR (g/g) $X < 18.5$ $Y = 0.88 (0.0057) - 0.019^5 (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$ $0.722$ $X < 18.8$ $Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 0.013 + 0.0103$ X > 18.5       Y = 0.88       X > 13.5       Y = 0.88       X > 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 0.013 + 0.013         Methionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 31.7		X > 21.4	Y = 81.55		X > 18.7	Y = 79.6 (1.49) + 0.12 (0.11) * (X - 21.6)	
X> 18.5       Y = 0.88       X> 18.8       Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 0.88         Methionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 31.7       Y = 40.76 (3.18) - 3.32 <sup>6</sup> (0.33) * (31.7 - X)       0.913       X < 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1) - Y = 57.4 (6.1)         Notethionine efficiency (mg/d)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.33) * (31.7 - X)       0.913       X < 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1) - Y = 57.4 (6.1)         Protein efficiency (%)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.32) + (31.0 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.39 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.818       X = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 61.91 (0.78) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.818       X = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 60.20 (1.17) + Y = 61.91 (0.78) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.818       X = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 60.20 (1.17) + Y = 61.91 (0.78) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       Y = 60.80 (1.17) + Y = 60.20 (1.17) + Y = 70.0 (1.10.0 (1.10.0 (1.10.0 (1.00.0 (1.0.0.0 (1.0.0 (1.0.0 (1.0	FCR (g/g)	X < 18.5	$Y = 0.88 (0.0067) - 0.019^{\circ} (0.0047) * (18.5 - X)$	0.722	X < 18.8	Y = 0.88 (0.013) - 0.019 <sup>\$</sup> (0.0048) * (18.8 - X)	0.725
Methionine efficiency (mg/d) $X < 31.7$ $Y = 40.76$ $(3.18) - 3.32^5$ $(0.33) * (31.7 - X)$ $0.913$ $X < 24.6$ $Y = 57.4$ $(6.1)$ X > 31.7       Y = 40.76       (3.18) - 3.25^5 $(0.33) * (31.7 - X)$ $0.913$ $X < 24.6$ $Y = 57.4$ $(6.1)$ Protein efficiency (%)       X < 19.4		X > 18.5	Υ = 0.88		X > 18.8	Y = 0.88 (0.013) + 0.00046 (0.0011) * (X - 18.8)	
X> 31.7       Y = 40.76       X> 24.6       Y = 57.4 (6.1)         Protein efficiency (%)       X < 19.4       Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818       X < 18.8       Y = 60.80 (1.17) + X > 19.4         ADC methionine (%)       X > 31.0       Y = 96.26 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.885       X < 32.0       Y = 97.92 (0.78)         Bronchiol university brocce (mar/4)       V = 10.8       V = 96.26       0.532 (0.53) * 10.8 × 10.8 × 10.0 × V = 0.780       Y = 97.92 (0.78)	Methionine efficiency (mg/d)	X < 31.7	Y = 40.76 (3.18) -3.32 <sup>\$</sup> (0.33) * (31.7 - X)	0.913	X < 24.6	$Y = 57.4 (6.1) - 4.147^{\$} (0.74) * (24.6 - X)$	0.930
Protein efficiency (%) $X < 19.4$ $Y = 61.91$ (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>5</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)       0.818 $X < 18.8$ $Y = 60.80$ (1.17) + $X > 19.4$ X > 19.4 $Y = 61.91$ $Y = 61.9$ $X > 13.8$ $Y = 60.80$ (1.17) + $Y = 61.9$ ADC methionine (%) $X < 31.0$ $Y = 96.26$ (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.885 $X < 32.0$ $Y = 97.92$ (0.78)         ADC methionine (%) $X > 31.0$ $Y = 96.26$ (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)       0.885 $X < 32.0$ $Y = 97.92$ (0.78)         Description (0.76) $V = 10.8$ $V = 40.30^{5}$ (0.51) + $10.8^{-1}$ (0.51) + $10.9^{-1}$ (0.76) $X > 32.0$ $Y = 97.92$ (0.78)		X > 31.7	Y = 40.76		X > 24.6	Y = 57.4 (6.1) - 1.32 (0.41) * (X - 24.6)	
$ \begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	Protein efficiency (%)	X < 19.4	Y = 61.91 (0.57) + 1.79 <sup>\$</sup> (0.40) * (19.4 - X)	0.818	X < 18.8	Y = 60.80 (1.17) + 1.79 (0.40) * (18.8 - X)	0.831
ADC methionine (%) $X < 31.0$ $Y = 96.26$ (0.32) $+ 0.30^{\circ}$ (0.034) $*$ (31.0 - X) 0.885 $X < 32.0$ $Y = 97.92$ (0.78) $X > 31.0$ $Y = 96.26$ X > 31.0 $Y = 96.26P = 96.26$		X > 19.4	Υ = 61.9		X > 18.8	Y = 60.80 (1.17) + 0.1008 <sup>5</sup> (0.086) * (X - 18.8)	
X > 31.0 Y = 96.26 Y = 96.26 X > 32.0 Y = 97.92 (0.78 P = 10.00 V = 0.79 V = 0.792 (0.78 V = 0.792 V = 0.7	ADC methionine (%)	X < 31.0	Y = 96.26 (0.32) + 0.30 <sup>5</sup> (0.034) * (31.0 - X)	0.885	X < 32.0	Y = 97.92 (0.78) + 0.28 <sup>\$</sup> (0.027) * (32.0 - X)	0.881
Branchial universas (mar/d) - V × 10.8 - V × 40.80 (0.70) = 1.66 <sup>5</sup> (0.65) * 140.8 - V) - 0.758 - V × 10.0 - V = 51.38 (1.62		X > 31.0	Y = 96.26		X > 32.0	Y = 97.92 (0.78) -1.017 (1.79) * (X -32.0)	
	Branchial urinary losses (mg/d)	X < 19.8	Y = 49.80 (0.79) - 1.96 <sup>5</sup> (0.55) * (19.8 - X)	0.758	X < 19.0	$Y = 51.28 (1.63) - 1.96^{5} (0.55) * (19.0 - X)$	0.776
X > 19.8 Y = 49.80 X > 19.0 Y = 51.28 (1.6		X > 19.8	Υ = 49.80		X > 19.0	Y = 51.28 (1.63) -0.14 (0.12) * (X - 19.0)	

ured	
nt meas	
differe	in SAS.
<sub>PP</sub> ) with	ocedure
, dMet <sub>c</sub>	VLIN pro
protein	ng the I
estible	BL) usi
g/kg dig	en line,
ssed in	nd Brok
e, expre	au, LP a
variable	ar plate
itent (X-	els (line;
ine cor	al mode
methior	analytic
estible	fferent
tary dig	ed by di
een die	estimato
ip betw	s were (
lationsh	ionship
iated re	he relat
.5 Estim	atfish. T
table 3.	frican c
hentary	ers in A
ler	met

\$ Beta values having this superscript are different from zero (P<0.05).

# The broken line analysis by the SAS NLIN procedure for the parameters growth and retained nitrogen did not give a stable convergence. The estimated breakpoint and slopes for these parameters was sensitive to the starting iteration values and gave small differences in R2 but quite large range in estimated breakpoints (estimated dMetDP for growth ranged between 19.0 and 20.8 g/kg and for retained nitrogen between 18.7 and 21.6 g/kg)

#### Supplementary figures



Supplementary Figure 3.1 The relationship between dietary digestible methionine content (expressed in g/kg digestible protein [DP]) and retained methionine (RM), retained energy (RE), body protein, and body protein in African catfish.




# **CHAPTER 4**

Fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources affect the kinetics of nutrient digestion in the gastrointestinal tract of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*)

This chapter has been published as:

Elesho, F.E., Sutter, D.A.H., Frenken, R., Verreth, J.A.J., Kröckel, S., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources affect the kinetics of nutrient digestion in the gastrointestinal tract of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture, 737425.

# Abstract

The kinetics of nutrients digestion and development of chyme characteristics in African catfish (Clarias *gariepinus*) were assessed in response to fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy (NPE) sources. Four diets were formulated to contain starch or fat as NPE source, and fishmeal or hydrolysed fishmeal as protein source in a 2x2 factorial design. Juvenile African catfish (average weight, 63 g) were stocked in glass experimental tanks connected to a common recirculation aquaculture system and were fed restrictively for 3 weeks. Four hours after the consumption of a single meal, fish were dissected to collect chyme from the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). Chyme was collected from stomach, proximal- and distal intestine and analysed for dry matter (DM) content, crude protein (CP) and marker concentration. Postprandial water fluxes to the GIT and stomach evacuation were calculated using vttrium oxide (Y<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>) as an inert marker. Faecal DM and CP apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) were determined by a marker method. Results showed that fishmeal hydrolysation had no effect (P>0.1) on the DM content in all the GIT compartments. However, replacing dietary fat by starch resulted in a higher DM content in the stomach (P<0.01). In the proximal intestine, NPE did not influence the chyme DM content (P>0.1) but in the distal intestine, chyme DM was higher at the "fat diets" (P<0.01). "Starch-diets" had a larger water influx into the stomach compared to "fat diets" (P<0.001), but also a larger water re-absorption in the distal intestine (P<0.05). The inert marker and DM evacuation rate from the stomach was affected by NPE source (P<0.05) and was slower in the starch-fed fish. Hydrolysation of fishmeal increased the digestibility of CP in the stomach, but this effect of hydrolysation was dependent on the energy source, indicated by the interaction effect (P<0.05). The increase in digestibility of CP in the stomach of the diets containing hydrolysed fishmeal was larger at the "fat diets". In the other GIT compartments, CP digestibility were similar between diets (P>0.1). However, hydrolysation of fishmeal had no effect on faecal ADC of CP. Our results suggest that the hydrolysation of fishmeal can alter the process of digestion along the GIT. In addition, dietary macronutrient composition can alter the postprandial digestion of nutrients in the GIT without being reflected in the faecal digestibility.

### 4.1 Introduction

Fish diets are usually formulated based on the faecal nutrient digestibility of ingredients, which only accounts for the total amount of dietary nutrients that was apparently digested and assumed to be absorbed along the gastrointestinal tract (GIT) (Chen, 2017; NRC, 2011). This does not take into consideration the kinetics of nutrient digestion along the GIT. In pig and poultry nutrition, more attention is now directed towards assessing chyme characteristics, nutrient passage rates and the degree of absorption along the GIT after feed ingestion. This is because ileal and faecal digestibility of nutrients differ among feed ingredients (Chen, 2017). Next to nutrient digestibility, it has been shown in poultry that the digestion kinetics of nutrient influences feed utilization (Liu et al., 2013). A poultry study revealed that the starch digestion rate is higher than the protein digestion rate. In the same study, reducing the starch digestion rate by altering dietary composition increased nitrogen retention and reduced FCR without affecting the total starch digestibility (Liu et al., 2013). It was hypothesised that slowly digestible starch reduced the catabolism of amino acids by enterocytes (Liu and Selle, 2015). Knowledge on the dynamics of nutrients could be applied by nutritionist to formulate balanced diets that can improve nitrogen retention and better FCR.

In fish, only few studies have investigated diet-elicited effects on digestion of nutrients in different compartments of the GIT (i.e., stomach, proximal-, mid- and distal intestine) (Harter et al., 2015; Harter et al., 2013; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a; Maas, 2021; Tran-Tu et al., 2019). Dietary fat replacement by starch reduced protein disappearance in the stomach (Harter et al., 2015), which coincided with a lower stomach dry matter content and increased water influxes in the stomach of African catfish (*Clarias agriepinus*) (Harter et al., 2015). Increasing the dietary viscosity (induced by guar gum addition) decreased the digestibility of protein and dry matter in all GIT compartments of striped catfish (Pangasianodon hypophthalmus), while chyme dry matter content declined and chyme viscosity increased only in the stomach (Tran-Tu et al., 2019). In Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus), diets supplemented with an enzyme cocktail (phytase and xylanase) had an improved faecal protein digestibility, which occurred from the proximal intestine onward (Maas et al., 2021). In this same study on Nile tilapia, dietary probiotic supplementation increased the disappearance of protein in the stomach while it reduced the faecal protein digestibility, but the differences were small (Maas et al., 2021). Starch is now increasingly used to replace fat as a cheap non-protein energy source due to its availability and low cost (Harter et al., 2015). African catfish and several other omnivorous species can readily handle high inclusions of carbohydrates (Belal, 1999; Bureau et al., 1995; Kirchgessner et al., 1986). However, during starch digestion, a large amount of osmotically active mono- and disaccharides are produced (Harter et al., 2013), but quantitative information on the starch hydrolysis throughout the GIT is lacking. Bucking and Wood (2006) have suggested that these compounds drive the addition of water to the GIT, which is reflected in an increased water influx in the stomach of fish (Harter et al., 2013). Furthermore, starch induces viscosity in the stomach of fish, which often goes together with a lower chyme dry matter content but mainly in the stomach and proximal intestine (Amirkolaie et al., 2006a; Harter et al., 2015; Leenhouwers et al., 2006; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a). Despite these research efforts in addressing the impact of dietary characteristics on digestion, most studies have mainly focused on dietary non-protein energy sources. They, however, do not provide information on the kinetics of protein digestion as affected by dietary protein sources in the GIT of fish. Such information is important to understand the interaction of dietary protein and energy on nutrient passage dynamics in the GIT, especially now that increasing amounts of less expensive and more sustainable alternative protein ingredients are used to replace fishmeal in aquafeeds.

Fishmeal is in many cases superior regarding attractability, palatability and bioavailability of nutrients compared to alternative protein sources in aquafeeds. Hydrolysation of protein sources can increase the attractability, palatability and/or bioavailability of nutrients in ingredients (Silva et al., 2017). Several studies have demonstrated that hydrolysation of protein sources increases the nutritional values as it enhances growth without adversely affecting protein quality. This positive effect of hydrolysation has been shown for both animal (e.g., fish, shrimp, milk & feather meal) and plant protein sources (e.g., rapeseed, cottonseed, wheat gluten and sovbean meal) (Gui et al., 2010; Leal et al., 2010; Muranova et al., 2017; Siddik et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2017; Yuan et al., 2019). Fish protein hydrolysates are products that originated from the conversion of inexpensive and underutilized fish by-products into a commercially valuable protein ingredient by the action of enzymatic hydrolysis. The use of fish protein hydrolysate has gained great attention by fish nutritionists due to its nutritional composition, amino acid profile and antioxidant properties (Chalamaiah et al., 2012; Swanepoel and Goosen, 2018). Partial replacement of fishmeal by fishmeal hydrolysate in the diet of African catfish improved growth and feed efficiency (Swanepoel and Goosen, 2018). In humans, protein hydrolysates resulted in a faster postprandial increase of plasma AAs than their non-hydrolysed equivalents, which suggests a quicker absorption of AA in the GIT (Morifuii et al., 2010). This implies that the passage rate of fishmeal can be altered by the process of hydrolysation thereby influencing chyme characteristics and faecal digestibility.

The overall kinetics of dietary protein digestion is related to the passage rate of digesta along the GIT, which depends on the physicochemical properties (e.g., solubility, viscosity, water binding capacity) of the digesta (Chen, 2017). Therefore, understanding the difference in digestion and absorption rates of nutrients (e.g., energy and protein) along the GIT as affected by ingredient characteristics is important for understanding the differences in faecal ADC and thus for formulating balanced aquafeeds. In relation to the observed effects of fat replacement with starch, we hypothesised that the hydrolysation of dietary protein (fishmeal in this study) increases the protein digestion in the proximal intestine. It was expected that hydrolysation of fishmeal would lead to a more rapid stomach evacuation as compared to the non-hydrolysed fishmeal, which might relate to alteration in chyme characteristics. Furthermore, we proposed that these effects might be affected by the type dietary non-protein energy (i.e., fat vs starch).

To substantiate these assumptions, four diets were formulated to contain two types of energy sources (fat vs starch) and protein sources (fishmeal vs hydrolysed fishmeal). These diets were fed to African catfish with the aim to (1) assess the effect of fishmeal hydrolysation on chyme characteristics in different segments of the GIT, (2) investigate the water balance in the GIT in response to dietary macronutrients, and (3) determine potential interactions between fishmeal hydrolysation and dietary non-protein energy sources on the kinetics of digestion in African catfish.

# 4.2 Materials and methods

## 4.2.1 Ethics statement and research facility

The study (project number 2018.W.0014.003) was carried out in accordance with the Dutch law on the use of animals (Act on Animal Experiments) for scientific purposes and was approved by the Central Animal Experiments Committee (CCD) of The Netherlands. This experiment was conducted in the research facility of CARUS-ARF at Wageningen University, The Netherlands. Fish were kept and handled in agreement with EU-legislation.

### 4.2.2 Experimental diets

This study aimed to examine the effect of fishmeal hydrolyzation and non-protein energy sources on the chyme characteristics and digestion kinetics in African catfish. Therefore, four diets were formulated according to a 2 by 2 factorial design which differed in protein sources (fishmeal or fishmeal hydrolysate, respectively NH-FM versus H-FM)) and type of non-protein energy sources (fat or starch, respectively FD versus SD). The four experimental diets were extruded with a 1.7 die size into 3 to 3.5 mm pellets by Skretting ARC Norway using a twin-screw extruder (Wenger, Sabetha, KS, U.S.A). Meal mixes were preconditioned for 80 sec resulting in an outlet dough temperature of 70 °C for all diets. Die and barrel temperature were equal within each diet production run and was 65, 70, 60 and 70 °C for diets "NH-FM + SD", "NH-FM + FD", "H-FM + SD" and "H-FM + FD", respectively. The extrusion resulted in a pellet width of 3.5, 2.1, 3.5 and 2.2 mm, a pellet length of 2.7, 3.0, 2.9 and 3.8 mm and a bulk density (directly after extrusion) of 380, 390, 420 and 420 g/L for the "NH-FM + SD", "NH-FM + FD", "H-FM + SD" and "H-FM + FD" diet, respectively. Diets were formulated to be iso-nitrogenous and iso-energetic. The difference between the starch and fat diets was created by replacing 320 g wheat starch by 121.5 g rapeseed oil. These amounts of both ingredients provide the same amount of gross energy (GE). Cellulose was added to the fat diets to compensate for the higher energy content of rapeseed oil. The ingredients and analysed chemical composition of the diets are given in Table 4.1. Hydrolysis of the fishmeal was performed using a proprietary enzymatic process. After undergoing hydrolysis, the hydrolysate was transferred to a storage tank from where it was continuously pumped into the preconditioner. Enzyme activity was completely stopped once the enzymes were exposed to the high temperatures in the preconditioner. Yttrium oxide was included in all diets as inert marker for measuring water fluxes, DM and protein digestion along the GIT. Feeds were kept in cold storage at 4 °C throughout the experiment and a representative sample was taken for analysis.

### 4.2.3 Fish and housing conditions

Juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) of an average individual body weight of 63 g were obtained from a commercial hatchery (Fleuren & Nooijen BV, Nederweert, The Netherlands). The fish comprised of a mixed-sex population. Two weeks prior to the experiment, fish were fed a commercial diet to adapt to the experimental conditions. At the start of the experiment, fish were randomly stocked (40 fish per tank) into 12 aquaria (200 L) connected to a common recirculation aquaculture system (comprising of a trickling filter, sump and drum filter). Each tank was equipped with air stones and swirl separators (AquaOptima AS, column height 44 cm; diameter 24.5 cm) for the collection of faeces and spilled pellets. The water flow rate was set at 7 L/min, temperature was 28 °C and the photoperiod regime was kept at 12 h light: 12 h dark. Water quality parameters were monitored regularly and maintained at the optimal levels for African catfish: pH, 7.5  $\pm$  0.30; ammonium, 0  $\pm$  0.00 mg/L; nitrite, 0.12  $\pm$  0.075 mg/L; nitrate, 175  $\pm$  82 mg/L; conductivity, 3287  $\pm$  848 µS; and dissolved oxygen concentration, 6.21  $\pm$  0.37 mg/L. Water refreshment was performed based on NO<sub>3</sub> removal from the system to keep NO<sub>3</sub> levels within limits (< 500 mg/L).

#### 4.2.4 Experimental procedure

The four diets were randomly assigned (in triplicate) to the twelve aquaria. To prevent variability in measurements due to differences in feed intake, fish were hand-fed restrictively in the morning (8:00 h) and afternoon (16:00 h) for 3 weeks. Feeding level was fixed at 19.8 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d to rule out the effects of feeding level on the chyme characteristics. The daily ration was increased throughout the

### **78** | Chapter 4

Table 4.1 Formulation and proximate composition of the experimental diets

%	NH-FM + SD	NH-FM + FD	H-FM + SD	H-FM + FD
Fishmeal	35.17	35.17	17.59	17.59
Fishmeal hydrolysate	0.00	0.00	17.59	17.59
Wheat	15.09	15.10	15.09	15.10
Gelatinized wheat starch	32.00	0.00	32.00	0.00
Rapeseed oil	0.00	12.15	0.00	12.15
Fish oil	3.00	3.00	3.00	3.00
Wheat bran	15.00	15.00	15.00	15.00
Moisture loss <sup>1</sup>	-2.58	0.00	-2.58	0.00
Yttrium oxide	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10
Mineral & vitamin premix	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.22
Cellulose <sup>2</sup>	2.00	19.26	2.00	19.26
Analysed proximate composition	(g/kg dry matte	er)		
Dry matter	911	927	891	914
Crude protein	325	312	311	306
Crude fat	88	218	85	227
Ash	62	61	61	61
Phosphorus	11.1	10.7	10.7	10.4
Calcium	11.0	11.0	10.8	10.5
Magnesium	1.9	1.8	1.8	1.8
Total carbohydrate	525	409	543	407
Energy (kJ/g)	20.3	23.4	20.0	23.3
Energy excluding cellulose (kJ/g) <sup>3</sup>	20.0	20.1	19.7	20.0

NH-FM, non-hydrolysed fishmeal; H-FM, hydrolysed fishmeal; SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet.

<sup>1</sup>The production of NH-FM + SD and H-FM + SD diets was targeted at a dry matter content of 92%, which resulted in an expected water loss during extrusion of 2.58%.

<sup>2</sup>Qualicel<sup>®</sup> pc 150 (CFF GmbH & Co. KG, Gehren, Germany).

<sup>3</sup>The calculated energy content excluding the energy from the added cellulose.

experimental period by predicting growth using a FCR of 1. During the first week, feeding level was gradually increased from 20% to 100% of the intended ration to allow adaptation to diets. In the case of mortality, the feeding list of the respective tank was adjusted for the remaining number of fish to maintain equal feed intake among treatments. After each meal, the uneaten and spilled pellets were collected and counted for the accurate determination of feed intake. Faeces were collected twice daily from week 2 till the end of the trial, using swirl separators attached to each experimental tank. The faecal collection bottles underneath the swirl separators were suspended in ice to minimize bacterial degradation. Faeces samples were pooled per tank and frozen (-20 °C) until chemical analysis.

At the end of the experiment, thirteen fish were randomly selected from each tank for collecting chyme samples. Sampling was done 4 hours after feeding a single meal. These fish were euthanized using an overdose of 2-phenoxy-ethanol (1.0mL/L). Fish were individually weighed and dissected to collect chyme from the gastrointestinal tract (GIT). For this sampling, the GIT was divided into three compartments: stomach and two equal parts of the gut, representing proximal and distal intestine. Chyme samples were pooled per tank (i.e., 13 fish) and per compartments, weighed (to determine weight wet) and frozen (-20 °C) for further analysis.

### 4.2.5 Sample analysis

Analyses were performed on the diets, chyme and faeces samples. Feed pellets were grinded. Faecal and chyme samples were freeze-dried, then manually pulverized through a 1 mm screen sieve. The chemical analysis of the feed and faeces were performed in triplicate using the same methods while chyme was analysed in duplicate. The dry matter (DM) was determined by drying at 103 °C in the oven (ISO 6496, 1983) while ash was determined after furnacing for 4 hours at 550 °C (ISO 5984, 1978). Crude protein of feed and faeces was quantified according to the Kjeldahl method (ISO 5983, 1979), while the crude protein content of chyme was quantified using the DUMAS method due to the limited amount of chyme samples. Crude fat was determined by differences following extraction with petroleum ether at 40 °C - 60 °C in a Soxhlet apparatus (ISO 6492, 1999) and energy content was quantified using an adiabatic bomb-calorimeter (C7000 IKA<sup>®</sup>, IKA analysentechnik, Weitershem, Germany; ISO 9831, 1998). Yttrium, phosphorus, calcium and magnesium were detected by using inducted coupled plasma mass spectrometry according to the standard NEN 15510 (ICP-MS, 2007).

#### 4.2.6 Calculations

The apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients in faeces were calculated according to the formula described by Cheng and Hardy (2002) using yttrium oxide as inert marker; ADC (%) =  $100 \times [1 - (yttrium concentration in the feed \times nutrient concentration in the faeces)/(yttrium concentration in feed)]. Nutrient ADC per compartment was calculated as follows; ADC (%) = <math>100 \times [1 - (yttrium concentration in the feed \times nutrient concentration in the chyme)/(yttrium concentration in the feed \times nutrient concentration in the chyme )/(yttrium concentration in the feed \times nutrient concentration in the chyme )/(yttrium concentration in feed)]. The concentrations of yttrium and nutrients were expressed on DM basis. Total carbohydrate was calculated as dry matter minus crude protein minus crude fat minus ash content.$ 

Stomach evacuation rates (g DM/h) were calculated as the amount of dry matter of the ingested feed minus the chyme content (DM) of the stomach divided by the time since the last feeding. The chyme dry matter (g DM mg/yttrium) was calculated as ingested DM on the sampling day divided by the yttrium content (mg) of the ingested feed. Water flux was calculated according the formula described by Harter et al. (2013). The relative water fluxes (mL/g of ingested DM) were calculated from the relative water content of the chyme in one compartment minus the relative water content in the previous compartment divided by the relative ingested DM. Where, relative water content of chyme (g) was expressed in relation to its marker content (mg). This was calculated from the wet weight and DM content of chyme and then converted into a volumetric measure (mL) (assuming that 1 g of water had a volume of 1 mL under the tested conditions).

### 4.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data analyses were performed by using SPSS Statistics, version 23.0 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Nutrient ADCs, chyme characteristics within compartments and stomach evacuation were analysed by two-way ANOVA. Following a significant ANOVA result, means were compared by a multiple comparisons test using Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD).

# 4.3. Results

Results for the dry matter (DM) content of chyme in each GIT compartment are depicted in Figure 4.1. The average DM content of "starch-diets" was highest in the stomach (0.18 kg/kg); decreased towards the proximal intestine (0.11 kg/kg) and slightly increased in the distal intestine (0.14 kg/kg). Likewise, the DM content of "fat-diets" was highest in the stomach (0.22 kg/kg); decreased towards the proximal intestine (0.12 kg/kg) and slightly increased in the distal intestine (0.12 kg/kg). The stomach chyme DM differed between diets having different non-protein energy sources (NPE) (P<0.01). Fish fed "fat-diets" had higher chyme DM in the stomach compared to those fed "starch-diets". However, NPE did not influence the chyme DM content (P>0.1) in the proximal intestine. In the distal intestine, the DM content was higher (P<0.05) in the fish fed "fat-diets" compared to "starch-diets". The hydrolysation of fishmeal had no effect (P>0.1) on the DM content in all the GIT compartments. Overall, there was no significant interaction between fishmeal hydrolysation and NPE on DM contents of both diets in all the compartments.



**Figure 4.1** Dry matter (DM) content of chyme (kg/kg), measured in the stomach, proximal intestine and distal intestine of African catfish. NH-FM, control fishmeal; H-FM, hydrolysed fishmeal; SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet. Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal and distal intestine (n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); NS, not significant; **\*\***, *P*<0.01.

Results for the relative water fluxes (RWF) in the GIT are illustrated in Figure 4.2. Water fluxes differ between compartments. Within each compartment, no significant interaction between fishmeal hydrolysation and NPE was detected. Water fluxes to the stomach was influenced by the NPE (P<0.001), while a tendency (P<0.1) of the effect of fishmeal hydrolysation was observed. Relative water additions to the stomach were higher (P<0.001) in fish fed "starch-diets" compared to "fat-diets", having 4.07 and 3.15 mL of water added per g of ingested DM, respectively. Both dietary treatments did not influence the water fluxes (P>0.1) in the proximal intestine. When comparing water fluxes in the stomach with proximal intestine, results suggested that the water addition decreased as the chyme progressed distally. The sum of relative water influx to the proximal intestine was not significantly different between diets but numerically higher for "starch-diets" (3.01 mL/g of ingested DM) compared to "fat-diets" (2.24 mL/g of ingested DM). NPE affected (P<0.05) the water fluxes in the distal intestine. A higher water re-absorption in the distal part of the intestine was observed in fish fed "starch-diets" compared to "fat-diets", which was reflected by the relative water flux of -4.64 and - 3.05 mL/g of ingested DM, respectively.



**Figure 4.2** Relative water flux (mL/g ingested DM), measured in the stomach, proximal intestine and distal intestine of African catfish; NH-FM, control fishmeal; H-FM, hydrolysed fishmeal; SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet. Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal and distal intestine (n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); NS, not significant; #, *P*<0.1; \*, *P*<0.05; \*\*\*, *P*<0.001.

The results for stomach evacuation rate are presented in Table 4.2. During the first 4 hours postprandial, the rate of yttrium evacuation from the stomach was higher (P<0.05) for "fat-diets" (15.3% Y/h) compared to "starch-diets" (12.6% Y/h). Crude protein (CP) evacuation rate from the stomach, was affected by the fishmeal hydrolysation (P<0.05), but not by the type of NPE (P>0.1). The evacuation rate of CP was higher for the hydrolysed fishmeal diets (23.5% CP/h) than for the non-hydrolysed fishmeal (23.0% CP/h). CP left the stomach at a faster rate compared to yttrium (average over all diets, 23.3 CP/h vs. 14.0% Y/h). Similarly, a slightly higher evacuation rate was recorded for DM (average over all diets, 16% DM/h) compared to yttrium. Furthermore, NPE had an effect (P<0.05) on the DM evacuation from the stomach, with "fat-diets" having a higher evacuation rate than "starch-diets". The total yttrium loss (% feed excreted) was calculated (Supplementary Table 4.3). Averaged over diets, 71.40% of the yttrium consumed was found in all compartment after 4h postprandial. This implies that 4hrs after feeding, 28.59% of the consumed yttrium was already excreted via the faeces. However, the amount of faecal yttrium loss was not affected by fishmeal hydrolysation but differed between NPE sources (P<0.05), which was higher for "fat-diets" (37.00% feed excreted) compared to "starch-diets" (20.18% feed excreted).

		D	liet					
	<u>Control</u>	<u>fishmeal</u>	<u>Hydrolyse</u>	d fishmeal			P-val	ue
Evacuation	SD	FD	SD	FD	SEM	РТ	NPE	PT x NPE
DM (% DM/h)	14.35	16.70	15.47	17.39	0.88	NS	*	NS
CP (% CP/h)	23.17	22.85	23.55	23.49	0.21	*	NS	NS
Yttrium (% Y/h)	12.16	15.10	13.03	15.52	1.08	NS	*	NS

Table 4.2 Stomach evacuation rate of African catfish after 4h of feeding diets containing different protein and energy sources.

DM. dry matter; Y, yttrium; h, hour; SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); SEM, standard error of means; NS, not significant; \*, *P*<0.05.

Apparent digestibility coefficients (ADC) of DM and CP along the GIT are visualised in Figure 4.3 & 4.4 respectively. Hydrolysation of fishmeal increased the digestibility of CP in the stomach and this was dependent on the energy source, as indicated by the interaction between NPE and fishmeal hydrolysation (P<0.05). Whereas, both dietary treatments had no significant effect on ADC of CP in the proximal and distal intestine (P>0.1). The fish fed "starch-diets" had higher (38.99%) CP digestibility in the stomach compared to the "fat-diets" (26.76%). Regarding DM digestibility, no interaction effect

(P>0.1) of fishmeal hydrolysation and NPE was detected in the stomach. However, NPE sources independently showed a significant effect on ADC of DM in the proximal (P<0.05) and distal intestine (P<0.01). In the proximal intestine, a significantly lower DM digestibility was observed for "starch-diets" (12.18%) compared to the "fat-diets" (26.32%). However, the reverse was the case in the distal intestine with "starch-diets" showing higher values (58.10%) than "fat-diets" (51.25%). Kinetics of digestion of crude ash, phosphorous, calcium and magnesium are provided in Supplementary Table 4.1. The ADC of P increased from stomach towards the distal intestine, but the major part of the digested P already disappeared in the stomach. ADC of P was not different between diets in any gut segments. ADC of Ca averaged over diets was 47, 12 and 25% in stomach, proximal and distal intestine, respectively. ADC of Ca in the stomach was higher for "starch-diets" (P<0.05). In the distal intestine, no differences in ADC of Ca between diets were present. The ADC of Mg in the different gut segments fully paralleled the pattern in ADC of Ca (Supplementary Table 4.1). ADC of P, Ca, and Mg was unaffected by fishmeal hydrolysation in all gut segments (P>0.1).

The result of faecal digestibility showed some similarities with the outcome of the proximal and distal intestine, with no effect (P>0.1) of fishmeal hydrolysation on both ADC of DM and CP (Figure 4.3D and 4.4D). However, the ADC of DM was significantly affected by the dietary energy sources where "fat diets" yielded a lower DM faecal ADC (P<0.01). In contrast, fish fed "fat-diets" showed a higher faecal ADC of CP (P<0.001) but the difference was minor (86.86% for starch and 88.89% for fat diets) (Figure 4.4D). There was no interaction effect of fishmeal hydrolysation and energy type on faecal ADC of DM and CP (P>0.1). ADC data of fat, crude ash, energy, calcium, phosphorous and magnesium are given in Supplementary Table 4.2.



Figure 4.3 Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of dry matter in the stomach, proximal intestine, distal intestine and faeces of African catfish; NH-FM, control fishmeal: H-FM. hvdrolvsed fishmeal: SD. starch diet: FD. fat diet. Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal intestine (n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); NS, not significant; \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01.



Figuro 4.4 Apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of crude protein (CP) in the stomach, proximal intestine. distal intestine and faeces of African catfish: NH-FM, control fishmeal: H-FM, hydrolysed fishmeal; SD, starch diet; FD. fat diet. Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal intestine (n=2). Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (nonhydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal): NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat): NS. not significant; \*, P<0.05; \*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001.

## 4.4 Discussion

DM content of the chyme was highest in the stomach, decreased in the proximal intestine and slightly increased in the distal intestine. In the same light, most water was added to the stomach and less to the proximal intestine while in the distal intestine, water was re-absorbed. Harter et al. (2013) also reported similar results for African catfish as well as Bucking and Wood (2006) for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). The study of Bucking and Wood (2006) on water fluxes in the GIT of rainbow trout revealed a large addition of water to the stomach over the first 12h after feeding a single meal. Addition of large amounts of water to the stomach is due to the physiological demands resulting from the consumption of dry diets by fish (Bucking and Wood, 2006). This water influx may be of exogenous (postprandial drinking) or endogenous (addition of digestive juices) origin. Although, freshwater (FW) fish are known to be hyperosmotic to their environment and to drink less water than marine fish (Perrott et al., 1992), water uptake in their intestine can be controlled in the same way as marine species do. In addition. FW fish are able to regulate the influx of interstitial water to the stomach based on their nutritional demands (Harter et al., 2013). The lower addition of water to the proximal intestine can be explained by the previous water influx to the stomach. In a study investigating water fluxes in African catfish (Harter et al., 2013), 59% of water in the proximal intestine originated from the stomach, which led to a decreased water addition in this compartment to compensate for the initial surplus influx. Another part of the water in the proximal intestine originates from water that is secreted together with bicarbonate. The latter being secreted to neutralize the acidic stomach chyme entering the proximal intestine. It is very likely that this also occurs in African catfish as this is supported by the current observation of a drop in ADC of Ca from 47% in the stomach to 17% in the proximal intestine, which indicates that there is an influx of Ca into the proximal intestine. Also, intestinal fluids such as, bile and pancreatic enzymes released to this compartment after feeding contributes to the influx of water in the proximal intestine (Grosell et al., 2000). In the current study, the flux of water was negative in the distal part of the intestine, which was also observed in rainbow trout (Bucking and Wood, 2006). According to Bucking and Wood (2006), the negative result could be due to the net reabsorption of water that was added in the previous compartments. However, a more logical explanation might be the net reabsorption of digestive fluids gained from the previous compartments. There is a possibility of passive absorption of water with the fluids at the distal end of the gut. However, the mechanism that surrounds the interstitial reabsorption of digestive fluids and water in the GIT of fish requires further investigation.

The observed higher stomach DM content for fish fed "fat-diets" than for "starch-diets" is in line with the study of Harter et al. (2015) on African catfish. Harter et al. (2015) suggested that the hydrophobic properties in a high fat diet would interfere with water mixing with chyme. This is also a likely explanation for the observed differences in the water balance results observed in this study, in which more water was added to "starch-diets" than "fat-diets". Hydrolysis of starch produces large amounts of osmotically active mono- and disaccharides, which are thought to result in the addition of water to the GIT (Harter et al., 2013), but also the water binding capacity of starch itself might contribute to the lower DM content in the stomach. The higher ADC of Ca and Mg in the stomach at the "starch-diets" compared to the "fat-diets" might suggest that there is a difference in pH in the stomach resulting in an increased dissolving of Ca and Mg. As the drop in ADC of Ca between stomach and proximal intestine was larger at the "starch-diets" than at the "fat-diets", this implies that the influx of Ca in the proximal intestine was higher at the "starch-diets" compared to the "fat-diets". These observations about the ADC of Ca might be an indication that the increased acid-secretion in the stomach requires more bicarbonate secretion in the proximal intestine. However, this hypothesis requires further testing. The present study showed also a large reabsorption of water at the distal intestine when fish were fed "starch-diets". Regarding the protein source, non-hydrolysed fishmeal diets sparked a tendency of more water addition to the stomach of African catfish compared to the hydrolysed fishmeal diets. The hydrolysis process required by fishmeal diets might have increased the need for both endo- and exogenous water addition. Nevertheless, water addition and re-absorption was not significantly different among the protein diets in subsequent compartments. However, a good explanation for our observation of the water fluxes along the GIT for both type of fishmeal diets is lacking.

In the current study, the DM evacuation rate of "fat-diets" was higher in the stomach of African catfish than "starch-diets". This observation does not substantiate that a higher chyme DM content of "fat-diets" would prolong its retention time in the stomach thereby delaying evacuation time, as suggested by Harter et al. (2015). Chyme with a higher DM is expected to remain in the stomach until appropriate liquefaction is achieved, until then will evacuation occur. However, the improper mixture of water and 'fat-diet' due to its high lipid content may have led to the quicker evacuation of the chyme, especially the liquid portion. On the other hand, it appears that the high viscous nature of starch upon reaction with water in the stomach may be associated with a longer passage rate (Amirkolaie et al., 2006a). Literature shows that the kinetics of DM along the GIT is negatively related to the viscosity of the diet (Leenhouwers et al., 2006; Leenhouwers et al., 2007a; Leenhouwers et al., 2007b). Starch has been shown to increase chyme viscosity in the stomach of African catfish, which can slow down the passage rate (Harter et al., 2015). Amirkolaie et al. (2006a) reported that gelatinized starch as used in the

present study increased chyme viscosity in the stomach more than in other segments in Nile tilapia. Furthermore, the longer retention time of the starch diets in the stomach may also be related to the fish needing to achieve a more natural degree of liquefaction of the diet, in an attempt to reach the water content of natural prey (Bucking and Wood, 2006). This may also explain why more water addition was required by the "starch-diets". The passage rate of CP through the stomach in fish fed the non-hydrolysed fishmeal diets was lower than for hydrolysed fishmeal diets. This can be explained by the need to undergo further hydrolysis by the action of stomach acid and enzymes prior to absorption in contrast to the fishmeal hydrolysate that had been partially broken down. Consequently, it is expected that fishmeal hydrolysate will display higher solubility and to some extent, the liquid phase with solved protein will evacuate from the stomach at a faster rate.

The hydrolysation of fishmeal resulted in higher DM and CP digestibility in the stomach, although, absorption of nutrient is not expected to take place in this compartment, rather compounds are broken down by the action of enzymes. This observation is striking and may be explained by differences in evacuation times between the protein and inert marker. The CP in the stomach had a higher evacuation rate (23.52%) compared to the inert marker (14.27%), which could have led to inaccurate calculations. Calculation errors may occur when dissociation between chyme and marker happens as they proceed along the GIT (Bucking and Wood, 2006). When proteins are hydrolysed in the stomach, peptides can/will move to the next segment of the GIT. However, if the dissolved peptides exit the stomach before the marker (here: yttrium) as suggested by results from the current study, the ADC may be overestimated (Harter et al., 2015). This is because the peptides are no longer present in the stomach and neither absorbed in this compartment. Since fish stomachs are unable to absorb larger molecules such as peptides (Uvs and Hecht, 1987), the high ADC of CP in the stomach indicates that a fraction of the peptides had already moved into the next section of the GIT. It has been reported that the liquid and solid fraction of chyme may not always move at the same pace. Bucking and Wood (2006) used ballotini beads and polyethylene PEG to investigate the movement of substances in rainbow trout. They observed a continuous association of marker and chyme as they transit along the GIT in their study. However, the liquid portion of the chyme was reported to slightly move faster than the solid part from the stomach.

There is an overall indication of improved nutrients digestibility due to fishmeal hydrolysation in the current study (Supplementary table 4.2). The positive effect of using protein hydrolysate on fish growth has been discussed in many studies (Cahu et al., 1999; Chalamaiah et al., 2012). The growth of crucian carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*) was significantly higher in fish fed cottonseed hydrolysate diet compared to a diet containing unprocessed cottonseed meal (Gui et al., 2010). In another study on Nile tilapia, shrimp protein hydrolysate was shown to be a good protein source with no adverse effects on growth and nutrient utilization (Leal et al., 2010). In a study with humans, it was demonstrated that protein hydrolysates show a faster and greater postprandial increase of plasma AAs than their non-hydrolysed equivalents (Morifuji et al., 2010). Pre-digested fish protein was seen to be absorbed quicker by Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) than intact fish protein, which resulted in a faster and higher postprandial peak of essential amino acids in the plasma (Espe and Lied, 1994; Espe et al., 1993). Hydrolysed fishmeal contains protein with short peptides, which can easily dissolve in water, are highly digestible (Chalamaiah et al., 2012) and well utilised for growth (Khieokhajonkhet and Surapon, 2020; Refstie et al., 2004) and thus can be regarded as fast digestible protein.

In the current study, the ADC of CP in the stomach was higher for the fish fed the "starch-diets". This is in contrast to the study of Harter et al. (2015) in which the fat diet had a higher ADC of CP in the stomach than the starch diet. This contrast between both studies, might relate to various aspects. Firstly, digestion is a dynamic process that relates with the time after consuming a meal. In other words, sampling time after feeding will be important especially for the conditions occurring in the stomach; like the postprandial decline in stomach chyme DM (Bucking and Wood, 2006; Harter et al., 2013), in stomach chyme pH (Saravanan et al., 2013) and in stomach chyme osmolality (Bucking and Wood, 2006), all these observations concerned freshwater fish. In addition, time related differences in digestive enzyme activity might be involved. Furthermore, a hampered mixing of stomach chyme with gastric fluids containing enzymes at the "fat-diets" may be an explanation for the reduced digestibility in the stomach in current study. This hampered mixing at the "fat-diets" might be related to a high lipophilic characteristic but also to the supplementation of cellulose. Cellulose was added to the "fatdiets" in order to have an equal stomach filing directly after given an equal meal (equal protein and energy consumption), as decreasing stomach pH and DM content is dependent on meal size. In contrast to the current study, Harter et al. (2013; 2015) did not add a dietary filler to their fat-diet. The difference between the "starch-diets" and "fat-diets" regarding DM content and water influx in the stomach were fully comparable. Still though, the difference in stomach ADC of CP between these studies might be related to the addition of a filler in the current study. However, this seems not to be a plausible explanation as non-viscous dietary carbohydrate fillers increase stomach emptying rate of DM, like carboxymethylcellulose in tilapia (Shiau et al., 1988) and wheat bran in rainbow trout (Hilton and Slinger, 1983). However, the addition of indigestible cellulose in the "fat-diets" in the current study is the major reason for the lower ADC of DM in the distal intestine and faeces. As the chyme progresses to the proximal intestine, bile and other pancreatic digestive fluids are released for further digestion, especially for fat. As such, the hydrophobic problem will be solved and the proper interaction between digestive enzymes and nutrients present in the diet is enabled. This is supported by the increased ADC of CP of "fat-diets" in the subsequent compartments as well as the faecal digestibility. This observation is in line with the study of Harter et al. (2015), whereby CP in the fat diet was better digested at the distal part of the GIT of African catfish. However, it is noteworthy that "fat-diets" had the highest overall faecal ADC for CP, fat and ash, a reflection of what occurred at the posterior end of the GIT, which did not previously occur in the anterior part. This implies that absorption took place throughout the whole intestine of African catfish in accordance with previous studies (Bucking and Wood, 2006; Harter et al., 2013), but differences in faecal ADC can be created in the distal part of the intestine.

The effect of fishmeal hydrolysation on CP digestibility observed in the stomach did not directly reflect in the CP digestibility in other GIT compartments and faecal ADC of CP. Considering this outcome, it can be speculated that the effect of dietary composition on the digestion rate of CP in the stomach could be compensated in other compartments of the GIT as the chyme passes through the gut. Thus, lack of differences among the ADC of CP of the different protein diets in the proximal and distal intestine (also faecal ADC) indicate that a prolonged retention time of the non-hydrolysed fishmeal in the stomach resulted in the slow release of AAs and di- and tri-peptides. This resulted in high digestibility (similar to hydrolysed fishmeal) up to the end of the GIT (Chen, 2017). These results indicate that the mechanism of hydrolysis and absorption of proteins was rather similar among both diets in these compartments compared to the stomach.

Currently, fish diets are mostly formulated based of the faecal digestibility of nutrients, which only accounts for the total quantity of dietary nutrients that was apparently absorbed in the GIT (NRC,

2011). This does not take into account the kinetics of protein/nutrient digestion along the gut. As such. it provides less information (compared to kinetics of protein digestion study) on the timing of release and absorption of AAs and nutrients along the GIT after meal ingestion (Liu and Selle, 2015). Information on the kinetics of protein and energy digestion in fish is scarce. Results of the current study showed that the hydrolysation of fishmeal increased the crude protein digestibility in the stomach of African catfish, but this was dependent on the dietary non-protein energy. However, this effect did not translate into other compartments in the gastrointestinal tract and overall faecal digestibility. Replacement of dietary fat by starch increased water addition to the stomach but reduced the passage rate of chyme from the stomach. In African catfish (Harter et al., 2015) and Nile tilapia (Amirkolaie et al., 2006b), replacing dietary fat by starch increased stomach chyme viscosity. Dietary supplementation with viscous non-starch polysaccharides (NSP) reduced the stomach evacuation rate of DM (Nikolopoulou et al., 2011; Storebakken, 1985). In contrast, non-viscous NSP, like cellulose, stimulate gastric emptying (Hilton and Slinger, 1983; Shiau et al., 1988). Exchanging fat by starch in African catfish without cellulose being used as diet filler, strongly increased stomach chyme viscosity coinciding with a reduced increased gastric emptying rate of DM at 2 h postprandial (Harter et al., 2015). Therefore, the viscous nature of starch after water solubility together with the inclusion of cellulose in the "fatdiets" likely caused the lower stomach evacuation rate at the "starch-diets" compared to the "fatdiets", while the "starch-diets" had lower dry matter content compared to the "fat-diets".

High water fluxes inside the GIT are often considered as being not ideal. This might relate to the fact of an association with "diarrheal" like faeces. E.g., Enteritis induced by soybean meal in the distal intestine of salmon often coincides with reduced faecal DM content (Refstie et al., 1999). However, for a proper function of the digestive tract in fish fed dry pellets with a DM content >90%, a proper influx of fluid is essential. Bucking and Wood (2006) clearly showed that in rainbow trout, stomach emptying only starts if stomach chyme DM content is smaller than ~45%. Thus, a proper influx of water is needed to start gut emptying as well as to enable proper mixing of chyme with digestive enzymes, bile etc. From the current study, it was observed that dietary macro-nutrient composition influences the water influx in the stomach. Therefore, it can be concluded that water fluxes, digesta passage rate and the kinetics of digestion along the GIT are dependent on dietary macronutrient composition. Next to dietary composition, it can further be hypothesised that physical pellet characteristics, like water solubility and pellet hydration time, can influence water fluxed in the stomach and also digestive kinetics. As extrusion process conditions determine such pellet characteristics (e.g., Wang et al., 2021), it is worthwhile to assess the relationship between feed process conditions (i.e., physical pellet characteristics) and digestion kinetics.

## Acknowledgment

The authors wish to acknowledge the technical assistance rendered by Menno ter Veld and the staff of the aquaculture research facilities of Wageningen University in running the experiment. We would like to thank Ronald Booms, Tino Leffering and Samara Hutting for their support during the laboratory analysis.

# Supplemental tables

Supplementary table 4.1 Effect of protein and energy type on the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients in the stomach proximal and distal intestine of African catfish.

		D	iet					
	Non-hyd	drolysed						
	<u>fishı</u>	neal	<u>Hydrolyse</u>	d fishmeal			P-val	ue
%	SD	FD	SD	FD	SEM	РТ	NPE	PT x NPE
Stomach								
Dry matter	9.61	10.08	13.23	13.95	0.92	**	NS	NS
Crude protein	36.89	21.07	41.08	32.46	1.56	**	***	*
Ash	57.10	37.32	57.82	46.96	2.23	*	***	#
Phosphorus	49.81	32.35	41.53	39.51	5.46	NS	NS	NS
Calcium	63.74	32.17	52.30	39.18	6.36	NS	**	NS
Magnesium	79.98	63.13	77.59	68.85	2.95	NS	**	NS
Proximal intestine								
Dry matter	15.85	25.39	8.50	27.24	4.24	NS	*	NS
Crude protein	50.49	45.05	48.70	53.75	3.70	NS	NS	NS
Ash	-35.33	-28.63	-29.18	-29.83	7.42	NS	NS	NS
Phosphorus	49.93	45.85	52.31	55.52	2.73	#	NS	NS
Calcium	1.02	15.67	9.36	20.18	4.93	NS	*	NS
Magnesium	-11.71	2.11	-11.59	-4.55	4.56	NS	#	NS
Distal intestine								
Dry matter	58.05	50.37	58.15	52.13	1.61	NS	**	NS
Crude protein	73.72	76.12	74.16	74.61	1.31	NS	NS	NS
Ash	21.93	20.01	28.72	21.19	4.00	NS	NS	NS
Phosphorus	51.77	49.94	52.45	47.47	2.66	NS	NS	NS
Calcium	18.49	29.17	26.60	24.27	4.66	NS	NS	NS
Magnesium	-25.76	-19.96	-15.40	-35.46	7.70	NS	NS	NS

Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal intestine (n=2). SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet. Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); NS, not significant; #, P<0.1; \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.01.

Supplementary table 4.2 Effect of protein and energy type on the faecal nutrient apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of African catfish

		D	iet					
	<u>Non-hyd</u> fishi	drolysed meal	<u>Hydrolyse</u>	d fishmeal			P-val	ue
%	SD	FD	SD	FD	SEM	РТ	NPE	PT x NPE
Dry matter	69.63	62.93	72.17	65.67	1.50	NS	**	NS
Crude protein	86.78	88.67	86.93	89.12	0.38	NS	***	NS
Crude fat	83.57	93.85	85.60	94.51	0.86	NS	***	NS
Ash	47.72	47.30	46.88	53.29	2.28	NS	NS	NS
Phosphorus	68.64	64.27	68.10	68.12	1.60	NS	NS	NS
Energy	72.03	71.06	74.16	73.25	1.29	NS	NS	NS
Calcium	48.48	40.20	49.11	49.50	3.49	NS	NS	NS
Magnesium	59.87	57.12	63.90	61.61	2.43	NS	NS	NS
Total carbohydrate	59.26	29.13	64.48	33.79	2.81	NS	***	NS

Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment. SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet. Error bars indicate standard error of means; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); NS, not significant; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001.

Supplementary table 4.3 The effect of protein and energy types on the water flux of the chyme in the stomach, proximal and distal intestine of African catfish.

		Die	et					
	<u>Non-hy</u> fish	drolysed meal	<u>Hydro</u> fish	olysed meal	-		P-va	lue
	SD	FD	SD	FD	SEM	РТ	NPE	PT x NPE
Stomach								
Chyme dry matter (kg/kg)	0.17	0.21	0.18	0.22	0.01	NS	**	NS
Relative water flux (mL/g of ingested DM)	4.26	3.31	3.88	2.99	0.16	#	***	NS
Amount of Yttrium present (%) <sup>1</sup>	51.4	39.6	47.9	37.9	4.33	NS	*	NS
Proximal intestine								
Chyme dry matter (kg/kg)	0.11	0.12	0.11	0.11	0.01	NS	NS	NS
Relative water flux (mL/g of ingested DM)	2.65	1.70	3.37	2.78	0.63	NS	NS	NS
Total Yttrium in compartment (mg/tank)	0.10	0.15	0.13	0.17	0.02	NS	#	NS
Yttrium content per FI (%)	5.47	8.61	6.69	9.11	1.18	NS	#	NS
Distal intestine								
Chyme dry matter (kg/kg)	0.14	0.16	0.14	0.15	0.00	NS	**	NS
Relative water flux (mL/g of ingested DM)	-4.40	-2.87	-4.88	-3.23	0.51	NS	*	NS
Total Yttrium in compartment (mg/tank)	0.43	0.32	0.48	0.29	0.05	NS	*	NS
Yttrium content per FI (%)	22.9	17.8	25.3	16.0	2.44	NS	*	NS
Total intestine								
Amount of Yttrium present (%)	79.74	62.94	79.90	63.06	5.54	NS	*	NS
Amount of Yttrium excreted (%)	20.26	37.06	20.10	36.94	5.54	NS	*	NS

<sup>1</sup>Amount of Yttrium per compartement expressed as percentage of the amount of Yt consumed during feeding prior to sampling. SD, starch diet; FD, fat diet. Presented values are means (n=3) per dietary treatment within each compartment, except for the NH-FM+FD diet in the proximal and distal intestine (n=2). FI, feed intake; PT, protein type (non-hydrolysed fishmeal and hydrolysed fishmeal); NPE, non-protein energy source (starch and fat); SEM, standard error of means; NS, not significant; #, P<0.1; \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001.



# **CHAPTER 5**

Effect of feeding frequency on performance, nutrient digestibility, energy and nitrogen balances in juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets with two levels of crystalline methionine

This chapter has been published as:

Elesho, F.E., Kröckel, S., Ciavoni, E., Sutter, D.A.H, Verreth, J.A.J, Schrama, J.W., 2021. Effect of feeding frequency on performance, nutrient digestibility, energy and nitrogen balances in juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets with two levels of crystalline methionine. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 115098.

# Abstract

In this study, the effect of feeding frequency and its interaction with crystalline methionine supplementation level on performance, digestion, energy and nitrogen balances was assessed. The experiment had a 2 x 4 factorial design, testing two levels of crystalline methionine (Met) and four feeding frequencies. The two diets contained Met either just fulfilling or exceeding the Met requirement of African catfish (Clarias gariepinus). African catfish with initial mean weight of 44 g were allocated to one of four feeding frequencies (six, two, one time (s) per day and two times out of three days) in a recirculation aquaculture system. Fish were fed an equal daily ration for 32 days. Performance parameters, nutrient digestibility, body composition, and nutrient balances were evaluated. Except for digestible nitrogen intake and dry matter of body content, none of the tested parameters was affected by the interaction between dietary Met levels and feeding frequencies. Growth, energy and nitrogen gain were unaffected by feeding frequency as well as dietary Met level. FCR was low, being 0.84 averaged over all treatments. However, feeding frequency affected feed intake and the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients. Feeding at lowest frequency was accompanied by a lower feed consumption compared to other frequencies (P<0.001). At higher frequency, ADC was higher for macronutrients but lower for phosphorus and magnesium. It was concluded that the asynchronous availability of AA for protein synthesis, which is often suggested to cause a sub-optimal utilization of crystalline AA, was not influenced by feeding frequency. However, feeding at a low frequency hampered daily feed intake of African catfish. Whereas, higher frequency improved nutrient digestibility, though it did not result in improved growth probably due to the higher energy required for maintenance related to physical activities at higher frequency.

## 5.1 Introduction

Plant protein sources are increasingly used as alternative to marine protein sources in fish diets. However, plant ingredients contain antinutritional factors, which may hamper digestion and metabolism (NRC, 1993). In addition, the amino acid (AA) composition of plant ingredients is less favourable for fish (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007), because they are often deficient in one or more essential AA (e.g., lysine and methionine). To overcome imbalances in AA composition, crystalline amino acids (CAA) are usually supplemented to diets. Dietary addition of crystalline methionine improved the growth of African catfish when fed diets based on plant-protein (Elesho et al., 2021). Nevertheless, species such as channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus), carp (Cyprinus carpio), hybrid striped bass (Morone saxatalis F X Morone chrysops M) and tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) have been reported to utilize CAA less efficiently compared to protein-bound AA in the diet (Lumbard, 1997; Nose et al., 1974; Teshima, 1990; Yamada et al., 1981; Zarate et al., 1999). This sub-optimal utilization has been ascribed to the rapid absorption of the CAA in the gastrointestinal tract compared to proteinbound AA, which are more slowly released (Nwanna et al., 2012; Plakas and Katayama, 1981; Zarate et al., 1999). Basically, it is suggested that this difference in moment of absorption may result in quick catabolization of the absorbed CAA and thus lost rather than used for protein synthesis (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007; Nwanna et al., 2012).

It is assumed that among other factors, feeding frequency can affect the utilization efficiency of CAA. For instance, feeding at a low frequency may negate the optimum utilization of AA in a diet that contains a combination of CAA and purified ingredients (Van den Borne et al., 2006). One way to improve utilization of CAA is feeding multiple times in a day (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007; Barroso et al., 1999), as this will complement the temporal release of protein-bound AA and at the same time providing more chances for the timely absorption of CAA (Lanna et al., 2016). It was thus hypothesized that increasing feeding frequency will aid the utilization of CAA supplementation in diets deficient in AA, thereby leading to an increased protein deposition in fish. The positive effect of multiple feeding was demonstrated in a study carried out by Zarate et al. (1999) on channel catfish fed diets containing free and protein-bound lysine. A better utilization of free lysine was achieved when the animals were fed five times a day compared to twice a day. Yamada et al. (1981) observed similar results in carp fed free AA from 3 to 18 times daily, as growth increased in proportion to high frequency.

Methionine (Met) is often the first limiting AA in many vegetable proteins, especially legumes (Mai et al., 2006), therefore, its supplementation in fish diets is usually inevitable. In a recent study, we estimated Met requirement of African catfish to range between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg digestible methionine per unit of digestible protein by feeding fish restrictively twice per day (Elesho et al., 2021). Despite providing nutrients to meet the average daily requirement of animals, the circadian fluctuation in nutrient requirement and availability can be disrupted within a day (Van den Borne et al., 2006). Feeding at low frequency may diminish the match between nutrient supply and requirement within a day, especially when nutrients with low storage capacity in the body are fed e.g., AA (Van den Borne et al., 2006). For instance, when plant diets supplemented with CAA are fed, there may be a temporal excess supply of CAA relative to the requirement and thus a sub-optimal utilization for protein deposition may occur.

African catfish is a species of great and still increasing economic importance in Africa and worldwide (Eyo and Ekanem, 2011; Fagbenro et al., 1999). Several authors have suggested that feeding twice or three times per day is sufficient for the optimum growth of African catfish (Aderolu et al., 2010; Eyo

and Ekanem, 2011; Marimuthu and Muralikrishnan S, 2010). However, none of these studies assessed whether the effect of feeding frequency on growth is dependent on diet composition (crystalline methionine supplementation). Therefore, the objective of the current study was to examine the influence of feeding frequency on digestibility, growth, nitrogen and energy balances of African catfish fed diets supplemented with crystalline methionine. Furthermore, it was assessed if the effect of feeding frequency was dependent on the level of methionine supplementation.

# 5.2 Materials and methods

## 5.2.1 Ethics statement and research facility

The study (project number 2018.W.0014.002) was in accordance with the Dutch law on the use of animals (Act on Animal Experiments) for scientific purposes and was approved by the Central Animal Experiments Committee (CCD) of The Netherlands. This experiment was conducted in the research facility of CARUS-ARF at Wageningen University, The Netherlands. Fish were kept and handled in agreement with EU-legislation.

## 5.2.2 Fish and housing conditions

Mixed sex of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fingerlings were obtained from a commercial hatchery (Fleuren & Nooijen BV, Nederweert, The Netherlands). At the start of the experiment, 980 fish weighing on average 44 g were randomly assigned (40 fish per tank) into 24 experimental tanks. All tanks were part of a recirculating water system sharing a common reservoir. The system water volume was 5 m<sup>3</sup>. Water loss due to evaporation was continuously compensated with the addition of well water. Additional water refreshment was based on NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> removal from the system to keep NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> levels below 500 mg/L. Each tank was equipped with air stones and the water outlet of each tank was connected to a separate swirl separator (AquaOptima AS, column height 44 cm; diameter 24.5 cm) for collection of faeces and spilled feed pellets. Water quality parameters were monitored regularly and maintained within optimal levels for African catfish. Average (SD) measured values over the experimental period were as follows: water temperature 27.3  $\pm$  0.15°C; pH, 7.4  $\pm$  0.19; ammonium, 0.17  $\pm$  0.138 mg/L; nitrite, 0.13  $\pm$  0.019 mg/L; nitrate, 381  $\pm$  33 mg/L; conductivity, 3454  $\pm$  307 mS; and dissolved oxygen concentration, 6.6  $\pm$  0.43 mg/L. Photoperiod was kept at 12 h light: 12 h dark.

## 5.2.3 Experimental diets

This experiment was designed to assess the effect of feeding frequency and its interaction with crystalline methionine supplementation level on digestion, energy and nitrogen balances. The ingredient composition and proximate analysis of the experimental diets are given in Table 5.1 and 5.2. Two diets were formulated to represent minimal but sufficient supply (required) and oversupply of Met. These experimental diets were formulated to be identical regarding ingredient composition and nutrient concentrations except for the amount of crystalline DL-methionine supplementation and cellulose. The basal diet (Adq-Met diet) was formulated to meet exactly the Met requirement of African catfish (19.2 g/kg crude protein) based on the results of a previous study (Elesho et al., 2021). Since Met can be converted into cysteine (Cys), a small amount of hydrolysed feather meal was included in the Adq-Met diet to avoid low Cys levels. The analysed Cys level was 6.0 g/kg dry matter (DM). Methionine was then added to create a High-Met diet representing an oversupply of AA. In both diets, protein originated mostly from plant protein ingredients (i.e., fishmeal-free diet). The contrast between the Adq-Met and High-Met diet was created by exchanging 3.0 g/kg cellulose for crystalline

DL-methionine. This resulted in an analyzed methionine content of 6.7 g/kg DM (19.3 g/kg crude protein) for the Adq-Met diet and 9.8 g/kg DM (29.1 g/kg crude protein) for the High-Met diet. The contrast between both diets in Met content was equal to the contrast in Met+Cys content. The Met+Cys content was 12.7 and 15.9 g/kg DM at the Adq-Met and High-Met diet respectively. This range in dietary Met content was chosen to test the hypothesis that at low feeding frequencies, the AA utilization is reduced and consequently the amount of Met available for growth at low feeding frequencies is insufficient at the Adq-Met diet but not at the High-Met diet. Yttrium oxide was added as a marker for the determination of the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients. The experimental diets were extruded as floating pellets (3 to 3.5 mm diameter) using a twin-screw extruder (Wenger, Sabetha, KS, U.S.A) and were produced by the Skretting ARC Norway. After the extrusion process, pellets were coated with 40 g/kg palm oil in order to prevent leaching of the crystalline Met before uptake. Diets were stored at 4 °C throughout the experimental period.

	Adq Met	High Met
Test ingredients (g/kg)		
DL-Methionine	2.8	5.8
Cellulose	3.0	0.0
Basal ingredients (g/kg)		
Soybean meal	5	0
Sunflower meal	2	5
Faba bean (dehulled)	1	50
Lupine meal	10	00
Pea meal	1	50
Canola meal	7	5
Hydrolysed feather meal	70	).7
Wheat	10	00
Wheat flour	27	7.7
Gelatinized wheat starch	10	00
Fish oil	4	5
Palm oil	4	0
Mono calcium phosphate	3	6
Calcium carbonate	1	0
Yttrium oxide	1	.0
Vitamin and minerals <sup>b</sup>	4	.8
Lysine HCl	5	.2
L-Threonine	2	.8
L-Tryptophan	1	.0

Table 5.1 Ingredient composition of the experimental diets<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>The ingredient composition of the 2 experimental diets were similar except for the content of cellulose and DL-methionine. <sup>b</sup>Skretting ARC closed formula for vitamin and trace mineral premix to meet requirements specified for freshwater fish, according to NRC (2011) recommendation.

### 5.2.4 Feeding and Sampling

At the beginning of the experiment, 20 fish were randomly selected and euthanized by an overdose of phenoxy-ethanol (1.0 mL/L), to determine proximate composition. Before stocking of the tanks, fish were counted while being sedated (0.25 mL/L phenoxy-ethanol) and the total biomass was recorded. The response of African catfish to both Met diets was compared under four feeding frequencies (FF).

These were (A) "6/1d-FF", feeding six times per day, at 8:00, 12:00, 16:00, 20:00, 24:00 and 4:00 h; (B) "2/1d-FF", feeding two times per day, at 8:00 and 16:00 h; (C) "1/1d-FF", feeding one time per day at 12:00 h: (D) "2/3d-FF", feeding two times out of three days, at either 8:00 h or 16:00 h with a 36 h interval. These feeding frequencies resulted in an interval between successive feeding of 4, 12, 24 and 36 h. Each combination of diet and feeding frequency was randomly assigned to the experimental tanks in triplicate. During the 32-day experimental period, the daily food allowance was divided into the appropriate number of equal amounts for each feeding frequency. This was done to minimize the variation in response parameters due to variability in feed intake. Fish were hand-fed, except for the feedings of the "6/1d-FF" treatment at 20:00, 24:00 and 4:00 h, where feed was provided using a belt feeder (each feeding period lasted for 30 minutes). Fish were fed based on their metabolic body weight. Metabolic body weight was calculated as BW<sup>0.8</sup> with BW expressed in kg. The feeding level was fixed at 14.5 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d based on the mean initial weight over all diets. Furthermore, to ensure that the feeding levels per fish were equal for all treatments, daily feed rations per tank were increased based on an expected growth using a FCR of 1. In the case of mortality, the daily feeding rations were adjusted for the number of fish in the tank. During the first three days, the feeding level was gradually increased from 20% to 100% of the intended ration. After each meal, the uneaten feed was weighed and the spilled pellets, which were collected by the swirl separators 15min after feeding was counted per tank. For proximate analysis of the feed, a representative sample from each diet was taken and stored at 4 °C.

Faeces were collected for digestibility measurements from week 2 till the end of the trial, 5 days per week (Monday - Friday), using detachable collection bottles (250 mL) connected to settling tanks. The faecal collection bottles were submerged in ice-filled styrofoam boxes to reduce microbial degradation. Faeces were collected overnight and stored daily in the morning in aluminum trays at - 20 °C for further analysis. Faeces were pooled per tank. Throughout the experiment, fish behavior was monitored and visually inspected for discernible signs of deformities. Mortality was checked 30 min prior to each hand-feeding period. At the end of the feeding trial, fish were sedated and batch weighed after 24 h of food deprivation. Ten fish per tank were randomly selected and euthanized by an overdose of phenoxy-ethanol (1.0 mL/L) for final body composition analysis.

## 5.2.5 Chemical analyses on feed, faeces and fish body composition

Analyses were performed on the diets, whole fish samples and faeces samples. Before chemical analysis, frozen fish samples were sawed into small pieces and homogenized by mincing twice through a 4.5 mm-screen grinder (Gastromaschinen, GmbH model TW-R 70; Feuma). Dry matter (DM), ash and crude protein (CP) were analyzed using a portion of the freshly sampled minced fish. The remainder of the samples were freeze-dried for later determination of crude fat and energy. Faecal samples were freeze-dried, then manually pulverized through a 1 mm screen sieve. Feed pellets were grinded by a grinding machine. Fish, faeces, and feed samples were analyzed in triplicate using the same analytical method. DM content was determined by drying the samples to constant weight at 103 °C for at least 4 h (ISO 6496, 1983) and ash content by incineration in a muffle furnace at 550 °C overnight (ISO 5984, 1978). The Kjeldahl method was used for nitrogen analysis (ISO 5983, 1979) and CP contents calculated as N content times 6.25. Crude fat analysis was determined using the Soxhlet method (ISO 6492, 1999). Energy was measured using an adiabatic bomb-calorimeter (C7000 IKA®, IKA analysentechnik, Weitershem, Germany; ISO 9831, 1998). Yttrium, phosphorus, calcium and magnesium in feed and faeces were determined from the ash by using inducted coupled plasma mass spectrometry according

to the standard NEN 15510 (ICP-MS, 2007). Amino acids (excluding tryptophan) were analyzed by Skretting ARC, Norway, using an automatic amino acid analyzer (Biochrom 30+, Biochrom Ltd, Cambridge, UK) and the methods described in the COMMISSION REGULATION (EC) No 152/2009 (Council, 2009).

composition of ex	perimental diet	s (g/kg DM)
	Di	ets
	Adq Met	High Met
EAA		
Arginine	27.2	27.0
Histidine	7.9	7.7
Isoleucine	14.8	14.5
Leucine	25.2	24.8
Lysine	22.2	21.9
Methionine	6.7	9.8
Phenylalanine	15.4	15.3
Threonine	16.3	15.9
Valine	17.2	16.9
NEAA		
Alanine	14.8	14.1
Aspartic acid	32.5	31.9
Glutamic acid	57.7	56.6
Cysteine	6.0	6.1
Glycine	17.5	17.0
Proline	19.7	19.5
Serine	20.5	20.6
Tyrosine	8.7	9.0
SAA	330	329
Nutrients		
Dry matter	914	911
Crude protein	346	336
Crude fat	124	127
Ash	75.0	75.1
Phosphorus	14.7	14.7
Energy (kJ/g)	21.1	20.8

Amino acid composition was determined by the Skretting (ARC) laboratory Norway. DM: dry matter; EAA: Essential amino acids; NEAA: Non-essential amino acids; SAA: Sum of amino acids, which is without tryptophan since tryptophan was not analyzed.

### 5.2.6 Calculations

Calculations of performance parameters (daily weight gain, specific growth rate, feed conversion ratio on DM basis and survival) are given in Table 5.3. The apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of macronutrients were calculated according to the following formula described by Cheng and Hardy (2002) using yttrium oxide as inert marker; ADC (%) =  $100 \times [1 - (yttrium concentration in the feed \times$ concentration nutrient in faeces)/(yttrium concentration in the faeces × concentration nutrient in feed)]. The concentrations of yttrium and nutrients were expressed on DM basis. Nitrogen (N) and energy balance parameters were calculated per treatment and expressed as; mg/d and kJ/d, respectively (summarized in Table 5.3). A detailed description of the calculation of balance parameters was previously provided by Saravanan et al. (2012). The utilization efficiency of digested protein was calculated as the amount of nitrogen retained as percentage of the digestible nitrogen intake.

Table 5.3 Fish performance and nutrient balances calculations

Parameters	Formula
Performance parameters	
Growth (g/d)	Growth = (Wf - Wi)/t
Specific growth rate (SGR, %/d)	SGR = 100 x (ln(Wf) - ln(Wi))/t
Feed conversion ratio on DM basis (FCR)	$FCR = (FI \times DM feed)/arowth$
Survival (%)	Survival = NoFishi/NoFishf x 100
Nitrogen balance (mg/d)	
Gross nitrogen intake (GNI)	$GNI = FI \ x \ Nfeed$
Digestible nitrogen intake (DNI)	$DNI = (GNI \ x \ ADCcp)/100$
Branchial and urinary loses (BUN)	BUN = DNI - RN
Retained nitrogen (RN)	$RN = ((Wf \ x \ CPf) / 6.25) - ((Wi \ x \ CPi) / 6.25)$
Utilization efficiency of digested protein (EDP; %)	EDP = RN/DNI x 100
Energy balance (kJ/d)	
Gross energy intake (GEI)	$GEI = FI \times Efeed$
Digestible energy intake (DEI)	$DEI = (GE \ x \ ADCe)/100$
Metabolizable energy intake (MEI)	MEI = DE - BUE
Branchial and urinary energy losses (BUE)	$BUE = (BUN \times 24.9) / 1000$
Retained energy (RE)	RE = Wf x Ef - Wi x Ei
Heat production (HP)	HP = RE - ME
Retained energy as protein (REpro)	$REpro = (RN \ x \ 6.25) \ x \ 23.7$
Retained energy as fat (REfat)	REfat = RE - REpro

Wi, initial fish weight (g); Wf, final fish weight (g); t, duration of experiment (d); FI, feed intake (g/d); NoFishi and NoFishf, respectively initial and final number of fish per tank; ADCcp, apparent digestibility coefficient of crude protein (%); CPf and CPi, respectively final and initial crude protein content of the fish (g/kg); DMfeed, dry matter content of feed (g/g); Nfeed, nitrogen content of feed (mg/g); Efeed, energy content of feed (kJ/g); Ef and Ei, respectively final and initial energy content of feed (kJ/g); ADCe, apparent digestibility coefficient of the energy (%); 23.7 kJ/g, energy content of protein; 24.9 kJ/g N, energy concentration of NH<sub>3</sub>-N as calculated by (Bureau et al., 2003), assuming all N was excreted as NH<sub>3</sub>-N.

## 5.2.7 Statistical analysis

Data were analysed by two-way ANOVA to test for the effects of feeding frequency and dietary methionine level. Following a significant ANOVA result, means were compared by a multiple comparisons test using Tukey's honest significant difference (HSD). All statistical analyses were performed by using SPSS Statistics, version 23.0 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA).

# 5.3 Result

This experiment was designed to assess the effect of feeding frequency and its interaction with crystalline methionine supplementation level on digestion, energy and nitrogen balances. Therefore, two diets with different amounts of CAA were fed to African catfish at four different FFs. The experiment was aimed to have equal feed intakes (FI) in all treatments. However, during the first week, some treatment groups were unable to cope with the set feeding level, especially fish fed at 2/3d-FF. As a consequence, we reduced the rate of increase in feeding level to allow equal ration among treatments. However, only three treatments (1/1d-FF, 2/1d-FF and 6/1d-FF) were able to reach the

targeted feeding level after 12 days of the start of the experiment. But the group of fish at 2/3d-FF still lagged behind the other groups and still had substantial feed rejections. These treatments were able to consume only 75% of the targeted feed ration. Consequently, the 2/3d-FF treatment was excluded from the two-way ANOVA and the effect of the diet within the 2/3d-FF was tested by one-way ANOVA. Figure 5.1 shows the mean values of FI per FF. Averaged over diets, the group fed 2/3d ate 10.9 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d of feed and the other FF treatments ate 13.1 g/kg<sup>0.8</sup>/d.



**Figure 5.1** Effect of feeding frequency (FF) on feed intake in African catfish. Presented values are means over both experimental diets. Means lacking a common letter differ (*P*<0.05). The applied feeding frequencies were: 2/3d, feeding two times in three days; 1/1d, feeding one time per day; 2/1d, feeding two times per day; 6/1d, feeding six times per day.

Except for digestible nitrogen intake and dry matter body content, no interaction effect between dietary Met and FF was observed for any of the measured parameters (Table 5.4-5.6). The growth performance of African catfish fed the two diets under varying FF is presented in Table 5.4. Daily gain and specific growth rate were neither affected by the dietary Met treatment nor the FF treatment. Similarly, FCR on DM basis was unaffected by the applied treatments. Averaged over all treatments, FCR was 0.84. Although, no effect of treatment occurred on survival, fish fed 6 times a day had the highest survival rate.

Means of apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients of all experimental treatments are given in Supplementary Table 5.1. For all the measured nutrient ADCs, there was no effect of the dietary Met treatment (P>0.1). In contrast, all nutrient ADCs were affected by FF (P<0.05; Supplementary Table 5.1). The main effect of feeding frequency on nutrient ADCs is visualized in Figure 5.2. Increasing the feeding frequency from 2/3d to 6/1d increased the digestibility of fat from 90.9% to 94.2% (P<0.01) and of protein from 86.0% to 88.7% (P<0.01). In contrast, phosphorus and magnesium digestibility decreased with increasing feeding frequency (P<0.05).

For the three highest feeding frequencies, there was no effect of dietary Met and FF on fish body composition (Table 5.5) except for energy content. Feeding frequency had a significant effect on energy content with slightly higher value recorded for fish fed at 6/1d. This was also reflected in a tendency for a higher fat content at 6/1d-FF. At the lowest feeding frequency, 2/3d-FF, dietary Met level affected the ash content (P<0.001), but at the other FF, dietary Met level had no impact on the ash content.

oeriod.
xperimental
the e:
during
catfish
African
of /
performance
Growth
Table 5.4 (

			Diets								ā	ets		
		Adq-Met		I	igh-Met						Adq-Met	High-Met		
Feeding frequency	6/1d	2/1d	<u>1/1d</u>	6/1d	2/1d	1/1d			<i>P</i> -value		<u>2/3d</u>	<u>2/3d</u>	I	P-value
Feeding interval	4h	12h	24h	4h	12h	24h	SEM	٥	ΕF	D×FF	36h	36h	SEM	D
Initial BW (g)	43.7	43.6	43.5	43.7	43.7	43.5	0.074	ns	su	ns	43.4	43.3	0.25	ns
Final BW (g)	103	103	103	101	98	102	1.23	ns	su	su	87	85	0.48	#
Survival (%)	97.5	94.2	92.5	95.0	95.0	93.3	1.30	ns	su	su	92.5	94.2	1.18	su
Feed Intake DM (g/d) <sup>a</sup>	1.52	1.49	1.49	1.50	1.48	1.52		,	,	ı	1.19	1.14	,	,
Growth (g/d)	1.85	1.86	1.86	1.78	1.71	1.82	0.039	ns	ns	su	1.35	1.31	0.013	#
SGR (%/d)	2.76	2.77	2.78	2.69	2.61	2.74	0.043	ns	ns	su	2.23	2.18	0.018	su
FCR (g/g)	0.82	0.81	0.80	0.84	0.88	0.84	0.022	su	su	ns	0.88	0.88	0.009	ns
d, day; D, main effect of di dav: 2/1d, feeding two tim	iet; FF, m es per da	ain effec iv: 1/1d.	t of feeding 1 feeding one	frequenc time per	y; D x FF dav: 2/5	, interac 3d. feedi	tion effer ing two ti	ct betw mes in	reen diet i three dav	and feeding f	requency; 6/1 fic growth rat	d, feeding six e: FCR, feed c	times per onversion	

202 day; 2/1d, feeding two times per day; 1/1d, feeding one time per day; 2/3d, reeaing two urnes in triree ua ratio; BW, body weight; DM, dry matter; SEM, standard error of mean; ns, not significant P>0.1; #, P<0.1. <sup>a</sup>feed intake was not statistically analyzed because fish were fed restrictively.

	_
	N
	s (
	asi
	5
	late
	ž
	P
	ы
	ŝ
	at
	Ē
	<u>i</u>
	Æ
	ę
	<u></u>
	sit
	ğ
	ő
	≩
	ğ
	E
	Š
	en
	р5
	Ē
	Ē
	ŝ
	d d
	an
	ne
	o
	Ę
	Ē
	∑
	etg
	fq
	t t
;	ffe
	e e
	Ĕ
	ŝ
	e
	ab
	-

				Diet	S						1	ā	ets		
		٩	Adq-Met		т	igh-Met						Adq-Met	High-Met		
Feeding frequency	Initial	<u>6/1d</u>	<u>2/1</u> d	1/1d	<u>6/1</u> d	2/1d	<u>1/1</u> d			-value		<u>2/3d</u>	2/3d	-	o-value
Feeding interval		4h	12h	24h	4h	12h	24h	SEM	٥	FF	D x FF	36h	36h	SEM	٥
Dry matter	229	257	262	259	261	260	262	1.24	#	ns	*	258	253	2.61	ns
Protein (g/kg DM)	647	604	586	597	601	595	597	5.84	ns	su	ns	594	610	60.9	ns
Fat (g/kg DM)	246	300	302	294	304	300	294	3.32	ns	#	ns	292	285	3.59	ns
Ash (g/kg DM)	114	111	110	114	112	116	114	2.19	ns	ns	ns	118	113	0.35	* * *
Energy (KJ/g DM)	24.3	25.8	25.7	25.3	25.9	25.6	25.4	0.14	ns	*	ns	25.3	25.4	0.16	ns
d, day; D, main effec	t of diet;	FF, mair	n effect	of feeding	frequenc	:v; D × FF	; intera	ction ef	fect b∈	tween d	iet and fee	ding frequen	cy; 6/1d,		
feeding six times per	<sup>-</sup> day; 2/1	d, feedir	ng two t	imes per di	эу; 1/1d,	feeding	one tim	ie per d	ay; 2/3	id, feedi	ng two time	es in three da	ys; SEM,		
standard error of me	an; ns, ni	ot signifi	icant P>I	0.1; #, P<0.	1; *, P <g< td=""><td>.05; **,</td><td>P&lt;0.01;</td><td>×*, Р&lt;</td><td>0.001.</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></g<>	.05; **,	P<0.01;	×*, Р<	0.001.						

Nitrogen and energy balances of African catfish fed experimental diets under different FFs are shown in Table 5.6. Digestible nitrogen, energy and metabolisable energy intake were significantly higher in the 6/1d-FF compared to other FF (P<0.001). This effect was more pronounced in the fish fed the Adq-Met diet. With the increase in dietary Met level, BUN significantly decreased in fish fed High-Met diet at 2/3d-FF (P<0.01). In contrast, both dietary Met and FF did not affect retained nitrogen and energy (P>0.05). The utilization efficiency of digested protein was not influenced by FF. Only a tendency for a reduced utilization efficiency of digested protein was observed in fish fed the Adq-Met diet compared to the High-Met diet in the 2/3d-FF treatment (Table 5.6).



**Figure 5.2.** Effect of feeding frequency (FF) on apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) (%) of nutrients in African catfish. Presented values are means over both experimental diets. Means lacking a common letter differ significantly (*P*<0.05). The applied feeding frequencies were: 2/3d, feeding two times in three days; 1/1d, feeding one time per day; 2/1d, feeding two times per day; 6/1d, feeding six times per day.

			Die	ts							ō	ets		
		Adq-Met			High-Me	+					Adq-Met	High-Met		
Feeding frequency	<u>6/1d</u>	<u>2/1</u> d	<u>1/1</u> d	6/1d	2/1d	1/1d			P-value		<u>2/3d</u>	<u>2/3d</u>	'	P-value
Feeding interval	4h	12h	24h	4h	12h	24h	SEM	۵	FF	D×FF	36h	36h	SEM	٥
Nitrogen balance (mg/d)														
Gross nitrogen intake <sup>a</sup>	83.7	82.6	82.2	80.6	79.7	81.7	0.21		ı		65.9	61.5	0.07	ı
Digestible nitrogen intake	74.5	72.0	72.1	71.3	69.1	71.1	0.23	* * *	* **	*	56.6	52.9	0.41	* *
Branchial urinary losses	25.7	23.8	23.4	23.1	23.9	22.5	0.99	ns	ns	ns	21.2	18.2	0.44	* *
Retained nitrogen	48.7	48.2	48.7	48.2	45.2	48.6	1.01	ns	ns	ns	35.4	34.7	0.68	ns
Utilization efficiency of digested protein (%)	65.4	66.9	67.5	67.6	65.4	68.4	1.44	ns	ns	su	62.6	65.5	06.0	#
LIIEIBY Datalice (NJ U)														
Energy intake <sup>a</sup>	31.9	31.4	31.3	31.1	30.8	31.6	0.08	,		•	25.1	23.8	0.03	
Digestible energy intake	26.8	25.5	25.6	25.9	24.6	25.6	0.13	*	* *	#	20.6	19.3	0.20	*
Metabolisable energy intake	26.2	24.9	25.0	25.4	24.0	25.1	0.13	* *	* **	ns	20.0	18.9	0.21	*
Heat production	12.3	10.5	11.3	11.4	10.9	11.3	0.26	ns	#	ns	9.74	9.22	0.29	ns
Retained energy	13.9	14.4	13.7	13.9	13.1	13.8	0.29	ns	ns	ns	10.31	9.64	0.21	#
Retained energy as protein	7.22	7.14	7.22	7.15	6.70	7.20	0.15	ns	ns	ns	5.25	5.13	0.10	ns
Retained energy as fat	6.65	7.25	6.51	6.78	6.44	6.62	0.18	ns	ns	ns	5.06	4.51	0.23	ns
Maintenance energy requirement (kJ/kg <sup>0.8</sup> /d)	47.1	31.6	38.8	40.4	40.1	38.9	3.53	ns	ns	ns	43.9	40.9	2.41	ns
d, day; D, main effect of diet; FF, main effect of	of feedir	ng frequ	ency; D x	FF, intera	action e	fect be	ween d	iet and	feeding f	requency; 6	5/1d, feeding	six times pe	er day; 2/	1d,
feeding two times per day; 1/1d, feeding one ti	ime per o	lay; 2/30	l, feeding	two time	s in thre	e days;	SEM, sta	indard e	error of m	iean; ns, noi	t significant P	>0.1; #, P<0.	1; *, P<0.	05;
**, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001. <sup>a</sup> Nitrogen and energy	intake w	'ere not	statistical	ly analyze	ed becau	ise restr	icted fe	ed intak	e was ap	plied.				

Table 5.6 The relationship between dietary treatments and nitrogen and energy balances in African catfish.

## 5.4 Discussion

This study was conducted to assess the interaction effect of feeding frequency and dietary crystalline methionine level on nutrient digestibility, nitrogen and energy balances in African catfish. Thereby, it investigated the underlying factors causing sub-optimal AA utilization in fish, especially when plant ingredients are used as protein source. Some authors have reported that this problem is often caused by the asynchronous availability of dietary protein-bound AA and CAA supplemented to an AA-deficient diet (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007; Zarate et al., 1999). Dietary CAA tend to be more quickly released and absorbed by the gastro-intestinal tract than protein-bound AA. This is believed to result in the premature catabolism of CAA (Batterham, 1974), thereby reducing their utilization.

It has been reported that fluctuations in nutrient availability may be influenced by the feeding patterns (Van den Borne et al., 2006). This led to the hypothesis that CAA utilization might not be optimal if the feeding frequency is low. To test this hypothesis, two diets with methionine contents, which is adequate or exceeded the methionine requirement of African catfish (Adq-Met versus High-Met diet). were tested under varying feeding frequencies. Contrary to our expectation, a low feeding frequency did not hamper the utilization efficiency of digested protein of African catfish when fed the Adq-Met diet (Table 5.6). This observation was supported by the absence of an interaction effect between FF and dietary CAA supplementation for all tested parameters. Furthermore, at the lowest FF (2/3d-FF with a feeding interval of 36h), none of the growth, energy and nitrogen balance parameters were improved by the supplementation of Met with the exception of utilization efficiency of digested protein, which tended to be higher for the High-Met diet. This implies that synchrony of dietary CAA with protein-bound AA is not affected by feeding frequency in African catfish. In contrast to the current observation, positive effects of feeding frequency on nutrient synchronization have been demonstrated in other farmed animals (Batterham, 1974; Van den Borne et al., 2006). For example, increasing feeding frequency increased the efficiency of digestible protein in pre-ruminant calves when fed non-clotting protein sources under varying feeding frequencies (Van den Borne et al., 2006). In pigs, increasing the feeding frequency from once daily to six times per day improved their response to a lysine-deficient diet supplemented with free lysine (Batterham, 1974). Similar to the results of the current study, channel catfish and common carp have shown that feeding frequency did not improve utilization efficiency of supplemental lysine and methionine respectively (Nwanna et al., 2012; Zarate et al., 1999).

Fish in the present study received similar amounts of feed in all treatments except for the 2/3d-FF treatment group. Feed rejection was observed in this group during the first part of the experiment. In the original design, it was planned to give the same ration across treatments and thus, the amount of feed per feeding moment (i.e., meal) increases as FF reduces. Consequently, this increased meal size may have led to the overloading of the gut by the bulk supply of feeds. The current feed intake results of African catfish (Figure 5.1) suggest that feed intake is hampered when the FF is reduced below once daily. This was unexpected beforehand, as fish are known to be capable of adjusting their stomach volume to accomodate food in order to compensate for the period of starvation (Jobling, 1982), when fish are fed to apparent satiation under different regimes. Feeding fish less frequently for a longer time can lead to an increased gut capacity, which will result in hyperphagia (Jobling, 1982; Rouhani, 1993). This is a situation whereby fish try to adapt and adjust to reduced access to feed by consuming more feed per meal (Eyo and Ekanem, 2011). To which extent hyperphagia may occur varies among species, ages and sizes (Okomoda et al., 2019). Furthermore, the response of fish to varying feeding frequencies

has been linked to the size of its stomach (Pillay and Kutty, 2005). This is because smaller fish size with a smaller stomach do require more frequent feeding for maximum growth to be attained compared to larger fishes (Okomoda et al., 2019). The fact that juvenile fish were used in the current study might explain the feed rejection at the low FF. Studies conducted on other fish species have shown that feed consumption and growth generally increased with feeding frequency up to a given limit (Aderolu et al., 2010; Basçinar et al., 2001; Lanna et al., 2016; Wang et al., 1998). However, more studies are required to investigate the interaction between feed intake and feeding frequency in fish.

In the current study, increasing the feeding frequency improved nutrient digestibility regardless of the dietary Met level. Usually, nutrient digestibility is improved when fish are exposed to challenging conditions, which often relates to a reduced feed intake. For example, in Nile tilapia (Oreochormis niloticus), exposure to hypoxia (Tran-Duy et al., 2012) as well as exposure to brackish conditions (Tran-Ngoc et al., 2017) leads to higher nutrient digestibility. However, in the current study the opposite was found, feed intake was lower at the lowest feeding frequency, which coincided with the lowest macronutrient ADCs. In general, macronutrients ADCs were highest in the fish fed six times per day (Figure 5.2). This may be due to close intervals in feed availability, which resulted in increased enzymatic activities for optimum digestion (Zhao et al., 2016). In line with our result, a study on common carp where two feeding frequencies (twice daily vs. continuous feeding) were applied observed increased protein digestibility under continuous feeding (Nwanna et al., 2012). Furthermore, Zhou et al. (2003) reported an improved protein and energy digestibility in gibel carp (Carassius *auratus aibelio*) when feeding frequency was increased from two to four meals per day. In contrast to these findings, there are several studies in which feeding frequency had no effect on nutrient digestibility (Amadou et al., 2019; Charles et al., 1984; Marian et al., 1982; Zhao et al., 2016). These discrepancies between studies can stem from both differences in the range of applied feeding frequencies or diet formulations. In contrast to macronutrients, the digestibility of minerals such as phosphorus and magnesium was lower at higher frequencies when compared to lower feeding frequencies (Figure 5.2). The reason for this observation is unclear but may be due to changes in stomach pH induced by feeding frequency. Postprandial stomach pH declines with time after meal (Saravanan et al., 2013). Moreover, stomach pH is important in dissolving minerals for absorption. Therefore, it can be suggested that frequent feeding might result in higher average pH throughout the day. However, the impact of feeding frequency on stomach chyme characteristics of African catfish requires further assessment.

African catfish fed 2/3d-FF in this study showed low nutrient digestibility. This could be as a result of an overload of the digestive enzymes with bulk amounts of feed, resulting in a reduction of nutrient absorption capacity and digestibility (Staessen et al., 2020b). Only a few studies have examined the effects of feeding fish less than once per day on nutrient digestibility (Li and Lucas, 2017). Feeding channel catfish every other day was not found to significantly influence nutrient ADC (Li and Lucas, 2017). In the current study, fish fed at 2/1d-FF had the lowest nutrient digestibility (average over both diets). This implies that feeding more frequently than 2/1d is optimal for a good digestibility. Earlier studies on performance in African catfish suggested that feeding twice or three times per day is optimum for growth (Aderolu et al., 2010; Eyo and Ekanem, 2011; Marimuthu and Muralikrishnan S, 2010). However, these studies were done by applying satiation feeding and no digestibility measurements were carried out. In addition, the frequencies applied in those studies ranged from one time to three times per day. Feeding intervals have been reported to strongly correlate with gastric

evacuation time (Huebner and Langton, 1982; Liu and Liao, 1999; Zhao et al., 2016), as such, increasing the frequency would have probably influenced their final outcome by feed intake.

Although, a high FF improved digestibility, growth remained nearly unchanged (Table 5.4). Yet, fish doubled in size at the end of the experiment, indicating a favourable rearing condition for improved growth. The absence of a FF effect on growth might be due to the impact of FF on endogenous faecal losses. If endogenous faecal losses were higher in less frequently fed fish, the true nutrient ADC might have been similar and consequently also growth. However, this hypothesis needs further testing. Lack of differences in growth among treatments may also be explained by the activities of the fish during feeding. At the lower FFs, African catfish were seldomly resting with their tail at the bottom of the tank, and this behaviour was frequently recorded for fish in the 2/3d-FF group. Subjective observations during this experiment suggested that fish fed at the highest FF tended to be more active compared to fish from the other FFs. This might also explain the higher numerical values for maintenance energy requirement recorded for this group (Table 5.6), which is an indication that more nutrients and energy were diverted into physical activity rather than growth. Furthermore, heat production was higher for the fish fed on a 6/1d regime, which may be related to energy losses due to swimming activities (NRC, 1993). In line with this study, several studies have reported that increasing feeding frequency had no significant effect on the growth of fish (Amadou et al., 2019; Lanna et al., 2016; Sveier and Lied, 1998). Lanna et al. (2016) reported that feeding Nile tilapia (Oreochromis niloticus) a low-protein diet supplemented with CAA under different feeding regimes had no effect on growth. Similarly, Atlantic Salmon (Salmo salar) fed under two feeding regimes showed no differences in growth and feed efficiency (Sveier and Lied, 1998). In contrast, a GIFT Nile tilapia fed 6 times per day grew better than when fed only two times per day (Zhao et al., 2010). Likewise, Zarate et al. (1999) confirmed that increasing the feeding frequency from two to five times per day significantly increased the growth of channel catfish fed a diet supplemented with free lysine. Differences in the outcome of studies could be attributed to the differences in duration of the experiments and quantity of feed consumed in each frequency group (Lanna et al., 2016), but most likely due to differences across species and feed intake behaviour (e.g., filter feeders versus prey swallowers).

At both applied dietary methionine supplementation levels, performance, nitrogen and energy balance parameters were unaffected by feeding frequency. However, feeding frequency had an impact on feed intake and nutrient digestibility in African catfish. A higher feeding frequency increased the digestibility of nutrients, but this did not translate into increased growth, most likely due to increased maintenance energy requirements because of higher physical activity of the fish.

### Acknowledgment

The authors wish to acknowledge the technical assistance rendered by Menno ter Veld and the staff of the aquaculture research facilities of Wageningen University in running the experiment. We would like to thank Ronald Booms and Tino Leffering for their support during the lab analysis, also thanks to the technical staff of Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre laboratory for amino acid analysis.




**General Discussion** 

| Chapter 6

# **6.1 Introduction**

Protein is an expensive component of fish feed and also an important macronutrient for growth and development. Therefore, it is important to accurately determine the protein requirements for each species and life stage cultured. Historically, the supply of optimum dietary protein requires knowledge on 1) the protein requirements of the fish 2) the protein content of feedstuffs. In recent times, this process has shifted to quantifying the amino acid requirement of fish and the AA content of feedstuffs, respectively. This is because fish, like other animals, do not have a true protein requirement but require a well-balanced mixture of essential and non-essential amino acids. Consequently, the guality of protein depends on its AA content and digestibility. Currently, the protein evaluation in fish feeds is mostly based on the concentration and digestibility of protein in the selected ingredients. This may not be the accurate representation of fish needs due to the variability in the digestibility of crude protein and that of individual amino acids. Dietary protein quality may vary when different ingredients are used in the feed formulation as both the AA composition and digestibility may vary among different ingredients used for feed formulation. Compared to other farm animals, fish diets are rarely evaluated using digestible AA data. The latter method of evaluation has been adopted in pigs and poultry for decades but is yet to be fully explored in fish. Therefore, this thesis assessed the digestibility of the amino acids in ingredients in order to improve protein evaluation of fish feeds. Furthermore, the digestible AA requirement and the factors that affect optimum AA utilization in fish were explored. For the former, a study (chapter 3) was designed to compare the currently used approach (i.e., AA requirement based on crude protein) with the digestible AA requirement. Chapter 2 of this thesis addressed the question whether the digestibility of AAs is equal among different AAs, as well as to the overall crude protein. Because of the similarity between the digestibility of crude protein and the total sum of AAs found in chapter 2, the feasibility of estimating/predicting AA digestibility by using the CP ADC data will be further explored in this chapter.

As aforementioned (**chapter 1**), an essential aspect of protein evaluation is the assessment of the impact of protein sources on the protein utilization efficiency. To what extent digestible nutrients are ultimately utilised by fish has remained unclear. Indeed, obtaining maximum use from a feed supplied is of utmost importance to fish culturists and the environment. Therefore, increasing protein utilization is considered an important strategy to optimize the use of dietary amino acids thereby reducing the aquaculture footprint. In **chapter 1**, it was hypothesized that the sub-optimal utilization of dietary AA is caused by nutrient asynchrony. Our study touched on some aspects to verify this hypothesis (**chapter 4 and 5**). However, some unresolved questions about the factors that can affect the utilization efficiency of dietary AA will be further discussed in this section. Finally, insight is provided for future research, including implications of research outcomes for current and future fish and aquafeed production.

# 6.2 Determination of amino acid requirements

The AA digestibility of a diet is not 100%, yet, in spite of this, the amino acid requirements as reported by NRC (2011) are based on the assumption that dietary AAs content are completely digestible, hence, a safety margin was excluded. This assumption spread through the notion that EAA requirement values in literature are digestible amino acid requirements (NRC, 1993). This statement may be true only if the whole diet contains synthetic substances, and indeed, the majority of these studies used synthetic protein ingredients which are highly digestible (e.g., caseine and gelatine). However, in practical feedstuffs, AA are usually not only synthetic and thus amino acids digestibility may be significantly lower than in experimental diets (Cho and Bureau, 1997). Therefore, the best unit to express requirement estimates (i.e., either digestible amino acid per crude protein (mg DAA/CP) or amino acid per digestible crude protein (mg AA/DCP)) remains unclear. This information is critical for precise feed formulation.

In this thesis, we investigated whether there is a significant variation in how AA requirement estimates are expressed, thereby using methionine as a case study. Results revealed only a slight difference in methionine requirement expressed on a digestible methionine or on crude protein basis (**chapter 3**). For instance, the methionine requirement of African catfish for optimum growth was 18.7 g/kg when expressed as g digested methionine per kg of digestible protein (dMetDP). Within the same experiment, this requirement was 19.2 g/kg when expressed as g methionine per kg of crude protein (AA/CP). Although, the estimations for dMetDP and AA/CP are nearly identical, the observed variability cannot be overlooked. These differences may occur when there is a small difference in methionine digestibility and crude protein digestibility. In addition, the quality of ingredients may influence such outcomes, a topic that will be further discussed in this chapter. Therefore, such heterogeneity still supports the need to introduce a protein evaluation method that estimates AA requirement based on digestible AA per unit of digestible crude protein.

Furthermore, this method of protein evaluation should take into account the impact of the experimental design on requirement estimates. For instance, the mathematical models used for estimating requirements could pose a huge impact on the outcome. Common models used in the field of fish nutrition include broken-line, regression (quadratic, sigmoid, and saturation kinetics models), linear, ANOVA, and nonparametric models. The benefits and drawbacks of using these models have been extensively discussed in literature (Dougall et al., 1996; Koshio et al., 1993; NRC, 2011; Robbins, 1986: Robbins et al., 1979: Shearer, 2000: Zeitoun et al., 1976). Compared to literature, the methionine requirement of African catfish (19.2 g/kg CP) observed in this study (Chapter 3) was strongly different from what was reported in the literature (32.0 g/kg CP; Fagbenro et al. (1999) and 29.7 g/kg CP; Ovie and Eze (2010)). This might be partly due to the differences in the mathematical model used. In chapter 3, it was shown that the quadratic regression (QR) model gave higher value estimates than the brokenline and linear plateau model. Furthermore, it was demonstrated that when the QR model is used, the estimate of the optimum level was dependent on the width of methionine doses applied. Reducing the width (see chapter 3, figure 3.3) strongly lowered the initial estimated methionine requirement. This may be one explanation for the high differences between studies, especially those that applied a polynomial model. This aspect of estimation should also be considered in presenting AA requirements in fish nutrition (e.g., NRC), where some of their recommendations might be affected by the methods used. An indication for the usage of this model (i.e., QR) can be seen in NRC (2011), where up to 5 studies (out of 22 studies) applied the quadratic regression model for methionine requirement, also for lysine (6 out of 32 studies). For future studies, it is important to include all aforementioned factors in the process of evaluation whereby a consensus agreement will be reached on how to estimate nutrient requirements.

## 6.3 Formulating fish diets on the basis of digestible AA

The majority of literature reports and also the current study have clearly demonstrated a large variation in the digestibility of individual amino acids within protein (Boisen and Fernández, 1995). For instance, lysine and cysteine which are known to be important AAs in poultry nutrition usually have a lower digestibility than other AAs within the same ingredient (Parsons, 2020). In chapter 2, we demonstrated that cysteine, methionine, histidine, and tyrosine have profound lower ADC values than others AA in African catfish. A low ADC of a particular AA may be the result of high endogenous losses of that particular AA and may also depend on the general chemical composition of the diet (Boisen and Fernández, 1995; Knabe et al., 1989). The exact causes of the discrepancies in apparent amino acid digestibility among feedstuffs and within proteins are unclear (Knabe et al., 1989). As studies evolve, numerous environmental and management factors have been reported to cause this variability in fish. one of which is feeding level (Halver and Hardy, 2002). However, in our study, feeding level had only a small impact on the AA digestibility in African catfish (chapter 2). Other constituents of the diet may also affect the AA digestibility. For instance, anti-nutritional factors (ANFs), often present in plant protein ingredients, may reduce nutrient digestibility (Cai and Burtle, 1996; NRC, 1993). On the other hand, the excessive heat treatment applied during the processing of raw materials to reduce the negative effects of these ANFs could lead to protein damage (Abimorad et al., 2008; Masumoto et al., 1996; Portz and Cyrino, 2004; Yamamoto et al., 1998). In addition, excessive heat could induce covalent cross-linking of protein especially among AAs (e.g., lysine) that are susceptible to heat damage (Cho et al., 1982). According to Batterham (1992), heat-damaged amino acids like methionine, threonine, tryptophan and lysine, might create inaccuracy in apparent amino acid digestibility estimations since they are in a state that can be absorbed but cannot be used for protein synthesis. An example is Maillard reaction products; when this happens, a high total lysine estimate is given, but biologically, they will be unavailable to the animal for protein synthesis (Yamamoto et al., 1998). On the other hand, Amezcua and Parsons (2007) hypothesized that the susceptibility of different ingredients to heatinduced damage varies. Also, other compounds in the diet may play a role e.g., crude fibre, chitin etc. In our study, evidence of how chitin could affect the protein quality was also found. The CP digestibility of insect meal was lower than that of all other ingredients (Chapter 2). This low protein digestibility could be linked to the presence of chitin in the insect exoskeleton. Decreased nutrient digestibility due to the presence of chitin in insect meal has also been reported in Nile tilapia, turbot (Psetta maxima) and Atlantic salmon (Fontes et al., 2019; Karlsen et al., 2017; Kroeckel et al., 2012).

Fish diets have been and are still formulated based on crude protein content or on the basis of digestible protein instead of AA content or digestible AA content. When high-quality ingredients (e.g., fishmeal) are used, it may be safe to formulate a feed based on digestible protein rather than on digestible AA as the difference in utilization efficiency is small. This is because fishmeal has a balanced AA content and is highly digestible. However, when non-fishmeal ingredients are used, more proteins are being added in a bid to create a safe margin to compensate for the requirement of specific AA. This may not be economically and environmentally sustainable. Moreover, the majority of these ingredients (e.g., plant ingredients and animal by-products) are low/deficient in certain essential AA (**chapter 2**). Furthermore, some AAs (e.g., cysteine) are less digestible than the others. As such, formulating a diet based on digestible AA becomes more important in order to account for the variation in digestibility among AAs. Moreover, the economic value of AA supplements (e.g., DL-methionine, L-lysine, and L-threonine) in feed is mostly underestimated when formulated on a crude protein or total AA basis. This is because crystalline AAs are 100% digestible compared to protein-

bound AA in the ingredients (Parsons, 2020). On this basis, it is important to evaluate the AA digestibility of existing and emerging ingredients in various aquaculture species. In this way, one can calculate digestible AA per digestible CP. Moreover, Parsons (2020) proposed the application of a digestible AA system in formulating poultry diets, especially when simple formulas (i.e., non-corn or non-soybean meal) are used. He emphasized the advantage of using this method over the total AA concept specifically when these low-quality ingredients are used. Based on these observations, a method for evaluating dietary protein by quantifying individual digestible AA based on digestible protein, as described in this thesis **(chapters 2 and 3)**, should be implemented in the field of fish nutrition. This way, the portion of AA that will be available for absorption will be taken into account during feed formulation, which will aid precise feed formulation.

# 6.4 Protein digestibility as a proxy for total amino acid digestibility

In spite of our previous conclusion (op cit), the use of protein ADC to predict AA ADC remains an important question in fish nutrition. Since ideally, the combination of AA makes the whole protein, it is expected that the digestibility of individual AA or the sum of AA is equivalent to crude protein digestibility. Many authors have reported the similarity in the digestibility values of CP and AA (Koprucu and Ozdemir, 2005; Lin et al., 2004; Luo et al., 2009; Yuan et al., 2010b; Zhou et al., 2004), although the majority of these studies revealed some variability in the individual AA digestibility. Masumoto et al. (1996) observed that the ADC of EAA were not different from the protein ADC. However, histidine ADC of the full-fat soybean meal used in their study differs from the overall protein digestibility. In pigs, the in-vitro digestibility of amino acids (measured in nine feedstuffs) was in general closely related to that of protein, although there were exceptions (e.g., cysteine, arginine, aspartic acid, glutamic acid and proline). Furthermore, Sales (2008) showed the reliability of using CP as the sole predictor of AA digestibility compared to using other nutrient components like lipid and/or ash. However, despite the various reports on this subject, the question remained unresolved in the field of fish nutrition. Feedstuffs are acquired in batches, with each batch differing in nutritional make-up and thus requiring a proper evaluation of their nutritional contents. For practical reasons, it is important to have the digestible AA information of each batch for precise feed formulation. However, evaluating the protein quality through the analysis of AA ADC of each batch of ingredients is expensive and time-consuming (Boisen and Fernández, 1995; Sales, 2008). Therefore, alternative methods, such as in-vitro techniques and methods focusing on the dietary chemical composition (Sales, 2008) have been developed. However, nutritionists demand a more rapid, simple and cheaper method that could reduce labor, expense, and save time. Therefore, more and better evidence have been searched to support the use of CP digestibility for routine prediction of ADC of AA. Moreover, a multiple regression analysis revealed that dietary CP and fat content are good predictors (R<sup>2</sup>=0.87) of the apparent digestible protein content of feed ingredients in hybrid tilapia (Sklan et al., 2004).

Based on the measured ADC values for 13 ingredients in African catfish (**chapter 2**), it was checked if the ADC of crude protein can be used to predict the ADC of total sum of amino acid (SAA). This was done by linear regression analysis of ADC SAA as a function of the ADC of CP (Figure 6.1A). By linear regression, 70% of the variation in SAA ADC between ingredients was explained by the variation in CP ADC. The estimated linear relationship revealed that high quality ingredients with CP ADC values close to 100% had similar ADC values for SAA. For low quality ingredients, the CP ADC was however, lower than the SAA ADC (Figure 6.1A). This was also reflected by the estimated slope of 0.74 for the linear relationship. This estimated slope was below 1, though not significant different from 1 (*P*>0.1). Based on this observation, a literature review was conducted to construct a data set on ingredients for which ADC of CP and all AAs (excluding tryptophan) were reported. Studies included into the data set have calculated the ADC at ingredient level according to the method described by Teuling et al. (2017): ADCtest ingredient = ADCtest diet + (ADCtest diet - ADCreference diet) x (0.7 x Nutrientreference diet/0.3 x Nutrienttest ingredient) x 100%, where ADCtest diet and ADCreference diet are the apparent digestibility coefficient (%) of the dietary component in the test diet and the reference diet, respectively. Nutrientreference diet and Nutrient<sub>test</sub> ingredient are the nutrient contents (g/kg DM) in the reference diet and test ingredient. respectively. Furthermore, the CP content and also the AA content in the ingredients needed to be reported as criteria to be entered into the database (see explanation below). This resulted in a dataset containing 178 ingredients tested in 18 fish species (originated from the following sources: Abimorad et al. (2008); Allan et al. (2000); Anderson et al. (1992); Basto et al. (2020); Campos et al. (2018); Che et al. (2017); Dam et al. (2019); dos Santos Cardoso et al. (2020); (Glencross et al., 2017); Koprucu and Ozdemir (2005): Lee et al. (2020): Masumoto et al. (1996): Mo et al. (2019): Portz and Cyrino (2004): Stone et al. (2000); Tomas-Vidal et al. (2019) and Yamamoto et al. (1998). The enlargement of the number of observations from 13 to 178 ingredients slightly increased the R<sup>2</sup> of the linear relationship between CP ADC and SAA ADC from 70 to 78% (Figure 6.1). Across species, 78% of the variation in SAA ADC of ingredients is related to variation in CP ADC. Considering the high number of ingredients in the dataset and R<sup>2</sup> of 78%, one can predict the ADC of SAA from the ADC of CP but not with a very high accuracy. The biggest change in the relationship when expanding the dataset, was the estimated beta being 0.92, which is closer to 1. However, even in the larger data set, the slope of the relationship was significantly different from 1 (P<0.05).

Potential reasons for this observation could be explained by the presence of other nitrogenous compounds in CP which did not influence the digestibility of SAA. Protein is estimated by multiplying its N content by 6.25, thus, non-protein nitrogen (NPN) is included in the estimates. As a result, it seems that the NPN digestibility differs from that of true protein (Lupatsch et al., 1997). Furthermore, our results revealed that certain ingredients were deviating from the slope, which can be attributed to ingredients of low protein quality (e.g., HFM). The other reason might be that low-quality ingredients have a negative impact on some AA that might be sensitive to (for instance) heat damage. Thus, it seems that also across species, the ADC of SAA in low quality ingredients is higher than the ADC of CP. It can be concluded that crude protein digestibility can be used as a predictor for the total sum of AA, although this approach is not fully perfect.



Figure 6.1 Relationship between crude protein digestibility and sum of amino acid digestibility (solid lines). Panel A; this thesis (n=13), panel B; constructed dataset by literature review (see main text), (n=178). Dotted lines in both panels indicates the line Y=X.

# 6.5 Total AA ADC as a proxy for individual AA ADCs

Considering the possible relationship between CP and SAA discussed above, we also studied the predictability of individual AA ADC by using SAA digestibility values. This is to ascertain if individual AA are showing similar functionalities as the overall SAA. Yamamoto et al. (1998) reported that the digestibility of certain AA such as glycine was notably lower than the average digestibility of total amino acids (i.e., SAA), even though the individual AA digestibility within each protein source approximated the ADC of CP. In **chapter 2**, we showed that the digestibility of AA is not always equal. For instance, the ADC of histidine in poultry meal is lower compared to the ADC of arginine in the same ingredient.

Relating the ADC of individual AA to the ADC of SAA for the 13 ingredients reported in chapter 2. it was revealed that the response differed between the individual AA. In Figure 6.2 A and C, the 2 extreme relationships are given. Arginine ADC was strongly related to SAA ADC with an R<sup>2</sup> of 95%, but having a linear line slope of only 0.66, which was different from 1 (P<0.001). Thus, ingredients with a lower protein quality had a relatively higher ADC of arginine compared to the ADC of SAA. In contrast, the ADC of cysteine was less strongly related to SAA ADC (R<sup>2</sup>=70%) and a linear line slope of 2.1, which was different from 1 (P<0.05). For cysteine, its ADC declined stronger with reducing SAA ADC. In other words, for low quality ingredients, the cysteine ADC reduced stronger than the ADC of the sum of AA. In Figure 6.2B and D the relationships for arginine and cysteine are also given for the total 178 ingredients in the dataset constructed (see above). The relationship between ADC of individual ingredients and the ADC of SAA was done by PROC MIXED in SAS using the absolute amount of the individual AA in the test diets originating from the test ingredient (in g/kg) as weight factor. In this way, ingredients with a very low individual AA content or a very low inclusion level (into the test diet) were considered less accurate compared to ingredients with a high AA content and inclusion level. The observed trends in the individual AA ADC relationships with SAA ADC were the same in the large dataset (Figure 6.2B & D) as for the ingredients reported in chapter 2 (Figure 6.2A & C). The slopes for both arginine and cysteine still deviated from 1 but less strong in the African catfish dataset (n=13). Moreover, in the large dataset (n=178), the ADC of SAA explained a lower percentage of the variation in arginine ADC (76%) as well as cysteine (56%).

In Figure 6.2, arginine and cysteine were given as examples for the relationship between the ADC of individual AA with the ADC of SAA. In figure 6.3, the slope of the linear relationship for the ADC of each individual AA with the ADC of SAA is given for the large dataset (n=178). This figure shows that arginine, methionine, phenylalanine and glutamic acid have a slope that is significantly lower than 1. Thus, for low quality ingredients, the ADC for these AA are higher than the ADC of the total sum of AA. Moreover, valine, glycine asparagine and cysteine have a slope being significantly larger than 1. For these amino acids, the ADC is strongly reduced in low quality ingredients compared to the ADC of SAA. This generally indicate that, for low quality ingredients, the differences in ADC of individual amino acids are not equal and becomes larger with declining total AA ADC.



**Figure 6.2** Relationship between the sum of amino acid digestibility and individual AA (arginine and cysteine) digestibility (solid lines). Panel A; arginine in this thesis (n=13), panel B; constructed dataset of arginine by literature (see main text), (n=178), panel C; cysteine in this thesis (n=13), panel D; constructed dataset of cysteine by literature (see main text), (n=178). Dotted lines in both panels indicates the line Y=X.

In a study by Zhou et al. (2004) on juvenile cobia (Rachycentron canadum), it was discovered that amino acid digestibility coefficients tend to only reflect protein digestibility coefficients among highly digestible ingredients like Peruvian fish meal and corn gluten meal. In the same study, meat and bone meal had a lower lysine digestibility compared to the other animal- or plant-based ingredients tested. This observation was attributed to the reduced digestibility of protein in bone fragments which lowered the quality of the ingredient (Zhou et al., 2004). Another study concluded that the ADCs of protein in yeast and corn gluten meal should not be used as AA digestibility indicators because they displayed up to 6.7% differences between the protein and AA digestibility (Abimorad et al., 2008). The rate at which amino acids are released during digestion is determined by the availability of dietary proteins. In the current study, the tendency for a stronger relationship of arginine and methionine relative to other amino acids, is in accordance with the explanation from (Low, 1979), e.g., that these amino acids would be among the first to be absorbed, based on the specificities of the enzymes involved in the proteolytic breakdown of feed proteins. On the other hand, the low performance of cysteine could be due to the fact that cysteine is incorporated in small protein molecules of some ingredients especially in most legume seed like soybean meal and pea protein (chapter 2) (Boisen and Fernández, 1995). They have often been shown to be protease inhibitors and are highly resistant to proteolysis by forming stable disulphide bonds. (Boisen, 1983). Although the effect of disulphide bond formation on protein utilization is unknown (Ei and Kavas, 1996), some experimental data suggest that it may decrease protein digestibility (Opstvedt et al., 1984). According to Mauron (1982), when foods are boiled at high temperatures, development of complex chemical (crosslinking) reactions such as protein interactions or protein-fat interactions can reduce protein digestibility. It has also been reported that smoking conditions (time, temperature, and wood smoke compounds) reduced protein digestibility (Opstvedt, 1988). There is also a possibility that methionine is converting to cysteine by microbes for the *de novo* synthesis of the latter. From the above discussion, it can be concluded that



the digestibility of SAA can be used to predict the digestibility of individual AA but that it may vary considerably per individual AA which also depends largely on the quality of protein ingredient used.

Figure 6.3 Estimated regression coefficient of the relationship between the digestibility (ADC) of individual AA and the ADC of the sum of the amino acids. This was done on a dataset of 178 ingredients (see main text).

Furthermore, the strength of this prediction may be dependent on the type of ingredients (e.g., plant or animal ingredients). This is demonstrated in Table 6.1, where the large dataset was split into ingredients of plant origin versus animal origin (animals both from marine and terrestrial origin). Within each type of ingredient source, the relationship between the individual AA ADC with the ADC of SAA was made. This analysis showed that for various AA the slope was significantly different between the type of ingredients. For instance, methionine and lysine digestibility in animal sources are less affected by ingredient quality which is indicated by the slope being smaller than 1 compared to the sum of all AA. Whereas, in plant sources, the digestibility of methionine and lysine respond quite similar to that of the ADC of SAA (a beta of 1). Cysteine and histidine responses are also different between the type of ingredients. Here the slopes of cysteine and histidine are larger than 1 in animal sources while it is closer to 1 for plant ingredients. Overall, it seems that the variability in ADC between the individual AA is larger at low quality ingredients in animal sources compared to plant protein sources. This observed effect of ingredient type on the relationship of the ADC of various individual AA with the ADC of SAA make predictions of ADC of AA from the ADC of SAA and thus also from ADC of CP difficult. Next to that one can question whether these relationships are different between fish species and or trophic levels of fish species. This requires further assessment.

	Animal sources	Plant sources	P-value
	Beta ± se	Beta ± se	type of source
Methionine	0.772 ± 0.062	0.946 ± 0.061	*
Lysine	0.884 ± 0.047	1.002 ± 0.054	#
Arginine	0.735 ± 0.053	0.876 ± 0.045	*
Histidine	1.303 ± 0.077	0.870 ± 0.073	***
Isoleucine	0.919 ± 0.056	1.077 ± 0.047	*
Asparagine	1.197 ± 0.048	1.007 ± 0.043	**
Cysteine	1.458 ± 0.123	1.049 ± 0.111	*
Glycine	0.969 ± 0.058	1.220 ± 0.069	**

Table 6.1 Relationship between the AA and sum of AA in different sources.

Given in table (n=173 because SCP were excluded). For all AA not included in this table the regression coefficient (Beta) of animal sources did not differ from that of plant sources.

#### 6.6 Cross-link between protein digestion and nutrient synchrony

For proper evaluation of dietary protein quality, an assessment of the impact of protein sources on the protein utilization efficiency should be included (Young and Pellett, 1989). Indeed, the utilization efficiency of AA in protein can be affected by many factors such as the presence of antinutritional factors (ANFs), mycotoxins, naturally bounded resistant proteins, and nutrients asynchrony (Lall, 1991; Van den Borne et al., 2006). In other words, the supply of the right amount of AA needed to meet the daily requirement of fish may not guarantee its optimal utilization for protein synthesis.

Earlier in the general introduction, we speculated that nutrient asynchrony could be the reason for sub-optimal utilization of dietary amino acids in fish. Indeed, literature evidence has indicated disproportionate absorption rates of amino acids from a diet containing both free amino acids and protein-bound AA. Some authors have reported that this problem is often caused by the asynchronous availability of protein-bound AA and crystalline AA supplied to diets that would otherwise be deficient in essential AA (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007; Zarate et al., 1999). Studies with rats (Rolls et al., 1972), prawns (Kangsen et al., 1988), carp (Plakas and Katayama, 1981) and channel catfish (Zarate et al., 1999) have indicated that free amino acids are guickly released and absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract in contrast to protein-bound AA, thereby leading to an imbalance in the amino acids profile in the tissues at different moments postprandial. This leads to diverting amino acids into catabolic rather than anabolic processes (Batterham, 1974; Cowey et al., 1979). Our results (chapter 4) showed a different passage rate of nutrients in the GIT of African catfish which may be an indication that there are differences in nutrient uptake in the gut. An improved utilization efficiency of dietary protein and supplemented AA is an effective way of solving this problem. The concept of balancing the dietary inputs with the nutrient requirements, e.g., "Nutrient synchronization" can be used to harmonize the different sources of AA supplied in such a way that it will favour optimal utilization. In literature, different strategies of dietary nutrients synchronization have been evaluated in farm animals. Some examples are: i) Harmonisation of energy or protein sources ii); change in feeding frequency or pattern; iii) Matching the different forms of AA; iv) Controlling the timing of feed offering;

v) Balancing the form of supplied nutrients and supplement types and vi) Exchange of feedstuffs (Hersom, 2008; Van den Borne et al., 2006; Yang et al., 2010). In this thesis, we looked at nutrient synchronization as affected by feeding frequency in African catfish, but no beneficial impact was observed (chapter 5). However, another study (chapter 4) showed that the sources of dietary nutrients (i.e., protein and energy) can impact the nutrient digestion kinetics in the GIT. Based on this observation, it might be interesting to further assess the impact of this type of synchrony on utilization efficiency in fish. There are supportive evidences to proof that the synchronization of protein and energy is beneficial in terms of improved efficiency of microbial protein synthesis, improved protein utilization and decreased urinary N excretion in ruminants (Cole and Todd, 2008; Kaswari et al., 2007) and in preruminant calves (van den Borne et al., 2007). In contrast, no improvement was seen in both performance and breast muscle yield of broilers, when fed both rice starch and soy protein isolate or pea starch and soybean meal simultaneously (Chen, 2017). Although the concept of nutrient synchrony is common and has been applied for decades in many farm animals (e.g., pig and poultry), it has gained little attention in fish nutrition. This may be related to the limited positive effects of this concept in fish as seen in this thesis. Moreover, asynchrony might be less pronounced in fish due to the use of high-quality protein ingredients in fish feeds. For instance, if fishmeal is used as protein source, one could expect a rapid digestion and uptake due to its high-quality, therefore, asynchrony between supplemented AA and the protein-bound AA therein would not be triggered. This suggest that the asynchrony in the supply of the nutrients (AA and glucose) might be more substantial in low-quality ingredients, especially when nutrients are supplemented to compensate for the deficiency.

According to Hersom (2008), one of the intriguing aspects of employing dietary supplements to influence synchronization in animals is that a positive synchronistic response is more likely to occur in low-quality ingredients supplemented. In a number of experiments using mature cows, forage quality was an important factor for successful nutrient synchrony effects. Low quality forage with frequent supplementation tended to increase the positive effect of nutrient synchrony (Hersom, 2008) more than with high quality forages (Yang et al., 2010).

Besides the quality of ingredients and supplemented AA, feeding frequency is also known to affect nutrient synchrony (Chen, 2017; Hersom, 2008; 2009). We earlier speculated that a higher feeding frequency might reduce the postprandial asynchronous availability of nutrient (e.g., glucose and AAs). In addition, a high feeding frequency was expected to improve protein efficiency especially when the required level of methionine (chapter 3) is fed. This is because a low feeding frequency might induce a more pronounced postprandial fluctuation in nutrient availability due to a larger gap in the release of various forms of dietary nutrients in the GIT. Chen (2017) proposed that meal-feeding could increase the concentration of glucose and AAs in the plasma with a larger gap in-between postprandial availability of these nutrients. In contrast, they assumed that continuous feeding would allow a steady flow of nutrients in the GIT and a smaller postprandial increase in plasma glucose and AA concentrations. In this thesis, feeding frequency had no impact on protein utilization efficiency (chapter 5). This substantiate the earlier submission that asynchrony does not occur in African catfish and if it does, feeding frequency is not the responsible factor. Similar to our study, feeding frequency did not improve utilization efficiency of supplemental lysine and methionine in channel catfish and common carp respectively (Nwanna et al., 2012; Zarate et al., 1999). This is an indication that the efficiency of crystalline AA supplementation in some fish species is not hampered by nutrient asynchrony or feeding frequency. However, it might also be related to the use of high-quality protein sources in fish feeds leading to rapid digestion which reduces the time lag between the absorption of supplemented AA and the protein-bound AA. When synchronization is achieved, an increase in intake and digestibility is excepted (Haag, 2008). Indeed, increasing feeding frequency increased nutrient digestibility in African catfish but feeding 6 times a day did not improve the overall growth performance. This might be related to a number of factors; for example, multiple feeding can trigger increased activities among fish. Fish can be active throughout the day, unlike animals such as broilers whose feeding pattern can be influenced by lighting schedule (Savory, 1976; Weaver Jr and Siegel, 1968). Such increased activity might result in increased heat production (chapter 5), increased gill frequency (more oxygen needed), which may be the reason for the unpronounced effect on performance. In a study on grazing beef cows fed feed supplemented with cottonseed meal at various feeding frequencies (daily, three times a week, once a week), animals which received no cottonseed meal (the control group), lost more body weight and lower body condition score (BSC) than those that received cottonseed meal, however, considerably less variability was observed in weight and condition between the grazing cows that received the supplementation on a daily basis and those that received it less frequently (Haag, 2008). Although nutrient synchronization can be regulated by changing feedstuffs or nutrient supplementation, these strategies have some inherent drawbacks (Yang et al., 2010). The majority of experiments that have applied such methods have been unable to distinguish between the effects of synchronization and those induced by various properties of the individual feedstuffs. To reduce the impact of feedstuffs, different feeding frequencies or feeding pattern should be applied to form a contrast. Indeed, an altered feeding pattern would clearly reveal any change in metabolite since the same ingredients were used.

# 6.7 Factors responsible for the sub-optimal utilization of amino acids.

The sub-optimal utilization of AA in most fish may be due to other factors aside nutrient asynchrony. Leaching for example has been linked to nutrient loss even before the uptake of feed pellets by fish. This often happens when crystalline AA, which are susceptible to leaching are supplied to deficient diets. Zarate and Lovell (1997) reported a leaching loss of about 12% of crystalline lysine compared to a loss of 2% of protein-bound lysine, indicating that the crystalline form is significantly less efficient. However, this may be minimal in fast-eating fish like African catfish, which often rapidly (within 5min) consume their food (**this thesis**). Moreover, diets are sometimes coated to prevent nutrient leaching. For instance, the experimental diets used in **chapter 5** were sealed with palm oil to prevent the supplemented crystalline methionine from leaching. Encapsulation of the diet has also been suggested to be effective in preventing rapid leaching of free amino acids, especially in the GIT (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007).

Furthermore, the forms of ingredients used during feed formulation might contribute to sub-optimal utilization of amino acids. In other words, an optimum utilization of AA may be achieved by continuous feeding of the right synchronised diet, in terms of the ingredient's constituents (i.e., slow-slow digested nutrients or fast-fast digested nutrients). Amino acid supplementation may be more beneficial to fish fed diets containing quickly digested proteins than to fish provided diets containing proteins that are digested slowly. In the latter situation, amino acid supplements are likely absorbed too quickly. Purified amino acids are more likely to be effective if dietary protein is quickly digested. As a result, efficient usage of amino acid supplements in fish feeds may necessitate the consideration of the used ingredient. Despite the likely increase in cost, it may be sometimes better to formulate a diet with exclusively intact proteins. In other situations, a combination of intact proteins and purified amino acids may be appropriate, provided that the ingredient composition of the diet favours the efficient

utilization of amino acids from both sources (Ambardekar and Reigh, 2007). For instance, since hydrolysed protein ingredients (e.g., hydrolysed fishmeal) have been partially broken down, which is mostly accompanied by a more rapid evacuation in the stomach (**chapter 4**), it would be wise to use such ingredient as protein source, especially when supplementation of crystalline AA is required. Thereby, optimum utilization will be achieved. However, using both fast digestible sources (i.e., hydrolysed fishmeal and starch) or both slowly digestible source (i.e., fishmeal and fat) interchangeably did not substantiate this hypothesis in African catfish (chapter 4). The reason might be related to the feeding habit of the fish (omnivorous) whereby different forms of ingredients have little effect on the overall utilization. Similarly, no improvement was seen in both performance and breast muscle yield when broilers were fed both fast digestible sources (i.e., rice starch and soy protein isolate) or both slowly digestible source (i.e., pea starch and SBM) simultaneously. In contrast, Rotger et al. (2006) used a combination of two sources of unstructured carbohydrates (barley and corn) and two sources of protein (soybean meal and sunflower meal) in their experiment on beef cattle. The fast-synchronous diet (barley and sunflower meal) and the slow synchronous diet (corn and soybean meal) produced more microbial N production in vitro. Similarly, in sheep, Witt et al. (1999b) found that synchronous diets resulted in greater efficiency of microbial protein synthesis (MPS). However, another study performed by the same group (Witt et al., 1999a) found no improvement in MPS. In another study, Herrera-Saldana et al. (1990) found that a quick synchronized diet (high digestible energy and protein) exhibited better microbial N flow and microbial protein synthesis efficiency compared to an asynchronous diet in lactating cows. Kim et al. (1999) injected maltodextrin directly into the cannula and demonstrated that synchronous treatments improved MPS in cattle. Although we could not substantiate this hypothesis in our study, it would be wise to validate this proposition in other species of fish (i.e., different trophic levels) in future studies.

# 6.8 Kinetics of protein digestion

In current fish feed evaluation system, the nutritional value of protein sources is based on the faecal digestibility of nutrients. In pigs and poultry nutrition, dietary protein sources are evaluated based on digestible amino acids at the end of the ileum, as it has been suggested that faecal and ileal protein digestibility differ substantially among commonly used feed ingredients. It is believed that microbial fermentation of food protein in the hindgut does not considerably contribute to animal AA supply (Lemme et al., 2004; Ravindran et al., 2005; NRC, 2012). The latter form of evaluation is not carried in fish due to the belief that the action of microbes in the hind gut are negligible in fish, consequently, there will be little differences between ileal and faecal digestibility (Halver and Hardy, 2002). This explains why faecal digestibility studies are still common in fish nutrition. The first step in faecal digestibility measurements is the collection of faecal samples. In contrast to terrestrial animals, total faeces collection is challenging due to the significant risk of nutrients leaching into the water before the faeces are collected (Smith et al., 1980). Different approaches have been applied in faeces collection for digestibility studies, each with its own set of benefits and drawbacks (Cho et al., 1982; NRC, 2011; Windell et al., 1978). Still, none could prevent the unavoidable problem associated with nutrient leaching, due to the contact of faeces with water. Furthermore, many researchers, notably those working on farm animals, have expressed doubts regarding the accuracy of evaluating AA digestibility using faecal samples. The latter issue stemmed mostly from the possibility of significant alteration of undigested AA by microflora present in the hindgut. These bacteria would break a considerable amount of undigested AA, resulting in lower AA excretion and consequently overestimated AA digestibility values. Owing to the modification of AA excretion by the hindgut

microflora, Parsons (2020) suggested that faeces collection may not be a reliable way to measure AA digestibility. This consequently led to the shift to using ileal digestibility assay in farm animals (e.g., pig and poultry), since the last 10 to 15 years. Diet formulation based on the faecal nutrient digestibility of ingredients (as used for fish), only accounts for the total amount of dietary nutrients that was apparently digested and assumed to be absorbed along the GIT (Chen, 2017; NRC, 2011). This does not take into consideration the kinetics of nutrients digestion along the GIT, which could significantly affect the post-absorption metabolism of AAs originating from dietary protein.

Generally, the kinetics of dietary protein digestion is determined by the rate at which digesta passes through the GIT, which is dependent on the physicochemical properties (e.g., solubility, viscosity, water binding capacity) of the digesta (Chen, 2017). Understanding how ingredients change nutrient digestion and absorption rates along the GIT is critical for understanding the differences between the digestion matrix in the GIT and faecal digestibility. In African catfish, protein digestion begins in the stomach and continues throughout the digestive tract with the foregut having the highest protease activity (Uvs and Hecht, 1987). The release of pepsin and HCl in the stomach kicks off the digestive process, which is followed by the pancreas adding trypsin and chymotrypsin to the foregut. Crystalline amino acids do not require any of these proteases for digestion because they are already monopeptides, which are the simplest form of peptides. As such, monopeptides are readily available for absorption and are transported into the bloodstream via carriers in the basolateral membrane of the intestinal cells (Ballantyne, 2001). As the digestion process progresses, small peptides like di- and tripeptides are absorbed through active transcellular and paracellular transport (Verri et al., 2010). The final stage of dietary protein digestion occurs at the brush border membrane of the small intestinal mucosa (Erickson and Kim, 1990). Undigested dietary protein can be further fermented by the commensal microbiota in the hindgut. For instance, proteolytic fermentation mainly occurs in the colon of pigs and the caeca of poultry. The products of proteolytic fermentation include volatile fatty acids (VFAs) (an energy source for animals) and other metabolites.

Although in this study, the digestibility of nutrients in the GIT did not reflect faecal nutrient digestibility, the importance of studying digestion kinetics cannot be overlooked. Previous studies conducted on digestion kinetics in fish have mainly focused on non-protein energy sources (e.g., Harter et al., 2013 and Harter et al., 2015). Yet, the kinetics of protein digestion of feedstuffs used in fish feed formulation remains largely unknown. Hydrolysed protein is now often being used as a protein source in aquafeeds. In humans, protein hydrolysates resulted in a faster postprandial increase of plasma AAs than their non-hydrolyzed equivalents, which suggests a quicker absorption of AA in the GIT (Morifuji et al., 2010). In this thesis, the passage rate of the digesta of fish fed a hydrolyzed fishmeal diet was faster than in those fed fishmeal (chapter 5). Hydrolysed protein contains short peptides, which are more easily dissolved in water (Ballantyne, 2001). In addition, and similar to the situation with crystalline amino acids, the peptidases released in the stomach are no longer required to first hydrolyse the longer peptides during digestion (Ballantyne, 2001; Uys and Hecht, 1987). Consequently, the fishmeal hydrolysate will display higher solubility, which aids quicker evacuation from the stomach (chapter 5). This implies that the dietary macronutrient composition can alter the postprandial protein digestion along the GIT (chapter 5) and as the passage rate is not equal among different AA sources and thus ingredients, it may affect the faecal digestibility data. Information on the digestion kinetics of new and emerging protein sources can be used to advance the concept of synchronizing the dietary supply of energy and protein (Chen, 2017), which could help improve protein retention and utilization efficiency in fish.

Analogue to pigs and poultry, where in the distal part of the GIT, microbial fermentation can lead to a misinterpretation of AA profile, there are no data of such occurrences in fish. Particularly, no information is available on whether fermentation influences the AA pattern in the hind gut of fish and whether this may hamper the proper estimation of AAs that are available for growth. Future research should focus on the location of protein digestion in the GIT and also elucidate the relevance of protein/amino acids fermentation in fish.

# 6.9 Implications of the research

With the fast-growing global population, providing a sustainable and steady supply of fish has become a huge challenge (World Bank, 2013). It is expected that the growing demand for fish will be primarily met through aquaculture. In 2016, aquaculture supplied approximately 47% of the global fish market. with Asia accounting for about 89% over the last 20 years. During this period, Africa made only a minor contribution of 2.5% in general and 0.9% for low-income food-deficient countries (FAO. 2018) despite its inherent potential. Yet, in the coming decades, the population growth in Africa will be the highest in the world (Asongu, 2013). As a result, there is a large imbalance between the demand and supply for fish, as local fish production remains marginal with low yields in most African countries. The two main identified factors are the scarcity of high-quality fish seeds and inadequate least-cost fish feeds (Adeleke et al., 2020; Changadeva et al., 2003; Gabriel et al., 2007). African catfish (Clarias gariepinus) is one of the most widely produced aquaculture species on the African continent, due to its productive ability and high market value. Nigeria is the African country with the second-highest aquaculture production, with African catfish being the most popular cultured species (Ekaitz Maguregui, 2021). The aquaculture production system in Africa has drastically shifted from extensive farming, where feed is less required, to a semi-intensive or intensive farming system, where feed is one of the most important productive components. In the intensive production of African catfish, the cost of feed is particularly relevant and often associated with the need to provide feed with high protein content for fish, in order to achieve high performance. This is because the majority of farmers in Africa heavily rely on imported fish feed from external markets (mostly European countries). In Nigeria, for example, an estimated 4,000 tons of high-quality fish feed are imported per year (AIFP, 2004). This is due to the low numbers of companies specifically dedicated to aquafeed production. This reliance results in huge price instability, which is difficult for producers to sustain, given that feed accounts for about 75 to 80% of the overall cost of production (Ekaitz Maguregui, 2021).

One of the underdeveloped aquaculture sectors is fish feed technology, especially in Africa and other developing countries around the world (FAO, 2003). Hecht (2000) pointed out that research on the use of least-cost ingredients for aquafeed formulation has not significantly contributed to aquaculture development in Africa. He proposed that more research be carried out in this area, such as the use of plant protein in fish diet. Siluriformes, like other aquaculture species, require a high protein content in their diet. For African catfish, the protein requirement is around 37%. Initially, a high percentage of fishmeal was included in the feed to cover this high dietary demand for protein. Currently, there is a growing trend towards substituting fishmeal with plant-based protein sources (Ekaitz Maguregui, 2021). Amino acids profile in ingredients are well documented for commonly used ingredients in fish feeds but for many fish species, information on the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of AA are still lacking at the ingredient level. Currently, no reliable information is available on the amino acid digestibility of ingredients in African catfish, so also the amino acids requirement has not been extensively researched. One of the main aims of this thesis was to investigate the AA profile of common

ingredients used in aquafeed production and specifically in the diet of African catfish (**chapter 2**). It is critical to ensure that animal feed is properly digested and absorbed for farms to remain viable (Ekaitz Maguregui, 2021). This thesis highlighted the digestibility of these ingredients in African catfish in line with the goals of replacing conventional feedstuffs with novel ingredients. Furthermore, novel ingredient such as insect meal was shown to display similar performance as fishmeal in this study (**chapter 2**). Overall, the current research exposes how well African catfish can utilize locally available ingredients without reducing the quality. In addition, the methionine requirement of African catfish was investigated (**chapter 3**). Knowledge of this will enable local nutritionists to formulate diets based on nutritional requirements. Such information is crucial to the success of aquaculture development, growth and expansion in Africa.

Discovering feeding strategies that might help to decrease the loss of nutrients from feeds to waste is a strategic way of providing solutions that can reduce the environmental footprint left by the aquaculture sector. Therefore, there is a need to establish the effect of feeding times on feed management, nutrient utilization and growth rate of fish (Aderolu et al., 2010). Several authors have suggested that feeding twice or three times per day is sufficient for the optimum growth of African catfish (Aderolu et al., 2010; Eyo and Ekanem, 2011; Marimuthu and Muralikrishnan S, 2010). In this study, African catfish fed two times per day displayed the lowest nutrient digestibility (**chapter 5**). This implies that feeding more frequently than twice per day is optimal for good digestibility. This information is useful biologically and economically for the aquaculture industry by improving our understanding of the right husbandry methods for optimum utilization of nutrients in fish.

# 6.10 Recommendations for science and practice

Provided that a diet is formulated based on the digestible AA, then accurate values for all digestible AA requirements are needed. Beyond methionine, we recommend that more digestible AA requirement data for African catfish and other commonly cultured species are investigated. Especially data on digestible lysine, sulfur AAs, threonine, and other essential amino acids are needed. Additional data on the requirements for all developmental stages of fish should also be assessed since studies on other animals (e.g., birds) have revealed that age can influence the AA digestibility of ingredients (Parsons, 2020). In both broiler chickens and turkey poults, AA digestibility was seen to be lower at very young ages and increases with increasing age. These improvements in protein evaluation could be an important step towards a more precise practical feeding of fish according to their actual requirements for digestible amino acids. However, nutrient evaluation goes beyond assessing the digestibility of ingredients but also utilization efficiency. In the context of the method of protein evaluation proposed in this thesis, we recommend further investigations to validate the concept of nutrient synchrony in other fish species. Furthermore, in case this concept would prove to be invalid for African catfish (omnivorous fish), it still could be of importance to fish in other trophic levels (e.g., carnivorous fish). Furthermore, since low-quality ingredients like plant proteins are increasingly used, this hypothesized concept might still be relevant to fish that naturally eat diets of lower quality (i.e., herbivorous fish). Finally, nutrient digestibility studies in fish should go beyond only faecal measurement and include digesta examination.

# 6.11 General conclusion

The main conclusions drawn from the different studies carried out in this thesis, are:

- Within ingredients, the digestibility coefficients are not equal for the different amino acids.
- This variability in digestibility between amino acids is larger in low-quality ingredients compared to high-quality ingredients when using crude protein digestibility as a quality indicator.
- Crude protein digestibility values of ingredients can be used as a predictor for the digestibility of their total sum of amino acids.
- Individual amino acids digestibility coefficients can be predicted from the sum of amino acids digestibility in ingredients.
- Across fish species, the digestibility of the amino acids, arginine, methionine, glutamic acid and phenylalanine decreases less strongly compared to the digestibility of SAA when the protein quality of an ingredient declines. In contrast, the digestibility of valine, glycine, aspartic acid, proline and cysteine have a stronger decline compared to the digestibility of SAA when the protein quality declines.
- The impact of feeding level on macronutrient digestibility in African catfish is ingredientdependent.
- The choice of the mathematical model used in studies to estimate nutrient requirement can impact requirement estimates, for instance, quadratic regression can lead to an overestimation of nutrient requirements.
- Based on the linear plateau model, the digestible methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish ranges between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg per unit of digestible protein, depending on the response criterion.
- In African catfish, the protein utilization efficiency of digested protein is not influenced by feeding frequency.
- Ingredient macronutrient composition can alter the kinetics of nutrient digestion. Changing dietary fat by starch alters the intestinal location of protein digestion in African catfish.
- Hydrolysation of protein (e.g., fishmeal) increases the stomach evacuation rate of protein.
- In this thesis, no proof was found for the existence of nutrient asynchrony in African catfish.

6



# Appendices

References

# 128 | Appendices

- Abimorad, E.G., Squassoni, G.H., Carneiro, D.J., 2008. Apparent digestibility of protein, energy, and amino acids in some selected feed ingredients for pacu *Piaractus mesopotamicus*. Aquaculture Nutrition. 14, 374-380.
- Adeleke, B., Robertson-Andersson, D., Moodley, G., Taylor, S., 2021. Aquaculture in Africa: A Comparative Review of Egypt, Nigeria. and Uganda Vis-À-Vis South Africa. *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture*. 29, 167-197.
- Aderolu, A., Seriki, B., Apatira, A., Ajaegbo, C., 2010. Effects of feeding frequency on growth, feed efficiency and economic viability of rearing African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*, Burchell 1822) fingerlings and juveniles. *African Journal of Food Science*. 4, 286-290.
- Adéyèmi, A.D., Kayodé, A.P.P., Chabi, I.B., Odouaro, O.B.O., Nout, M.J., Linnemann, A.R., 2020. Screening local feed ingredients of Benin, West Africa, for fish feed formulation. *Aquaculture Reports*. 17, 100386.
- Ahmed, I., 2014. Dietary amino acid L-methionine requirement of fingerling Indian catfish, *Heteropneustes fossilis* (Bloch-1974) estimated by growth and haemato-biochemical parameters. *Aquaculture Research*. 45, 243-258.
- Ahmed, I., Khan, M.A., Jafri, A.K., 2003. Dietary methionine requirement of fingerling Indian major carp, *Cirrhinus mrigala* (Hamilton). *Aquaculture International.* 11, 449-462.
- AIFP, 2004. Inventory of feed producers in Nigeria. Published by Aquaculture and Inland Fisheries Project. Annex II of the National Special Program for Food Security with the Agriculture Development Program in all states and FCT Abuja, Nigeria. 1-8.
- Al-Hafedh, Y.S., Alam, A., 2013. Replacement of fishmeal by single cell protein derived from yeast grown on date (Phoenix dactylifera) industry waste in the diet of Nile Tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fingerlings. *Journal of Applied Aquaculture*. 25, 346-358.
- Alam, M.S., Teshima, S.-I., Ishikawa, M., Koshio, S., 2000. Methionine Requirement of Juvenile Japanese Flounder Paralichthys olivaceus. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 31, 618-626.
- Allan, G.L., Parkinson, S., Booth, M.A., Stone, D.A.J., Rowland, S.J., Frances, J., Warner-Smith, R., 2000. Replacement of fish meal in diets for Australian silver perch, *Bidyanus bidyanus*: I. Digestibility of alternative ingredients. *Aquaculture*. 186, 293-310.
- Amadou, L.M., Farokh, N., Robane, F., Cheikh, B., 2019. Feeding frequency effect on growth, body composition, feed utilization and ammonia excretion of juvenile grouper *Epinephelus coioides*. International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Studies. 7(1), 116-121.
- Ambardekar, A.A., Reigh, R.C., 2007. Sources and Utilization of Amino Acids in Channel Catfish Diets: A Review. North American Journal of Aquaculture. 69, 174-179.
- Amezcua, C.M., Parsons, C.M., 2007. Effect of Increased Heat Processing and Particle Size on Phosphorus Bioavailability in Corn Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles. *Poultry Science*. 86, 331-337.
- Amirkolaie, A.K., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006a. Effect of gelatinization degree and inclusion level of dietary starch on the characteristics of digesta and faeces in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* (L.)). Aquaculture. 260, 194-205.
- Amirkolaie, A.K., Verreth, J.A., Schrama, J.W., 2006b. Effect of gelatinization degree and inclusion level of dietary starch on the characteristics of digesta and faeces in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* (L.)). Aquaculture. 260, 194-205.
- Anderson, J.S., Lall, S.P., Anderson, D.M., Chandrasoma, J., 1992. Apparent and true availability of amino acids from common feed ingredients for Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) reared in sea water. *Aquaculture*. 108, 111-124.
- Asongu, S.A., 2013. How would population growth affect investment in the future? Asymmetric panel causality evidence for Africa. African Development Review. 25, 14-29.

#### В

- Baker, D.H., 1986. Problems and pitfalls in animal experiments designed to establish dietary requirements for essential nutrients. *The Journal of nutrition*. 116, 2339-2349.
- Ballantyne, J., 2001. Amino acid metabolism. Fish physiology. 20, 77-107.
- Barroso, J.B., Peragon, J., Garcia-Salguero, L., de la Higuera, M., Lupianez, J.A., 1999. Variations in the kinetic behaviour of the NADPH-production systems in different tissues of the trout when fed on an amino-acid-based diet at different frequencies. Int J Biochem Cell B. 31, 277-290.
- Basçinar, N., Okumus, I., Basçinar, N.S., Saglam, H.E., 2001. The influence of daily feeding frequency on growth and feed consumption of rainbow trout fingerlings (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) reared at 18.5-22.5 C. Israeli Journal of Aquaculture–Bamidgeh. 53, 80-83.
- Basto, A., Matos, E., Valente, L.M.P., 2020. Nutritional value of different insect larvae meals as protein sources for European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) juveniles. *Aquaculture*. 521, 735085.
- Batterham, E., 1974. The effect of frequency of feeding on the utilization of free lysine by growing pigs. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 31, 237-242.
- Batterham, E.S., 1992. Availability and utilization of amino acids for growing pigs. Nutrition research reviews. 5, 1-18.
- Belal, I., 1999. Replacing dietary corn with barley seeds in Nile tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus (L.), feed. Aquaculture Research. 30, 265-269.
- Boisen, S., 1983. Protease inhibitors in cereals: occurrence, properties, physiological role, and nutritional influence. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica. 33, 369-381.

- Boisen, S., Fernández, J.A., 1995. Prediction of the apparent ileal digestibility of protein and amino acids in feedstuffs and feed mixtures for pigs by in vitro analyses. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*. 51, 29-43.
- Boye, J., Wijesinha-Bettoni, R., Burlingame, B., 2012. Protein quality evaluation twenty years after the introduction of the protein digestibility corrected amino acid score method. *The British journal of nutrition*. 108 Suppl 2, S183-211.
- Brosnan, J.T., Brosnan, M.E., 2006. The sulfur-containing amino acids: an overview. The Journal of nutrition. 136, 1636S-1640S.
- Bruton, M., 1979. The food and feeding behaviour of Clarias gariepinus (Pisces: Clariidae) in Lake Sibaya, South Africa, with emphasis on its role as a predator of cichlids. The Transactions of the Zoological Society of London. 35, 47-114.

Bucking, C., Wood, C.M., 2006. Water dynamics in the digestive tract of the freshwater rainbow trout during the processing of a single meal. *Journal of Experimental Biology*. 209, 1883-1893.

- Bureau, D., De La Nouee, J., Jaruratjamorn, P., 1995. Effect of dietary incorporation of crop residues on growth, mortality and feed conversion ratio of the African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell). *Aquaculture Research*. 26, 351-360.
- Bureau, D.P., Kaushik, S.J., Cho, C.Y., 2003. Bioenergetics, Fish Nutrition. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 1-59.

# С

- Cahu, C., Infante, J.Z., Quazuguel, P., Le Gall, M., 1999. Protein hydrolysate vs. fish meal in compound diets for 10-day old sea bass Dicentrarchus labrax larvae. Aquaculture. 171, 109-119.
- Cai, Y., Burtle, G.J., 1996. Methionine requirement of channel catfish fed soybean meal-corn-based diets. J Anim Sci. 74, 514-521.
- Campos, I., Matos, E., Aragão, C., Pintado, M., Valente, L., 2018. Apparent digestibility coefficients of processed agro-food byproducts in European seabass (*Dicentrarchus labrax*) juveniles. Aquaculture Nutrition. 24, 1274-1286.
- Chalamaiah, M., Dinesh kumar, B., Hemalatha, R., Jyothirmayi, T., 2012. Fish protein hydrolysates: Proximate composition, amino acid composition, antioxidant activities and applications: A review. *Food Chemistry*. 135, 3020-3038.
- Changadeya, W., Malekano, L., Ambali, A., 2003. Potential of genetics for aquaculture development in Africa.

Charles, P.M., Sebastian, S.M., Raj, M.C.V., Marian, M.P., 1984. Effect of feeding frequency on growth and food conversion of *Cyprinus carpio* fry. *Aquaculture*. 40, 293-300.

- Che, J., Su, B., Tang, B., Bu, X., Li, J., Lin, Y., Yang, Y., Ge, X., 2017. Apparent digestibility coefficients of animal and plant feed ingredients for juvenile *Pseudobagrus ussuriensis*. Aquaculture Nutrition. 23, 1128-1135.
- Chen, H., 2017. Protein digestion kinetics in pigs and poultry. PhD thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands. 9-76.
- Cheng, Z.J.J., Hardy, R.W., 2002. Apparent digestibility coefficients and nutritional value of cottonseed meal for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture. 212, 361-372.
- Chi, S., He, Y., Zhu, Y., Tan, B., Dong, X., Yang, Q., Liu, H., Zhang, S., 2020. Dietary methionine affects growth and the expression of key genes involved in hepatic lipogenesis and glucose metabolism in cobia (*Rachycentron canadum*). *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 26, 123-133.
- Cho, C., 1985. Effects of protein intake on metabolisable and net energy values of fish diets. *Nutrition and feeding of fish*, Academic Press, London, 95-117.
- Cho, C.Y., Kaushik, S.J., 1990. Nutritional energetics in fish: energy and protein utilization in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). *World Rev Nutr Diet*. 61, 132-172.
- Cho, C.Y., Bureau, D.P., 1997. Reduction of waste output from salmonid aquaculture through feeds and feeding. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist.* 59, 155-160.
- Cho, C.Y., Slinger, S.J., Bayley, H.S., 1982. Bioenergetics of salmonid fishes: Energy intake, expenditure and productivity. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: *Comparative Biochemistry*. 73, 25-41.

Choo, P.S., Smith, T.K., Cho, C.Y., Ferguson, H.W., 1991. Dietary excesses of leucine influence growth and body composition of rainbow trout. *The Journal of nutrition*. 121, 1932-1939.

- Cole, N., Todd, R., 2008. Opportunities to enhance performance and efficiency through nutrient synchrony in concentratefed ruminants. *Journal of Animal Science*. 86, E318-E333.
- Coloso, R.M., Murillo-Gurrea, D., Borlongan, I.G., Catacutan, M.R., 1999. Sulphur amino acid requirement of juvenile Asian sea bass *Lates calcarifer. Journal of Applied Ichthyology*. 15, 54-58.
- Council, E., 2009. Commission Regulations (EC) No 152/2009 of 27 January 2009 laying down the methods of sampling and analysis for the official control of feed. Off. J. Eur. Comm., 26 February 2009, L54: 1. 130.
- Couto, A., Peres, H., Oliva-Teles, A., Enes, P., 2016. Screening of nutrient digestibility, glycaemic response and gut morphology alterations in gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*) fed whole cereal meals. *Aquaculture*. 450, 31-37.
- Cowey, C., Sargent, J., Hoar, W., Randall, D., Brett, J., 1979. Bioenergetics and growth, Fish Physiology, VIII. Academic Press New York. 1-69.
- Cowey, C.B., 1994. Amino-Acid-Requirements of Fish a Critical-Appraisal of Present Values. Aquaculture. 124, 1-11.
- Craigh, S., Helfrich, L., 2002. Understanding Fish Nutrition, Feeds, and Feeding, Viginia Coperative Extension Service. Publication. 1-18.

# D

Dam, C.T.M., Elizur, A., Ventura, T., Salini, M., Smullen, R., Pirozzi, I., Booth, M., 2019. Apparent digestibility of raw materials by yellowtail kingfish (*Seriola lalandi*). Aquaculture. 511, 734233.

- Dauda, A.B., Natrah, I., Karim, M., Kamarudin, M.S., Bichi, A., 2018. African catfish aquaculture in Malaysia and Nigeria: Status, trends and prospects. *Fisheries and Aquaculture Journal*. 9, 1-5.
- Davies, O., Ezenwa, N., 2010. Groundnut cake as alternative protein source in the diet of *Clarias gariepinus* fry. *International Journal of Science and Nature*. 1, 73-76.
- Davies, S.J., Gouveia, A., Laporte, J., Woodgate, S.L., Nates, S., 2009. Nutrient digestibility profile of premium (category III grade) animal protein by-products for temperate marine fish species (European sea bass, gilthead sea bream and turbot). Aquaculture Research. 40, 1759-1769.
- De la Higuera, M., Garzón, A., Hidalgo, M., Peragón, J., Cardenete, G., Lupiáñez, J., 1998. Influence of temperature and dietaryprotein supplementation either with free or coated lysine on the fractional protein-turnover rates in the white muscle of carp. *Fish physiology and biochemistry*. 18, 85-95.
- dos Santos Cardoso, M., Godoy, A.C., Oxford, J.H., Rodrigues, R., dos Santos Cardoso, M., Bittencourt, F., Signor, A., Boscolo, W.R., Feiden, A., 2020. Apparent digestibility of protein hydrolysates from chicken and swine slaughter residues for Nile tilapia. Aquaculture. 530, 735720.
- Dougall, D.S., Woods III, L.C., Douglass, L.W., Soares, J.H., 1996. Dietary Phosphorus Requirement of Juvenile Striped Bass Morone saxatilis 1. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 27, 82-91.

# Ε

- Ei, S.N., Kavas, A., 1996. Determination of protein quality of rainbow trout (*Salmo irideus*) by in vitro protein digestibility corrected amino acid score (PDCAAS). *Food Chemistry*. 55, 221-223.
- Ekaitz Maguregui, 2021. African Catfish: problems related to feeding Natural solutions to improve gut health in African Catfish. (online) <u>https://www.veterinariadigital.com/en/articulos/african-catfish-problems-related-to-feeding/</u> (Accessed 13 September 2021).
- Elesho, F., Sutter, D., Swinkels, M., Verreth, J., Kröckel, S., Schrama, J., 2021. Quantifying methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture. 532, 736020.
- Elmada, C.Z., Huang, W., Jin, M., Liang, X., Mai, K., Zhou, Q., 2016. The effect of dietary methionine on growth, antioxidant capacity, innate immune response and disease resistance of juvenile yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*). Aquaculture Nutrition. 22, 1163-1173.
- Englyst, K.N., Englyst, H.N., 2005. Carbohydrate bioavailability. British Journal of Nutrition. 94, 1-11.
- Erickson, R.H., Kim, Y.S., 1990. Digestion and absorption of dietary protein. Annual review of medicine. 41, 133-139.
- Eryalçin, K.M., Torrecillas, S., Caballero, M.J., Hernandez-Cruz, C.M., Sweetman, J., Izquierdo, M., 2017. Effects of dietary mannan oligosaccharides in early weaning diets on growth, survival, fatty acid composition and gut morphology of gilthead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*, L.) larvae. *Aquaculture Research*. 48, 5041-5052.
- Espe, M., Lied, E., 1994. Do Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) utilize mixtures of free amino acids to the same extent as intact protein sources for muscle protein synthesis? Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: *Physiology*. 107, 249-254.
- Espe, M., Lied, E., Torrissen, K.R., 1993. Changes in plasma and muscle free amino acids in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar) during absorption of diets containing different amounts of hydrolysed cod muscle protein. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology. 105, 555-562.
- Espe, M., Hevroy, E.M., Liaset, B., Lemme, A., El-Mowafi, A., 2008. Methionine intake affect hepatic sulphur metabolism in Atlantic salmon, *Salmo salar*. Aquaculture. 274, 132-141.
- Eyo, A., 2003. Fundamentals of fish nutrition and diet development: An overview proceeding of the national workshop on fish feed Development and Feeding practices In Aquaculture. FISON/NIFFR/FAO/NSPFS. 1-33.
- Eyo, V., Ekanem, A., 2011. Effect of feeding frequency on the growth, food utilization and survival of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) using locally formulated diet. *African Journal of Environmental Pollution and Health*. 9, 11-17.

#### F

- Fagbenro, O., 1996. Apparent digestibility of crude protein and gross energy in some plant and animal-based feedstuffs by *Clarias isheriensis* (Siluriformes: Clariidae) (Sydenham 1980). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*. 12, 67-68.
- Fagbenro, O.A., Balogun, A.M., Fasakin, E.A., 1999. Dietary methionine requirement of the African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*. Journal of Applied Aquaculture. 8, 47-54.
- Fagbenro, O.A., 1998. Short Communication Apparent digestibility of various oilseed cakes/meals in African catfish diets. Aquaculture International. 6, 317-322.
- Fagbenro, O.A., Balogun, A.M., Fasakin, E.A., 1999b. Dietary Methionine Requirement of the African Catfish, Clarias
- FAO, 2003. Fisheries statistics <u>http://www.fao.org</u>.
- FAO, 2017. North African catfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell, 1822) [Clariidae]. FAO technical report http://www.fao.org/fishery/affris/species-profiles/north-african-catfish/north-african-catfish-home/en/.
- FAO, 2018. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2018 Meeting the sustainable development goals. United Nations, Rome.
- FAO, 2020. The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture (SOFIA). FAO 200, 244.

#### 132 | Appendices

- Figueiredo-Silva, C., Lemme, A., Sangsue, D., Kiriratnikom, S., 2015. Effect of DL-methionine supplementation on the success of almost total replacement of fish meal with soybean meal in diets for hybrid tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* × *Oreochromis mossambicus*). Aquaculture Nutrition. 21, 234-241.
- Fontagné-Dicharry, S., Alami-Durante, H., Aragão, C., Kaushik, S.J., Geurden, I., 2017. Parental and early-feeding effects of dietary methionine in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture. 469, 16-27.
- Fontes, T.V., de Oliveira, K.R.B., Gomes Almeida, I.L., Maria Orlando, T., Rodrigues, P.B., Costa, D.V.d., 2019. Digestibility of insect meals for nile tilapia fingerlings. *Animals*. 9(4), 181.
- Fornshell, G., Sealey, W.M., Carolyn Ross, Myrick, C.A., Gaylord, T.G., Barrows, F.T., 2016. Evaluating Ingredients for Aquafeeds: Alternative Proteins for Trout Feeds United States Department of Agriculture, National Institute of Food and Agriculture, Western Regional Aquaculture Center. (online) <u>https://depts.washington.edu/wracuw/front%20page/Aquafeeds.2016 Web version.pdf</u> (Accessed 11 March 2020).
- Francis, G., Makkar, H.P., Becker, K., 2001. Antinutritional factors present in plant-derived alternate fish feed ingredients and their effects in fish. *Aquaculture*. 199, 197-227.
- Furuya, W., Hayashi, C., Botaro, D., Neves, P., Silva, L., Furuya, V., 2001a. Nutritional requirements of total and digestible methionine+ cystine for reversed fingerling of Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus*, based on the ideal protein concept. Acta Scientiarum. 23, 885-889.
- Furuya, W.M., Pezzato, L.E., Pezzato, A.C., Barros, M.M., Miranda, E.C.d., 2001b. Digestibility coefficients and digestible amino acids values of some ingredients for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia*. 30, 1143-1149.

# G

- Gabriel, U.U., Akinrotimi, O.A., Bekibele, D.O., Onunkwo, D.N., Anyanwu, P.E., 2007. Locally produced fish feed: potentials for aquaculture development in subsaharan Africa. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*. 2, 287-295.
- Gasco, L., Belforti, M., Rotolo, L., Lussiana, C., Parisi, G., Terova, G., Roncarati, A., Gai, F., 2014. Mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor*) as a potential ingredient in practical diets for rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), Abstract book Conference "Insects to Feed The World" The Netherlands. 14-17.
- Gatlin, D.M., Barrows, F.T., Brown, P., Dabrowski, K., Gaylord, T.G., Hardy, R.W., Herman, E., Hu, G., Krogdahl, Å., Nelson, R., Overturf, K., Rust, M., Sealey, W., Skonberg, D., J Souza, E., Stone, D., Wilson, R., Wurtele, E., 2007. Expanding the utilization of sustainable plant products in aquafeeds: a review. *Aquaculture Research*. 38, 551-579.
- Gause, B., Trushenski, J., 2011. Replacement of fish meal with ethanol yeast in the diets of sunshine bass. North American Journal of Aquaculture. 73, 97-103.
- Gaylord, T., Rawles, S., Gatlin III, D., 2004. Amino acid availability from animal, blended, and plant feedstuffs for hybrid striped bass (*Morone chrysops × M. saxatilis*). Aquaculture Nutrition. 10, 345-352.
- Gerrits, W.J.J., Schrama, J.W., Tamminga, S., 1998. The marginal efficiency of utilization of all ileal digestible indispensable amino acids for protein gain is lower than 30% in preruminant calves between 80 and 240 kg live weight. *Journal of Nutrition*. 128, 1774-1785.
- Ghosh, K., Ray, A.K., Ringø, E., 2019. Applications of plant ingredients for tropical and subtropical freshwater finfish: possibilities and challenges. *Reviews in Aquaculture*. 11, 793-815.
- Glencross, B., Blyth, D., Cheers, S., Bourne, N., Wade, N., Irvin, S., 2017. A compendium of raw material digestibilities for barramundi, *Lates calcarifer. Aquaculture Nutrition.* 23, 1055-1064.
- Glencross, B.D., 2020. A feed is still only as good as its ingredients: An update on the nutritional research strategies for the optimal evaluation of ingredients for aquaculture feeds. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 26, 1871-1883.
- Glencross, B.D., Booth, M., Allan, G.L., 2007. A feed is only as good as its ingredients–a review of ingredient evaluation strategies for aquaculture feeds. Aquaculture nutrition. 13, 17-34.
- Goda, A., El-Haroun, E., Kabir Chowdhury, M., 2007. Effect of totally or partially replacing fish meal by alternative protein sources on growth of African catfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell, 1822) reared in concrete tanks. *Aquaculture Research*. 38, 279-287.
- Goelema, J.O., Spreeuwenberg, M.A.M., Hof, G., van der Poel, A.F.B., Tamminga, S., 1998. Effect of pressure toasting on the rumen degradability and intestinal digestibility of whole and broken peas, lupins and faba beans and a mixture of these feedstuffs. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*. 76, 35-50.
- Gomes, E.F., Rema, P., Kaushik, S.J., 1995. Replacement of Fish-Meal by Plant-Proteins in the Diet of Rainbow-Trout (*Oncorhynchus-Mykiss*) Digestibility and Growth-Performance. *Aquaculture*. 130, 177-186.
- Gonçalves, M., Bello, N.M., Dritz, S.S., Tokach, M.D., DeRouchey, J.M., Woodworth, J.C., Goodband, R.D., 2016. An update on modeling dose–response relationships: Accounting for correlated data structure and heterogeneous error variance in linear and nonlinear mixed models. *Journal of animal science*. 94, 1940-1950.
- Gorissen, S.H., Horstman, A.M., Franssen, R., Crombag, J.J., Langer, H., Bierau, J., Respondek, F., van Loon, L.J., 2016. The anabolic properties of wheat protein (hydrolysate) compared to casein and whey protein: a randomized trial. Dietary factors modulating postprandial protein handling. 77-101.
- Grosell, M., O'donnell, M., Wood, C., 2000. Hepatic versus gallbladder bile composition: in vivo transport physiology of the gallbladder in rainbow trout. American Journal of Physiology-Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology. 278, R1674-R1684.

- Gui, D., Liu, W., Shao, X., Xu, W., 2010. Effects of different dietary levels of cottonseed meal protein hydrolysate on growth, digestibility, body composition and serum biochemical indices in crucian carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*). Animal Feed Science and Technology. 156, 112-120.
- н
- Haag, E., 2008. Synchronize Nutrients In an era fraught with change, it takes more than one approach to realize the potential of an industry in transition. *Angus.* 253. (online) http://www.angusjournal.com/articlePDF/synchronizenutrients.pdf (*Accessed 01 April 2019*)
- Haidar, M.N., Petie, M., Heinsbroek, L.T.N., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2016. The effect of type of carbohydrate (starch vs. nonstarch polysaccharides) on nutrients digestibility, energy retention and maintenance requirements in Nile tilapia. Aquaculture. 463, 241-247.
- Halver, J.E., Hardy, R.W., 2002. Fish nutrition. Academic Press.
- Harding, D.E., Allen, O.W., Jr., Wilson, R.P., 1977. Sulfur amino acid requirement of channel catfish: L-methionine and Lcystine. The Journal of nutrition. 107, 2031-2035.
- Hardy, R.W., 2010. Utilization of plant proteins in fish diets: effects of global demand and supplies of fishmeal. Aquaculture Research. 41, 770-776.
- Harter, T., Heinsbroek, L., Schrama, J., 2015. The source of dietary non-protein energy affects in vivo protein digestion in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture Nutrition. 21, 569-577.
- Harter, T.S., Verreth, J.A., Heinsbroek, L.T., Schrama, J.W., 2013. Isoenergetic replacement of fat by starch in diets for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*): effect on water fluxes in the gastro intestinal tract. *PloS one*. 8 (1), e55245.
- Hecht, T., 2000. Considerations on African aquaculture. World Aquaculture-Baton Rouge-. 31, 12-19.
- Hendriks, W.H., van Baal, J., Bosch, G., 2012. Ileal and faecal protein digestibility measurement in humans and other nonruminants - a comparative species view. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 108, S247-S257.
- Henken, A.M., Kleingeld, D.W., Tijssen, P.A.T., 1985. The Effect of Feeding Level on Apparent Digestibility of Dietary Dry-Matter, Crude Protein and Gross Energy in the African Catfish *Clarias-Gariepinus* (Burchell, 1822). *Aquaculture*. 51, 1-11.
- Hermesch, S., Egbert, K., Eissen, J., 1998. Description of a growth model: The linear-plateau model. AGBU, Wageningen Agricultural University, Animal Breeding and Genetics Group, Wageningen, The Netherlands. 1-9.
- Herrera-Saldana, R., Gomez-Alarcon, R., Torabi, M., Huber, J., 1990. Influence of synchronizing protein and starch degradation in the rumen on nutrient utilization and microbial protein synthesis. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 73, 142-148.
- Hersom, M., 2008. Can nutrient synchrony affect performance of forage-fed cattle, Florida Ruminant Nutrition Symposium. Florida. Citeseer. 29-30.
- Hersom, M., 2009. Nutrient Synchrony in Forage-Fed Cattle, 30 th Western Nutrition Conference, pp. 168.
- Hilton, J.W., Slinger, S.J., 1983. Effect of wheat bran replacement of wheat middlings in extrusion processed (floating) diets on the growth of juvenile rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). *Aquaculture*. 35, 201-210.
- Huebner, J.D., Langton, R.W., 1982. Rate of gastric evacuation for winter flounder, *Pseudopleuronectes americanus. Canadian* Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences. 39, 356-360.

#### I

- Imtiaz, A., 2018. Effects of feeding levels on growth performance, feed utilization, body composition, energy and protein maintenance requirement of fingerling, rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum 1792). *Iran J Fish Sci.* 17, 745-762.
- In, M.-J., Kim, D.C., Chae, H.J., 2005. Downstream process for the production of yeast extract using brewer's yeast cells. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering. 10, 85.

## J

- Jackson, A., Capper, B., 1982. Investigations into the requirements of the tilapia Sarotherodon mossambicus for dietary methionine, lysine and arginine in semi-synthetic diets. Aquaculture. 29, 289-297.
- Jiang, H., Bian, F., Zhou, H., Wang, X., Wang, K., Mai, K., He, G., 2017. Nutrient sensing and metabolic changes after methionine deprivation in primary muscle cells of turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus* L.). J Nutr Biochem. 50, 74-82.
- Jiang, J., Shi, D., Zhou, X.Q., Feng, L., Liu, Y., Jiang, W.D., Wu, P., Tang, L., Wang, Y., Zhao, Y., 2016. Effects of lysine and methionine supplementation on growth, body composition and digestive function of grass carp (C tenopharyngodon idella) fed plant protein diets using high-level canola meal. Aquaculture Nutrition. 22, 1126-1133.
- Jobling, M., 1982. Some Observations on the Effects of Feeding Frequency on the Food-Intake and Growth of Plaice, Pleuronectes-Platessa L. Journal of Fish Biology. 20, 431-444.

# Κ

- Kabir, K., Schrama, J., Verreth, J., Phillips, M., Verdegem, M., 2019. Effect of dietary protein to energy ratio on performance of nile tilapia and food web enhancement in semi-intensive pond aquaculture. *Aquaculture*. 499, 235-242.
- Kangsen, M., Aijie, L., Zuofen, Y., 1988. Studies on the absorption and utilization of amino acids in the test diets by the prawn Penaeus orientalis. Acta Oceanologica Sinica. 7, 621-629.

Karlsen, Ø., Amlund, H., Berg, A., Olsen, R.E., 2017. The effect of dietary chitin on growth and nutrient digestibility in farmed Atlantic cod, Atlantic salmon and Atlantic halibut. *Aquaculture research*. 48, 123-133.

- Kaswari, T., Lebzien, P., Flachowsky, G., ter Meulen, U., 2007. Studies on the relationship between the synchronization index and the microbial protein synthesis in the rumen of dairy cows. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*. 139, 1-22.
- Kaushik, S.J., Seiliez, I., 2010. Protein and amino acid nutrition and metabolism in fish: current knowledge and future needs. Aquaculture Research. 41, 322-332.
- Kaushik, S.J., Coves, D., Dutto, G., Blanc, D., 2004. Almost total replacement of fish meal by plant protein sources in the diet of a marine teleost, the European seabass, *Dicentrarchus labrax*. Aquaculture. 230, 391-404.
- Khieokhajonkhet, A., Surapon, K., 2020. Effects of fish protein hydrolysate on the growth performance, feed and protein utilization of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). *International Journal of Agricultural Technology*. 16, 641-654.
- Kim, K.-I., Kayes, T.B., Amundson, C.H., 1992. Requirements for sulfur amino acids and utilization of D-methionine by rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture. 101, 95-103.
- Kim, K.H., Oh, Y.G., Choung, J.J., Chamberlain, D.G., 1999. Effects of varying degrees of synchrony of energy and nitrogen release in the rumen on the synthesis of microbial protein in cattle consuming grass silage. *Journal of the Science* of Food and Agriculture. 79, 833-838.
- Kirchgessner, M., Kürzinger, H., Schwarz, F., 1986. Digestibility of crude nutrients in different feeds and estimation of their energy content for carp (*Cyprinus carpio L.*). Aquaculture. 58, 185-194.
- Kitagima, R.E., Fracalossi, D.M., 2011. Digestibility of alternative protein-rich feedstuffs for Channel Catfish, Ictalurus punctatus. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 42, 306-312.
- Knabe, D.A., LaRue, D.C., Gregg, E.J., Martinez, G.M., Tanksley, T.D., Jr., 1989. Apparent digestibility of nitrogen and amino acids in protein feedstuffs by growing pigs. J Anim Sci. 67, 441-458.
- Koprucu, K., Ozdemir, Y., 2005. Apparent digestibility of selected feed ingredients for Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture. 250, 308-316.
- Koshio, S., Teshima, S.-i., Kanazawa, A., Watase, T., 1993. The effect of dietary protein content on growth, digestion efficiency and nitrogen excretion of juvenile kuruma prawns, *Penaeus japonicus. Aquaculture*. 113, 101-114.
- Kroeckel, S., Harjes, A.-G., Roth, I., Katz, H., Wuertz, S., Susenbeth, A., Schulz, C., 2012. When a turbot catches a fly: Evaluation of a pre-pupae meal of the Black Soldier Fly (Hermetia illucens) as fish meal substitute—Growth performance and chitin degradation in juvenile turbot (*Psetta maxima*). Aquaculture. 364, 345-352.
- Krogdahl, Å., Hemre, G.I., Mommsen, T., 2005. Carbohydrates in fish nutrition: digestion and absorption in postlarval stages. Aquaculture nutrition. 11, 103-122.
- L
- Lall, S.P., 1991. Concepts in the formulation and preparation of a complete fish diet, Fish Nutrition Research in Asia. Proceedings of the Fourth Asian Fish Nutrition Workshop. Asian Fisheries Society, Manila, Philippines. 1-12.
- Lanna, E.A.T., Bomfim, M.A.D., Ribeiro, F.B., Quadros, M., 2016. Feeding Frequency of Nile Tilapia Fed Rations Supplemented with Amino Acids. *Revista Caatinga*. 29, 458-464.
- Leal, A.L.G., de Castro, P.F., de Lima, J.P.V., de Souza Correia, E., de Souza Bezerra, R., 2010. Use of shrimp protein hydrolysate in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*, L.) feeds. *Aquaculture international*. 18, 635-646.
- Lee, S., Chowdhury, M.A.K., Hardy, R.W., Small, B.C., 2020. Apparent digestibility of protein, amino acids and gross energy in rainbow trout fed various feed ingredients with or without protease. *Aquaculture*. 524, 735270.
- Leenhouwers, J.I., Adjei-Boateng, D., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2006. Digesta viscosity, nutrient digestibility and organ weights in African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets supplemented with different levels of a soluble non-starch polysaccharide. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 12, 111-116.
- Leenhouwers, J.I., ter Veld, M., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007a. Digesta characteristiscs and performance of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed cereal grains that differ in viscosity. *Aquaculture*. 264, 330-341.
- Leenhouwers, J.I., Ortega, R.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2007b. Digesta characteristics in relation to nutrient digestibility and mineral absorption in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* L.) fed cereal grains of increasing viscosity. *Aquaculture*. 273, 556-565.
- Lemme, A., Ravindran, V., Bryden, W., 2004. Ileal digestibility of amino acids in feed ingredients for broilers. *World's Poultry Science Journal*. 60, 423-438.
- Li, M.H., Lucas, P.M., 2017. Effects of Feeding Frequency on Apparent Energy and Nutrient Digestibility/Availability of Channel Catfish, *Ictalurus punctatus*, Reared at Optimal and Suboptimal Temperatures. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*. 48, 132-136.
- Li, M.H., Oberle, D.F., Lucas, P.M., 2013. Apparent digestibility of alternative plant-protein feedstuffs for channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus (Rafinesque). Aquaculture Research. 44, 282-288.
- Liang, H.L., Ren, M.C., Habte-Tsion, H.M., Mi, H.F., Ge, X.P., Xie, J., Xi, B.W., Zhou, Q.L., Miao, L.H., 2016. Dietary methionine requirement of pre-adult blunt snout bream, (*Megalobrama amblycephala* Yih, 1955). *Journal of Applied lchthyology*. 32, 1171-1178.
- Lim, C., Klesius, P., Higgs, D., 1998. Substitution of canola meal for soybean meal in diets for channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society.* 29, 161-168.
- Lin, H.Z., Liu, Y.J., Tian, L.X., Wang, J.T., Zheng, W.H., Huang, J.N., Chen, P., 2004. Apparent digestibility coefficients of various feed ingredients for grouper *Epinephelus coioides*. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*. 35, 134-142.

- Liu, F.-G., Liao, I.C., 1999. Effect of feeding regimen on the food consumption, growth, and body composition in hybrid striped bass *Morone saxatilis M. chrysops. Fisheries science*. 65, 513-519.
- Liu, S., Selle, P., 2015. A consideration of starch and protein digestive dynamics in chicken-meat production. *World's Poultry* Science Journal. 71, 297-310.
- Liu, S., Selle, P., Cowieson, A., 2013. The kinetics of starch and nitrogen digestion regulate growth performance and nutrient utilisation of broilers fed coarsely ground, sorghum-based diets. *Animal Production Science*. 53, 1033-1040.
- Low, A., 1979. Studies on digestion and absorption in the intestines of growing pigs: 5\*. Measurements of the flow of nitrogen. British Journal of Nutrition. 41, 137-146.
- Lumbard, L., 1997. Utilization of crystalline lysine by palmetto bass, *Morone saxatalis female X Morone chrysops* male. Master of Science thesis, Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, Louisiana.
- Luo, Z., Li, X.D., Gong, S.Y., Xi, W.Q., 2009. Apparent digestibility coefficients of four feed ingredients for *Synechogobius hasta*. *Aquaculture Research*. 40, 558-565.
- Luo, Z., Tan, X.-y., Chen, Y.-d., Wang, W.-m., Zhou, G., 2008. Apparent digestibility coefficients of selected feed ingredients for Chinese mitten crab *Eriocheir sinensis*. *Aquaculture*. 285, 141-145.
- Luo, Z., Liu, Y.-j., Mai, K.-s., Tian, L.-x., Yang, H.-j., Tan, X.-y., Liu, D.-h., 2005. Dietary L-methionine requirement of juvenile grouper *Epinephelus coioides* at a constant dietary cystine level. *Aquaculture*. 249, 409-418.
- Lupatsch, I., Kissil, G.W., Sklan, D., Pfeffer, E., 1997. Apparent digestibility coefficients of feed ingredients and their predictability in compound diets for gilthead seabream. *Sparus aurata* L. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 3, 81-89.

#### Μ

- Maas, R.M., 2021. Upgrading low-quality feeds for tilapia by enzyme and probiotic supplementation. PhD thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands.
- Maas, R.M., Deng, Y., Dersjant-Li, Y., Petit, J., Verdegem, M.C.J., Schrama, J.W., Kokou, F., 2021. Exogenous enzymes and probiotics alter digestion kinetics, volatile fatty acid content and microbial interactions in the gut of Nile tilapia. *Scientific Reports*. 11, 8221.
- Mai, K.S., Wan, J.L., Ai, Q.H., Xu, W., Liufu, Z.G., Zhang, L., Zhang, C.X., Li, H.T., 2006. Dietary methionine requirement of large yellow croaker, *Pseudosciaena crocea* R. *Aquaculture*. 253, 564-572.
- Makkar, H.P., Tran, G., Heuzé, V., Ankers, P., 2014. State-of-the-art on use of insects as animal feed. Animal Feed Science and Technology. 197, 1-33.
- Mambrini-Doudet, M., Kaushik, S.J., 1993. Indispensable amino acid requirements of fish : correspondence between quantitative data and amino acid profiles of tissue proteins, Proc. EIFAC Workshop on Methodology for Determination of Nutrient Requirements in Fish, D-803 1 Eichenau, Germany, pp. 11.
- Manoppo, H., Kolopita, M.E., 2016. The use of baker's yeast to promote growth of carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L). International Journal of PharmTech Research. 9, 415-420.
- Marian, M.P., Ponniah, A., Pitchairaj, R., Narayanan, M., 1982. Effect of feeding frequency on surfacing activity and growth in the air-breathing fish, *Heteropneustes fossilis*. Aquaculture. 26, 237-244.
- Marimuthu, K.A.C.C., Muralikrishnan S, K.D., 2010. Effect of different feeding frequency on the growth and survival of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fingerlings. *Advances in Environmental Biology*. 187-194.
- Martinez, Y., Li, X., Liu, G., Bin, P., Yan, W.X., Mas, D., Valdivie, M., Hu, C.A.A., Ren, W.K., Yin, Y.L., 2017. The role of methionine on metabolism, oxidative stress, and diseases. Amino Acids. 49, 2091-2098.
- Masumoto, T., Ruchimat, T., Ito, Y., Hosokawa, H., Shimeno, S., 1996. Amino acid availability values for several protein sources for yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*). Aquaculture. 146, 109-119.
- Mato, J.M., Corrales, F.J., Lu, S.C., Avila, M.A., 2002. S-Adenosylmethionine: a control switch that regulates liver function. *FASEB journal* : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 16, 15-26.
- Mauron, J., 1982. Effect of processing on nutritive value of food: protein, Handbook of nutritive value of processed food. CRC Press. 429-472.
- Miles, R.D., Chapman, F.A., 2006. The benefits of fish meal in aquaculture diets. EDIS. 2006.
- Miles, R.D., Chapman, F.A., 2007. The concept of ideal protein in formulation of aquaculture feeds. University of Florida IFAS extension. 1-3.
- Minekus, M., 1998. Development and validation of a dynamic model of the gastrointestinal tract. University of Utrecht The Netherlands.
- Mo, A.J., Sun, J.X., Wang, Y.H., Yang, K., Yang, H.S., Yuan, Y.C., 2019. Apparent digestibility of protein, energy and amino acids in nine protein sources at two content levels for mandarin fish, Siniperca chuatsi. *Aquaculture*. 499, 42-50.
- Moehl, J., Machena, C., 2000. African Aquaculture: A Regional Summary with Emphasis on Sub-Saharan Africa. FAO.
- Morifuji, M., Ishizaka, M., Baba, S., Fukuda, K., Matsumoto, H., Koga, J., Kanegae, M., Higuchi, M., 2010. Comparison of different sources and degrees of hydrolysis of dietary protein: effect on plasma amino acids, dipeptides, and insulin responses in human subjects. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*. 58, 8788-8797.
- Muranova, T., Zinchenko, D., Kononova, S., Belova, N., Miroshnikov, A., 2017. Plant protein hydrolysates as fish fry feed in aquaculture. Hydrolysis of rapeseed proteins by an enzyme complex from king crab hepatopancreas. *Applied biochemistry and microbiology*. 53, 680-687.
- Murthy, H.S., Varghese, T.J., 1998. Total sulphur amino acid requirement of the Indian major carp, *Labeo rohita* (Hamilton). Aquaculture nutrition. 1998. 4(1), 61-65.

Ν

- Naylor, R.L., Hardy, R.W., Bureau, D.P., Chiu, A., Elliott, M., Farrell, A.P., Forster, I., Gatlin, D.M., Goldburg, R.J., Hua, K., Nichols, P.D., 2009. Feeding aquaculture in an era of finite resources. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 106, 15103-15110.
- Nazzaro, J., Martin, D.S., Perez-Vendrell, A.M., Padrell, L., Iñarra, B., Orive, M., Estévez, A., 2021. Apparent digestibility coefficients of brewer's by-products used in feeds for rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata*). Aquaculture. 530, 735796.
- Ng, W.K., Liew, F.L., Ang, L.P., Wong, K.W., 2001. Potential of mealworm (*Tenebrio molitor*) as an alternative protein source in practical diets for African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus. Aquaculture Research*. 32, 273-280.
- Nguyen, T.N., Davis, D.A., 2009. Methionine Requirement in Practical Diets of Juvenile Nile Tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 40, 410-416.
- Nikolopoulou, D., Moutou, K.A., Fountoulaki, E., Venou, B., Adamidou, S., Alexis, M.N., 2011. Patterns of gastric evacuation, digesta characteristics and pH changes along the gastrointestinal tract of gilthead sea bream (Sparus aurata L.) and European sea bass (*Dicentrarchus labrax* L.). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: *Molecular & Integrative Physiology*. 158, 406-414.
- No Nose, T., Arai, S., Lee, D.L., Hashimoto, Y., 1974. A note on amino acids essential for growth of young carp. *Bull. Jpn. Soc. Sci.* 40(9), 903-908.
- NRC, 1993. Nutrient requirements of fish. Committee on Animal Nutrition, Board on Agriculture, 114.
- NRC, 2011. Nutrient requirements of fish and shrimp. The National Academies Press Washington, DC.
- NRC. 2012. Nutrient requirements of swine. Eleventh revised edition. National Academic Press, Washington, D.C., USA.
- Nwanna, L., 2016. Impact of protein deficient diets supplemented with methionine on the growth, nutrient utilization and amino acid profile of African catfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell, 1822). *African Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Resources Management*. 1(1).
- Nwanna, L.C., Lemme, A., Metwally, A., Schwarz, F.J., 2012. Response of common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) to supplemental DL-methionine and different feeding strategies. *Aquaculture*. 356, 365-370.

# 0

- Okomoda, V.T., Aminem, W., Hassan, A., Martins, C.O., 2019. Effects of feeding frequency on fry and fingerlings of African catfish *Clarias gariepinus*. Aquaculture. 511, 734232.
- Opstvedt, J., 1988. Influence of drying and smoking on protein quality. Burt, J.R. (ed.). New York, NY (USA): *Elsevier Applied Science*. 23-36.
- Opstvedt, J., Miller, R., Hardy, R.W., Spinelli, J., 1984. Heat-induced changes in sulfhydryl groups and disulfide bonds in fish protein and their effect on protein and amino acid digestibility in rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*). Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry. 32, 929-935.
- Ortuño, J., Cuesta, A., Rodríguez, A., Esteban, M.A., Meseguer, J., 2002. Oral administration of yeast, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, enhances the cellular innate immune response of gilthead seabream (*Sparus aurata* L.). *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*. 85, 41-50.
- Ovie, S., Eze, S., 2010. Effect of supplementing methionine in Clarias gariepinus fry diet. Report Opinion. 2, 84-88.
- Ovie, S., Eze, S., 2014. Utilization of Saccharomyces cerevisiae in the partial replacement of fishmeal in *Clarias gariepinus* diets. *International Journal of Advance Agricultural Research*. 2, 83-88.

#### Ρ

- Parsons, C.M., 2020. Unresolved issues for amino acid digestibility in poultry nutrition. *Journal of Applied Poultry Research*. 29, 1-10.
- Perrott, M., Grierson, C., Hazon, N., Balment, R., 1992. Drinking behaviour in sea water and fresh water teleosts, the role of the renin-angiotensin system. *Fish physiology and biochemistry*. 10, 161-168.
- Pesti, G.M., Vedenov, D., Cason, J.A., Billard, L., 2009. A comparison of methods to estimate nutritional requirements from experimental data. *Br Poult Sci.* 50, 16-32.
- Piccolo, G., Marono, S., Gasco, L., Iannaccone, F., Bovera, F., Nizza, A., 2014. Use of *Tenebrio molitor* larvae meal in diets for Gilthead seabream *Sparus aurata* juveniles, 1st International conference "Insects to Feed the World", pp. 68-68.
- Pillay, T.V.R., Kutty, M.N., 2005. Aquaculture: principles and practices. Blackwell publishing. 2, 624.
- Plakas, S.M., Katayama, T., 1981. Apparent digestibilities of amino acids from three regions of the gastrointestinal tract of carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) after ingestion of a protein and a corresponding free amino acid diet. *Aquaculture*. 24, 309-314.
- Pongpet, J., Ponchunchoovong, S., Payooha, K., 2016. Partial replacement of fishmeal by brewer's yeast (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) in the diets of Thai Panga (*Pangasianodon hypophthalmus× Pangasius bocourti*). Aquaculture nutrition. 22, 575-585.
- Poppi, D.A., Moore, S.S., Glencross, B.D., 2017. Redefining the requirement for total sulfur amino acids in the diet of barramundi (*Lates calcarifer*) including assessment of the cystine replacement value. *Aquaculture*. 471, 213-222.
- Portz, L., Cyrino, J.E.P., 2004. Digestibility of nutrients and amino acids of different protein sources in practical diets by largemouth bass *Micropterus salmoides* (Lacepéde, 1802). *Aquaculture Research*. 35, 312-320.

Powell, C.D., Chowdhury, M.A.K., Bureau, D.P., 2017. Assessing the bioavailability of L-methionine and a methionine hydroxy analogue (MHA-Ca) compared to DL-methionine in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Aquaculture Research. 48, 332-346.

- Ravindran, V., Hew, L., Ravindran, G., Bryden, W., 2005. Apparent ileal digestibility of amino acids in dietary ingredients for broiler chickens. *Animal Science*. 81, 85-97.
- Refstie, S., Olli, J.J., Standal, H., 2004. Feed intake, growth, and protein utilisation by post-smolt Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) in response to graded levels of fish protein hydrolysate in the diet. *Aquaculture*. 239, 331-349.
- Refstie, S., Svihus, B., Shearer, K.D., Storebakken, T., 1999. Nutrient digestibility in Atlantic salmon and broiler chickens related to viscosity and non-starch polysaccharide content in different soyabean products. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*. 79, 331-345.
- Ren, M., Liang, H., He, J., Masagounder, K., Yue, Y., Yang, H., Ge, X., Xie, J., Xi, B., 2017. Effects of DL-methionine supplementation on the success of fish meal replacement by plant proteins in practical diets for juvenile gibel carp (*Carassius auratus aibelio*). Aquaculture nutrition. 23, 934-941.
- Ribeiro, F.B., Lanna, E.A.T., Bomfim, M.A.D., Donzele, J.L., Quadros, M., Cunha, P.D.L., Takishita, S.S., Vianna, R.A., 2012. Apparent and true digestibility of protein and amino acid in feedstuffs used in Nile Tilapia feed as determined by the technique of dissection. *Rev Bras Zootecn.* 41, 1075-1081.
- Robbins, K.R., 1986. A method, SAS program, and example for fitting the broken-line to growth data. University of Tennessee Agricultural Experiment Station. *Research Reports*. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_agresreport/70, 12.
- Robbins, K.R., Norton, H.W., Baker, D.H., 1979. Estimation of nutrient requirements from growth data. *The Journal of nutrition*. 109, 1710-1714.
- Rolls, B., Porter, J., Westgarth, D., 1972. The course of digestion of different food proteins in the rat: 3.\* The absorption of proteins given alone and with supplements of their limiting amino acids. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 28, 283-293.
- Rotger, A., Ferret, A., Calsamiglia, S., Manteca, X., 2006. Effects of nonstructural carbohydrates and protein sources on intake, apparent total tract digestibility, and ruminal metabolism in vivo and in vitro with high-concentrate beef cattle diets. *Journal of animal science*. 84, 1188-1196.
- Rotili, D.A., Rossato, S., de Freitas, I.L., Martinelli, S.G., Neto, J., Lazzari, R., 2018. Determination of methionine requirement of juvenile silver catfish (*Rhamdia quelen*) and its effects on growth performance, plasma and hepatic metabolites at a constant cystine level. *Aquaculture Research*. 49, 858-866.
- Rouhani, Q., 1993. Digestible Energy as a Criterion for the Development of Diets for the African Sharptooth Catfish, *Clarias Gariepinus* (Pisces: Clariidae). Rhodes University.
- Ruchimat, T., Masumoto, T., Hosokawa, H., Shimeno, S., 1997. Quantitative methionine requirement of yellowtail (*Seriola quinqueradiata*). Aquaculture. 150, 113-122.

#### S

- Sales, J., 2008. The use of linear regression to predict digestible protein and available amino acid contents of feed ingredients and diets for fish. *Aquaculture*. 278, 128-142.
- Salze, G.P., Davis, D.A., Jirsa, D.O., Drawbridge, M.A., 2017. Methionine Requirement for Juvenile White Seabass, Atractoscion nobilis, Using Nonlinear Models. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*. 48, 729-740.
- Saravanan, S., Geurden, I., Orozco, Z.G.A., Kaushik, S.J., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2013. Dietary electrolyte balance affects the nutrient digestibility and maintenance energy expenditure of Nile tilapia. *British Journal of Nutrition*. 110, 1948-1957.
- Saravanan, S., Geurden, I., Figueiredo-Silva, A.C., Kaushik, S.J., Haidar, M.N., Verreth, J.A., Schrama, J.W., 2012. Control of voluntary feed intake in fish: a role for dietary oxygen demand in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) fed diets with different macronutrient profiles. *The British journal of nutrition*. 108, 1519-1529.
- Savory, C., 1976. Effects of different lighting regimes on diurnal feeding patterns of the domestic fowl. *British Poultry Science*. 17, 341-350.
- Segner, H., Verreth, J., 1995. Metabolic enzyme activities in larvae of the African catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*: changes in relation to age and nutrition. *Fish physiology and biochemistry*. 14, 385-398.
- Shearer, K.D., 1995. The Use of Factorial Modeling to Determine the Dietary Requirements for Essential Elements in Fishes. Aquaculture. 133, 57-72.
- Shearer, K.D., 2000. Experimental design, statistical analysis and modelling of dietary nutrient requirement studies for fish: a critical review. Aquaculture Nutrition. 6, 91-102.
- Shiau, S.-Y., Yu, H.-L., Hwa, S., Chen, S.-Y., Hsu, S.-I., 1988. The influence of carboxymethylcellulose on growth, digestion, gastric emptying time and body composition of tilapia. *Aquaculture*. 70, 345-354.
- Shotipruk, A., Kittianong, P., Suphantharika, M., Muangnapoh, C., 2005. Application of rotary microfiltration in debittering process of spent brewer's yeast. *Bioresource technology*. 96, 1851-1859.
- Siddik, M.A., Howieson, J., Fotedar, R., Partridge, G.J., 2021. Enzymatic fish protein hydrolysates in finfish aquaculture: a review. *Reviews in Aquaculture*. 13, 406-430.
- Silva, T.C.d., Rocha, J.D., Moreira, P., Signor, A., Boscolo, W.R., 2017. Fish protein hydrolysate in diets for Nile tilapia postlarvae. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*. 52, 485-492.

R

Siwicki, A.K., Anderson, D.P., Rumsey, G.L., 1994. Dietary intake of immunostimulants by rainbow trout affects non-specific immunity and protection against furunculosis. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*. 41, 125-139.

- Sklan, D., Prag, T., Lupatsch, I., 2004. Apparent digestibility coefficients of feed ingredients and their prediction in diets for tilapia Oreochromis niloticus x Oreochromis aureus (Teleostei, Cichlidae). Aquaculture Research. 35, 358-364.
- Smith, R.R., Peterson, M.C., Allred, A.C., 1980. Effect of leaching on apparent digestion coefficients of feedstuffs for salmonids. *The Progressive Fish-Culturist*. 42, 195-199.
- Sogbesan, A., Ugwumba, A., 2008. Nutritional evaluation of termite (*Macrotermes subhyalinus*) meal as animal protein supplements in the diets of *Heterobranchus longifilis* (Valenciennes, 1840) fingerlings. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences. 8, 149-158.
- Solomon, S.G., Ataguba, G.A., Itodo, G.E., 2017. Performance of Clarias gariepinus fed dried brewer's yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) slurry in replacement for soybean meal. *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*. 2017, 1-8.
- Somsueb, P., 2017. Protein and energy requirement and feeding of fish. (online) https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.526.3067&rep=rep1&type=pdf (Accessed 11/11/2020). *Citeseer*. 1-17.
- Sourabié, A., Mandiki, S., Geay, F., Sene, T., Toguyeni, A., Kestemont, P., 2018. Fish proteins not lipids are the major nutrients limiting the use of vegetable ingredients in catfish nutrition. *Aquaculture nutrition*. 24, 1393-1405.
- Staessen, T.W., Verdegem, M.C., Koletsi, P., Schrama, J.W., 2020a. The effect of dietary protein source (fishmeal vs. plant protein) and non-starch polysaccharide level on fat digestibility and faecal bile acid loss in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture Research. 51, 1170-1181.
- Staessen, T.W.O., Verdegem, M.C.J., Weththasinghe, P., Schrama, J.W., 2020b. The effect of dietary non-starch polysaccharide level and bile acid supplementation on fat digestibility and the bile acid balance in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Aquaculture. 523, 735174.
- Stone, D.A., Allan, G.L., Parkinson, S., Rowland, S.J., 2000. Replacement of fish meal in diets for Australian silver perch, *Bidyanus bidyanus*: III. Digestibility and growth using meat meal products. *Aquaculture*. 186, 311-326.
- Storebakken, T., 1985. Binders in fish feeds: I. Effect of alginate and guar gum on growth, digestibility, feed intake and passage through the gastrointestinal tract of rainbow trout. *Aquaculture*. 47, 11-26.
- Storebakken, T., Austreng, E., 1987. Ration level for salmonids. Aquaculture. 60, 207-221.
- Storebakken, T., Kvien, I.S., Shearer, K.D., Grisdale-Helland, B., Helland, S.J., Berge, G.M., 1998. The apparent digestibility of diets containing fish meal, soybean meal or bacterial meal fed to Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*): evaluation of different faecal collection methods. *Aquaculture*. 169, 195-210.
- Sveier, H., Lied, E., 1998. The effect of feeding regime on growth, feed utilisation and weight dispersion in large Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) reared in seawater. *Aquaculture*. 165, 333-345.
- Swanepoel, J.C., Goosen, N.J., 2018. Evaluation of fish protein hydrolysates in juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) diets. *Aquaculture*. 496, 262-269.

## Т

- Taufek, N.M., Aspani, F., Muin, H., Raji, A.A., Razak, S.A., Alias, Z., 2016a. The effect of dietary cricket meal (Gryllus bimaculatus) on growth performance, antioxidant enzyme activities, and haematological response of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Fish physiology and biochemistry. 42, 1143-1155.
- Taufek, N.M., Muin, H., Raji, A.A., Razak, S.A., Yusof, H.M., Alias, Z., 2016b. Apparent Digestibility Coefficients and Amino Acid Availability of Cricket Meal, Gryllus bimaculatus, and Fishmeal in African Catfish, Clarias gariepinus, Diet. Journal of the World Aquaculture Society. 47, 798-805.
- Teles, A.O., Couto, A., Enes, P., Peres, H., 2020. Dietary protein requirements of fish-a meta-analysis. Reviews in Aquaculture.
- Teshima, S., 1990. Effects of methionine-enriched plastein supplemented to soybean protein based diets on common carp, Cyprinus carpio and tilapia Oreochromis niloticus, The Second Asia Fisheries Forum. *The Asian Fisheries Society*. 279-282.
- Teuling, E., Schrama, J.W., Gruppen, H., Wierenga, P.A., 2017. Effect of cell wall characteristics on algae nutrient digestibility in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) and African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture. 479, 490-500.
- Toko, I.I., Fiogbe, E.D., Kestemont, P., 2008. Mineral status of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets containing graded levels of soybean or cottonseed meals. *Aquaculture*. 275, 298-305.
- Tomas-Vidal, A., Monge-Ortiz, R., Jover-Cerda, M., Martinez-Llorens, S., 2019. Apparent digestibility and protein quality evaluation of selected feed ingredients in *Seriola dumerili*. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*. 50, 842-855.
- Torrecillas, S., Montero, D., Izquierdo, M., 2014. Improved health and growth of fish fed mannan oligosaccharides: potential mode of action. *Fish & shellfish immunology*. 36, 525-544.
- Tran-Ngoc, K.T., Schrama, J.W., Le, M.T.T., Nguyen, T.H., Roem, A.J., Verreth, J.A.J., 2017. Salinity and diet composition affect digestibility and intestinal morphology in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture. 469, 36-43.
- Tran-Ngoc, K.T., Haidar, M.N., Roem, A.J., Sendao, J., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2019. Effects of feed ingredients on nutrient digestibility, nitrogen/energy balance and morphology changes in the intestine of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*). Aquaculture Research. 50, 2577-2590.
- Tran-Tu, L.C., Bosma, R.H., Verstegen, M.W.A., Schrama, J.W., 2019. Effect of dietary viscosity on digesta characteristics and progression of digestion in different segments of the gastrointestinal tract of striped catfish (*Pangasionodon hypophthalmus*). Aquaculture. 504, 114-120.

Tran-Duy, A., van Dam, A.A., Schrama, J.W., 2012. Feed intake, growth and metabolism of Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) in relation to dissolved oxygen concentration. *Aquaculture Research*. 43, 730-744.

U

- Udo, I., Umoren, U., 2011. Nutritional evaluation of some locally available ingredients use for least-cost ration formulation for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) in Nigeria. *Asian Journal of Agricultural Research.* 5, 164-175.
- Uys, W., 1989. Aspects of the nutritional physiology and dietary requirements of juvenile and adult sharptooth catfish, *Clarias agriepinus* (Pisces: Clariidae). Rhodes University Grahamstown, South Africa. 195.
- Uys, W., Hecht, T., 1987. Assays on the digestive enzymes of sharptooth catfish, *Clarias gariepinus* (Pisces: Clariidae). *Aquaculture*. 63, 301-313.

#### V

- Van den Borne, J., Verstegen, M., Alferink, S., Giebels, R., Gerrits, W., 2006. Effects of feeding frequency and feeding level on nutrient utilization in heavy preruminant calves. *Journal of Dairy Science*. 89, 3578-3586.
- Van den Borne, J.J., 2006. Nutrient Synchrony in Preruminant Calves. PhD thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands. 2-7.
- van den Borne, J.J., Schrama, J.W., Heetkamp, M.J., Verstegen, M.W., Gerrits, W.J., 2007. Synchronising the availability of amino acids and glucose increases protein retention in pigs. *Animal.* 1, 666-674.
- Verri, T., Romano, A., Barca, A., Kottra, G., Daniel, H., Storelli, C., 2010. Transport of di-and tripeptides in teleost fish intestine. Aquaculture Research. 41, 641-653.

#### W

- Wagenmakers, A.J., 1998. Protein and amino acid metabolism in human muscle. Skeletal muscle metabolism in exercise and diabetes. Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology. 441, 307-319.
- Wang, H., Ma, S., Yang, J., Qin, Y., Cheng, H., Xue, M., Li, J., Li, J., 2021. Optimization of the process parameters for extruded commercial sinking fish feed with mixed plant protein sources. *Journal of Food Process Engineering*. 44 (1), e13599.
- Wang, N., Hayward, R.S., Noltie, D.B., 1998. Effect of feeding frequency on food consumption, growth, size variation, and feeding pattern of age-0 hybrid sunfish. Aquaculture. 165, 261-267.
- Wang, Y., Li, K., Han, H., Zheng, Z.-X., Bureau, D.P., 2008. Potential of using a blend of rendered animal protein ingredients to replace fish meal in practical diets for malabar grouper (*Epinephelus malabricus*). Aquaculture. 281, 113-117.
- Wang, Y.Y., Che, J.F., Tang, B.B., Yu, S.L., Wang, Y.Y., Yang, Y.H., 2016. Dietary methionine requirement of juvenile Pseudobagrus ussuriensis. Aquaculture Nutrition. 22, 1293-1300.
- Weaver Jr, W., Siegel, P., 1968. Photoperiodism as a factor in feeding rhythms of broiler chickens. *Poultry science*. 47, 1148-1154.
- Weurding, R.E., 2002. Kinetics of starch digestion and performance of broiler chickens. PhD thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands
- Wilson, R.P., 1986. Protein and amino acid requirements of fishes. Annu Rev Nutr. 6, 225-244.
- Wilson, R.P., Moreau, Y., 1996. Nutrient requirements of catfishes (Siluroidei). Aquat Living Resour. 9, 103-111.
- Windell, J.T., Foltz, J.W., Sarokon, J.A., 1978. Effect of fish size, temperature, and amount fed on nutrient digestibility of a pelleted diet by rainbow trout, *Salmo gairdneri*. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*. 107, 613-616.
- Witt, M., Sinclair, L., Wilkinson, R., Buttery, P., 1999a. The effects of synchronizing the rate of dietary energy and nitrogen supply to the rumen on the production and metabolism of sheep: food characterization and growth and metabolism of ewe lambs given food ad libitum. *Animal Science*. 69, 223-235.
- Witt, M.W., Sinclair, L.A., Wilkinson, R.G., Buttery, P.J., 1999b. The effects of synchronizing the rate of dietary energy and nitrogen supply to the rumen on the metabolism and growth of ram lambs given food at a restricted level. *Animal Science*. 69, 627-636.
- Wolfe, R.R., Rutherfurd, S.M., Kim, I.-Y., Moughan, P.J., 2016. Protein quality as determined by the digestible indispensable amino acid score: evaluation of factors underlying the calculation. *Nutrition reviews*. 74, 584-599.
- Woo, N.Y., Kelly, S.P., 1995. Effects of salinity and nutritional status on growth and metabolism of Spams sarba in a closed seawater system. *Aquaculture*. 135, 229-238.
- World Bank, 2013. Fish to 2030: Prospects for Fisheries and Aquaculture. Agriculture and environmental services discussion paper;no. 3. Washington, DC. ©. World Bank, <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/17579</u> License: CC BY 10983.10980 IGO.
- Wu, P., Tang, L., Jiang, W.D., Hu, K., Liu, Y., Jiang, J., Kuang, S.Y., Tang, L., Tang, W.N., Zhang, Y.A., Zhou, X.Q., Feng, L., 2017. The relationship between dietary methionine and growth, digestion, absorption, and antioxidant status in intestinal and hepatopancreatic tissues of sub-adult grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). Journal of Animal Science and Biotechnology. 8, 63.

## Х

Xu, H., Mu, Y., Liang, M., Zheng, K., Wei, Y., 2017. Application of different types of protein hydrolysate in high plant protein diets for juvenile turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*). Aquaculture Research. 48, 2945-2953.

- Yamada, S., Tanaka, Y., Katayama, T., 1981. Feeding Experiments with Carp Fry Fed an Amino-Acid Diet by Increasing the Number of Feedings Per Day. *Bulletin of the Japanese Society of Scientific Fisheries*, 47, 1247-1247.
- Yamamoto, T., Akimoto, A., Kishi, S., Unuma, T., Akiyama, T., 1998. Apparent and True Availabilities of Amino Acids from Several Protein Sources for Fingerling Rainbow Trout, Common Carp, and Red Sea Bream. *Fisheries science*. 64, 448-458.
- Yan, Q., Xie, S., Zhu, X., Lei, W., Yang, Y., 2007. Dietary methionine requirement for juvenile rockfish, *Sebastes schlegeli*. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 13, 163-169.
- Yang, J.Y., Seo, J., Kim, H., Seo, S., Ha, J.K., 2010. Nutrient synchrony: is it a suitable strategy to improve nitrogen utilization and animal performance? *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences*. 23, 972-979.
- Young, V.R., Pellett, P.L., 1989. How to Evaluate Dietary Protein. in: Barth, C.A., Schlimme, E. (Eds.), Milk Proteins: Nutritional, Clinical, Functional and Technological Aspects. Steinkopff, Heidelberg. 7-36.
- Yuan, X., Jiang, G., Cheng, H., Cao, X., Shi, H., Liu, W., 2019. An evaluation of replacing fish meal with cottonseed meal protein hydrolysate in diet for juvenile blunt snout bream (*Megalobrama amblycephala*): Growth, antioxidant, innate immunity and disease resistance. Aquaculture Nutrition. 25, 1334-1344.
- Yuan, Y.C., Yang, H.J., Gong, S.Y., Luo, Z., Yuan, H.W., Chen, X.K., 2010a. Effects of feeding levels on growth performance, feed utilization, body composition and apparent digestibility coefficients of nutrients for juvenile Chinese sucker, *Myxocyprinus asiaticus. Aquaculture Research.* 41, 1030-1042.
- Yuan, Y.C., Gong, S.Y., Yang, H.J., Lin, Y.C., Yu, D.H., Luo, Z., 2010b. Apparent digestibility of selected feed ingredients for Chinese sucker, *Myxocyprinus asiaticus*. Aquaculture. 306, 238-243.

## Ζ

- Zarate, D.D., Lovell, R.T., 1997. Free lysine (L-lysine center dot HCl) is utilized for growth less efficiently than protein-bound lysine (soybean meal) in practical diets by young channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*). Aquaculture. 159, 87-100.
- Zarate, D.D., Lovell, R.T., Payne, M., 1999. Effects of feeding frequency and rate of stomach evacuation on utilization of dietary free and protein-bound lysine for growth by channel catfish *Ictalurus punctatus*. *Aguaculture Nutrition*. 5, 17-22.
- Zeitoun, I.H., Ullrey, D.E., Magee, W.T., Gill, J.L., Bergen, W.G., 1976. Quantifying nutrient requirements of fish. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*. 33, 167-172.
- Zhao, H., Jiang, R., Xue, M., Xie, S., Wu, X., Guo, L., 2010. Fishmeal can be completely replaced by soy protein concentrate by increasing feeding frequency in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus* GIFT strain) less than 2 g. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 16, 648-653.
- Zhao, S., Han, D., Zhu, X., Jin, J., Yang, Y., Xie, S., 2016. Effects of feeding frequency and dietary protein levels on juvenile allogynogenetic gibel carp (*C arassius auratus gibelio*) var. CAS III: growth, feed utilization and serum free essential amino acids dynamics. *Aquaculture Research*. 47, 290-303.
- Zhou, F., Xiao, J., Hua, Y., Ngandzali, B., Shao, Q., 2011. Dietary I-methionine requirement of juvenile black sea bream (*Sparus macrocephalus*) at a constant dietary cystine level. *Aquaculture Nutrition*. 17, 469-481.
- Zhou, Q.-C., Tan, B.-P., Mai, K.-S., Liu, Y.-J., 2004. Apparent digestibility of selected feed ingredients for juvenile cobia Rachycentron canadum. Aquaculture. 241, 441-451.
- Zhou, Q.C., Yue, Y.R., 2012. Apparent digestibility coefficients of selected feed ingredients for juvenile hybrid tilapia, Oreochromis niloticus× Oreochromis aureus. Aquaculture Research. 43, 806-814.
- Zhou, Q.C., Wu, Z.H., Tan, B.P., Chi, S.Y., Yang, Q.H., 2006. Optimal dietary methionine requirement for Juvenile Cobia (Rachycentron canadum). Aquaculture. 258, 551-557.
- Zhou, Z., Cui, Y., Xie, S., Zhu, X., Lei, W., Xue, M., Yang, Y., 2003. Effect of feeding frequency on growth, feed utilization, and size variation of juvenile gibel carp (*Carassius auratus gibelio*). *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*. 19, 244-249.

#### Υ

# References | 141


### Appendices

Summary

Acknowledgements

About the author

List of scientific publications

WIAS Training and Supervision Plan (TSP)



The increasing usage of alternative and novel ingredients for fishmeal replacement in aquafeed makes it necessary to strengthen our basic knowledge on their nutritional content, digestibility and utilization. especially in relation to the requirement for specific nutrients, such as amino acids in commonly cultured species. Since the larger part of aquafeed formulation is based on the protein content, reliable data on the digestible AA content of these different ingredients for each species is considered a necessary prerequisite. This is because the biological value of protein is determined by the optimal composition of amino acids that are digested and absorbed. Currently, the protein values of aquafeeds are evaluated based on the concentration and digestibility of protein in the selected ingredients. In the same light, amino acid requirements are estimated on the crude protein value of ingredients with the assumption that individual AAs within protein react in the same way. However, evidence suggests that this evaluation system might not be the accurate representation of fish needs based on the differences in crude protein and also individual amino acids digestibility. The benefits of using digestible AA data for protein evaluation have been demonstrated in pigs and poultry for decades but are yet to be adopted in fish. The goal of this thesis was to assess the digestible amino acids of commonly used ingredients in order to improve protein evaluation of fish feeds/ingredients. An additional aim was to estimate AA requirements based on digestible AA in protein and compare this with the currently used approach (i.e., AA requirement based on crude protein).

However, the optimization of feed formulation does only depend on the accurate characterisation of feed but also on its utilization efficiency. This implies that despite supplying a balanced AA profile, which meets the daily requirement of fish, the release of nutrients and absorption might be affected by some intrinsic factors. For instance, crystalline AA that is usually supplemented to the diet in order to overcome the AA deficiency problem caused by low quality (e.g., plant) ingredients are said to be less utilised in fish, compared to AA in intact protein. Apparently, the former, which are already in the free form are quickly catabolised and lost rather than used for protein synthesis leading to asynchronous absorption of dietary AA. The concept of 'nutrient synchronization' has been applied in other farms animals (e.g., pigs and poultry) to improve protein utilization efficiency but yet to be explored in the field of fish nutrition. Therefore, this thesis further explored some factors that are affecting the optimal utilization of available AA to check whether nutrient asynchrony does occur in fish.

The first two chapters (Chapter 2 and 3) focused on the digestibility and requirement of AA in fish with a view of improving protein evaluation of fish feeds. African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) was used as a case study. **Chapter 2** of this thesis investigated the apparent digestibility coefficients (ADC) of amino acids in 13 feed ingredients of both plant and animal origin (including single-cell protein) in African catfish. We checked if the AA ADC values are equal among different AAs, as well as to the overall crude protein. Furthermore, the effect of feeding level on nutrient ADC was determined by feeding fish restrictively and subsequently to apparent satiation. This chapter revealed that ADCs of nutrients were significantly affected by feeding level but this effect was dependent on ingredient type. For instance, the digestibility of ingredients with high carbohydrate content declined with feeding level. Furthermore, this chapter demonstrated a variation in the digestibility of amino acids and therefore, emphasized the need to quantify individual digestible AA based on digestible protein, especially when low-quality ingredients are used. Due to these observed differences, **Chapter 3** estimated the AA requirements of African catfish on the basis of digestible AA per digestible crude protein. Compared to other animals, AA requirements of fish are usually expressed per kg of feed or kg of crude protein. However, it was shown in Chapter 2 that the ADC of individual AA can differ between ingredients and

among other AAs constituents of protein. Since methionine is one of the first limiting AA in plant ingredients and no reliable information is available for African catfish, methionine was used as a case study. A plant-based diet deficient in methionine was formulated and supplemented with graded levels of crystalline methionine and then fed at 90% satiation to ascertain the requirement. Three (the linear plateau model (LP), broken line model (BL), or quadratic regression model (QR)) out of the common models used in the field of fish nutrition were selected to check if a mathematical model can impact requirement estimates. It was shown that LP and BL had similar values for requirement estimates while QR recorded a 57% higher value. The digestible methionine requirement of African catfish for growth (using LP) ranges between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg per unit of digestible protein. This equates to a minimum dietary methionine level of 6.3 g/kg diet (19.2 g/kg Crude protein), which is lower than what has been previously reported for this species. Comparing values of methionine requirement when expressed on a digestible methionine or crude protein basis only displayed a slight difference.

The final part of the thesis (Chapter 3 and 4) explored the factors that could hamper optimal protein digestion and utilization in fish. It was hypothesized that the forms of AA and the timing of digestion can affect the optimal utilization of total protein in fish. Other factors such as asynchronous availability of energy at the protein synthesis site could also cause sub-optimal utilization of dietary protein, since optimal protein synthesis is highly dependent on energy availability. Therefore, the question of whether asynchronous nutrient digestion occurs in fish was studied. Moreover, bridging the gap in knowledge on the difference in digestion and absorption rates of nutrients as affected by ingredients characteristics is needed in fish nutrition. In monogastric animals, it has been reported that the physical state of the dietary proteins and carbohydrates can influence the digestion and passage rate of the nutrients before they are absorbed. Studies on kinetics of digestion are numerous in pigs and poultry but the limited studies performed on fish have mainly focused on non-protein energy (NPE) and not protein. In Chapter 4, the kinetics of nutrient digestion and development of chyme characteristics in African catfish were assessed in response to fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources. This was to ascertain whether the kinetics of protein digestion can be altered by dietary composition. This was assessed by feeding African catfish four diets, which were formulated to contain starch or fat as NPE source, and fishmeal or hydrolysed fishmeal as protein source. Four hours after the consumption of a single meal, chyme was collected from the stomach, proximal-and distal intestine and analysed for dry matter content, crude protein and marker concentration. Postprandial water fluxes to the GIT and stomach evacuation were also assessed. We observed that fishmeal hydrolysation can alter the digestion kinetics of digesta along the GIT. Furthermore, dietary macronutrient composition can alter the postprandial digestion of nutrients in the GIT without being reflected in the faecal digestibility.

The observed differences in the kinetics of nutrient digestion in chapter 4 indicated that there may be asynchronous availability of nutrients during absorption. Therefore, it was assumed that among other factors, feeding frequency can affect the utilization efficiency of AA. In order words, low feeding frequency may affect the optimum utilization of amino acids, especially in a diet that is supplemented with crystalline amino acids. In **Chapter 5**, we investigated the effect of feeding frequency and its interaction with crystalline methionine supplementation level on nutrient digestion and AA requirement. The goal was to investigate if the timing of nutrient availability (nutrient synchronization) can be used as a means of improving AA utilization. Thus, we hypothesized that increasing feeding frequency will aid the utilization of CAA supplementation in diets deficient in AA, thereby leading to an increased protein deposition in fish. To test this hypothesis, two diets that contained methionine

either just fulfilling or exceeding the methionine requirement of African catfish were formulated. These diets were fed to African catfish at four feeding frequencies (six, two, one time (s) per day and two times out of three days). Feeding frequency affected feed intake and the apparent digestibility coefficient (ADC) of nutrients. Feeding at a low frequency hampered daily feed intake while higher frequencies improved nutrient digestibility in African catfish. However, none of the tested parameters was affected by the interaction between dietary methionine levels and feeding frequencies, except for digestible nitrogen intake and dry matter body content. Thus, it was concluded that the asynchronous availability of AA for protein synthesis, which is often suggested to cause a sub-optimal utilization of crystalline AA, was not influenced by feeding frequency.

In **Chapter 6**, the main outcomes of the different studies of this thesis were summarized and discussed in the context of protein evaluation for fish. This chapter further tackled the unresolved question in the field of fish nutrition about the use of protein ADC to predict AA digestibility, since AAs are the building blocks of protein. Feedstuffs are acquired in batches and it is crucial to obtain the AA digestibility data of each batch for proper feed formulation. However, the analysis of the ADC of AA is expensive, therefore, cheaper alternative methods are required. The prediction of AA digestibility from the ADC of crude protein or the sum of total AA (SAA) has been suggested in literature but has been accompanied by different submissions. A meta-analysis was conducted in this chapter to further check the relationship between the ADCs of AAs and the SAA in protein across different ingredient/fish species. It was shown that there is a possibility of using protein ADC as a predictor for the ADC of SAA. However, the relationships of the ADC of individual AA with the ADC of SAA revealed that these relationships strongly varied between the individual AA. For some AAs, like arginine, methionine, glutamic acid and phenylalanine, the ADC declined less strongly compared to the decline in SAA ADC for ingredients with a lower protein quality (i.e., the slope of the linear regression being smaller than 1). While for some other AA like valine, glycine, aspartic acid, proline and cysteine, the decline in ADC with declining SAA ADC was stronger (slope being larger than 1). Moreover, for various AA, the relationship between their ADCs with the ADC of SAA was different between different types of ingredients (animal versus plant sources).

Overall, the following conclusions can be drawn from this thesis.

- Within ingredients, the digestibility coefficients are not equal for the different amino acids.
- This variability in digestibility between amino acids is larger in low-quality ingredients compared to high-quality ingredients when using crude protein digestibility as a quality indicator.
- Crude protein digestibility values of ingredients can be used as a predictor for the digestibility of their total sum of amino acids.
- Individual amino acids digestibility coefficients can be predicted from the sum of amino acids digestibility in ingredients.
- Across fish species, the digestibility of the amino acids, arginine, methionine, glutamic acid and phenylalanine decreases less strongly compared to the digestibility of SAA when the protein quality of an ingredient declines. In contrast, the digestibility of valine, glycine, aspartic acid, proline and cysteine have a stronger decline compared to the digestibility of SAA when the protein quality declines.
- The impact of feeding level on macronutrient digestibility in African catfish is ingredientdependent.

- The choice of the mathematical model used in studies to estimate nutrient requirement can impact requirement estimates, for instance, quadratic regression can lead to an overestimation of nutrient requirements.
- Based on the linear plateau model, the digestible methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish ranges between 18.7 and 21.4 g/kg per unit of digestible protein, depending on the response criterion.
- In African catfish, the protein utilization efficiency of digested protein is not influenced by feeding frequency.
- Ingredient macronutrient composition can alter the kinetics of nutrient digestion. Changing dietary fat by starch alters the intestinal location of protein digestion in African catfish.
- Hydrolysation of protein (e.g., fishmeal) increases the stomach evacuation rate of protein.
- In this thesis, no proof was found for the existence of nutrient asynchrony in African catfish.

### Acknowledgements

Welcome to the most read section of my thesis (). Going down the memory lane, 10 pages will never be enough to narratively describe my endeavors in WUR and how you all came through for me. I will however try to make it brief and simple. A well-known adage in my tribe says, 'it takes one mother to bear a child, but a whole community to raise it'. I applied for a PhD programme at WUR on my own, nevertheless, it took the support of you all to scale through. Thus, I am overly gracious and feel blessed for such numerous guides from important personnel.

My dream to study at WUR would not have been made possible without the consultation and acceptance of my promotor **Johan Verreth**. Thank you for the trust vested in me, and despite the insufficient scholarship issue from my home country that took close to 2 years to resolve, you never gave up on me. I remember being on my way for a national scholarship interview when I received your message, which renewed my hope of studying at Wageningen university. I cherish your amazing support from the onset and throughout my PhD journey. Thank you for always pushing me to be a better version of myself, not to mention your critical views, encouragement and insightfulness rendered towards my dissertation. Even past my thesis completion and submission, you still maintained your interest in me and continued to prepare me for the career world. Indeed, you are the AFI granddad, as you always play your role graciously.

Dear Johan Schrama, calling you a super-human is quite an understatement! You are indeed a lifesaver, and I can categorically emphasize that meeting you has been divine. As a promotor and daily supervisor, you effortlessly made my doctoral journey interesting and non-intimidating. During our first conversation, I remember I asked if you were aware of my previous research line, which were solely based on environmental science compared to my unconvincing aquaculture/nutrition background. However, you encouraged me, exhibiting professionalism in understanding without compromising my self-esteem. Those interactions gave rise to my extensive knowledge in fish nutrition. Johan, you are a rare gift to this community. Your special ability to give firm corrections with captivating sense of humor, whilst also simplifying complex situations, is worth emulating. I sincerely appreciate your knowledgeability and readiness to assist in situations other than academics. Thank you for feeding my fish and at another time, my baby (trust you understand). Standing by me pre/post-delivery aided my recovery process, as such, words are not enough to express my gratitude. Thank you for everything.

I would like to acknowledge with sincere gratitude, the immense support of **Arjen Roem**. You inspired my choice of relatable research topic (this thesis), compared to the research pathway I chose at the initial stage of my PhD. It is incredible how fate eventually crossed our paths despite initially missing the scheduled opportunity to meet you at my home country, while you were on official duty in 2015. Of course, I would forever thank my stars for making me walk down the stairs to interrupt your discussion with Kim, after I eventually arrived at WUR. Your words of encouragement and support have held me all the way and I cherish them. Thank you for inviting me with open arms to your home. Regards to Sjoukje and Yuki for their hospitality. I also appreciate you for securing a 2-year grant for my upkeep. I will forever be indebted to you.

My sincere appreciation goes to my co-supervisors at Skretting ARC, Norway; **Matthew**, **David** and **Saskia**. Many thanks to **Saskia**, who catered for the logistics aspect of my research work, as you made sure my experimental feeds got to Netherlands intact. I am grateful for your valuable contribution to making this thesis. To **David**, I always view your comments as a measure to make me better, and never saw them as being mean (contrary to your belief). The detailed suggestions you gave towards my manuscripts, have greatly improved my writing style. Thanks for being my go-to person always.

To the staff of the Aquaculture and Fisheries group, thank you all for being wonderful. Most especially to **Geert**, for always being an amazingly attentive individual, and chair. Thank you for accompanying us to China. **Maria's** student advisory role boosted my confidence when I began this journey. Thank you for the useful conversation we had during the TSP meetings. To the AFI secretariat, I feel deeply indebted to you all. **Eugenia**, thanks for your warmth and friendly support. Dear **Annet**, you endured my numerous requests tirelessly with grace, thanks for your strong support throughout my stay at AFI. Many thanks to **Marjon**, for the special treats in the office and the extension of love towards my family. You were extremely helpful with the formal procedures related to our trip to China.

I offer my sincere gratitude to the entire staff of CARUS (Wian, Sander, Truus etc.) for their vital support during experimental work. I marvel at the humility shown by Menno, whom I met during a practical class tour of the APS course during the early days of my PhD, especially for his instant readiness and enlightenment about the course (APS). I also appreciate you for feeding my fish while I was away in China. A special *dankjewel* to the ever-gracious **Emily.** My appreciation goes to **Ronald**, **Tino**, **Erik**, and **Samara**, for their tireless support during laboratory analysis and sampling. Special thanks to **Tino** who intentionally helped with my lab work when I had no student, thereby giving me the chance to focus on other PhD work (e.g., writing).

My stay at AFI group was made special and easy by my wonderful PhD colleagues. I arrived in Wageningen as a lost and confused student due to the differences in environment and culture. Fortunately, some people were there to set me on the right path by showing me the way around things. Dear **Edison Macusi**, I appreciate your spiritual and logistic support at the initial stage of my PhD. Your help came in handy, and I enjoyed the wonderful dinner moments I had with your Filipino clan. Dear **Tu**, despite my initial fears, you taught me how to master and ride a bicycle in 2 days (a miracle I must add). Thank you for all those days you taught me the basics of fish nutrition, you were never tired of answering my unending questions. You are a friend indeed. Dear **Mahmoud Haidar**, or brother as I call you, since you treated me like I was your sister when I first arrived at AFI. I learnt a lot from your wealth of experience as you showed me how to stand on my feet and excel in this research field. Dear **Davood**, I appreciate the guidance and offer of help when needed. Special appreciation to **Mariet and Prof. Martin Verstegen** for inviting me to their home and giving us (my family) appliances to aid our settlement in Wageningen. All these acts helped me to improve my mental health in achieving my goals.

I dearly appreciate other PhD colleagues; Twan (a darling), Annemiek, Happy, Peter, Thuat, Timo, Widhya, Zhang, Tinh and now Shujuan (a sweetheart), Satya, Eliza, Corrie, Kaylee, Mark among numerous others I may forget to mention. Thank you for the wonderful memories we shared together during coffee time, field trips and international conferences. In particular, I would like to thank Marit (specially nicknamed AFI mama) for being a reliable confidant, feeding my fish when I was in China and for providing hands-on solutions to issues that concern AFI. To **Roel Mass** - the big guy (not anymore), thank you for always being available to answer my numerous questions and offer advice, mostly on my communication skills with my students, especially the Dutch natives. Dear Gauthier, thank you for helping with statistical analysis on several occasions and listening to my rants and complaints. I learnt a lot from you as a co-committee member that organised the China trip. Thank you for accepting to be my paranymph. I appreciate Elisa for helping me during one of my experiments, your warm and sweet hugs always gladden my heart anytime we meet in the office. To Alam (King of Bangladesh), thanks for the enjoyable interactions we had especially during late-night study, I am happy to be associated with you. To my sweetest Vivi, the lady with a big heart, thank you for being a dear friend and my gist partner (also my health and wellness coach). Thank you for your interest in my family and a dear aunty to Omolayo and Omotade. Dear paranymph Vivi, your genuine concern for my progress and well-being is highly appreciated and I am sure we will stay in touch forever. To my buddy, **Jeleel**, we are like siblings from different mothers, you are an amazing person, and I am glad we met at AFI before you left. You are my go-to person and I have complete trust in you because I know you will always have my back. Thank you for your constant willingness to help. Meet you at the top brother.

Thanks to my office mates for their warm personalities. Switching offices afforded me the opportunity to meet wonderful people and learn how to cope with different cultures. To **Yale**, we have a special connection from the beginning, which grew into a mutually beneficial working relationship. I am glad vou now enjoy the smell and taste of my African dishes (winks). I will surely miss you Yale. To Kabir. thank you for always sharing words of wisdom and encouragement. Sweet Apriana, thank you for being a good friend, for always laughing at my dry jokes and for being my behind-the-scene paranymph (winks). You are a wonderful person, and I will miss your dearly. When I met Devi. I said to myself. oh! What a gracious and elegant diva. I always look forward to our office chat because of her rooted nonjudgmental academic, and societal views. Thanks for having my best interest at heart and I truly value our friendship, which became even stronger after you left AFI. Won't also forget to mention that you are now my career mentor, which makes me feel elated. My darling **Thomas**, the only friend that is also my school son, of course I will not only forever cherish the wonderful moments we had, but I also hereby promise to disturb you till eternity. Thank you for teaching me fish nutrition, I owe the little statistical knowledge I have, among several other academic skills to you, and I hope to someday repay in a thousand folds. Someone once said that you deserve a full paragraph in my acknowledgement. but he was wrong, I think you deserve a whole chapter in my book. I have so many memories of you that I would prefer to keep close to my heart, rather than writing them out.

My memory of graduate studies at WUR can never be complete without mentioning the contribution of my fellow students (now graduates); **Retno**, **Ian**, **Marieke** and **Roel**. Without you, this work would be more tedious and less stimulating. Passing the APS qualifying exam was made easy when **Retno** and **Pabodha** (not my student) sent me solved past questions used at master's level; I will never forget this kind gesture.

I would like to thank my sponsors; **Tetfund Nigeria** for their support towards my study at this great citadel of learning (WUR). I would like to extend my appreciation to **WUR** and **Skretting ARC** for partly sponsoring this project. Sincere appreciation also goes to **Skretting Nigeria** for partly paying for my salary. Special thanks to **Professor Ademiju Odogiyon-Aganga**, who inspired me to pursue my PhD at WUR, despite some years on a PhD programme in Nigeria, she had this conviction that WUR is my destination and did all her best to help with the funding processes. She is a mentor and a mother to me. I also appreciate the entire staff of the Fisheries and Aquaculture department- and the management of Federal University Oye-Ekiti, Nigeria for their support. Thanks to **Dr. T.O. Babalola** for his continual support in my career life, and **to Dr. Bayo Omobepade**, for being a helpful colleague and friend.

To the Amazing Grace family, I say a very big thank you. Special thanks to **Pastor Busi** and **Farai Maphosa** for being wonderful spiritual leaders. Your words of encouragement helped me persevere during challenging times. Thanks to **Pastor Adesuwa**, **Sis Ijeoma**, **Oga Nkenna**, **Glory**, **Mrs. Lawal** and other members that I cannot mention for constantly checking on me. My sincere appreciation goes to **Madam Janet** and her husband **Gerbert Kets** (our dear Oma and Opa) for being a great support system to my family and taking care of my kids while being occupied with work. I do not and will never take your love for granted.

I owe immeasurable gratitude to my parents, **Elder** and **Deaconess J.T. Oyawale** for giving me the opportunity to acquire education and for being the prime force that drove me to reach these heights.

#### 154 | Appendices

I thank my siblings, **Abiodun**, **Busayo**, **Gbenga** for supporting me morally and academically, most especially, **Dr. Tunji Oyawale**. I could not have done this without the unflinching support of the entire **Elesho family**, my heartfelt appreciation goes to my parents-in-law (in-love), **Otunba** and **Mrs Ayodele Elesho**, for their utmost love and encouragement.

Finally, my deepest and sweetest appreciation goes to my husband **Abidemi Elesho (Beedoe)**, the love of my life and support system, for being the strong pillar that held me through this challenging journey. With your love and understanding, I have accomplished my dream (our dream). To my beautiful daughters; **Omolayo**, I know you will one day pick up this thesis and read. I want you to know that as young as you are, you gave me strength at every stage to succeed in this journey. You are my greatest cheerleader. To **Omotade**, God brought you into my life during this journey. With you in my womb pushing me towards greatness, I was able to write a large percentage of this thesis. I love you both.

#### Oluwa mi seun!

# About the author



Folasade Esther Elesho (Nee Oyawale) was born on the 22<sup>nd</sup> of April 1987 in Ileoluji, Ondo state, Nigeria. After completing her secondary school education, she proceeded to Adekunle Ajasin University Akungba-Akoko, Nigeria for her B.Sc. degree in 2004. Having grown up in a riverine environment, her passion for Fisheries & Aquaculture necessitated her choice of Environmental Biology & Fisheries as a course of study for her undergraduate program. Her B.Sc. thesis was based on the proximate composition of four important fish species in Nigeria. In 2010, she later

proceeded to study Environmental Control & Management at master's level, with a research that focused on the impact of cassava effluent on the physico-chemical properties of a river water. After, the completion of her M.Sc. program in 2012, she immediately began a career as an academic lecturer at the Federal University, Oye-Ekiti, Nigeria and remained active in service till date. Her background in educational and professional career made her to be aware of the inter-connection of aquaculture and environmental management. Therefore, she pursued a PhD in the field of fish nutrition within the Aquaculture and Fisheries group (AFI) at Wageningen University, the Netherlands. For her PhD research, she received a scholarship from Tertiary Education Trust Fund, TETfund Nigeria. In addition, the project was partially funded by Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre, Norway and Wageningen University. The research focused on protein evaluation in fish, using African catfish as a case study, which resulted in this thesis.

Contact: eleshofolasade@gmail.com



- **Elesho, F.E**., Sutter, D.A.H., Swinkels, M.A.C., Verreth, J.A.J., Kröckel, S., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Quantifying methionine requirement of juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture. 532, 736020.
- Elesho, F.E., Kröckel, S., Sutter, D.A.H., Nuraini, R., Chen, I.J., Verreth, J.A.J., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Effect of feeding level on the digestibility of alternative protein-rich ingredients for African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture, 737108.
- **Elesho, F.E.**, Sutter, D.A.H., Frenken, R., Verreth, J.A.J., Kröckel, S., Schrama, J.W., 2021. Fishmeal hydrolysation and non-protein energy sources affect the kinetics of nutrient digestion in the gastrointestinal tract of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Aquaculture, 737425.
- Elesho, F.E., Kröckel, S., Ciavoni, E., Sutter, D.A.H, Verreth, J.A.J, Schrama, J.W., 2021. Effect of feeding frequency on performance, nutrient digestibility, energy and nitrogen balances in juvenile African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) fed diets with two levels of crystalline methionine. Animal Feed Science and Technology, 115098.
- Babalola T.O., **Oyawale F.E.**, Adejumo I.O., and Bolu S.A (2016): Effects of Dietary Fish Oil Replacement by Vegetable Oil on the Serum Biochemical and Haematological Parameters of African Catfish (Heterobranchus longifilis) Fingerlings, Iranian Journal of Fisheries Science., 15(2): 775-788.
- Okoya, A.A., **Oyawale F.E.**, Ofoezie E.E., and Akinyele A.B (2016): Impact of Industrial Cassava Effluent Discharge on the Water Quality of Ogbese River, Ayede Ogbese, Ondo State, Nigeria, Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management, 9(3): 339 – 353.

# WIAS Training and Supervision Plan (TSP)

### Training and Supervision Plan (TSP)



The Basic Package	3 ECTS
WIAS Introduction Day	2016
Course on philosophy of science and/or ethics	2017
Course on essential skills	2017

Disciplinary Competences	15.6 ECTS
Writing a research proposal and developing a TSP	2017
WIAS Advance Statistics Course design of experiment	2017
Laboratory Animal Science: Design and Ethics in Animal Experimenta	ition 2017
Laboratory Animal Science: Species Specific Course Fish	2017
WIAS course statistic for the life science	2018
AFI knowledge exchange programme (China)	2019
Workshop: Fish nutrition: Interaction with Aquaculture	2021
system and Water Quality	

Professional Competences	8 ECTS
The Essentials of Scientific Writing and Presenting	2017
Information Literacy including Endnote Introduction	2017
Project and Time Management (PTM)	2019
AFI knowledge exchange programme organizing committee member	2019
WIAS science day organizing committee member	2019
Reviewing a scientific manuscript	2020
Brain-friendly working and writing	2020

Presentation Skills	4 ECTS
WIAS Science Day, Wageningen, The Netherlands	2018
(Poster presentation)	
WIAS Science Day, Lunteren, The Netherlands	2019
(Oral presentation)	
European Aquaculture Society (EAS) Conference, Berlin, Germany	2019
(Poster presentation)	
International Symposium of PhD candidate in Chinese and European	2019
Aquaculture and Fisheries (Oral presentation)	
International Symposium of PhD candidate in Chinese and European	2019
Aquaculture and Fisheries (Poster presentation)	
WIAS Science Day, Lunteren, The Netherlands (Poster presentation)	2020

Teaching competences	6 ECTS
Supervising major MSc thesis: Retno Nuraini	2017
Supervising major MSc thesis: Chen JueQi, Ian	2018
Supervising major MSc thesis: Marieke Swinkels	2018-2019
Supervising major MSc thesis: Roel Frenken	2019-2020
Supervising practicals and excursions	2016-2020

Education and Training Total	36 ECTS
------------------------------	---------

Completion of the training activities in in fulfilment of the requirements for the education certificate of the Graduate School of the Wageningen Institute of Animal Sciences (WIAS). One ECTS equals a study load of 28 hours.

#### Colophon

The experiments described in this thesis was financed by Wageningen University, with additional financial support from Skretting Aquaculture Research Centre, Norway. The PhD candidate obtained a 3-year scholarship from Tertiary Education Trust Fund, TETfund Nigeria (2013/2014 merged) and 2-year support fund from Skretting Nigeria. Financial support for printing this thesis, from the Aquaculture and Fisheries Group of Wageningen University is gratefully acknowledged.

**Cover design:** Bahadır Can Güz | bcggraphicdesign@gmail.com

Printing: ProefschriftMaken | www.proefschriftmaken.nl

